
Table of Contents

 
Agenda 5
IV-1. Approval of Economic Development Incentive Agreement,
Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. (District II)

Agenda Report No. IV-1 14
Forgivable Loan Agreement Triumph Aerospace - City
version 031513 16
Ordinance No. 49-551 21

IV-2. Public Hearing on the Establishment of the K-96 STAR
Bond Project Community Improvement District. (District II)

Agenda Report No. IV-2 23
Ordinance No. 49-556 25

IV-3. Selection of Preferred Proposal for West Bank Catalyst
Site. (District VI)

Agenda Report No. IV-3 32
Ordinance No. 49-557 35
The Riv Evaluation Team Report 40
River Vista West Bank UR Conveyance Notice 73
The Riv West Bank UR Lease Notice 74
The RIV (Wichita Apartments) RFQ Book 75
River Vista Evaluation Team Report 105
River Vista Submittal Package 139
River Vista Submittal Package 271

IV-4. Affordable Airfares Funding Agreement with Sedgwick
County.

Agenda Report No. IV-4 403
Transportation Services Agreement City-County 2013 -
2014 405

IV-5. Public Hearing - Request for Resolution of Support for
Application for Housing Tax Credits; Market and Main
Apartments.   (District I)

Agenda Report No. IV-5 416
Resolution No. 13-133 419

IV-6. 2013 Community Services Block Grant Application -
Revision.

Agenda Report No. IV-6 420
Revised CSBG 2013 Budget Summary 422
CSBG Review Committee Minutes 423

IV-7. United States Bowling Congress, Inc 2019 Tournament.
Agenda Report No. IV-7 427
MOU 428

IV-8. Ordinances Amending Chapter 5.68 Relating to Sex
Trafficking, Prostitution and Morals Offenses.

Agenda Report No. IV-8 430
Delineated Ordinance 431
Ordinance No. 49-552 443

1



IV-9. 2014 Annual Operating Budget.
Agenda Report No. IV-9 452

V-1. ZON2013-00010 – City request for a zone change from B
Multi-family Residential to GC General Commercial, generally
located east of N. Park Place and south of 29th Street North,
2914 N. Park Place. (District VI)

Agenda Report No. V-1 454
Ordinance No. 49-553 456
ZON2013-00010 DAB VI Memo and Planning
Commission Minutes 458

V-2. ZON2013-00013 – Zone change request from SF-5 Single-
family Residential to TF-3 Two-family Residential subject to
Protective Overlay No. 277 on property generally located 300
hundred feet east of Knight Street on the north side of West St.
Louis Avenue, south of West Central and east of North West
Street, 3514 West St. Louis Avenue. (District VI)

Agenda Report No. V-2 469
Ordinance No. 49-554 472
Protest Map and Background Information 474

II-1. Board of Bids dated July 29, and August 5, 2013.
Board of  Bids dated 7-29-2013 and 8-5-2013 489

II-3. Preliminary Estimates.
Agenda Report No. II-3 515

II-4a. Petitions for Improvements to Serve Falcon Falls Second
Addition. (District I)

Agenda Report No. II-4a 517
Map, Budget Sheets, Petitions 518
Resolution Nos.  13-134 to13-137 543
Resoltution No. 13-136 550

II-5a. Street Closure at Lincoln Street from McLean to Waco.
(Districts III and IV)

Agenda Report No. II-5a 553
Map 554

II-6a. Grant with the Kansas Department of Transportation.
Agenda Report No. II-6a 555

II-6b. Transit Pass-through Agreement with Butler County.
Agenda Report No. II-6b 556
Agreement (Butler County) 557

II-7a. Supplemental Design Agreement No. 5 for Lincoln Street
Bridge and Dam Improvements. (Districts III and IV)

Agenda Report No. II- 7a and SA#5 567
LSB SDA #5 570

II-8a. Acquisition of part of 11051 East Kellogg for the
Improvement of Kellogg Avenue, US Highway 54 from Cypress
to Chateau. (District II)

Agenda Report No. II-8a 582
Supporting Documents 583

2



II-8b. Partial Acquisition of 2603 North Amidon for the Amidon,
21st Street North to 29th Street North Improvement Project.
(District VI)

Agenda Report No. II-8b 596
Contract for Conveyance, Right of Way Exhibit,
Temporary Construction Easement and Aerial Map 597

II-8c. Partial Acquisition of 3215 East 9th Street for the Redbud
Multi-Use Path, Interstate 135 to Oliver. (District I)

Agenda Report No. II-8c 604
Temporay Construction Easement and Aerial Map 605

II-10. Public Housing Five Year Energy Audit.
Agenda Report No. II-10 609
Energy Audit Contract 611

II-11. HOME CHDO Operating Support Funding. (Districts I, III,
IV, V, and VI)

Agenda Report No. II-11 620
MHRS Funding Agreement 622
Power CDC Funding Agreement 642

II-12. Child Care Licensing Grant Application.
Agenda Report No. II-12 662
Child Care Grant 663

II-13. Memorandum of Understanding - Public Works & Utilities
Sidewalk Improvements.

Agenda Report No. II-13 676
MoU - PWU - Sidewalks 677
Proposed CDBG sidewalk 695

II-14. Bicycle Enhancement Projects.
Agenda Report No. II-14 696
Maps and Agreements 698
Resolution Nos. 13-138 to 13-145 705

II-15. 2014 Drug Enforcement Administration State and Local
Task Force Agreements.

Agenda Report No. II-15 713
Agreements 714

II-16. Ordinance Changes to the Wichita/Sedgwick County
Building and Trade Code.

Agenda Report No. II-16 725
Delineated Ordinance 726
Ordinance No. 49-555 729

II-17. Wireless network for Century II.
Agenda Report No. II-17 732
Century 2 Wireless Contract signed by ETI 734
FINAL Exhibit A - Anti-discrimination 738
FINAL Exhibit B - Scope of Services 741
FINAL Exhibit C - Century II Wireless Network Items 742

II-18. Wichita Retirement Systems' Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012.

3



Agenda Report No. II-18 744
2012 WRS CAFR 745

II-19. Second Reading Ordinances.
II-19 Second Reading Ordinances 837

II-20. *Signature Flight Support Corporation - Wichita Mid-
Continent Airport.

Agenda Report No. II-20 838
Agreement 839

II-21. *Parking Facilities Program Professional Services -
Wichita Mid-Continent Airport.

Agenda Report No. II-21 880
Parking Facilities Program - Carl Walker SA No. 1 881

4



REVISED: 
ADDITION OF ITEM I-5 

FINAL 
C I T Y  C O U N C I L 

 
C I T Y  O F  W I C H I T A 

K A N S A S 
 
City Council Meeting City Council Chambers 
09:00 a.m. August 6, 2013 455 North Main 

 
OPENING OF REGULAR MEETING 

 
-- Call to Order 
 
-- Invocation 
 
-- Pledge of Allegiance 
 
-- Approve the minutes of the regular meeting on July 23, 2013 
 
 

 
AWARDS AND PROCLAMATIONS 

 
-- Proclamations: 

 
The Night of the City Sensational 
National Clown Week 
 

-- Service Award: 
 
Edward (Ed) Martin  

 
 

I.  PUBLIC AGENDA 
 
NOTICE: No action will be taken relative to items on this agenda other than referral for information.  Requests to appear will be placed on a “first-

come, first-served” basis.  This portion of the meeting is limited to thirty minutes and shall be subject to a limitation of five minutes for 
each presentation with no extension of time permitted.  No speaker shall be allowed to appear more frequently than once every fourth 
meeting.  Members of the public desiring to present matters to the Council on the public agenda must submit a request in writing to the 
office of the city manager prior to twelve noon on the Tuesday preceding the council meeting.  Matter pertaining to personnel, litigation 
and violations of laws and ordinances are excluded from the agenda.  Rules of decorum as provided in this code will be observed. 

 
1. Thomas Black - Hilltop Neighborhood 

 
2. Russ Pataky - An evaluation of the direction Wichita is going in. 

 
3. Valerie Page - New Highway at 13th Street and 235. 

 
4. Sherry Mansfield - Library. 

 
5. Bob Brewer - Wichita's Aerospace Workers. 

  

5



City Council Meeting  Page 2 
August 6, 2013 
 
 

II. CONSENT AGENDAS (ITEMS 1 THROUGH 21) 
 
NOTICE: Items listed under the “Consent Agendas” will be enacted by one motion with no separate discussion.  If discussion on an item is desired, 

the item will be removed from the “Consent Agendas” and considered separately 
 
(The Council will be considering the City Council Consent Agenda as well as the Planning, Housing, and Airport Consent 
Agendas.  Please see “ATTACHMENT 1 – CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS” for a listing of all Consent Agenda Items.) 
 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS 

III. UNFINISHED COUNCIL BUSINESS 
 

 None 
 
 

 
IV. NEW COUNCIL BUSINESS 

 
1. Approval of Economic Development Incentive Agreement, Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. (District II) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Forgivable Loan Agreement with Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc., 
place the Home Rule Ordinance approving the agreement on first reading and 
authorize the necessary signatures. 

2. Public Hearing on the Establishment of the K-96 STAR Bond Project Community Improvement District.  
(District II) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Close the public hearing, place the ordinance establishing a Community 
Improvement District on first reading and hold the second reading to coincide 
with the issuance of STAR Bonds for the K-06 Project. 

3. Selection of Preferred Proposal for West Bank Catalyst Site. (District VI) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 1) Accept a preferred proposal for the development of the West Bank Catalyst 
Site; receive and file a notice of intent to accept the preferred proposal from the 
selected developer; and direct staff to negotiate a development agreement with 
the selected developer and 2) adopt an ordinance amending the East Bank 
Redevelopment District Plan by adding project areas. 

4. Affordable Airfares Funding Agreement with Sedgwick County. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the agreement, authorize the necessary signatures, and authorize any 
necessary budget adjustments. 

 

5. Public Hearing - Request for Resolution of Support for Application for Housing Tax Credits; Market and Main 

6



City Council Meeting  Page 3 
August 6, 2013 
 

Apartments.   (District I) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Close the public hearing, adopt the resolution of support for the application for 
Housing Tax Credits, subject to all local building and zoning ordinances and any 
additional design review requirements, with waiver of the 20% market-rate unit 
requirement.  It is further recommended that the City Council approve the 
issuance of a letter of intent to issue industrial revenue bonds in the amount not-
to-exceed $2,750,000, approve the application for a sales tax exemption 
certificate, and authorize the necessary signatures. 

6. 2013 Community Services Block Grant Application - Revision. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the revised 2013 Community Services Block Grant funding application 
which includes a name change for the Career Development Office and authorize 
the necessary signatures. 

7. United States Bowling Congress, Inc 2019 Tournament. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Wichita and 
GoWichita and authorize the necessary signatures, and authorize financial 
support in the amount of $450,000 from the Convention and Tourism Fund 
subject to the limitations of the Kansas Cash Basis and Kansas Budget Laws, 
with the remaining $200,000 to be contributed by GoWichita. 

8. Ordinances Amending Chapter 5.68 Relating to Sex Trafficking, Prostitution and Morals Offenses. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the ordinances and place on first reading. 

9. 2014 Annual Operating Budget. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive public comment on the 2014 Proposed Budget. 

  

7



City Council Meeting  Page 4 
August 6, 2013 
 
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS SUBMITTED BY CITY AUTHORITIES 
 
PLANNING AGENDA 

 
NOTICE: Public hearing on planning items is conducted by the MAPC under provisions of State law.  Adopted policy is that additional hearing on 

zoning applications will not be conducted by the City Council unless a statement alleging (1) unfair hearing before the MAPC, or (2) 
alleging new facts or evidence has been filed with the City Clerk by 5p.m. on the Wednesday preceding this meeting.  The Council will 
determine from the written statement whether to return the matter to the MAPC for rehearing. 

 
V.  NON-CONSENT PLANNING AGENDA 

 
1. ZON2013-00010 – City request for a zone change from B Multi-family Residential to GC General Commercial, 

generally located east of N. Park Place and south of 29th Street North, 2914 N. Park Place. (District VI)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 1) Adopt the findings of the MAPC, approve the zone change request with the 
Protective Overlay, authorize the mayor to sign the ordinance and place the 
ordinance on the first reading (simple majority vote required), or; 2) make 
alternate findings and deny the request (a 2/3 majority vote is required to 
override the MAPC recommendation on the first hearing), or; 3) return the 
request to the MAPC for reconsideration (simple majority vote required).  

2. ZON2013-00013 – Zone change request from SF-5 Single-family Residential to TF-3 Two-family Residential 
subject to Protective Overlay No. 277 on property generally located 300 hundred feet east of Knight Street on the 
north side of West St. Louis Avenue, south of West Central and east of North West Street, 3514 West St. Louis 
Avenue. (District VI)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 1) Adopt the findings of the MAPC, approve the zone change request subject to 
Protective Overly #277 that limits the site to a maximum of eight dwelling units, 
place the ordinance on first reading and authorize the Mayor to sign the 
ordinance (three-fourths majority vote required); 2) Deny the application by 
making alternate findings (two-thirds majority vote required); or 3) Return the 
application to the MAPC for further consideration (simple majority vote 
required).  

 
HOUSING AGENDA 

 
NOTICE: The City Council is meeting as the governing body of the Housing Authority for consideration and action on the items on this Agenda, 

pursuant to State law, HUD, and City ordinance.  The meeting of the Authority is deemed called to order at the start of this Agenda and 
adjourned at the conclusion. 

Fern Griffith, Housing Member is also seated with the City Council. 
 

VI. NON-CONSENT HOUSING AGENDA 
 None 
 
 
AIRPORT AGENDA 
 
NOTICE: The City Council is meeting as the governing body of the Airport Authority for consideration and action on items on this Agenda, 

pursuant to State law and City ordinance.  The meeting of the Authority is deemed called to order at the start of this Agenda and 
adjourned at the conclusion.   

8



City Council Meeting  Page 5 
August 6, 2013 
 

 
VII. NON-CONSENT AIRPORT AGENDA 

 
 None 
 
 
 
 
COUNCIL AGENDA 

 
VIII. COUNCIL MEMBER AGENDA 

 
1. Sedgwick County Nominations for Representatives on the Wichita Airport Advisory Board.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the nominations. 

 

IX. COUNCIL MEMBER APPOINTMENTS 
 

1. Board Appointments.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Appointments. 

 
 
 
 
 
Adjournment 

9



City Council Meeting  Page 6 
August 6, 2013 
 

 
(ATTACHMENT 1 – CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 1 THROUGH 21) 

 
 

II. CITY COUNCIL CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1. Report of Board of Bids and Contracts dated July 29, and August 5, 2013. 
a. Board of Bids. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive and file report; approve Contracts;  
authorize necessary signatures.  

2. Applications for Licenses to Retail Cereal Malt Beverages: 
 
Renewal 2013 (Consumption on Premises) 
Mark Ryan Two Brothers BBQ**   300 South Greenwich 
 
Renewal  2013   (Consumption off Premises) 
Cam-Van Doan Quickgas***  5562 South Seneca 
Anur Etezazi EEI Fuel and Retail Inc. dba CS2-Ridge*** 731 North Ridge Road 
 
**General/Restaurant (need 50% or more gross revenue from sale of food) 
***Retailer (Grocery stores, convenience stores, etc.) 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve licenses subject to Staff review and approval. 
 
 

3. Preliminary Estimates: 
a. Preliminary Estimates. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive and file. 

4. Petitions for Public Improvements: 
a. Petitions for Improvements to Serve Falcon Falls Second Addition. (District I) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Petitions; adopt resolutions. 

5. Consideration of Street Closures/Uses.  
a. Street Closure at Lincoln Street from McLean to Waco. (Districts III and IV)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the request subject to; (1) Hiring off-duty certified law enforcement 
officers as required; (2) Obtaining barricades to close the streets in accordance 
with requirements of Police, Fire and Public Works Department; and (3) 
Securing a Certificate of Liability Insurance on file with the Community Events 
Coordinator. 

  

10



City Council Meeting  Page 7 
August 6, 2013 
 

6. Agreements/Contracts: 
a. Grant with the Kansas Department of Transportation.  
b. Transit Pass-through Agreement with Butler County.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Agreements/Contracts; authorize the necessary signatures. 

7. Design Services Agreement: 
a. Supplemental Design Agreement No. 5 for Lincoln Street Bridge and Dam Improvements. (Districts III 

and IV)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Agreements/Contracts; authorize the necessary signatures. 

8. Property Acquisitions:  
a. Acquisition of part of 11051 East Kellogg for the Improvement of Kellogg Avenue, US Highway 54 from 

Cypress to Chateau. (District II)  
b. Partial Acquisition of 2603 North Amidon for the Amidon, 21st Street North to 29th Street North 

Improvement Project. (District VI)  
c. Partial Acquisition of 3215 East 9th Street for the Redbud Multi-Use Path, Interstate 135 to Oliver. 

(District I)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve budgets and Contracts; authorize necessary signatures. 

9. Minutes of Advisory Boards/Commissions 
 
Joint Investment Committee, June 6, 2013 
Stormwater Advisory Board, March 15, 2013 
Stormwater Advisory Board, April 19, 2013 
Stormwater Advisory Board, May 17, 2013 
Stormwater Advisory Board, June 21, 2013 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive and file. 
 

10. Public Housing Five Year Energy Audit.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve a contract with EMG to perform a Five-Year Energy Audit of the 
Wichita Housing Authority (WHA) as required by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 

11. HOME CHDO Operating Support Funding. (Districts I, III, IV, V, and VI)  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the recommended allocations and the funding agreements and authorize 
the necessary signatures. 

12. Child Care Licensing Grant Application.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the grant award and authorize the necessary signatures. 

13. Memorandum of Understanding - Public Works & Utilities Sidewalk Improvements.  

11



City Council Meeting  Page 8 
August 6, 2013 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Memorandum of Understanding between Housing and Community 
Services and Public Works & Utilities for street and sidewalk repair, utilizing the 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds designated for that 
purpose. 

14. Bicycle Enhancement Projects.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the design concept agreements, adopt the resolutions, and authorize the 
necessary signatures. 

15. 2014 Drug Enforcement Administration State and Local Task Force Agreements.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the 2014 Drug Enforcement Administration State and Local Task Force 
Agreements. 

16. Ordinance Changes to the Wichita/Sedgwick County Building and Trade Code.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the proposed amendments to the Wichita/Sedgwick County Building 
and Trade Code. 

17. Wireless network for Century II.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the contract and expenditure of $196,000 for the equipment and 
installation of a Ruckus wireless system at Century II. 

18. Wichita Retirement Systems' Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 
2012.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive and file the Wichita Retirement Systems' Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. 

19. Second Reading Ordinances: (First Read July 23, 2013) 
a. Second Reading Ordinances.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the Ordinances. 

  

12



City Council Meeting  Page 9 
August 6, 2013 
 

II. CONSENT PLANNING AGENDA ITEMS 
 

NOTICE: Public hearing on planning items is conducted by the MAPC under provisions of State law.  Adopted policy is that additional hearing on 
zoning applications will not be conducted by the City Council unless a statement alleging (1) unfair hearing before the MAPC, or (2) 
alleging new facts or evidence has been filed with the City Clerk by 5p.m. on the Wednesday preceding this meeting.  The Council will 
determine from the written statement whether to return the matter to the MAPC for rehearing. 

 
 None 
 
 

 
II. CONSENT HOUSING AGENDA ITEMS 

 
NOTICE: The City Council is meeting as the governing body of the Housing Authority for consideration and action on the items on this Agenda, 

pursuant to State law, HUD, and City ordinance.  The meeting of the Authority is deemed called to order at the start of this Agenda and 
adjourned at the conclusion. 

Fern Griffith, Housing Member is also seated with the City Council. 
 
 None 
 
 

 
II. CONSENT AIRPORT AGENDA ITEMS 

 
NOTICE: The City Council is meeting as the governing body of the Airport Authority for consideration and action on items on this Agenda, pursuant 

to State law and City ordinance.  The meeting of the Authority is deemed called to order at the start of this Agenda and adjourned at the 
conclusion.   

 
20. *Signature Flight Support Corporation - Wichita Mid-Continent Airport. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the agreement and authorize the necessary signatures.  

21. *Parking Facilities Program Professional Services - Wichita Mid-Continent Airport. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the supplemental agreement and authorize the necessary signatures.  

 

13



         Agenda Item No. IV-1 
       
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

 August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of Economic Development Incentive Agreement (Triumph Aerospace 

Systems, Inc.) (District II) 
 
INITIATED BY: Office of Urban Development 
 
AGENDA:  New Business 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the Forgivable Loan Agreement and place the Home Rule Ordinance on 
first reading. 
 
Background:  Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. (“Triumph”) was recently awarded a new contract with 
Viking Air, a Canadian aerospace original equipment manufacturer.  The new contract is for the assembly 
of the fuselage for the Viking Twin Otter, a small aircraft designed for search and rescue, border patrol, 
special missions and regional commuter transport. Viking considered suppliers in Eastern Europe, 
Taiwan, China and India for this work.  With support of economic development incentives from the City 
of Wichita, Sedgwick County and the State of Kansas, Triumph was selected by Viking to assemble the 
fuselages in Wichita. 
 
The company is asking for approval of the Forgivable Loan Agreement in the amount of $78,000 at this 
time. 
 
Analysis:  Triumph, founded as Lee Aerospace in 1989, was acquired by the Triumph Group in October 
1999, and officially became Triumph Aerospace Systems in June 2006. The Wichita location designs, 
develops, tests and manufactures a variety of assemblies including aircraft windows, sheet metal 
assemblies (wing spars and leading edges), pilot control wheels, cockpit sunvisors, and autoclave/oven 
cured composites parts for the aerospace industry. Triumph builds complex assemblies for aerospace 
companies including programs such as the Cessna CJ4 tail and main fuselage, and Cessna CJ & TEN 
wing spar assemblies, among others. Triumph Aerospace Systems currently employs about 180 
employees at its 34th Street facility, as well as additional employees at sister operations at other locations 
in Wichita and Wellington. 
 
As a result of the contract with Viking, Triumph will add at least 100 new jobs over the next five years at 
an average annual salary of at least $40,684.  To accommodate the new work, Triumph will be required to 
invest as follows: 
 

Final Assembly Jig’s (FAJ’s)  $   750,000 
Mechanic Training   $   450,000 
Detail Tooling Fab & NRE  $   400,000 
Part Moving Equipment (PME)  $   400,000 
Facilities Upgrade   $   250,000 
Misc Hand Tools   $   150,000 
Part Mark Machine   $     75,000 
Total Investment   $2,475,000 

14



Approval of Triumph Incentive Agreement 
August 6, 2013 
Page 2 
 
 
The City of Wichita and Sedgwick County have partnered to offer economic development assistance to 
Triumph.  The City and Sedgwick County will provide $78,000 each in forgivable loan funds to offset 
capital investment costs, subject to governing body approval.  Loan principal will be forgiven in equal 
annual installments at the end of each year, provided that the employment and wage commitments set 
forth in the agreement have been met. Any principal not forgiven will carry forward and any principal 
remaining at the end of the loan term shall be due and payable at that time. In the event Triumph ceases 
operations in Wichita during the term of the loan, the entire original principal will be immediately due 
and payable, plus interest from the start of the loan at 12% annual percentage rate (APR). 
 
Financial Considerations:  The proposed $78,000 forgivable loan to Triumph will be provided from 
funds budgeted in the Economic Development Fund for economic development incentives in 2013.  After 
consideration of this item, and any pending incentive offers, the available balance of the Economic 
Development fund for cash incentives is $372,000. 
 
As required by the City-County Economic Development Incentive Policy, WSU’s Center for Economic 
Development and Business Research has calculated the return-on-investment for the proposed project, 
resulting in the following ratios of benefits-to-costs:   
 

City of Wichita     2.66 to one 
General Fund     1.33 to one 
Debt Service     NA 

  Sedgwick County    1.31 to one 
  USD 259     NA 
  State of Kansas     NA 
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has approved the attached Forgivable Loan and Promissory 
Note and the attached Home Rule Ordinance as to form.  The City’s exercise of home rule authority is 
necessary to provide the cash incentive, which requires the adoption of an ordinance for approval.   
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the Forgivable Loan 
Agreement with Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc., place the Home Rule Ordinance approving the 
agreement on first reading and authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Attachments:  Forgivable Loan Agreement and Promissory Note 
  Home Rule Ordinance 

15



1 | P a g e  
 

FORGIVABLE LOAN AGREEMENT and PROMISSORY NOTE 
 
 This Loan Agreement and Promissory Note (the “Agreement”), effective this ____ day of ________ 2013, is 
entered into between the following parties: 
 
 Lender: City of Wichita, Kansas (“Lender”) 
   455 N. Main 
   Wichita, Kansas 67202 
   Contact Person/Title:  Allen Bell, Director of Urban Development 
   Phone:  316-268-4524   EMAIL:  abell@wichita.gov      
 
 Borrower: Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. (“Borrower”) 
   9323 E. 34th St. N. 
   Wichita, KS  67226 
   Contact Person/Title: Jim Lee  
   Phone: (316) 636-9200  EMAIL:  jlee@triumphgroup.com 
   FEIN: #_________________ 
    
 WHEREAS, it has been determined by the Lender that an economic emergency or unique opportunity exists 
which warrants funding to secure economic benefits or avoid or remedy economic losses; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Borrower has specified that this funding will be used to purchase new machinery and equipment 
or provide employee training in Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Lender has authorized an expenditure of up to $78,000 for the purpose of making a loan to the 
Borrower under such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the Lender. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
 1)  Loan Amount and Terms:  Subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, the Lender hereby agrees 
to provide the Borrower with the principal sum of up to $78,000 for a sixty (60) month period.  Interest will accrue 
from the date of disbursement at the rate of zero percent (0.0%) per annum on the unpaid balance.  Should a default 
occur, repayment of all principal and interest will be made immediately in accordance with the provisions shown 
below.   This loan is not transferable. 
 
 2)  Forgiveness of Debt:  The Borrower promises to create and maintain minimum employment levels at the 
Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas facility, starting from a base employment level of 200 full-time positions ($40,684 
average salary), at the end of each of five (5) years as shown in the following schedule: 
 
 Year 1(2014) Year 2(2015) Year 3(2016) Year 4(2017) Year 5(2018) 
 
New Positions: 20 20 20 20 20 
Base Employment: 200 220 240 260 280 
Total Employment: 220 240 260 280 300 
 
Annualized Wages: $8,950,480 $9,764,160 $10,577,840 $11,391,520 $12,205,200 
 
Job figures reflect full-time equivalent (FTE) positions only.  One FTE is equal to 2080 hours earned per year, 
including vacation.  Average salary of new positions shall be at least $$40,684 ($19.56 per hour) per year.  The 
Borrower further agrees to invest a minimum of $2,000,000 in new equipment, machinery and/or building 
improvements. 
 
 The outstanding principal balance will be divided by the total number of years in the term, and the resulting figure will 
be the “installment”.  The first anniversary date for meeting the first year’s job creation commitment shall be April 30, 
2014.  On the first anniversary and at each scheduled anniversary date thereafter where the Borrower has achieved the 
required job and wage commitment, an amount equal to an installment, plus any accrued interest, will be forgiven.   

16



2 | P a g e  
 

 
However, in the event the Borrower ceases to operate as Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. in Wichita, Sedgwick 
County, Kansas during the term of this agreement, any principal and interest which has been forgiven will be repaid in 
accordance with paragraph (16) below. 
 
In the event of a technical default under this section, the Borrower has the right of appeal to Lender, if compelling 
evidence can be presented demonstrating that the default is the result of dramatic, unforeseen changes in economic or 
market conditions.  In the event of an appeal, the Lender will have the sole discretion to enforce the provisions as set 
forth in paragraph (16) below. 
 
 3)  Collateral:  None is required under this Agreement. 
 
 4)  Mortgage/Security Agreement:  Not applicable. 
 
 5)  Insurance:  The Borrower agrees to provide and maintain at its own expense casualty and hazard insurance 
covering loss by fire or wind with extended coverage insuring all of the real estate, buildings, fixtures and 
improvements and all business machinery, equipment, furnishings and furniture at its Wichita, Sedgwick County, 
Kansas facility.  Evidence of such coverage will be provided to the Lender upon request.  The total amount of the 
insurance policy shall be sufficient to pay all indebtedness to lien holders and other parties with an interest in this 
property, and pay the Lender the entire outstanding principal balance and accrued interest.  In the event of such loss, the 
Borrower agrees to repay the Lender as detailed in section 16(A)(ii) below, subject to item (6). 
 
 6)  Force Majeure:  In the event that operations at the worksite are impaired or suspended due to uncontrollable 
forces of nature, the Borrower will be given a reasonable period of time, as determined in the sole discretion of the 
Lender, in which to reestablish any lost jobs.  The term of this agreement will be extended by the length of this period, 
and no contractual penalty will be imposed on the company during this period. 
 
 7)  Release of Mortgage/Security Agreement:  Not applicable. 
 
 8)  Life Insurance:  Not applicable. 
 
 9)  Use of Funds:  The monies from this loan shall be used by the Borrower to pay for tooling, equipment, 
facilities upgrades and training related to Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. at the Borrower's worksite at 9323 E. 34th 
Street North, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas.  Any machinery and equipment obtained using these loan funds will 
be promptly identified to the Lender, including narrative description and serial number, and will remain in the Wichita, 
Sedgwick County, Kansas facility for the duration of this agreement.  The Lender or its representative shall be afforded 
the right of inspection of such machinery and equipment throughout the term of this agreement. 
 
 10)  Services Provided to Borrower:  The Lender is not obligated to provide any services to the Borrower other 
than those specified in the Agreement. 
 
 11)  Related Contracts:  The Borrower shall provide, upon written request, copies of all contracts entered into by 
the Borrower for activities covered by the loan monies. 
 
 12)  Period of Performance:  The Borrower may be reimbursed with loan funds for expenses incurred prior to 
the date of this Agreement, if they were made in connection with activities defined in item (9) above. 
 
Activities will terminate when all conditions of the Agreement have been met within all specified time frames, or by 
mutual consent of all parties to the Agreement, or when a default situation arises, unless the Lender chooses not to 
terminate the Agreement. 
 
 13)  Financial Management:  Borrower shall keep accounting records in conformance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and make such records and all related reports, files, documents and other papers pertaining to the 
funds provided under this Agreement available for audits, examinations and monitoring if requested by Lender; such 
records will be retained for a period of three (3) years after termination of the loan period or repayment of the debt in 
full.  The accounting system used by the Borrower shall clearly establish records of budgets and expenditures for the 
activities funded with the loan monies. 

17



3 | P a g e  
 

 14)  Monitoring and Reporting:  A random audit, or audits, may be conducted by the Lender, or a designated 
representative of the Lender, to assure accountability of loan expenditures and examine the status of any machinery and 
equipment acquired with this loan funding. 
 
The Borrower will provide to Lender, on an annual basis and for a period of five (5) years after completion of the term, 
a report for the Borrower's Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas facility which lists the number of full-time equivalent 
employees, the total payroll as defined in item (2) of this Agreement, and a record of capital investment for the most 
recent report period and accumulated since the beginning of the report periods. Each report will be submitted within 60 
days of the anniversary date of this Agreement. 
 
 15)  Waivers:  The Borrower hereby waives presentment, demand of payment, protest, and any and all other 
notices and demands whatsoever.  No waiver of any payment or other right under this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver of any other payment or right. 
 
 16)  Default:  This Agreement shall be considered in default: 
  (A) Upon any default or failure to properly perform under any clause in this Agreement (or the provisions 

of any security agreement(s) or mortgage documents which secure this Agreement). 
   (i) If, on the scheduled anniversary, employment levels are below the minimums specified in item (2) 

of this Agreement, the following repayment is required within thirty (30) days: 
    a) the outstanding principal balance will be divided by the number of remaining anniversary 

dates, to produce the principal amount due, plus 
    b)  interest accrued since the previously scheduled anniversary date. 
   (ii) If the Borrower ceases to operate in Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas during the term of this 

Agreement, the following repayment is required: 
    a) the entire outstanding principal amount is immediately due and payable, plus 
    b) any principal and interest previously forgiven as specified in item (2) above, plus 
    c) liquidated damages in the form of additional interest calculated at a twelve percent (12%) 

compounded annual rate (or if lower, the maximum rate allowed by Kansas law) for a 5 
year period against the highest outstanding principal amount over the term of the loan. 

   (iii) If upon audit, any loan funds are shown to have been used for other than the intended purposes, 
such funds shall be repaid with interest to Lender by Borrower.  Such unintended purposes 
would include, but not be limited to, the acquisition of machinery and equipment which is not 
used at the Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas facility throughout the term of this loan.  The 
amount to be repaid shall be such principal plus twenty-five percent (25%) compounding 
interest (or if lower, the maximum rate allowed by Kansas law) accrued from the date of the 
initial draw-down against this loan. 

   (iv) If the Borrower otherwise defaults in any manner on the obligations set forth in this Agreement, 
which default continues for 15 days after written notice of such default from Lender to 
Borrower, the following repayment is required: 

    a) any principal balance outstanding on the loan is due and payable; and 
    b) liquidated damages in the form of additional interest calculated at a twelve percent (12%) 

compounded annual rate (or if lower, the maximum rate allowed by Kansas law) against 
the principal balance as of the date of default for the period during which it has been 
outstanding. 

  (B) Upon any occurrence under this Agreement or security agreements or mortgage documents by which 
this loan may or shall become due and payable. 

  (C) At any time that the Lender determines in good faith that the prospect of any payment required by this 
note is impaired. 

 
In the event of continued default following a fifteen (15) day written notice of default, the Lender may, at its option, 
declare all unpaid indebtedness evidenced by this Agreement and any modifications thereof, immediately due and 
payable, without further notice, regardless of date of maturity.  The Lender's failure to exercise this option when 
available at any point in time shall in no way invalidate its right to exercise the option in future default situations.  
Should it become necessary to collect the monetary obligations of this Agreement through an attorney, the Borrower 
agrees to pay all costs of collecting these monies, including reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent permitted by law, 
whether collected by suit, foreclosure, or otherwise. 

18



4 | P a g e  
 

 17)  Indemnification:  The Borrower shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Lender and its respective 
officers and employees from any liabilities, claims, suits, judgments, and damages arising as a result of the 
performance of the obligations under this Agreement by the Borrower or any party in a relationship with the Borrower 
which is a result of this Agreement.  The liability of the Borrower under this Agreement shall continue after the 
termination of the Agreement with respect to any liabilities, claims, suits, judgments and damages resulting from acts 
occurring prior to the termination of this Agreement. 
 
 18)  Amendments:  Changes to this Agreement will not be effective or binding unless in writing and signed by 
both parties to the Agreement. 
 
 19)  Compliance with the Law:  The Borrower agrees to operate in Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas in full 
compliance with applicable federal, state and local laws without limitation. 
 
 20)  Authorization to Contract:  Before or at the time of execution of the Agreement, the Borrower must be able 
to provide evidence that it is duly incorporated, in good standing in the state of its incorporation, authorized to do 
business in the State of Kansas, and authorized to borrow money; and evidence shall be provided that the person 
executing the Agreement and any supporting documents is authorized to act on behalf of the Borrower in such a 
transaction. 
 
 21)  Termination of Agreement:  Lender may terminate the loan, in whole or in part, if the Borrower has failed 
to comply with the conditions of the Agreement.  The Borrower will receive written notice and the reasons for 
termination. 
 
 22)  Divisibility:  The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses, or sections contained in this 
Agreement shall not affect the remaining portions of this Agreement, or any part thereof.  Further, various headings 
included in this Agreement exist purely as an aid to locate particular wording, and do not in and of themselves in any 
way affect the substance of this Agreement. 
 
 23)  Complete Document:  The parties agree this Agreement is a complete document in which all obligations 
have been reduced to writing, and there are no understandings, agreements, conventions or covenants not included 
herein. 
 
 24)  Assignment:  The parties further agree that this Agreement may not be assigned by the Borrower without 
prior written approval by the Lender. 
 
 25)  Binding Effect:  The provisions of this Agreement shall both bind and benefit the Borrower's successors, 
assigns, guarantors, endorsers, and any other person or entity now or hereafter liable hereon. 
 
         26)  Notices:  Notifications required pursuant to this contract shall be made in writing and mailed to the 
addresses shown below. Such notification shall be deemed complete upon mailing. 
 
 Borrower:   Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. 
     9323 E. 34th Street North 
     Wichita, Ks  67226 
           Contact Person/Title:  Jim Lee 
 
 With copy to:  Triumph Group, Inc. 
     899 Cassatt, Suite 210 
     Berwyn, PA 19312 
     Attention:  
 
         City: Wichita City Clerk’s Office  Office of Urban Development 
     455 N. Main, 13th Floor          Attn:  Allen Bell, Director 
 Wichita, KS 67202   455 N. Main, 13th Floor 
      Wichita, KS 67202 
 
  

19



5 | P a g e  
 

 
        27)  Cash Basis and Budget Laws. The right of Lender to enter into this Agreement is subject to the provisions 
of the Cash Basis Law (K.S.A. 10-1112 and 10-1113), the Budget Law (K.S.A. 79-2935), and other laws of the State 
of Kansas. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted so as to ensure that Lender shall at all times stay in 
conformity with such laws, and as a condition of this Agreement Lender reserves the right to unilaterally sever, 
modify, or terminate this Agreement at any time if, in the opinion of its legal counsel, the Agreement may be 
deemed to violate the terms of such laws. 
 
       28)  Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action. 
 
 In carrying out this contract, Borrower shall deny none of the benefits or services of the program to any 
eligible participant pursuant to K.S.A. 44-1001 et seq. 
 
 A. Borrower shall observe the provisions of the Kansas act against discrimination and shall not 
discriminate against any person in the performance of work under this contract because of race, religion, color, sex, 
disability, national origin, or ancestry. 
 
 B. In all solicitations or advertisements for employees, Borrower shall include the phrase "equal 
opportunity employer" or a similar phrase to be approved by the Kansas Human Rights Commission. 
 
 C. If Borrower fails to comply with the provisions of K.S.A. 44-1031, requiring reports to be 
submitted to the Kansas Human Rights Commission when requested by that Commission, Borrower shall be deemed 
to have breached this contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended, in whole or in part, by Lender. 
 
 D. If Borrower is found guilty of a violation of the Kansas act against discrimination under a decision 
or order of the Kansas Human Rights Commission which has become final, Borrower shall be deemed to have 
breached this contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended, in whole or in part by Lender. 
 

E. Borrower shall include the provisions of paragraphs A through D inclusively of this section in 
every subcontract or purchase order so that such provisions will be binding upon such subcontractor or vendor. 
 
     29)  Kansas Law.  This agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Kansas. 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed their names below. 
 
        LENDER: 
 
     CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS 
 
 
     ___________________________________ 
     Carl Brewer, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________  BORROWER:  
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
     TRIUMPH AEROSPACE SYSTEM, INC. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
     Jim Lee, Chief Executive Office 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
Gary Rebenstorf, City Attorney 

20



(PUBLISHED IN THE WICHITA EAGLE ON August 16, 2013) 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 49-551 
 
 
 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, AUTHORIZING, 

PRESCRIBING THE FORM AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN 
TRIUMPH AEROSPACE SYSTEMS, INC. AND THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Wichita, Kansas (the “City”) is authorized by Article 12, Section 
5, of the Kansas Constitution to determine, by ordinance, its local affairs and government; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the City finds and determines that it is desirable to 
act in cooperation with Sedgwick County and the State of Kansas in order to promote, stimulate 
and develop the general economic welfare and prosperity of the City and the State of Kansas, by 
taking action to approve an economic development grant, conditioned on local job creation and 
retention, to assist Triumph Aerospace Syatems, Inc., in locating its operations within the City’s 
corporate limits, 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Findings and Approval of Economic Development Grant.  The City’s 
Governing Body hereby finds that providing an economic development grant in the amount not-
to-exceed $78,000, to Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc., will advance economic development in 
Wichita, Kansas and will serve a public purpose. 
 
 Section 2.  Authorization of the Economic Development Grant Agreement.  The Mayor 
of the City of Wichita, Kansas is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the 
Economic Development Grant Agreement presented herewith, by and between Triumph 
Aerospace Systems, Inc., as Grantee and the City of Wichita as Grantor for and on behalf of and 
as the act and deed of the City with such minor corrections or amendments thereto as the Mayor 
shall approve (which approval shall be evidenced by his execution thereof) and any such other 
documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply 
with the purposes and intent of this Ordinance.  The City Clerk and any Deputy City Clerk of the 
City are hereby authorized and directed to attest the execution of the Economic Development 
Grant Agreement, and such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or 
desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 3.  Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officers, agents and employees of 
the City are hereby authorized and directed to, take such action and execute such other 
documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply 
with the provisions of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 4.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and 
after its adoption by the Governing Body of the City of Wichita, Kansas and publication once in 

21



the official newspaper of the City. 
 
 PASSED by the Governing Body of the City of Wichita, Kansas this ____________ day 
of _____________, 2013. 
 
       CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS 
 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
 
[Seal] 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney 

22



                                                                              Agenda Item No.  IV-2 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO: Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT: Public Hearing on the Establishment of the K-96 STAR Bond Project 

Community Improvement District (District II) 
                                       
INITIATED BY: Office of Urban Development 
 
AGENDA: New Business 
 
 
Recommendation:  Close the public hearing and place the ordinance on first reading. 
 
Background:  On July 9, 2013, the City received a petition from property owners Kensington Gardens, 
LLC and Medical Practice Association Properties, as well as K-96 Destination Development, Inc., 
contract purchaser of the land, requesting the creation of a Community Improvement District (CID) to 
provide funding for reimbursement of special assessments dedicated to the improvement of the K-96 
interchange as part of the K-96 Greenwich STAR Bond Project. On July 16, 2013, the City Council 
adopted a resolution stating its intent to consider the establishment of the proposed CID and setting 
August 6, 2013 as the time for a public hearing on this matter.   
 
Community Improvement Districts allow property owners to petition cities or counties to create districts 
in which certain special taxes are imposed and the resulting revenue is used to fund public and private 
improvements and the payment of certain ongoing operating costs, within the districts.  CID projects may 
be funded by either special assessment taxes on real property within the CID or by a special retail sales 
tax of up to two percent (2%) on all retail sales within the district, or both.  Under the CID Act, cities and 
counties may use the CID tax revenues to repay bonds issued to finance eligible improvements; or the 
CID revenue may be passed through to developers to reimburse the cost of eligible improvements and 
operating costs, on a pay-as-you-go basis.  The maximum term of a CID is 22 years. 
 
On February 5, 2013, the City of Wichita adopted the Phase I STAR Bond Project Plan within the K-96 
and Greenwich STAR Bond District, which was approved by the Kansas Secretary of Commerce on June 
3, 2013.  As part of the approval from the Secretary, the State is limiting the amount of STAR bonds that 
can be used for the K-96 interchange and asking the City to provide additional funding for the STAR 
bond debt service. The STAR Bond Developer, K-96 Destination Development, Inc., has agreed to pay 
special assessment taxes to provide additional interchange funding, to be reimbursed on a pay-as-you-go 
basis through imposition of a 1% CID sales tax at the new retail stores. 
 
Analysis:    The total cost of the proposed interchange improvements is estimated to be $9,500,000. 
Sources of funding for this amount include a 0.2% CID sales tax that is part of the Cabela’s CID project, 
which is projected to fund approximately $1,500,000 of these costs. The City’s approved Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) has an additional $2,000,000 available for this project. The State will allow 
the use of STAR bonds to fund $3,800,000.  The balance of the estimated interchange costs ($2,200,000) 
will be financed with special assessments levied on a portion of the land being developed as part of the 
STAR bond project.  The current landowners, as well as the Developer, have provided a petition for a 1% 
CID sales tax to be imposed on retail sales occurring within the proposed CID boundaries, for the purpose 
of reimbursing the special assessments. 

23



K-96 STAR Project CID Ordinance 
August 8, 2013 
Page 2 
 
 
Public Purpose Statement: The public purpose of the CID is to encourage significant economic activity in 
the City of Wichita by facilitating construction of critical infrastructure that will facilitate continued 
development of a growing corridor within the City. This includes the construction of a destination tourism 
attraction within the approved STAR Bond Project consisting of property located within the CID, as well 
as public improvements needed to provide a full-service interchange at K-96 and Greenwich Road. 
 
The K-96 Developer has requested that the City defer adoption of the Ordinance creating the K-96 CID 
until action is taken to issue the STAR bonds which will fund a portion of the interchange costs. Upon 
adoption of the Ordinance, the City will have created the improvement district and authorized the 
imposition of a one percent (1%) sales tax on all retail purchases made within the CID boundaries. The 
CID sales tax will start to be collected following the delivery of a certified copy of the Ordinance to the 
Kansas Department of Revenue, which includes the tax collection start date of July 1, 2014. A 
development agreement for the CID will be prepared in connection with the K-96 STAR Bond 
development agreement.  
 
Financial Considerations:     The Developer has requested pay-as-you-go CID financing.  The City will 
not issue CID bonds for this project.  However, interchange costs will be financed in part with general 
obligation bonds, repaid by special assessments levied against benefiting property.  Such special 
assessment payments will be reimbursed on a pay-as-you-go basis with CID revenue, to the extent funds 
are available. 
 
CID tax proceeds will be held by the City and disbursed pursuant to a development agreement.  The City 
will withhold 5% of the CID revenues distributed by the State, after giving credit for the $5,000 
application fee, and disperse the balance of the CID proceeds to the Developer until the eligible costs 
have been fully reimbursed or the maximum amount identified in the petition ($8,000,000) has been 
spent, whichever is less, or until the 22-year term has expired. CID revenue that exceeds the amount 
needed to reimburse special assessments will be held by the City and used to prepay special assessment 
bonds.  Once special assessments are no longer payable, the CID will be terminated. 
 
Legal Considerations:  Copies of the resolution setting the public hearing were mailed to all owners and 
occupants of property in the district and published twice in the City’s official newspaper according to 
state law.  The attached ordinance has been approved as to form by the Law Department. 
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council close the public hearing, place the 
ordinance establishing a Community Improvement District on first reading and hold the second reading to 
coincide with the issuance of STAR Bonds for the K-96 Project.  
 
Attachments: Ordinance 

24



 
 

028001 PUBLISHED IN THE WICHITA EAGLE ON WP 
 

Ordinance No. 49-556 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WICHITA ESTABLISHING THE K-96 STAR 
BOND COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT; AUTHORIZING THE 
MAKING OF CERTAIN PROJECT IMPROVEMENTS RELATING THERETO; 
APPROVING THE ESTIMATED COSTS OF SUCH PROJECT IMPROVEMENTS; 
LEVYING  A 1.00% CID SALES TAX AND PROVIDING FOR THE METHOD OF 
FINANCING THE SAME. 

 
 WHEREAS, the provisions of K.S.A. 12-6a26, as amended, (the “CID Act”) set forth the 
procedure for the establishment of a Community Improvement District (“CID”); and 

 

WHEREAS, a petition (the “Petition”) was filed with the City Clerk of the City proposing the 
creation of a community improvement district pursuant to the Act (the “K-96 STAR Bond Project CID”), 
the completion of a project relating thereto as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto 
(the “CID Project”), and the imposition of a CID Sales Tax in order to pay the costs of the CID Project; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Petition was signed by the owners of all of the land area within the proposed K-
96 STAR Bond Project CID; and 

 
WHEREAS, the CID Act provides that prior to creating any CID, the Governing Body shall, by 

resolution, direct and order a public hearing on the advisability of creation of such CID and the 
construction and expenditure of costs of community improvement district projects relating thereto, and 
give notice of the hearing by publication once each week for two consecutive weeks in the official City 
newspaper, the second publication to be at least seven days prior to the hearing, and by the mailing of 
notice to the owners of property within the proposed CID; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the City adopted Resolution No. R-13-128 (the 
“Resolution”) on July 16, 2013, directing that a public hearing on the proposed K-96 STAR Bond Project 
CID be held August 6, 2013, and requiring that the City Clerk provide for notice of such public hearing as 
set forth in the Act; and 

 
WHEREAS; the Resolution was published once each week for two consecutive weeks in the 

newspaper and notice of the hearing was given to all property owners within the proposed CID as 
required by the CID Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the CID Act further authorizes the City, in order to pay the costs of such projects, to 
impose a community improvement district sales tax on the selling of tangible personal property at retail or 
rendering or furnishing of taxable services within a CID in any increment of .10% or .25% not to exceed 
2.0% and to reimburse the costs of community improvement district projects from community 
improvement district sales tax; and  
 

WHEREAS, on August 6, 2013, the Governing Body of the City conducted a public hearing on 
the proposed “K-96 STAR Bond CID”, the proposed community improvement district projects related 
thereto, the method of financing the same and the imposition of a community improvement district sales 
tax; and 

25



 
 

-2- 
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the City hereby finds and determines it to be advisable to 

create the K-96 STAR Bond CID and set forth the boundaries thereof, authorize CID Project relating 
thereto, approve the maximum costs of such community improvement district projects, approve the 
method of financing the same and impose the community improvement district sales tax, all in accordance 
with the provisions of the CID Act;  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
WICHITA, KANSAS: 
 
 Section 1.  Creation of the K-96 STAR Bond CID District.  The Governing Body hereby finds 
and determines that the Petition is sufficient and that all notices required to be given under the CID Act 
were given in accordance with the CID Act.  The Governing Body hereby finds and determines it is 
advisable to create the K-96 STAR Bond CID within the City and approve the boundaries thereof, and, as 
such, hereby creates K-96 STAR Bond CID and approves the boundaries thereof. A legal description of 
the property within the K-96 STAR Bond CID is set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated 
by reference.  A map generally outlining the boundaries of the K-96 STAR Bond CID is attached hereto 
as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 Section 2.  Authorization of CID Project.  The Governing Body hereby finds and determines 
that it is advisable to authorize the CID Project described on the attached Exhibit A, incorporated herein 
by reference, (the “CID Project”) within the K-96 STAR Bond CID and as such authorizes the CID 
Project. 
 
 Section 3.  Maximum Cost.  The maximum cost of the CID Project to be funded by the K-96 
STAR Bond CID, exclusive of administrative fees and costs to be paid to the State of Kansas and to the 
City plus the cost of interest on borrowed money, is $8,000,000. 
  

Section 4.  Method of Financing.  The CID Project will be financed on a pay-as-you-go basis 
from revenues received from the imposition of a community improvement district sales tax in the amount 
of one percent (1%) (the “CID Sales Tax”) on the selling of tangible personal property at retail or 
rendering or furnishing services taxable pursuant to the provisions of the Kansas retailers’ sales tax act 
within the K-96 STAR Bond CID.  There will be no special assessments levied pursuant to the CID Act 
within the boundaries of the K-96 STAR Bond CID. There will be no bonds issued pursuant to the CID 
Act.  
  

Section 5.  Imposition of the Community Improvement District Sales Tax.  In order to 
provide for the payment of costs of the CID Project on a pay-as-you-go basis, the Governing Body hereby 
imposes the CID Sales Tax within the K-96 STAR Bond CID in an amount of one percent (1%) on the 
selling of tangible personal property at retail or rendering or furnishing services taxable pursuant to the 
Kansas retailers’ sales tax act within the K-96 STAR Bond CID, with such CID Sales Tax to commence 
on October 1, 2014.  Such notice shall include submittal by the City of a certified copy of the ordinance to 
the KDOR following publication of the ordinance. Such CID Sales Tax shall remain in effect for the 
maximum period provided for in the CID Act, or such period as may be required for payment from CID 
Sales Tax revenues of the maximum amount of costs approved for CID Project in Section 3, above, 
whichever is the lesser period. 
 
 Section 6.  Collection of the Sales Tax.  The collection of the CID Sales Tax shall be made in 
the manner presented in the CID Act 
 

26



 
 

-3- 
 

 

 Section 7.  Segregation of the Sales Tax Revenues.  All revenues derived from the collection of 
the CID Sales Tax shall be deposited into a special fund of the City to be designated as the K-96 STAR 
Bond CID Sales Tax Revenue Fund.  Such revenues shall be used to pay the costs of the CID Project on a 
pay-as-you-go basis and related expenses, including administrative fees and reimbursement to be paid to 
the State of Kansas and to the City. 
 
 Section 8.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect from and after its passage by the 
Governing Body, and its publication once in the official newspaper of the City. 
 

ADOPTED at Wichita, Kansas, this 13th day of August, 2013. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________   ______________________________ 

Karen Sublett, City Clerk     Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney 

27



A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CID PROJECT 

The general nature of the proposed project (the “CID Project”) is the construction of a full-service 
highway interchange related to the Phase I STAR Bond Project Plan within the K-96 and Greenwich 
STAR Bond District including the construction, maintenance, and procurement of the CID Project, which 
may include, but are not limited to: infrastructure related items, streets, sidewalks, water management and 
drainage related items, landscaping, lighting, as well as associated soft costs related to the items, and the 
City’s administrative costs in establishing and maintaining the K-96 STAR Bond CID. 
 

28



 
 

EXHIBIT B 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION  
 
A contiguous tract of land lying within portions of the Northwest and Southwest Quarters of 
Section 3, and within portions of the Northeast and Southeast Quarters of Section 4, all in 
Township 27 South, Range 2 East, of the Sixth Principal Meridian, said contiguous tract 
containing a portion of Reserve “A”, Kensington Gardens, Sedgwick County, Kansas, AND 
ALSO, Reserve “A”, Regency Lakes Commercial Addition, an addition to Wichita, Sedgwick 
County Kansas, AND ALSO, Reserve “A”, Greenwich Business Park Addition, an addition to 
Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, AND ALSO, a portion of Greenwich Road Right-of-Way, 
AND ALSO, a portion of Kansas State Highway 96 Road Right-of-Way as described in 
Condemnation Cases 87C-1432 and 87C-1434, said contiguous tract being more particularly 
described as follows: 
 
COMMENCING at the Northwest corner of said Section 3, being coincident with the Northwest 
corner of Greenwich Business Center Addition, an addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, 
Kansas; thence along the West line of said Section 3, being coincident with the West boundary 
of said addition, S00°32'28"E, 1344.46 feet to a point on a South boundary of said addition; 
thence along said South boundary, N89°14'33"E, 60.00 feet to a point on said South boundary 
also being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence continuing along said South boundary, 
N89°14'33"E, 2586.39 feet to the Southeast corner of Lot 17, Block 3, of said addition; thence 
along the southern most West boundary of said addition, S00°35'43"E, 1331.13 feet to the 
Center of said Section 3, also being the Northwest corner of The Fairmont, an addition to 
Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas; thence along the West boundary of said addition, 
S00°35'31"E, 1815.57 feet to a point on the North line of Kansas State Highway 96 Road Right-
of-Way; thence along the said North Right-of-Way line the following two courses and distances; 
N24°06'17"W, 532.89 feet to a point on a non-tangent curve to the left, having a radius of 
2039.86 feet, a central angle of 41°27'31", a chord bearing of N44°22'20"W, and a chord 
distance of 1444.03 feet; thence along the arc of said curve a distance of 1476.03 feet; thence 
S24°53'55"W, 267.55 feet to a point on the South line of said Kansas State Highway 96 Road 
Right-of-Way; thence S01°00'51"E, 515.78 feet; thence S89°17'45"W, 209.59 feet to the 
Northeast corner of Lot 1, said Kensington Gardens; thence continuing along a Southerly line of 
Reserve “A” of said addition, S89°17'45"W, 1052.19 feet to a point on the East line of 
Greenwich Road Right-of-Way, said point also being the Northwest corner of Lot 10, Block 1, 
Village at Greenwich Addition, an addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas; thence 
S89°16'10"W, 120.0 feet more or less to a point on the West line of said Greenwich Road Right-
of-Way, also being a point on the East line of Lot 7, Block 1, Regency Lakes Commercial 3rd 
Addition, an addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas; thence along the East line of said 
Lot 7, N00°43'50"W, 148.40 feet to the Northeast corner of said Lot 7; thence along the North 
line of said Lot 7; S89°48'24"W, 325.71 feet; thence continuing along said North line and also 
along the North line of Reserve “A”, Regency Lakes Commercial 2nd Addition, an addition to 
Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, N73°57'21"W, 302.89 feet; thence continuing along North 
line of said Reserve “A” the following three courses and distances; N57°43'06" W, 366.66 feet; 
thence N65°25'19"W, 297.70 feet; thence N74°49'46"W, 179.58 feet to the Northwest corner of 
said addition, also being a point on the East line of Reserve “C”, Regency Lakes, an addition to 
Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas; thence continuing along said East line, N00°43'50"W, 45.86 
feet to the Northeast corner of said Reserve “C”; thence along the North line of said Reserve 
“C”, N89°11'19"W, 175.06 feet to the Northwest corner of said Reserve “C”; thence 
N00°57'07"W, 360.49 feet to a point on the South boundary of Regency Park Addition, an 
addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas; thence continuing along the said South 
boundary the following four courses and distances; N89°02'53"E, 434.62 feet; thence 
N54°11'18"E, 614.48 feet; thence N74°45'13"E, 316.18 feet; thence S89°59'32"E, 300.22 feet to 
the Southeast corner of Lot 13, Block 1, of said addition; thence N89°27'32"E, 120.0 feet more 
or less to a point on the East line of said Greenwich Road Right-of-Way established on Doc# 

29



 
 

B-2 
 

 

FLM/PG 28739057; thence  along said East Right-of-Way line, N00°32'28"W, 911.75 feet to the 
POINT OF BEGINNING, 
 
EXCEPT, 
COMMENCING at the West Quarter corner of said Section 3, thence along the west line of said 
Northwest Quarter on a Kansas coordinate system of 1983 south zone bearing of N00°32’28”W, 
203.91 feet; thence N89°27’32”E, 60.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING, thence 
N44°27’32"E,130.71 feet; thence N89°27’32"E,124.54 feet; thence N85°09’28"E,60.00 feet; 
thence N89°27’32"E,123.20 feet; thence S00°32'28”E, 223.18 feet; thence S89°07'40"W, 
221.49 feet; thence S00°32'26"E, 75.00 feet; thence S89°07'40"W, 178.51 feet; thence 
N00°32’28”W, 203.57 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING, 
 
AND EXCEPT, 
COMMENCING at the West Quarter corner of said Section 3, thence along the west line of said 
Northwest Quarter on a Kansas coordinate system of 1983 south zone bearing of N00°32’28”W, 
1336.67 feet; thence N89°27’32”E, 60.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING, thence 
N89°14’33"E, 400.00 feet; thence S00°32’28"E, 941.34 feet; thence S89°27’32"W, 113.93 feet; 
thence N85°22’10"W, 72.11 feet; thence S89°27’32"W  121.83 feet; thence N45°32’28"W, 
130.71 feet; thence N00°32’28"W, 840.90 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING,  
 
AND EXCEPT, 
COMMENCING at the West Quarter corner of said Section 3, thence along the west line of said 
Northwest Quarter on a Kansas coordinate system of 1983 south zone bearing of N00°32’28”W, 
1336.67 feet; thence N89°27’32”E, 60.00 feet; thence N89°14’33”E, 743.00 feet to the POINT 
OF BEGINNING, thence N89°14’33"E, 1214.20 feet; thence S00°35’43"E, 1047.75 feet to a 
point on a non-tangent curve to the left, said non-tangent curve to the left having a radius of 
1048.00 feet, a central angle of of 25°18'06", a chord bearing of S77°53'25”E, and a chord 
distance of 459.04 feet, thence along the said curve to the left 462.79 feet; thence 
S89°27’32"W, 957.28 feet; thence N00°32’28"W, 692.47 feet; thence N89°27’31.88"E, 190.00 
feet; thence N00°32’28"W, 250.16 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING, 
 
AND EXCEPT, 
COMMENCING at the West Quarter corner of said Section 3, thence along the west line of said 
Northwest Quarter on a Kansas coordinate system of 1983 south zone bearing of N00°32’28”W, 
300.84 feet; thence N89°27’32”E, 613.00 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING, thence 
N89°27'32"E, 568.70 feet; thence S00°32'28"E, 470.23 feet; thence N73°43’09"W, 322.14 feet; 
thence N85°58'06"W, 261.18 feet; thence, N00°32'28"W 356.18 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 
 
CONTAINING 5,351,044 square feet or 122.84 acres more or less. 

30





   Agenda Item No. IV-3 
  

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 

 
TO:     Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:   Selection of Preferred Proposal for West Bank Catalyst Site  
   (District VI) 
 
INITIATED BY:  Office of Urban Development 
 
AGENDA:   New Business 
 
 
Recommendations: Select a preferred proposal, receive and file notice of intent to accept proposal for 
such developer and adopt an ordinance amending the district plan for the East Bank Redevelopment 
District.  
 
Background: On May 17, 2011, the City Council approved the Downtown Incentives Policy which 
established procedures and requirements for the use of public incentives for downtown development 
projects, including the use of a public-private evaluation committee to make recommendations concerning 
such incentive requests. In January 2011, the City solicited expressions of interest for development 
of certain city-owned downtown “catalyst sites” including the former West Bank Stage area 
located at the southeast corner of McLean Boulevard and 2nd Street. In March 2013, the City 
published a Request for Proposals (RFP) for development proposals at the West Bank Catalyst Site, 
pursuant to urban renewal regulations.  The City received two proposals, The RIV Apartments and River 
Vista Apartments. The initial RIV proposal was received in April 2011 in response to the 
solicitation of interest and the River Vista proposal was received in May 2013 in response to the 
urban renewal RFP. The next step in the process is to select a development proposal with which to 
move forward.   
 
Analysis:  Both project applications propose the development of apartments.  The RIV is proposed by 
The RIV LLC, a development group comprised of Steve Clark, Sam Catanese and Rick Huffman.  River 
Vista is proposed by River Vista LLC, a development group comprised of George Laham, Dave Burk, 
Dave Wells and Bill Warren. 
 
The RIV:  The RIV is a 140 unit apartment project consisting of 82 one bedroom and 58 two bedroom 
units.  The project will be a four story upscale project and include resort-style amenities, high end finishes 
and Energy Star rated appliances.  The project will include bike storage and other urban amenities. The 
site plan includes the potential development of a boathouse south of the development that could be built 
with future City funds. The project will be secured by a gated entrance and perimeter fencing and public 
access to the River is from McLean Park and from 2nd Street. Parking improvements will provide 196 
secured spaces on site as well as 75 angled public parking spaces located on McLean Boulevard. 
 
The RIV is requesting TIF for public infrastructure, including expansion of on-street public parking along 
McLean Boulevard, and on-site surface parking, utility relocation and site prep.  The Developer is also 
proposing the use of STAR bond funds to make river bank improvements complimentary to the river 
bank improvements located across the river. 
 

32



West Bank Project Selection 
August 6, 2013 
Page 2 
 
The overall project costs are $$17,793,755 with $9,302,265 private debt financing, $3,986,685 private 
equity, $1,661,500 TIF, and $1,943,305 STAR bonds.  In addition, the RIV requests conveyance of the 
five-acre project site, which the developer values at $900,000, at no cost. 
 
On July 30, 2013, The RIV LLC submitted a supplement to its original proposal which includes a pledge 
of $1,000,000 to help fund the development of a Boathouse on Delano Park by Wichita Festivals, Inc. and 
$500,000 to help fund the development of a Medical Simulation Center on the City-owned parking lot at 
1st Street and Waco that is being proposed by Dr. Paul Uhlig and developer Gary Oborny.  The full 
funding sources and ultimate design of these two projects are yet to be determined. Also, this supplement 
to the proposal is not reflected in the evaluation summarized below. 
 
River Vista: River Vista is a 154 unit apartment project consisting of 85 one bedroom units, 51 two 
bedroom units and 18 two bedroom loft units.  The developers are proposing units with a high level of 
interior finish including granite counter tops, wood, tile and carpet floors.  All units will have a view of 
either the Arkansas River, Exploration Place and the Keeper of the Plains or the River and downtown.  
The development will include pedestrian walkway access to the River, bike paths and Delano Park.    The 
apartment building will also include a boat and bike rental facility with access to the River and storage for 
rowing shells.  Parking for tenants will be provided through structured parking and 111 parking stalls will 
be provided for the general public and guests.  A two-story commercial building located along McLean 
Boulevard is planned as a second phase, based on market conditions. 
 
River Vista LLC is requesting TIF funding for parking and infrastructure improvements.  The Developer 
is also proposing the use of STAR bond financing for river bank improvements. The overall project costs 
are $24,700,00 with $13,000,000 private debt financing, $6,450,000 private equity, $2,400,000 TIF and 
$2,500,000 STAR bonds. In addition, River Vista requests to purchase the five-acre project site, which 
the developer values at $450,000, at a reduced price of $100,000.  
 
Proposal Evaluations: The Downtown Development Incentives Policy provides for review and 
evaluation of development proposals by a public-private evaluation team appointed by the City Manager, 
using a scoring matrix that focuses on project characteristics, public benefits and developer qualifications.   
The evaluation team has reviewed both project proposals; both development teams and projects met the 
minimum threshold criteria.  A summary of the scores is below; the evaluations are attached. 
 
 The RIV River Vista 
Public Benefit/Compatibility with Overall 
Downtown Plan 26 31 

Proposed Project Characteristics 27 26 
Current Experience and Creditworthiness of 
Developer 22 23 

Total (100 total points possible) 75 80 
 
Designation of TIF Project Areas:  Bond Counsel has determined that the existing district plan for the 
East Bank Redevelopment District needs to be amended to designate more specifically the project areas in 
which redevelopment projects have been or will be implemented within the District.  Prior projects in the 
district include the Hyatt Hotel, WaterWalk and the River District STAR Project.  Future potential project 
areas include the West Bank Apartments area, First and Waco, Century II, Central Branch Library, Mid-
America All Indian Center and the historic Kansas Gas and Electric Plant areas.  The attached ordinance 
amends the District Plan and designates the aforementioned project areas. 
 

33



West Bank Project Selection 
August 6, 2013 
Page 3 
 
Next Steps:  If a developer proposal is selected by the City Council, staff will negotiate a detailed 
development agreement and prepare a TIF project plan for approval by the City Council.  Adoption of the 
project plan will require consultation with the Metropolitan Area Planning Commission, adoption of a 
resolution setting a public hearing and finally adoption of an ordinance approving the project plan 
following the public hearing.  Staff will also work with the State of Kansas to gain approval of an 
amendment to the existing River District STAR Project.  
 
Financial Considerations:  The City has received payment from both applicants of the $8,500 
application fee required by the Downtown Development Incentives Policy. The cost of the proposed 
public incentives will be financed by City general obligation bonds which will be paid from tax increment 
financing revenue and by STAR revenue funding for river bank improvements paid by incremental sales 
tax revenue generated within the existing STAR Bond District.  All costs of publishing the notice and 
amendment will be paid from the City’s Economic Development Fund and will be reimbursed from the 
Project Downtown application fee. 
 
Legal Considerations:  State law requires that prior to the City disposing of Urban Renewal land, a 
notice of intent to accept a proposal must be filed with the Governing Body at least 30 days prior to 
disposing of the land. Amending the TIF district plan is needed in order to adopt a project plan within the 
West Bank project area.  Bond Counsel has determined the addition of a project area is not a significant 
change and therefore does not require the additional public hearing.  The notice and ordinance have been 
reviewed by the Department of Law and approved as to form.   
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council: 

1. Accept a preferred proposal for the development of the West Bank Catalyst Site; receive and file 
a notice of intent to accept the preferred proposal from the selected developer; and direct staff to 
negotiate a development agreement with the selected developer. 

2. Adopt an ordinance amending the East Bank Redevelopment District Plan by adding project areas 
 
Attachment(s):  West Bank Redevelopment proposals 
 Evaluation Team reports 
 Notice of Intent 
 Ordinance amending District Plan 

34



 

JLN\600809.076\ORDINANCE AMENDING DISTRICT PLAN (07-30-13) 

 
(Published in The Wichita Eagle on August 16, 2013) 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 49-557 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 46-407 OF THE 
CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS RELATING TO A NON-
SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE TO THE DISTRICT PLAN FOR THE 
EAST BANK REDEVELOPMENT DISTRICT. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 42-966, adopted December 12, 1995, and published 
December 15, 1995, the City of Wichita (the “City”) established a redevelopment district pursuant to 
K.S.A. 12-1770 et seq., as amended, known as the East Bank Redevelopment District (the “District”), and 
 
 WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 45-339, adopted June 25, 2002, and published June 29, 2002, the 
City removed certain property and reduced the boundaries of the District pursuant to K.S.A. 12-1771(g); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 45-983, adopted January 3, 2004, and published February 6, 
2004, the City adopted a redevelopment project plan for the WaterWalk Redevelopment Project Area for 
the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 46-407, adopted November 23, 2004, and published 
November 29, 2004, the City added certain property and increased the boundaries District pursuant to 
K.S.A. 12-1771(f) and made a substantial change to the District Plan for the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Plan for the District provided that redevelopment of the District would 
be in several project areas within the District as set forth in separate redevelopment plans to be approved 
by the governing body of the City pursuant to K.S.A. 12-1771; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a map generally describing the redevelopment project areas was omitted from the 
District Plan, which was Exhibit B to Ordinance No. 46-207; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Exhibit B to Ordinance No. 46-207 needs to be amended to include Schedule 1 
thereto which shall be a map generally describing the redevelopment project areas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, such insertion does not constitute an addition to the area of the District or a 
substantial change to the District Plan as to require public notice and hearing described in K.S.A. 12-
1771(e). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF WICHITA, KANSAS: 
 
 Section 1.  Amendment.  Exhibit B to Ordinance No. 46-207 is hereby amended by the insertion 
of Schedule 1 thereto in the form attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 Section 2.  Ratification.  The rest and remainder of Ordinance No. 46-207 is hereby ratified and 
confirmed. 
 

35



 

JLN\600809.076\ORDINANCE AMENDING DISTRICT PLAN (07-30-13) 
2 

 Section 3.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force after its adoption 
by the City and publication once in the official newspaper of the City.  
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of Wichita, Kansas, on August 13, 2013. 
 
 
 
        
 Carl Brewer, Mayor 
(Seal) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
 Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
      
 Gary Rebenstorf, City Attorney 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, the undersigned, hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of the 
original Ordinance No. 49-[___] (the “Ordinance”) of the City of Wichita, Kansas (the “City”); that said 
Ordinance was passed by the City Council on August 12, 2013, that the record of the final vote on its 
passage is found on page ____ of journal ____; that it was published in the official newspaper of the City 
on August __, 2013; and that the Ordinance has not been modified, amended or repealed and is in full 
force and effect as of this date. 
 
 DATED:  August __, 2013. 
 

  
 Karen Sublett, City Clerk 

 
 

36



 

JLN\600809.076\ORDINANCE AMENDING DISTRICT PLAN (07-30-13) 
B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

REVISED DISTRICT PLAN FOR THE REDEVELOPMENT OF THE EAST BANK 
REDEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THROUGH TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 

 
 
SECTION 1:  PURPOSE 
 
A district plan is required for inclusion in the establishment of a redevelopment district under K.S.A. 12-
1771(a).  The district plan is a preliminary plan that identifies proposed redevelopment project areas 
within the district, and describe in a general manner the buildings and facilities to be constructed, 
reconstructed or improved.   
 
SECTION 2:  DESCRIPTION OF TAX INCREMENT INCOME 
 
Projects financed through tax increment financing typically involve the creation of an "increment" in real 
estate property tax income.  The increment is generated by segregating the assessed values of real 
property located within a defined geographic area such that a portion of the resulting property taxes are 
paid to the City to fund projects in the redevelopment district, and the remaining portion is paid to all 
taxing jurisdictions.  The portion of property taxes paid to the City in this way is determined increase in 
the assessed value of the properties within the redevelopment district as a result of the new development 
occurring within the area.  When the aggregate property tax rates of all taxing jurisdictions are applied to 
this increase in assessed property value from new development, increment income is generated.  Public 
improvements within the district may be funded by the City and repaid over a specified period of time 
with this increment income.  The property taxes attributable to the assessed value existing prior to 
redevelopment, the "original valuation," are distributed to all taxing jurisdictions just as they were prior to 
redevelopment.  This condition continues until all eligible project costs are funded, or for the 20-year 
duration of the established district, as defined by statute, whichever is shorter. 
 
SECTION 3:  BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES 
 
The proposed redevelopment district is within the city limits of Wichita, Kansas.  The district is generally 
bounded on the north by Central Avenue and Greenway Boulevard, on the east by Waco Avenue and 
Main Street, on the south by Kellogg Street and on the west by McLean Boulevard. 
 
This area included in the proposed district has been the object of significant public redevelopment efforts 
for over forty years.  The Century II Civic Center was undertaken as a major urban renewal project in the 
1960s, as was the construction of the main branch of the Wichita Public Library.  In the 1970s, the old 
City Library was redeveloped as a science museum, old City Hall was reopened as the Wichita/Sedgwick 
County Historic Museum and Century II was expanded by the addition of Expo Hall.  During the 1980s, 
the City concentrated on acquisition of property along the east bank of the Arkansas River in order to 
clear the land for future public redevelopment projects, including the construction of a convention hotel.  
In the 1990s, the City continued to acquire land on the east bank, and together with Sedgwick County, 
redeveloped the West Bank of the Arkansas River into the Exploration Place science museum. 
 
The condition of the buildings in the district that predate the recent redevelopment efforts is typical of that 
of a seventy year old central business district.  Many aging commercial and office buildings stood vacant 
due to the migration of commercial businesses to the suburbs during the 1970s and 1980s.  However 
many of the buildings in the proposed redevelopment district have been demolished during this period.  
The proposed redevelopment plan is intended provide the catalyst that will help complete the downtown 
revitalization process that started over thirty years ago. 

37



 

JLN\600809.076\ORDINANCE AMENDING DISTRICT PLAN (07-30-13) 
B-2 

 
SECTION 4:  REDEVELOPMENT 
 
Redevelopment plans center around the construction of a 300-room full-service convention hotel adjacent 
to the Century II Expo Hall, the River Corridor improvements and the WaterWalk mixed-use comercial 
development.  The Hyatt Regency Hotel was developed in 1996, and serves as the "headquarters" hotel 
for large conventions at Century II.  In addition to the hotel, the City built and operates a 12,000 square 
foot conference center and a 500-car parking garage adjoining both the hotel and Century II.  Both the 
Douglas Avenue Bridge and the Lewis Street Bridge have been substantially reconstructed, based on 
designs selected through a nationwide design competition, and a pedestrian promenade along the east 
bank of the Arkansas River, has been constructed from Kellogg to Douglas.  In addition, Waterman, 
Wichita and Lewis Streets on the east bank, and McLean Boulevard on the west bank have been improved 
and upgraded with appropriate streetscape designs. 
 
Current plans for the next phases of redevelopment in the area include the public-private development of 
a major commercial, entertainment and tourism area in the immediate vicinity of the Arkansas River 
between the Kellogg and Seneca bridges, which will include restaurants, shops, offices and apartments.  
The WaterWalk Project will include as public amenities a meandering waterway feature, a small outdoor 
amphitheater, plazas, fountains, walkways, a pedestrian bridge across the Arkansas River and ample 
public parking facilities.  The River Corridor Project will include riverbank promenades, water features, a 
large outdoor amphitheater and renovation of the Keeper of the Plains complex at the confluence of the 
Arkansas River and the Little Arkansas River.  The goal is to create a major tourism attraction that will 
bring people from throughout the State of Kansas and the United States. 
 
SECTION 5:  SUMMARY 
 
Per statute, the above-mentioned redevelopment projects will be presented to the Governing Body in 
segments through the adoption of separate Redevelopment Plans.  Each Plan will identify specific project 
areas located within the established redevelopment district and will include detailed descriptions of the 
projects as well as a financial feasibility study that shows the economic benefits out-weigh the costs.  
Project Plans must be reviewed by the Metropolitan Planning Commission and submitted to a public 
hearing following proper notification of property owners and occupants, before they can be adopted by a 
two-thirds majority vote of the Governing Body.  Only then can tax increment income be spent on 
redevelopment projects.  A map generally describing the various project areas is attached hereto as 
Schedule 1.  
 

38



 

JLN\600809.076\ORDINANCE AMENDING DISTRICT PLAN (07-30-13) 
S-1 

SCHEDULE I 
 

MAP GENERALLY DEPICTING PROJECT AREAS 
 

[TO BE INSERTED] 

39



 
 
 

DATE: July 24, 2013 
TO: Mayor and City Council 
FROM: Downtown Development Incentives Evaluation Team 
SUBJECT: Evaluation of The Riv Proposal 
 
 
The Downtown Development Incentives Evaluation Team appointed by the City Manager completed the attached 
evaluation of The Riv proposal.  This memo provides the rationale for the scores determined by the team in their 
evaluation of the proposal. 
 
Minimum Submittal Criteria for Developer 

Equity – Per the attached letter, the developer has proposed 30% equity in the project.   
Shortfall Agreement – The developer has agreed to provide a TIF Shortfall Agreement. 
Vetting – The City’s vetting process indicates no issues of concern. 
Letter of Interest – The developer has provided a letter of interest from Grandbridge Real Estate Capital. 
 
Minimum Submittal Criteria for Project 

Design Guidelines – Per the attached Design Review Evaluation Form, the design has been found to be consistent 
with the Project Downtown design guidelines.  Note that the developer has not commented on any of the 
suggestions for increasing consistency with the design guidelines. 
“But For” Analysis – As shown in the attached Cash Flow Analysis, the project has a return on investment 
without incentives of 4.85%.  Assuming a sale of property at the end of 10 years and an 8% percent cap rate, the 
return on investment with incentives increases to 6.24%, which is still a low return. 
Public Asset – The proposed publicly-funded street, riverbank, and parking improvements are public assets 
identified in the Project Downtown master plan. 
Capital Investment Ratio – The proposed private to public capital investment ratio is 3 to 1 including the land 
value and 3.7 to 1 without the land value. 
Debt Service Coverage – The attached Cash Flow Analysis and Bond Structure shows a 1.2 to 1 debt service 
coverage ratio will fund project costs financed by TIF totaling $1,766,023.  The developer has proposed 
$1,661,500 in TIF financed project costs. 
 
Project Location/Design 

Location – The project is located on a Catalyst Site and in a Walkable Development Focus Area. 
Design – The project provides the optional Project Development Criteria of enhancing public park areas adjacent 
to the Arkansas River. 
Land Use/Project Type – The proposed apartments are an encouraged land use for the site by Project Downtown.  
However, the project does not provide the mixed-use development encouraged by Project Downtown. 
Other Location/Design Benefits – The proposal does not document other benefits. 
Return on Public Investment – The attached CEDBR model shows a return on investment to the City of 1.09 to 1.  
Note that the team had a lengthy discussion regarding the applicability of the CEDBR model to residential 
projects, including a consultation by two team members with CEDBR staff.  The team determined that the 
CEDBR is not applicable to residential projects, as it is geared towards projects that generate new jobs and the 
economic spin off associated with those jobs.  Therefore, the Project Location/Design category is presented with a 
Modified Percentage that excludes the CEDBR model from consideration in the evaluation of this category. 

Page 1
40



Public Assets – The proposed McLean improvements will be benefit the Central Library project and the riverbank 
improvements will benefit the community at-large as part of a multi-phase riverbank improvement project. 
Project Downtown Vision – The project redevelops a major portion of Catalyst Site 1, provides the first high-end 
new construction housing in downtown, and contributes to a vibrant riverfront. 
Economic Base – The project provides a housing type for that doesn’t exist in Wichita, which will promote the 
economic development of downtown and the community overall by helping to attract professionals to the 
community. 
Environmental Sustainability – The project proposes capturing and reusing stormwater for irrigation and energy 
efficient appliances and construction materials. 
Other Public Purpose Benefits – The project accommodates future recreation use of the Arkansas River through a 
boathouse to be developed by others on an adjacent site.  The project provides improved connections to the new 
Central Library site through the construction on a new intersection on McLean. 
 
Proposed Project Characteristics 

Market Analysis – The developers provided a housing market analysis by Martens Appraisal that indicates that 
the proposed rents are comparable to other similar properties, the number of units can be absorbed in the local 
housing market, and the unit size of is appropriate for the upscale apartment category. 
Rate of Private Return – Staff analysis indicates a 3.6% return without incentives at an 8% percent cap rate.  With 
the incentives, the return on investment increases to 6.9%, which is still a low return. 
Projected Rents – The housing market analysis by Martens Appraisal indicates that the proposed rents are 
comparable to other similar properties.   
Rate of Absorption – The housing market analysis by Martens Appraisal indicates that the units can be absorbed 
in the local housing market. 
Long-Term Solvency – The above factors and the attached Springsted memorandum indicate that long-term 
solvency of the project and development team is likely. 
Developer Equity – The developer has proposed 30% equity in the project. 
Equity Commitment – The developer has proposed to personally guaranty the equity. 
Private to Public Investment Ratio – The proposed private to public capital investment ratio is 3 to 1 including the 
land value and 3.7 to 1 without the land value. 
Financial Stability of Lender – The attached financial stability report indicates that Grandbridge has an above 
average rating. 
Lender Commitment –Grandbridge indicates that they will submit a HUD Firm Commitment Application on 
behalf of the developer, which means the lender commitment is conditioned upon HUD approval. 
 
Current Experience and Creditworthiness of Developer 

Financial Statements – The attached memorandum from Springsted indicates that they reviewed unaudited 
financial statements from the development partners and that their individual and collective abilities to generate the 
equity needed for the project should be feasible. 
Developer Credit History – The City’s vetting process indicates that the developers have excellent credit history. 
Letters of Good Standing – The developers provided four letters of good standing from lenders. 
D&B Rating – The attached Springsted report indicates that the D&B rating for the developers is excellent. 
State Certificates – The developers provided the required Certificate of Good Stand and Tax Clearance Certificate 
for The Riv LLC. 
Defaults – The City’s vetting process indicates that the developers have zero defaults in the last 10 years. 
Team Experience – The partners in The Riv LLC indicated that they have never undertaken a public-private 
partnership project together. 
References – References from several municipal partners, including Manhattan, Kansas and Evansville, Indiana, 
were provided. 
Other Experience – The developers have documented exceptional experience. 

Page 2
41



(Enter "Yes" or "No" in the column and the appropriate score in "Score" column for each criterion based on the team's consensus evaluation)

Date:  May 16, 2013

Project:  The Riv

Evaluation Team Members:  Allen Bell, Monty Briley, Wayne Chambers, Jeff Fluhr, Jason Gregory, Scott Knebel, Brian McLeod, Rob Raine 

MINIMUM SUBMITTAL CRITERIA FOR DEVELOPER: Yes No

Development entity or key partners provide at least 10% equity Yes

Development entity and/or key partners provide a proportional guarantee for public revenue shortfall Yes

Development entity and key partners pass City vetting process Yes

Submittal of Letter of Interest from primary lender or equity investor Yes

MINIMUM SUBMITTAL CRITERIA FOR PROJECT: Yes No

Consistent with Project Downtown's general and district design guidelines Yes

Economic analysis confirms that project is infeasible "but for" public investment Yes

Public investment is in a public asset as defined in Project Downtown Plan Yes

Minimum proportional private to public capital investment ratio of 2 to 1 Yes

Minimum public debt service coverage ratio of 1.2 to 1 Yes

If any of the above criterion is "No," the project is not eligible for further evaluation.

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES EVALUATION FORM

Page 1 Page 3
42



PUBLIC BENEFIT/COMPATIBILITY WITH OVERALL DOWNTOWN PLAN (40 points possible) Total Score: 26

Percentage: 65.0%

(35 points possible) Modified Percentage: 74.3%

PROJECT LOCATION/DESIGN Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

LOCATION (extent project location fits Project Downtown priorities) 1 2 3 4 5 4

Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

DESIGN (extent project design fits priorities of Project Downtown) 1 2 3 4 5 4

Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

LAND USE/PROJECT TYPE fits priorities of Project Downtown 1 2 3 4 5 3

Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

OTHER LOCATION/DESIGN BENEFITS documented by developer 0 1 2 3 1

RETURN ON PUBLIC INVESTMENT < 1.3:1 1.3-1.6:1 1.6-1.9-1 1.9-2.2:1 2.2-2.5:1 >2.5:1 Score

Extent City's ROI exceeds benefit/cost ratio of 1.3:1 on CEDBR Model 0 1 2 3 4 5 0

PUBLIC PURPOSE Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

Extent public asset serves developments beyond the project 1 2 3 4 5 4

Extent that project helps accomplish Project Downtown vision & strategies 0 1 2 3 4 3

Extent that project enhances the community's economic base 0 0 1 2 3 3

Extent that project promotes environmental sustainability 0 0 1 2 2 2

Other public benefits as documented by Developer 0 0 1 2 3 2

Project Downtown identifies priority locations such as Catalyst Sites and Walkable Development Focus Areas. Projects will be evaluated on the extent to which 

they utilize these priority locations in a manner that fosters additional development on properties surrounding the project site. Projects also will be evaluated on 

the ability to connect existing downtown districts and nodes and on impacts to the transportation system, such as providing a strategic walking connection to the 

river or accommodating a key transit stop.

The design of projects will be evaluated on the extent to which they exceed the minimum thresholds. Project Downtown encourages extraordinary design that 

contributes to Wichita's identity as a community of distinction. Additionally, the Project Development Criteria identifies encouraged design features for each 

downtown district as "optional criteria." Projects will be evaluated on the extent to which they contribute to community identity and include encouraged design 

features.

The Project Development Criteria identifies encouraged land uses for each downtown district as "optional criteria." Projects will be evaluated on the extent to 

which they include these encouraged land uses. Projects also will be evaluated on the extent to which they provide a new attraction, destination business, or major 

employer to the community.

Page 2 Page 4
43



PROPOSED PROJECT CHARACTERISTICS        (35 points possible) Total Score: 27

Percentage: 77.1%

BUSINESS PLAN ASSESSMENT Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

MARKET ANALYSIS 0 1 2 3 4 3

a)Extent Project Downtown market analysis confirms project feasibility, or

b)Alternative, confirmation of project feasibility by 3rd party analysis

PRO FORMA ANALYSIS No Yes Score

a) Rate of private investment return falls within contemporary market standards 0 1 1

Moderate Significant Score

b) Projected rents/prices consistent with performance of comparables 1 2 2

c) Projected rate of absorption consistent with performance of comps 1 2 2

Fairly Likely Score

d) Long-term solvency of the project 0 1 1

DEVELOPER EQUITY THIS PROJECT <12% 12-14% 15-19% 20-24% 25-29% 30%+ Score

Extent equity exceeds minimum threshold (min 10%) 0 2 4 6 8 10 10

Other Guaranty Bond/LOC Escrow Score

Firmness of equity commitment 0 2 4 5 2

SHARE OF PUBLIC FUNDING >2:1 >3:1 >4:1 >5:1 >6:1 Score

Extent private  to public  investment ratio exceeds 2:1 1 2 3 4 5 2

LENDER COMMITMENT
FINANCIAL STABILITY OF LENDER Average Above Avg. Superior Score

a) Bank or Other Company -3rd Party Rating Score only one-bank/company or individual 1 2 3 3

or alternatively ****DO NOT SCORE BOTH**** <750 750+ Score

b) Individual -Personal Credit Score (FICO) 0 1 0

FIRMNESS OF LENDER COMMITMENT No w/conditions w/o cond. Score

Commitment letter 0 1 2 1

Page 3 Page 5
44



CURRENT EXPERIENCE AND CREDITWORTHINESS OF DEVELOPER        (25 points possible) Total Score: 22

Percentage: 88.0%

Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2 4 6 8 10 10

Based on the summary report from the 3rd party consultant, evaluate the financial strength of the developer and the key partners.

DEVELOPER EXPERIENCE & QUALIFICATIONS Other Good Excellent Score

Developer Credit History 0 1 2 2

None One 2 or more Score

Letters of Good Standing from Lenders in previous projects 0 1 2 2

Other Good Excellent Score

D & B or other rating 0 1 2 2

No Yes Score

Certificate of Good Standing & Tax Clearance Certificate from State 0 1 1

Other 0 last 10 yrs Never Score

Extent of defaults by development entity or key partners 0 1 2 1

None One 2 or more Score

Experience with similar public-private projects, completed by same development team 0 1 2 0

No Yes Score

References, esp from other municipal partners 0 1 1

Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score

Other Experience documented by the Developer 0 1 2 3 3

Page 4 Page 6
45



Page 7
46



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

(Project amount and purpose, Description of the redevelopment project, including details of how the proposed project meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Public Benefit 
Criteria”, Description of the proposed public-private partnership, including details of how the project partnership meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Business Plan 
Criteria”, Description of the development team, including details of how the development team meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Developer Background Criteria”)
 
The “RIV” project is a 140-unit apartment project located on the west side of the Arkansas River in downtown Wichita, Kansas.  The 
project purpose is to provide an aesthetically pleasing architectural multi-family development to attract individuals and families to live 
and benefit from the downtown Wichita area.  The project consists of 82 one bedroom and 58 two bedroom units.  The project features 
9 foot ceilings, plank flooring and granite countertops.  Each unit has Energy Star Rated stainless and black appliances.  The project 
amenities include a state-of-the-art fitness facility, infinity edge pool, fireplaces and fire pits for tenants to socialize in a resort-style 
atmosphere.  Security includes a gated entrance, perimeter fencing and interior halls.  Each entry to the building has a bicycle hang-up 
area and elevators to the upper units.  

The “Request for Proposal”, as presented, is to provide a quality project that would enhance the area.  The development compliments the 
city’s general guidelines and project development criteria.  The four story building is positioned along the waterfront allowing  beautiful 
views of the river while blocking a majority of the parking behind the building structure.  All building set-backs are in compliance and 
the building materials are composed of a mixture of brick at the lower levels, stucco panels at upper levels and glass with a standing seam 
metal roof.  Parking ratios maximize space and cost efficiency while providing 196 total spaces, not counting permitted parking along 
the street and additional parking at the South lot. Pedestrian access is inviting and convenient for residents and guests.  Tree and brush 
vegetation will be added to the project to enhance the greenspace landscape.  Planting strips and tree wells have all been incorporated 
into the streetscape plan.  The overall streetscape plan will reinforce the river district’s character and enhance its natural setting.  The 
project includes pedestrian sitting areas and bike racks to encourage biking transportation.  The exterior design is articulated through 
the use of building materials and accent colors to reduce the overall size of the building into proportions fitting to the residential use, 
and relating to the surrounding residential neighborhoods.  The building is oriented parallel to the river reinforcing the rivers edge and 
maximizing the views from the units.  Pedestrian river access by both the public and the building’s tenants has been provided in multiple 
locations to promote use and activity on and through the site, with river enhancements provided through water features, structured 
planters and landscaping.

Based on the design, location and construction elements of the project ‘but for” the assistance of public funding alternatives the project 
would not be possible.  The RIV is an upscale apartment project that will attract residents to live in the downtown district, and act as 
a driver for further economic development by their patronage in the local economy.  The overall project costs are $17,793,755.00 and 
the request for a reduced cost of land and infrastructure keep the private to public capital infrastructure greater than 2 to 1.  Below is a 
detailed description of the project cost, itemizing the private and public investment ratio.

PROJECT COST:
Private Investment:   $13,288,950.00 
Public Investment:   $  3,604,805.00
Land (projected value)     $     900,000.00
Total Project Cost  $17,793,755.00

Private Cost include: Construction of buildings, machinery & equipment, architectural & engineering, survey/ platting/permitting, 
legal, site developments and improvements, City fees and contingencies.  

Public Cost include:  Installation of Public Infrastructure from TIF funding and Riverfront Improvements from STAR bonds.

Total Private to Public Ratio Equals:   
Including the land value – 3.0 to 1
Without land value – 3.7 to 1 

With a rich and diverse development history, the following pages highlight some of the development partners’ accomplishments. The 
development partners responsible for the project are HCW principals Rick Huffman and Sam Catanese, and Steve Clark from Clark 
Investment Group. 

Sec 1) 
Project Summary - The RIV

Page 8
47



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

Market Analysis
including written description of plan to meet projects –
Developer has ordered the appropriate market study, appraisal and a Phase I ESA report.  As the information becomes available, we will 
forward same. 

Pro Forma
See next page.

CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model
The Developer has begun the CEDBR process and the CEDBR will provide the Fiscal Impact Model to the city when complete. 
 

Sources and Uses of Funds

 -Evidence of developer equity – The members of the development are guaranteeing the equity contribution.

 -Third party rating of financial stability of the lenders - To be provided upon completion by Springsted  

 -Evidence of lender commitment –  See next page

Amount and purpose of public investment sought
The Application for “Development Incentives” and the budget incorporated thereto differentiates, the amount of private and public 
incentive being used for the installation of public infrastructure and the necessary site improvements requested by the city for the river 
front site.  The public contribution from TIF, STAR bonds and relative land value, represents 27% of the project budgeted cost.  Project 
feasibility, based on pro forma’s utilizing market data thresholds for revenue and expenses, incorporating development and construction 
cost, could not support an additional 27% of cost. 

Repayment Plan
Property real estate taxes will be captured by the TIF to repay the bonds. 

Back-up repayment plan
including guarantors, if a repayment plan is required
In the event the TIF funds are insufficient to repay the annual payment any shortfall is contributed by the developer.  Any additional 
revenue will be used to accelerate the debt service payments to terminate the bonds early and get the property on the general tax roll 
sooner.

Sec 3) 
Business Plan - The RIV

Page 9
48



Page 10
49



   

 
DESIGN REVIEW EVALUATION FORM 

 
Date: May 6, 2013 
 
Project Name: The Riv 
 
Evaluation Team: Allen Bell, John D’Angelo, Jeff Fluhr, Jason Gregory, Paul Gunzelman, Larry 
Hoetmer, Scott Knebel, Dale Miller, John Philbrick, Tom Stolz 
 
GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 
BUILDING PLACEMENT ON SITE 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  Downtown buildings typically should be located at or near the sidewalk; however, since 
this site is adjacent to the river, locating the building adjacent to river rather than McLean is 
appropriate.  Large existing underground stormwater sewer pipe prevents locating the building 
adjacent to the sidewalk along 1st Street. 
 
BUILDING MASSING AND HEIGHT 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  Four-story building height with river views from over half the units reinforces the strong 
riverfront location.  Good use of horizontal lines of expression.  Roof lines complement Exploration 
Place and screen rooftop mechanical equipment.  Consideration should be given to other design 
elements that will make a strong architectural statement given the building’s prominent location. 
 
BUILDING GROUND FLOOR TRANSPARENCY AND RETAIL ACCOMODATION 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent __X__ Mostly Consistent _____ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: Retail use is not proposed because of developer concerns regarding restricted 
marketability due to scale and location, thus ground floor transparency is not appropriate.  Some 
limited commercial use of site is desirable to provide for increased public access to the river, to serve 
as a community amenity for users of the river walk, and to reduce the private, gated-community 
character of the proposed residential development. 
 

  

Page 11
50



   

BUILDING ARTICULATION OF SCALE AND PROPORTION 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: Building facades promote good scale relationships from base to middle to top as well as 
along the horizontal bays.  Balconies provide a human scale to the large building and activate the 
river walk. 
 
BUILDING MATERIALS 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: Stone on the first floor and as an accent on the second story columns breaks up the 
expanse of stucco, but consideration should be given to more frequent use of stone accents on upper 
levels and design details that provide a more “urban” and less “suburban” character to the building.  
Extensive use of windows and balconies will connect residents to the river walk. 
 
OFF-STREET PARKING RATIOS 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  Project provides the maximum recommended number of off-street spaces at 1.5 spaces 
per unit.  The only publicly-accessible parking is located on-street.  Public off-street parking is 
desirable. 
 
OFF-STREET PARKING PLACEMENT AND DESIGN 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: Careful design consideration needs to be given to parking lot screening and landscaping 
to ensure that the use of surface parking does not detract from the prime riverfront location at a major 
gateway to downtown.  Additional design detail is needed.  The parking lot needs to be redesigned to 
provide public access to a drive located outside the gated area that connects Delano Park to the new 
full-movement intersection along McLean. 
 
STREETSCAPING 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  Streetscaping appears to meet the minimum guidelines of the Downtown Wichita 
Streetscape Design Guidelines but additional design detail is needed.  Consideration should be given 
to the treatment of the downtown gateway corner at 2nd and McLean, including the potential to 
relocate the McLean Fountain to this highly visible location, and how the streetscaping at this location 
incorporates seamlessly with the apartment project. 
 

  

Page 12
51



   

PEDESTRIAN CONNECTIVITY 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent __X__ Mostly Consistent _____ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  The private, gated apartment community restricts public access to the river to north and 
south ends of the apartment building.  Improved pedestrian connections to the river walk and 
between the apartments and Delano Park are needed.  Additional detail is needed about the 
pedestrian connections from the apartment entrance to the sidewalks and to the corner of 2nd and 
McLean.  Additional detail is needed about the pedestrian crossings at the new full-movement drive 
along McLean. 
 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT CRITERIA 
 
District: Arkansas River Corridor 
 
THRESHOLD CRITERIA 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: The building has strong visual access and orientation to the river with extensive use of 
glass and outdoor balconies. 
 
OPTIONAL CRITERIA 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: The improvements to the river walk provide enhanced public open space along the river.  
The proposed fountains in the river walk need to be carefully considered in light of water conservation 
efforts and costly maintenance and operations. 

Page 13
52





RIV Apartments

599 W. First Street North

Wichita, Kansas  67203

Annual Growth Rates - Assumptions
Rental Income 3.00% 3.00%
Other Income 3.00% 3.00%
Real Estate & Personal Property Taxes 3.00% 3.00%
Operating Expenses 3.00% 3.00%
Property Insurance 3.00% 3.00%
Reserves & Replacements 3.00% 3.00%
Management Fee (Calculated as a % of GOI) 3.50% 3.50%

Economic Loss (% of GPR)
Physical Vacancy 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Rental Concessions 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
Employee Units 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Model Units 1.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Credit & Collection Loss 0.00% 1.00% 1.00%
Total Economic Loss 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%

Weighted Average Monthly Rent 875$                902$               929$                

Rent Per Sq. Ft. 1.07$               1.11$              1.14$               

GROSS POTENTIAL INCOME 1,470,600$       1,514,718$     1,560,160$       

Economic Loss

Less: Physical Vacancy (73,530)            (75,736)          (78,008)            
Less: Rental Concessions (14,706)            (15,147)          (15,602)            
Less: Employee Units -                       -                     -                       
Less: Model Units (14,706)            -                     -                       
Less: Credit & Collection Loss -                       (15,147)          (15,602)            
Total Economic Loss (102,942)          (106,030)         (109,211)          

EFFECTIVE GROSS INCOME 1,367,658$       1,408,688$     1,450,948$       

Year-over-Year % Change 3.00% 3.00%

Other Income

Plus: Utility Income -                       -                     -                       
Plus: Laundry Income -                       -                     -                       
Plus: Garage Rent -                       -                     -                       
Plus: Parking Rent -                       -                     -                       
Plus: Pet Rent 12,600             12,978            13,367             
Plus: Appliance Rent -                       -                     -                       
Plus: NSF / Late Fees 8,100               8,343              8,593               
Plus: Early Termination Fees 6,500               6,695              6,896               
Plus: Damage & Cleaning Fees 2,400               2,472              2,546               
Plus: Miscellaneous Income 15,660             16,130            16,614             
Total Other Income 45,260             46,618            48,016             

GROSS OPERATING INCOME 1,412,918$       1,455,306$     1,498,965$       

Year-over-Year % Change 3.00% 3.00%

Operating Expenses

Real Estate Taxes 129,800           133,694          137,705           
Personal Property Taxes 3,650               3,760              3,872               
Property Insurance 37,250             38,368            39,519             
Electric 17,850             18,386            18,937             
Gas 2,500               2,575              2,652               
Water & Sewer 5,550               5,717              5,888               
Trash Removal 8,800               9,064              9,336               
Landscape Contract 39,800             40,994            42,224             
Pest Control Contract 3,220               3,317              3,416               
Pool & Spa Contract 2,800               2,884              2,971               
Other Contract Services 14,820             15,265            15,723             
Payroll 198,800           204,764          210,907           
Repairs & Maintenance 39,270             40,448            41,662             
Make Ready 21,350             21,991            22,650             
General & Administrative 35,760             36,833            37,938             
Legal & Professional 11,360             11,701            12,052             
Advertising & Promotion 14,800             15,244            15,701             
Management Fee 49,452             50,936            52,464             
Total Operating Expenses 636,832           655,937          675,615           

OPERATING INCOME 776,086$          799,368$        823,349$          

Debt Service

Less: Principal Amount 186,838           194,451          202,373           
Less: Interest Amount 420,982           413,370          405,448           
Total Debt Service 607,821           607,821          607,821           

Less: Reserves & Replacements 42,000             43,260            44,558             

PRE-TAX NET CASH FLOW 126,265$          148,288$        170,971$          

Gap Analysis

Development Cost 16,993,755$  3.7%
Net Operating Income 823,349$       (16,993,755)$                      823,349$       #### 873,491$     ##### 926,687$       
Return on Investment 4.85%

Capitalization Rate 8.00%
Development Cost at Capitlization Rate 10,291,869$  
Project Gap (6,701,886)$  

Private Development Cost with Public Investment 13,188,950$  6.9%
Return on Investment with Public Investment 6.24% (13,188,950)$                      823,349$       #### 873,491$     ##### 926,687$       

CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

PROPERTY OPERATIONS ANALYSIS YEAR 1 YEAR 2 YEAR 3

Page 15
54



Page 16
55



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

PROJECT SUMMARY (no multipliers, no substitution)
  Company Name
  
  Number of new jobs for 10-year period
  Amount of payroll for 10-year period
  Amount of capital investment for 10-year period
      Land
      Buildings
      Machinery and Equipment

INCENTIVE SUMMARY
City Incentives - Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption

Forgivable loans

921,690
921,690

0
0

6
$2,292,776

$12,422,950
$900,000

$11,392,950
$130,000

2:15 PM
V4

RIV, LLC

(316) 978-3225

5/8/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 1 of 5

    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

County Incentives - Sedgwick
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

  State Incentives
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

School District Incentives - 259 Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

0
0
0
0

0

613,767
613,767

0

612,371
612,371

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0

838,179
838,179

0

Page 1 of 5
Page 17

56



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

TAX ABATEMENT PARAMETERS
  Real Property
      Number of years
      Percentage
  Personal Property
      Number of years
      Percentage

CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS
    Jobs Multiplier
    Earnings Multiplier

    Direct jobs
    Direct payroll earnings

1.789
1.6764

126                                                                                            
$5,696,475

100.0%

0
0.0%

2:15 PM
V4

10

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

(316) 978-3225

5/8/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

Page 2 of 5

    Total jobs
    Total payroll earnings

SUBSTITUTION 
  Firm NAICS code
  Substitution percentage applied to firm operations

FIRM MULTIPLIERS (On-going Operations)
  Jobs
  Earnings

ECONOMIC IMPACT OF FIRM OPERATIONS
  Number of jobs 10-year period
    Direct
    Total

  Payroll earnings for 10-year period
    Direct
    Total $0

-                                                                                            
-                                                                                            

$0

1.3204
1.6943

226                                                                                            
$9,549,571

531000 Real estate
100.0%

Page 2 of 5
Page 18

57



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

FISCAL IMPACT
City Fiscal Impacts. - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $65,335
        Public costs 10-year period $766,533
        ROI 8.5%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $831,868
       Public costs 10-year period $766,533
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.09

City Fiscal Impacts General Fund - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits

Rate of Return on Investment

$65,335

$32,667

(316) 978-3225

5/8/2013
2:15 PM

V4

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 3 of 5

    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $32,667
        Public costs 10-year period $485,215
        ROI 6.7%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $517,883
       Public costs 10-year period $485,215
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.07

City Fiscal Impacts Debt Service - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $32,667
        Public costs 10-year period $281,318
        ROI 11.6%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $313,985
       Public costs 10-year period $281,318
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.12

County Fiscal Impacts. - Sedgwick Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $32,061
        Public costs 10-year period $697,081
        ROI 4.6%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $729,141
       Public costs 10-year period $697,081
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.05                                        

$32,061

$32,667

Page 3 of 5
Page 19

58



  State Fiscal Impacts Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $1,030,745
        Public costs 10-year period $509,285
        ROI 202.4%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,540,030
       Public costs 10-year period $509,285
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 3.02                                        

School District Fiscal Impacts. - 259 Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $0
        Public costs 10-year period $510,446
        ROI 0.0%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $510,446
       Public costs 10-year period $510,446
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.00                                        

$1,030,745

$0

Page 4 of 5Page 4 of 5
Page 20

59



In the preparation of this report, the Center for Economic Development and Business Research assumed that 
all information and data provided by the applicant or others is accurate and reliable.  CEDBR did not take 
extraordinary steps to verify or audit such information, but relied on such information and data as provided 
for purposes of the project.

This analysis requires CEDBR to make predictive forecasts, estimates and/or projections (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS”).  These FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS are based on information and data provided by others and involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that are difficult to predict.  The FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS should not be considered 
as guarantees or assurances that a certain level of performance will be achieved or that certain events will 
occur.  While CEDBR believes that all FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS it provides are reasonable 
based on the information and data available at the time of writing, actual outcomes and results are dependent 
on a variety of factors and may differ materially from what is expressed or forecast.  CEDBR does not assume 
any responsibility for any and all decisions made or actions taken based upon the FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS provided by CEDBR.

Page 5 of 5Page 5 of 5
Page 21

60



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Scott Knebel, City of Wichita 
 Allen Bell, City of Wichita 
 
FROM: Tony Schertler, Senior Vice President  
 Tom Denaway, Analyst 
 
CC:  David MacGillivray, Chairman 
  
DATE: May 8, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: The RIV Project Downtown – Developer Equity Capacity Review 
 
Springsted was retained by the City to provide a third-party review of the ability of the Developers for the proposed 
RIV Project Downtown apartment project to provide the level of equity necessary to secure private financing for the 
project.  The purpose of this review was to analyze the financial capacity of the applicant development entity, and its 
parent limited liability corporations, to verify the access to the financial resources necessary to provide the level of 
equity financing outlined in the development application.  In making this determination we reviewed current financial 
statements, personal income tax returns, and developer disclosures provided by the entities.  The applicant 
development entity is titled RIV, LLC a recently created single-asset development entity.  The financial review 
performed included a review of the parent limited liability corporations which comprise the membership of the RIV, 
LLC, and the funding members of those limited liability corporations.  
 
 
Project Overview 
 
The Developer is proposing the development of a 140-unit apartment project to be located on the west side of the 
Arkansas River in downtown Wichita.  The project is to consist of 82 one bedroom and 58 two bedroom units.  
Additionally, the project will contain onsite amenities including; fitness facility, swimming pool, outdoor social areas, 
and surface parking.  The development is proposed to be completed on land currently owned by the City, with the 
Developer seeking partial project assistance through the provision of the development site via a long-term lease at a 
nominal annual amount. Additionally, the Developer is seeking public assistance in the form of STAR bond proceeds 
and TIF funds.  The STAR bond proceeds are being sought in an amount of $1,943,305 to coincide with the 
Developer’s estimated riverbank improvement costs; while TIF assistance is being sought in an amount of 
$1,661,500 to coincide with the estimated public infrastructure costs associated with the development.   

Springsted Incorporated 
9229 Ward Parkway, Suite 104N 
Kansas City, MO  64114-3311 
Tel:  816-333-7200 
Fax:  816-333-6899 
www.springsted.com 

Page 22
61







 

Materials Reviewed 
 
We reviewed the following information for each development entity and funding member.  The personal financial 
statements provided for Richard E Huffman & Sue Ann Huffman were un-audited, but assumed to be accurate 
reflections of the financial statements at the point in time dated.  Additionally, the financial statements provided for 
the Stephen L. Clark family partnership were un-audited but, assumed to be accurate reflections of the financial 
statements at the point in time dated.  
 
HCW Wichita, LLC: 
 
-Balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 
-Tax returns were not available as LLC was newly created in 2012 
 
 
Sue Ann Huffman Revocable Trust 
 
-Richard E. Huffman & Sue Ann Huffman – Personal Financial Statements: Balance Sheet & Summary of Real 
Estate Owned as of December 31, 2012 
-Richard E. Huffman & Sue Ann Huffman – Joint Personal Individual Income Tax Return – 2011, 2010, & 2009 
 
 
Jane S. Catanese Revocable Trust 
 
-Santo M. Catanese Personal Financial Statement: Balance Sheet, including itemization of investments in operating 
corporations and limited liability companies, and itemization of investments in residential real estate limited liability 
companies and limited partnerships as of September 30, 2012 
-Santo M. Catanese & Jane S. Catanese – Joint Personal Individual Income Tax Return – 2011, 2010, & 2009 
 
 
Stephen L Clark Family Partnership, L.P.  
 
-Draft Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Partners’ Equity at Estimated Current Values as of December 31, 2012 
-Draft Income Statement, Statement of Cash Flows, and Statement of Changes in Partners Equity, for year ending 
December 31, 2012 
-Supplemental financial information for 2012.  
-Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Partners’ Equity at Estimated Current Values as of December 31, 2011 &  
December 31, 2010 
-Income Statement, Statement of Cash Flows, and Statement of Changes in Partners Equity, for years ending 
December 31, 2011 & December 31, 2010 
 
 
We also requested that the funding members answer the following disclosure questions:  
 
-Has the developer or any affiliated party defaulted on a real estate obligation? 
-Has the developer or any affiliated party been the defendant in any legal suit or action? 
-Has the developer or any affiliated party declared bankruptcy?  
-Has the developer or any party had judgments recorded against them?  
-If the answer to any of the above is yes, please explain.  
 
A representative of Steve Clark responded negative on his behalf to all of the above questions, except “has the 
developer or any affiliated party been the defendant in any legal suit or action?” which the representative responded 
yes.  The representative provided the additional explanation, “Steve has been in business for over 40-years with a lot 
of real estate entities (around 100 right now), so he has been sued a few times…more than we can probably 
accurately recall.  However, we have no current or pending litigation that we are aware of for any of our entities.”  
 

Page 25
64



 

A representative for HCW Wichita, LLC and its members responded negative on the LLC’s behalf to all of the above 
questions.  
 
Additionally, we purchased a D&B (Dun & Bradstreet) Risk Management Report for 1) HCW Private Development, 
LLC and 2) Clark Investment Group.  Both reports indicated the entities exhibit a low risk for ceasing business 
without paying all creditors in full, or reorganization or obtaining relief from creditors under state /federal law over the 
next 12 months.  The reports indicated zero public filings of bankruptcies, judgments, liens, or suits for both entities.   
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The individual members comprising the member entities of the RIV, LLC are all mainly engaged in levels of real 
estate ventures; and therefore the majority of their assets are real estate related.  Their individual and collective 
abilities to generate approximately $3.9M of cash equity should be feasible based on the financial conditions we 
examined.  We note, however, that the information we were provided represents a snapshot in time, and therefore 
does not guarantee the available cash will be there today or upon closing.  Additionally, we note that none of the 
financial statements are audited, and the representations of asset value are not based on current appraisals and 
therefore could be over or under valued.  However, assuming the City intends to provide the public sources 
simultaneously to closing, the developer liquidity requirements will have necessarily been addressed by the private 
financing.  
 
The terms associated with the potential private financing were either not available or not provided, so we were unable 
to speak to the ability to secure permanent financing, or satisfy any personal guarantee requirements associated with 
permanent financing. 
 
Based on the above project detail and the review of the described information, we conclude that, collectively, the 
members of the development entity appear to have the financial capacity necessary to fulfill the equity fund 
requirement of $3,986,685.   
  

Page 26
65



Page 27
66



Page 28
67



Page 29
68



Page 30
69



Page 31
70



Page 32
71



Page 33
72



   
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
DISPOSITION OF LAND 

WICHITA NDP URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
(WESTBANK AREA – FIRST STREET & MCLEAN BOULEVARD) 

 
NOTICE OF INTENT TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF RIVER VISTA LLC AS THE 
PROPOSAL THAT BEST SERVES THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN FURTHERANCE OF THE 
REDEVELOPMENT OF THE WESTBANK 
 
Public notice is hereby given that on or after September 6, 2013, the City of Wichita intends to 
enter into and consumate a development agreement, including a contract to convey land, with 
River Vista LLC covering land in the Wichita NDP Urban Renewal Area and for the purpose of 
the construction of high quality apartment and condominium buildings, with related parking and 
amenities.  Such land is within the area commonly referred to as the WestBank, and is an 
unplatted tract of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 27 South, Range 
1 East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, generally located 
between the Arkansas River on the East, McLean Boulevard on the West, First Street on the 
North and Douglas Avenue on the South.  The land consists of property currently owned by the 
City.  
 
The redevelopment will be in accordance with the Urban Renewal Plan for the Wichita NDP 
Urban Renewal Area. 
 
All pertinent codes and ordinances of the City of Wichita will be complied with in the 
redevelopment. 
 
The City reserves the right to place additional requirements on the development because of its 
location and in keeping with the general development theme of the WestBank area. 
 
The proposal of River Vista LLC is for the purchase of the land at a price of $100,000 and the 
construction of high quality apartment and condominium buildings on the land, with related 
parking and amenities.  The proposal is available for examination or comment in the office of the 
City Clerk of the City of Wichita. 
 
For additonal information or questions, please contact the Property Management Office, 268-
4637. 

73



   
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
DISPOSITION OF LAND 

WICHITA NDP URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
(WESTBANK AREA – FIRST STREET & MCLEAN BOULEVARD) 

 
NOTICE OF INTENT TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF THE RIV LLC AS THE 
PROPOSAL THAT BEST SERVES THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN FURTHERANCE OF THE 
REDEVELOPMENT OF THE WESTBANK 
 
Public notice is hereby given that on or after September 6, 2013, the City of Wichita intends to 
enter into and consumate a development agreement including a contract for the long-term lease 
of land with The RIV LLC covering land in the Wichita NDP Urban Renewal Area and for the 
purpose of the construction of high quality apartment and condominium buildings, with related 
parking and amenities.  Such land is within the area commonly referred to as the WestBank, and 
is an unplatted tract of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 27 South, 
Range 1 East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, generally 
located between the Arkansas River on the East, McLean Boulevard on the West, First Street on 
the North and Douglas Avenue on the South.  The land consists of property currently owned by 
the City.  
 
The redevelopment will be in accordance with the Urban Renewal Plan for the Wichita NDP 
Urban Renewal Area. 
 
All pertinent codes and ordinances of the City of Wichita will be complied with in the 
redevelopment. 
 
The City reserves the right to place additional requirements on the development because of its 
location and in keeping with the general development theme of the WestBank area. 
 
The proposal of The RIV LLC is for the lease of the land and the construction of high quality 
apartment and condominium buildings on the land, with related parking and amenities.  The 
proposed term of the lease is 99 years at a rent of $1 per year.  The proposal is available for 
examination or comment in the office of the City Clerk of the City of Wichita. 
 
For additonal information or questions, please contact the Property Management Office, 268-
4637. 

74





www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

-THE RIV-
Project Downtown

Table of Contents

Downtown Development Incentives Application Checklist

Sec. 1) Project Summary
	 •	Project	amount	and	purpose	
	 •	Description	of	the	redevelopment	project,	including	details	of	how	the	proposed	project	meets	the	 
	 		“Threshold	Criteria”	and	the	“Public	Benefit	Criteria”	
	 •	Description	of	the	proposed	public-private	partnership,	including	details	of	how	the	project	partnership  
	 		meets	the	“Threshold	Criteria”	and	the	“Business	Plan	Criteria”	
	 •	Description	of	the	development	team,	including	details	of	how	the	development	team	meets	the	“Thresh 
	 		old	Criteria”	and	the	“Developer	Background	Criteria”

Sec. 2) Design Plan
	 •	Site	Plan	
	 •	Perspective	Drawings	

Sec. 3) Business Plan
	 •	Market	Analysis,	including	written	description	of	plan	to	meet	projections	
	 	 •	Pro	Forma,	including	written	description	of	plan	to	meet	projects	
	 	 •	CEDBR	Fiscal	Impact	Model	
	 	 •	Sources	and	uses	of	capital-
	 	 	 •	Evidence	of	developer	equity
	 	 	 •	Third	party	rating	of	financial	stability	of	lenders	
	 	 	 •	Evidence	of	lender	commitment
	 	 •	Amount	and	purpose	of	public	investment	sought
	 	 •	Repayment	plan
	 	 •	Back-up	repayment	plan,	including	guarantors,	if	a	repayment	plan	is	required

Sec. 4) Developer Background
	 •	Project	or	existing	financial	statements	(3	years)	and	D&B	Financial	Stress	Score	or	other	third	party		
	 		financial	stability	rating	for:
	 	 •	Developer,	development	entity,	and	key	project	partners,	as	applicable
	 	 •	Guarantors	(if	different)
	 	 •	Third	Party	Financial	Analysis	Process
	 •	History/Ownership/legal	structure	of	the	business,	including;
	 	 •	Certificate	of	Good	Standing	from	the	Secretary	of	State
	 	 •	Tax	Clearance	Certificate	from	the	Department	of	Revenue
	 •	Experience	of	the	development	team 
	 	 •	Experience	with	similar	projects	
	 	 •	Number	of	projects	completed	by	the	development	team
	 	 •	Past	project	experience	with	the	City	of	Wichita
	 	 •	References
	 •	Banking	reference 
	 	 •	Credit	history	reports,	including	past	credit	defaults
	 	 •	Letters	of	good	standing	from	previous	lenders
	 •	Applicant	for	Development	Incentives

-THE RIV-
Project Downtown

Table of Contents

Downtown Development Incentives Application Checklist

Sec. 1) Project Summary
	 •	Project	amount	and	purpose	
	 •	Description	of	the	redevelopment	project,	including	details	of	how	the	proposed	project	meets	the	 
	 		“Threshold	Criteria”	and	the	“Public	Benefit	Criteria”	
	 •	Description	of	the	proposed	public-private	partnership,	including	details	of	how	the	project	partnership  
	 		meets	the	“Threshold	Criteria”	and	the	“Business	Plan	Criteria”	
	 •	Description	of	the	development	team,	including	details	of	how	the	development	team	meets	the	“Thresh 
	 		old	Criteria”	and	the	“Developer	Background	Criteria”

Sec. 2) Design Plan
	 •	Site	Plan	
	 •	Perspective	Drawings	

Sec. 3) Business Plan
	 •	Market	Analysis,	including	written	description	of	plan	to	meet	projections	
	 	 •	Pro	Forma,	including	written	description	of	plan	to	meet	projects	
	 	 •	CEDBR	Fiscal	Impact	Model	
	 	 •	Sources	and	uses	of	capital-
	 	 	 •	Evidence	of	developer	equity
	 	 	 •	Third	party	rating	of	financial	stability	of	lenders	
	 	 	 •	Evidence	of	lender	commitment
	 	 •	Amount	and	purpose	of	public	investment	sought
	 	 •	Repayment	plan
	 	 •	Back-up	repayment	plan,	including	guarantors,	if	a	repayment	plan	is	required

Sec. 4) Developer Background
	 •	Project	or	existing	financial	statements	(3	years)	and	D&B	Financial	Stress	Score	or	other	third	party		
	 		financial	stability	rating	for:
	 	 •	Developer,	development	entity,	and	key	project	partners,	as	applicable
	 	 •	Guarantors	(if	different)
	 	 •	Third	Party	Financial	Analysis	Process
	 •	History/Ownership/legal	structure	of	the	business,	including;
	 	 •	Certificate	of	Good	Standing	from	the	Secretary	of	State
	 	 •	Tax	Clearance	Certificate	from	the	Department	of	Revenue
	 •	Experience	of	the	development	team 
	 	 •	Experience	with	similar	projects	
	 	 •	Number	of	projects	completed	by	the	development	team
	 	 •	Past	project	experience	with	the	City	of	Wichita
	 	 •	References
	 •	Banking	reference 
	 	 •	Credit	history	reports,	including	past	credit	defaults
	 	 •	Letters	of	good	standing	from	previous	lenders
	 •	Applicant	for	Development	Incentives
	 •	Applicant	Disclosure	Questionnaire
	 	 •	Developer,	development	entity,	and	key	project	partners,
	 	 •	Guarantors	(if	different)
 76







www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

(Project amount and purpose, Description of the redevelopment project, including details of how the proposed project meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Public Benefit 
Criteria”, Description of the proposed public-private partnership, including details of how the project partnership meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Business Plan 
Criteria”, Description of the development team, including details of how the development team meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Developer Background Criteria”)
 
The “RIV” project is a 140-unit apartment project located on the west side of the Arkansas River in downtown Wichita, Kansas.  The 
project purpose is to provide an aesthetically pleasing architectural multi-family development to attract individuals and families to live 
and benefit from the downtown Wichita area.  The project consists of 82 one bedroom and 58 two bedroom units.  The project features 
9 foot ceilings, plank flooring and granite countertops.  Each unit has Energy Star Rated stainless and black appliances.  The project 
amenities include a state-of-the-art fitness facility, infinity edge pool, fireplaces and fire pits for tenants to socialize in a resort-style 
atmosphere.  Security includes a gated entrance, perimeter fencing and interior halls.  Each entry to the building has a bicycle hang-up 
area and elevators to the upper units.  

The “Request for Proposal”, as presented, is to provide a quality project that would enhance the area.  The development compliments the 
city’s general guidelines and project development criteria.  The four story building is positioned along the waterfront allowing  beautiful 
views of the river while blocking a majority of the parking behind the building structure.  All building set-backs are in compliance and 
the building materials are composed of a mixture of brick at the lower levels, stucco panels at upper levels and glass with a standing seam 
metal roof.  Parking ratios maximize space and cost efficiency while providing 196 total spaces, not counting permitted parking along 
the street and additional parking at the South lot. Pedestrian access is inviting and convenient for residents and guests.  Tree and brush 
vegetation will be added to the project to enhance the greenspace landscape.  Planting strips and tree wells have all been incorporated 
into the streetscape plan.  The overall streetscape plan will reinforce the river district’s character and enhance its natural setting.  The 
project includes pedestrian sitting areas and bike racks to encourage biking transportation.  The exterior design is articulated through 
the use of building materials and accent colors to reduce the overall size of the building into proportions fitting to the residential use, 
and relating to the surrounding residential neighborhoods.  The building is oriented parallel to the river reinforcing the rivers edge and 
maximizing the views from the units.  Pedestrian river access by both the public and the building’s tenants has been provided in multiple 
locations to promote use and activity on and through the site, with river enhancements provided through water features, structured 
planters and landscaping.

Based on the design, location and construction elements of the project ‘but for” the assistance of public funding alternatives the project 
would not be possible.  The RIV is an upscale apartment project that will attract residents to live in the downtown district, and act as 
a driver for further economic development by their patronage in the local economy.  The overall project costs are $17,793,755.00 and 
the request for a reduced cost of land and infrastructure keep the private to public capital infrastructure greater than 2 to 1.  Below is a 
detailed description of the project cost, itemizing the private and public investment ratio.

PROJECT COST:
Private Investment:   $13,288,950.00 
Public Investment:   $  3,604,805.00
Land (projected value)     $     900,000.00
Total Project Cost  $17,793,755.00

Private Cost include: Construction of buildings, machinery & equipment, architectural & engineering, survey/ platting/permitting, 
legal, site developments and improvements, City fees and contingencies.  

Public Cost include:  Installation of Public Infrastructure from TIF funding and Riverfront Improvements from STAR bonds.

Total Private to Public Ratio Equals:   
Including the land value – 3.0 to 1
Without land value – 3.7 to 1 

With a rich and diverse development history, the following pages highlight some of the development partners’ accomplishments. The 
development partners responsible for the project are HCW principals Rick Huffman and Sam Catanese, and Steve Clark from Clark 
Investment Group. 

Sec 1) 
Project Summary - The RIV

79













www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

 

 ROOM COUNT
 
1st Floor
Single Unit                                19
Double Unit                               12
Corner Outside Unit (Dbl)           0
Corner Inside Unit (Dbl)              0
 
2nd Floor
Single Unit                                21
Double Unit                               12
Corner Outside Unit (Dbl)           0
Corner Inside Unit (Dbl)              2
 
3rd Floor
Single Unit                                21
Double Unit                               12
Corner Outside Unit (Dbl)           2
Corner Inside Unit (Dbl)              2
 
4th Floor
Single Unit                                21
Double Unit                               12
Corner Outside Unit (Dbl)           2
Corner Inside Unit (Dbl)              2
 
 
TOTAL UNIT Count
Single Unit                                82
Double Unit                               48
Corner Outside Unit (Dbl)           4
Corner Inside Unit (Dbl)              6

UNIT SqUARe FOOTAgeS:
 
• Single Bed Unit                                      657 sq ft
• Double Bed Unit                                    1,005 sq ft
• Double Bed Outside Corner Unit           1,321 sq ft
• Double Bed Inside Corner Unit              1,123 sq ft

Site Plan

85



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

Clubhouse Floorplan

86





www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

2 Bedroom Unit

88



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

2 Corner Bedroom Unit

89



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

1 Bedroom Unit

90



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

Market Analysis
including written description of plan to meet projects –
Developer has ordered the appropriate market study, appraisal and a Phase I ESA report.  As the information becomes available, we will 
forward same. 

Pro Forma
See next page.

CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model
The Developer has begun the CEDBR process and the CEDBR will provide the Fiscal Impact Model to the city when complete. 
 

Sources and Uses of Funds

 -Evidence of developer equity – The members of the development are guaranteeing the equity contribution.

 -Third party rating of financial stability of the lenders - To be provided upon completion by Springsted  

 -Evidence of lender commitment –  See next page

Amount and purpose of public investment sought
The Application for “Development Incentives” and the budget incorporated thereto differentiates, the amount of private and public 
incentive being used for the installation of public infrastructure and the necessary site improvements requested by the city for the river 
front site.  The public contribution from TIF, STAR bonds and relative land value, represents 27% of the project budgeted cost.  Project 
feasibility, based on pro forma’s utilizing market data thresholds for revenue and expenses, incorporating development and construction 
cost, could not support an additional 27% of cost. 

Repayment Plan
Property real estate taxes will be captured by the TIF to repay the bonds. 

Back-up repayment plan
including guarantors, if a repayment plan is required
In the event the TIF funds are insufficient to repay the annual payment any shortfall is contributed by the developer.  Any additional 
revenue will be used to accelerate the debt service payments to terminate the bonds early and get the property on the general tax roll 
sooner.

Sec 3) 
Business Plan - The RIV

91





www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

RIV at West Bank Apartments
Page 2 of 2

GBREC 221(d)(4) App 

Please do not hesitate to contact me if there are any further questions. 

Sincerely,

GRANDBRIDGE REAL ESTATE CAPITAL LLC 

Senior Vice President 

GBREC 221(d)(4) App 

      

          
Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC 

2000 Shawnee Mission Parkway 
Suite 215 

Mission Woods, KS  66205 
Telephone (913) 850-6375 
Facsimile (913) 850-6392 

March 5, 2013 

Barry S Schwartz 
Executive Vice President/CFO 
HCW
153 S Payne Stewart Drive 
Branson, MO 65616 

Re: First Mortgage Loan  
 RIV at West Bank Apartments 
 1st Street and McLean Boulevard 
 Wichita, Kansas 

Mr. Schwartz: 

Based in Charlotte, N.C., Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC arranges permanent commercial and 
multifamily real estate loans, services loan portfolios, and provides asset and portfolio management as well as 
real estate brokerage services on a national basis, operating loan origination offices in 24 cities. The company 
has a broad capital provider base of more than 100 capital sources that includes insurance companies, CMBS 
investors, pension fund advisors, and commercial banks, as well as a proprietary lending platform. Grandbridge 
is a Fannie Mae DUS® (Delegated Underwriting and Servicing) lender, a Freddie Mac Program Plus®
Seller/Servicer and an active participant in FHA-insured loan products as a MAP-approved multifamily lender 
and a LEAN-approved healthcare lender. Grandbridge is a S&P "Above Average" rated servicer, with a current 
servicing portfolio of more than $26.3 billion. 

On October 31, 2012, a Concept Meeting was held with the HUD Multifamily Housing Program Center, in 
Oklahoma City, presenting RIV at West Bank Apartments for consideration of issuance of HUD insurance 
for Section 221(d)(4) construction/permanent financing.  On November 7, 2012, Stacia Johnson, Director 
of the Oklahoma City Multifamily Program Center responded that they were encouraging submission of the 
application for Riv at West Bank Apartments. 

As previously stated, Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC is a MAP-approved multifamily lender, as well 
as a Ginnie Mae Issuer and Servicer.  Based on our review of the Riv at West Bank Apartments, we find 
the project worthy of consideration and will submit the HUD Firm Commitment Application on your behalf.  

GBREC 221(d)(4) App 

      

          
Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC 

2000 Shawnee Mission Parkway 
Suite 215 

Mission Woods, KS  66205 
Telephone (913) 850-6375 
Facsimile (913) 850-6392 

March 5, 2013 

Barry S Schwartz 
Executive Vice President/CFO 
HCW
153 S Payne Stewart Drive 
Branson, MO 65616 

Re: First Mortgage Loan  
 RIV at West Bank Apartments 
 1st Street and McLean Boulevard 
 Wichita, Kansas 

Mr. Schwartz: 

Based in Charlotte, N.C., Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC arranges permanent commercial and 
multifamily real estate loans, services loan portfolios, and provides asset and portfolio management as well as 
real estate brokerage services on a national basis, operating loan origination offices in 24 cities. The company 
has a broad capital provider base of more than 100 capital sources that includes insurance companies, CMBS 
investors, pension fund advisors, and commercial banks, as well as a proprietary lending platform. Grandbridge 
is a Fannie Mae DUS® (Delegated Underwriting and Servicing) lender, a Freddie Mac Program Plus®
Seller/Servicer and an active participant in FHA-insured loan products as a MAP-approved multifamily lender 
and a LEAN-approved healthcare lender. Grandbridge is a S&P "Above Average" rated servicer, with a current 
servicing portfolio of more than $26.3 billion. 

On October 31, 2012, a Concept Meeting was held with the HUD Multifamily Housing Program Center, in 
Oklahoma City, presenting RIV at West Bank Apartments for consideration of issuance of HUD insurance 
for Section 221(d)(4) construction/permanent financing.  On November 7, 2012, Stacia Johnson, Director 
of the Oklahoma City Multifamily Program Center responded that they were encouraging submission of the 
application for Riv at West Bank Apartments. 

As previously stated, Grandbridge Real Estate Capital LLC is a MAP-approved multifamily lender, as well 
as a Ginnie Mae Issuer and Servicer.  Based on our review of the Riv at West Bank Apartments, we find 
the project worthy of consideration and will submit the HUD Firm Commitment Application on your behalf.  

93



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

Sec 4) 
Developer Background - The RIV
Financial Information
Project	or	existing	financial	statements	(3	years)	and	D&B	Financial	Stress	Score	of	other	third	party	financial	stability	rating	for:	
	 Developer/Development	Entity	-	The	RIV,	LLC
	 Key	Project	Partners	-	Richard	E.	Huffman,	Sam	M.	Catanese	and	Steve	Clark	
	 Third	Party	Financial	Analysis	Process	–	In	process	with	Springsted

History/Ownership/legal structure of the business, including;
	 Certificate	of	Good	Standing	from	the	Secretary	of	State	-	See	Articles	of	Incorporation	attached	next page
 Tax	Clearance	Certificate	from	the	Department	of	Revenue	–		As	the	entity	is	newly	formed	it	has	not	yet	filed	taxes.

Experience of the development team 
Experience	with	similar	projects	–	

HCW	is	a	development	company	and	a	construction	management	company	committed	to	preserving	and	accentuating	the	
natural	beauty	and	unique	characteristics	of	the	communities	in	which	it	works.	Headquartered	in	the	dynamic	tourism	town	
of	Branson	Missouri,	HCW’s	developments	reach	out	to	bring	top-quality	commercial	and	residential	projects	into	several	
states	as	well	as	Missouri,	completing	over	$1	billion	dollars	in	real	estate	development.

The	character	of	the	area	is	always	taken	into	account	in	HCW	developments.	New	construction	blends	harmoniously	with	
existing	structures,	and	rehabilitation	projects	bring	freshness	and	up-to-date	convenience	to	established	structures.	HCW	
projects	can	bring	innovation,	excitement	and	a	new	outlook	to	communities	as	they	move	into	the	future.

HCW	takes	the	time	to	learn	about	each	community	before	it	proposes	a	project.	Its	staff	researches	the	history,	evaluates	
the	economy	and	matches	projects	to	community	needs	and	wishes.	HCW	prides	itself	in	delivering	it’s	projects	on	time	&	
on	budget.	www.HCWDevelopment.com

CLARK Investment Group, LLC (CIG)	is	a	privately	held	investment	company	specializing	in	real	estate	related	investments	
since	1955.	Based	in	Wichita,	Kansas,	CIG	is	primarily	engaged	in	the	acquisition,	development,	and	management	of	real	estate	invest-
ments	to	be	held	for	the	long-term	production	of	income.	CIG’s	investment	philosophy	demands	quality,	which	provides	a	foundation	
for	mutually	beneficial	relationships	with	our	lenders	and	strategic	business	partners.

CIG	has	realized	significant	growth	over	the	years,	investing	in	real	estate	and	other	types	of	investments,	with	experience	in	virtually	
every	facet	of	real	estate	(from	construction	and	development	to	appraisal,	property	management,	and	financing	activities).	CIG	acquires	
raw	land	and	existing	properties	that	have	potential	to	be	developed	or	repositioned	for	added	value.

The	company’s	primary	activities	revolve	around	the	development	of	its	own	properties	to	meet	its	high	expectations	of	quality	for	long-
term	holding	periods.	With	business	experience	in	32	states,	CIG’s	investment	activities	are	not	geographically	limited.	Our	develop-
ment	portfolio	now	includes	over	4	million	square	feet	and	30,000	rental	units.	CIG	is	also	the	nation’s	largest	provider	of	private	equity	
capital	to	the	self-storage	industry.

 

94







www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

Apartment Complexes:
Broadmore	at	Chelsea	-	Wichita,	KS
Lincoln	Meadows	-	Wichita,	KS
Peachtree	Plaza	Tower	-	Haysville,	KS
Washington	Heights	Duplexes	-	Wichita,	KS
Woodbridge	Apartments	-	Wichita,	KS
Valley	Ridge	-	Branson,	MO
Country	Ridge	Residences	-	Branson,	MO
Parkside	Apartments	-	Wichita,	KS
The	Quarters	at	Cambridge	-	Wichita,	KS
Westhaven	Apartments	-	Newton,	KS
Rockridge	Apartments	-	Arkansas	City,	KS
Villa	Pallavicini	-	Chandler,	AZ

Condominium Projects:
Emerald	Bay	Condominiums	-	Branson,	MO
The	Meadows	-	Branson,	MO
Oaks	at	Stonebridge	-	Branson,	MO
The	Villas	at	Emerald	Pointe	-	Branson,	MO
Eagle	Bunker	Luxury	Condos	
							at	Branson	Hills	-	Branson,	MO
Branson	Landing	Boardwalk	Condominiums	-	Branson,	MO
Hilton	Hotel	&	Convention	Center	Penthouse	Condominiums								
						-Branson,	MO

Conference Centers:
Music	City	Conference	Center	-	Branson,	MO
Branson	Convention	Center	-	Branson,	MO
Manhattan	Convention	Center	-	Manhattan,	KS

Club Houses:
Cedar	Ridge	at	The	Woods	Club	House	-	Branson,	MO
Grandvista	at	Emerald	Pointe	Club	House	-	Branson,	MO
Grandvista	Vacation	Suites	
							at	Tunica	Club	House	-	Branson,	MO
Grandvista	at	The	Woods	Sales	Center	-	Branson,	MO
Payne	Stewart	Golf	Club	-	Club	House	-	Branson,	MO

Hotels:
Hilton	Promenade	Hotel	at	Branson	Landing	-	Branson,	MO
Hilton	Convention	Center	Hotel	-	Branson,	MO
Hampton	Inn	at	Branson	Hills	-	Branson,	MO 
Riverwalk	Hampton	Inn	&	Suites	-	Scottsdale,	AZ 
Manhattan	Hilton	Garden	Inn	
							&	Convention	Center	-	Manhattan,	KS
Value	Place	-	St.	Robert,	MO
Value	Place	-	Junction	City,	KS
Value	Place	-	Fort	Hood,	TX
Value	Place	-	Omaha,	NB
Value	Place	-	Hammond,	LA

Industrial Projects:
Beltline	Distribution	Center	-	Coppell,	Texas
Champion	Circle	Warehouse	-	Carrollton,	Texas

Housing Developments:
Coronado	Heights	Residences	-	Junction	City,	KS
Coronado	Park	Residences,	Phase	I	&	II	-	Junction	City,	KS
Prairie	Village	Residences,	Phase	I,	II,	&	III	-	Hutchinson,	KS
Walnut	River	Residences,	Phase	I	&	II	-	El	Dorado,	KS
Shawnee	Plaza	Residences	-	Leavenworth,	KS
Branson	Hills	-	Branson,	MO

Golf Courses:
Payne	Stewart	Golf	Club	-	Branson,	MO

Theaters:
Roy	Rogers	and	Dale	Evans	Theater	
							and	Museum		-	Branson,	MO
Starlight	Theater	-	Branson,	MO
Music	City	Theater	-	Branson,	MO

Parking Garages:
Market	Centre	Parking	Garage	-	Wichita,	KS
Hilton	Promenade	Hotel	at	Branson	Landing	-	Branson,	MO
Hilton	Convention	Center	Hotel	-	Branson,	MO
Manhattan	Hilton	Garden	Inn	
								&	Convention	Center	-	Manhattan,	KS

Office Buildings:
Campbell	Square	II	-	Richardson,	Texas
Gateway	-	GSA	Building	-	El	Paso,	Texas
Lincoln	Porte	-	Fort	Worth,	Texas
Spring	Creek	Business	Center	-	Richardson,	Texas
Cingular	Building	-	San	Antonio,	Texas
Grandvista	Center	-	Branson,	MO
San	Jacinto	Surgery	Center	-	Baytown,	Texas
Waddll	&	Reed	-	Kansas	City,	MO
Branson	Hills	Office	Park	-	Branson,	MO

Retail:
Celebration	Plaza	-	Branson,	MO
Kohl’s	-	Lubbock,	Texas	
Lowe’s	-	Lubbock,	Texas	
Lowe’s	-	Joplin,	MO
South	Town	Center	-	Hollister,	MO
Westloop	Shopping	Center	-	Manhattan,	KS
Dixie	Station	-	Branson,	MO
Vista	Plaza	-	Branson,	MO
Branson	Landing	-	Branson,	MO

Senior Properties:
Bicentennial	Manor	-	Junction	City,	KS
Gordy	Square	Apartments	-	El	Dorado,	KS
Highland	Meadows	-	Pittsburg,	KS
Park	Plaza	Tower	-	Dodge	City,	KS
Shadyway	Plaza	Tower	-	Wichita,	KS
Centennial	Towers	-	Hays,	KS
Sunflower	Plaza	Towers	-	Ottawa,	KS
Heritage	House	Apartments	-	El	Dorado,	KS
Northgate	Manor	-	McPherson,	KS
Prairie	Villa	Apartments	-	Wichita,	KS
Somerset	Plaza	Tower	-	Wichita,	KS
West	Park	Tower	-	Wichita,	KS
The	Greens	-	Branson,	MO

Rehabilitation Projects:
Cheyenne	Village	Residences	-	Great	Bend,	KS
North	Park	Residences	-	Hutchinson,	KS

Resorts:
Cedar	Ridge	at	The	Woods	-	Branson,	MO
Grandvista	at	Emerald	Pointe	-	Branson,	MO
Grandvista	Vacation	Suites	at	Tunica
Fall	Creek	Resort	-	Branson,	MO
Grandvista	at	Painted	Mountain
Rocklane	Resort		-	Branson,	MO
Branson	Hills	-		-	Branson,	MO

Restaurants:
Level	2	Steakhouse	-	Branson,	MO

Number	of	projects	completed	by	HCW,	LLC
The project development team has completed over 100 different projects of various size and substance.

97



www.HCWDevelopment.com   |   www.ClarkInvestment.com

Number	of	projects	completed	by	Clark	Investment	Group
 55	Security	Self-Storage™	facilities	in	9	states
	 12	other	self	storage	facilities	in	4	states
	 Summit	Apartments,	Albuquerque,	NM,	a	193	unit	apartment	complex
	 Business	Center	at	Northgate,	Colorado	Springs,	CO	–	87,000	SF	office/warehouse
	 Lake	Arlington	Ranch,	Fort	Worth,	TX,	a	500+	lot	manufactured	housing	community
	 Team	Ranch,	a	500	acre	master	planned	community,	Fort	Worth,	TX
	 University	Square,	San	Marcos,	TX	a	10,000	SF	neighborhood	retail	center
	 Tiffany	Gardens,	a	80	unit	single	family	home	subdivision,	Fort	Worth,	TX
	 Fast	5	Xpress,	a	chain	of	express	car	washes	we	are	developing	in	southern	California.
	 Arch	Bridge	Loans,	LLC	-	hard	money	lender	for	southern	California
	 Clark	Property	Tax	Investments,	LLC	–	largest	private	investor	buying	delinquent	property	taxes

Past	project	experience	with	the	City	of	Wichita	-	
HCW,	LLC
	 Broadmore	at	Chelsea	-	Wichita,	KS
	 Lincoln	Meadows	-	Wichita,	KS
	 Washington	Heights	Duplexes	-	Wichita,	KS
	 Woodbridge	Apartments	-	Wichita,	KS
	 Parkside	Apartments	-	Wichita,	KS
	 The	Quarters	at	Cambridge	-	Wichita,	KS
	 Market	Centre	Parking	Garage	-	Wichita,	KS
	 The	VUE	Apartments	-	Wichita,	KS in development

Clark	Investment	Group
	 There	are	nine	Security	Self-Storage™	projects	in	Wichita
	 The	Waterfront	–	13th	and	Webb	Road	–	165	acre	mixed	use	development	with	restaurants,	retail,	office	and	a	hotel
	 Airway	Business	Center,	a	108,000	SF	Office/Warehouse	building,	8833	East	34th	Street
	 Rock	Road	Business	Center,	a	24,000	SF	flexible	office/warehouse	facility
	 The	former	Builders	Square	building	at	the	SE	corner	of	Kellogg	and	Webb	Road
	 Polo	Club	Office	Park,	1223	N.	Rock	Road
	 The	Lodge	East	Apartments
	 The	Lodge	West	Apartments
	 Brookwood	Apartments
	 Retail	center	on	the	NW	corner	of	13th	and	Webb	Road	to	include	Whole	Foods	as	an	anchor	tenant	
	 	 190	unit	apartment	complex	at	The	Waterfront	in development

Past	Projects	similar	to	the	RIV
	 Past	experience	developing	apartments,	the	most	recent	and	most	upscale	was	the	Summit	Apartments,	Albuquerque,	NM

References
	 JV	Lentell,	former	Vice	Chairman	of	Intrust	Bank,	Box	One,	Wichita,	KS	67201-5001,	316-383-1111
	 Mike	Michaelis,	Chairman	of	Emprise	Bank,	257	N.	Broadway,	Wichita,	KS	67201,	316-383-4400
	 Dan	Strunk,	Kirkpatrick,	Sprecker	&	Co,	311	S	Hillside,	Wichita,	KS	67211,	316-685-1411
	 Johnny	Stevens,	Partner	in	several	real	estate	ventures,	1223	N.	Rock	Road,	Bldg	H,	Suite	200,	Wichita,	KS	67206,	316-636-2100

Banking reference 
 Credit history reports, including past credit defaults
        See third party evaluation - Springsted
 Letters of good standing from previous lenders
        See third party evaluation - Springsted

98



99



100



101



102



103





 
 
 

DATE: July 24, 2013 
TO: Mayor and City Council 
FROM: Downtown Development Incentives Evaluation Team 
SUBJECT: Evaluation of the River Vista Proposal 
 
 
The Downtown Development Incentives Evaluation Team appointed by the City Manager completed the attached 
evaluation of the River Vista proposal.  This memo provides the rationale for the scores determined by the team in 
their evaluation of the proposal. 
 
Minimum Submittal Criteria for Developer 

Equity – Per the attached Project Budget, the developer has proposed 33.2% equity in the project.   
Shortfall Agreement – The developer has agreed to provide a TIF Shortfall Agreement. 
Vetting – The issues identified in the City’s vetting process do not rise to the level of disqualification on the 
threshold criteria, nor are there evaluation categories for which the identified issues would impact the score. 
Letter of Interest – The developer has provided a letter of interest from Fidelity Bank. 
 
Minimum Submittal Criteria for Project 

Design Guidelines – Per the attached Design Review Evaluation Form, the design has been found to be consistent 
with the Project Downtown design guidelines.  Note that the developer has modified their original design proposal 
to incorporate most of the suggestions for increasing consistency with the design guidelines. 
“But For” Analysis – As shown in the attached Cash Flow Analysis, the project has a return on investment 
without incentives of 5.28%.  Assuming a sale of property at the end of 10 years and an 8% percent cap rate, the 
return on investment with incentives increases to 6.94%, which is still a low return. 
Public Asset – The proposed publicly-funded street, riverbank, and parking improvements are public assets 
identified in the Project Downtown master plan. 
Capital Investment Ratio – The proposed private to public capital investment ratio is 3.7 to 1. 
Debt Service Coverage – The attached Cash Flow Analysis and Bond Structure shows a 1.2 to 1 debt service 
coverage ratio will fund project costs financed by TIF totaling $2.49 million.  The developer has proposed $2.4 
million in TIF financed project costs. 
 
Project Location/Design 

Location – The project is located on a Catalyst Site and in a Walkable Development Focus Area. 
Design – The project provides two optional Project Development Criteria: 1) enhancing public park areas adjacent 
to the Arkansas River and 2) recreational amenity to increase public access to boating and biking along the river. 
Land Use/Project Type – The proposed apartments are an encouraged land use for the site by Project Downtown.  
The developers indicate that a future phase will provide the mixed-use development encouraged by Project 
Downtown. 
Other Location/Design Benefits – The developers indicate that a boathouse for use by Wichita State, Wichita 
Rowing Association, residents, and the general public will be developed.  Public access through the site to the 
river will be provided. 
Return on Public Investment – The attached CEDBR model shows a return on investment to the City of 1.08 to 1.  
Note that the team had a lengthy discussion regarding the applicability of the CEDBR model to residential 
projects, including a consultation by two team members with CEDBR staff.  The team determined that the 

Page 1
105



CEDBR is not applicable to residential projects, as it is geared towards projects that generate new jobs and the 
economic spin off associated with those jobs.  Therefore, the Project Location/Design category is presented with a 
Modified Percentage that excludes the CEDBR model from consideration in the evaluation of this category. 
Public Assets – The proposed McLean improvements will be benefit the Central Library project and the riverbank 
improvements will benefit the community at-large as part of a multi-phase riverbank improvement project. 
Project Downtown Vision – The project redevelops a major portion of Catalyst Site 1, provides the first high-end 
new construction housing in downtown, and contributes to a vibrant riverfront. 
Economic Base – The project provides a housing type for that doesn’t exist in Wichita, which will promote the 
economic development of downtown and the community overall by helping to attract professionals to the 
community. 
Environmental Sustainability – The project proposes energy efficient appliances and construction materials. 
Other Public Purpose Benefits – The project constructs a boathouse and bike rental facility that will significantly 
increase public access to the Arkansas River corridor for recreational use.  The project provides improved 
connections to the new Central Library site through the construction on a new intersection on McLean. 
 
Proposed Project Characteristics 

Market Analysis – The developers provided a housing market analysis by J. Van Sickle & Company that indicates 
that the proposed rents are comparable to other similar properties, the number of units can be absorbed in the local 
housing market, and the unit size of is appropriate for the upscale apartment category. 
Rate of Private Return – Staff analysis indicates a 4.7% return without incentives at an 8% percent cap rate.  With 
the incentives, the return on investment increases to 8.3%, which is still a low return. 
Projected Rents – The housing market analysis by J. Van Sickle & Company indicates that the proposed rents are 
comparable to other similar properties.   
Rate of Absorption – The housing market analysis by J. Van Sickle & Company indicates that the units can be 
absorbed in the local housing market. 
Long-Term Solvency – The above factors and the attached Springsted memorandum indicate that long-term 
solvency of the project and development team is likely. 
Developer Equity – The developer has proposed 33.2% equity in the project. 
Equity Commitment – The developer has proposed to personally guaranty the equity. 
Private to Public Investment Ratio – The proposed private to public capital investment ratio is 3.7 to 1. 
Financial Stability of Lender – The attached letter from Fidelity bank includes a report from Bankrate.com that 
indicates that Fidelity Bank has a “Sound” rating. 
Lender Commitment – Fidelity Bank provided a letter of interest that is conditioned upon satisfactory credit 
underwriting and approval by the Fidelity Bank Corporate Loan Committee. 
 
Current Experience and Creditworthiness of Developer 

Financial Statements – The attached memorandum from Springsted indicates that they reviewed unaudited 
financial statements from the development partners and that their individual and collective abilities to generate the 
equity needed for the project should be feasible. 
Developer Credit History – The City’s vetting process indicates that the developers have excellent credit history. 
Letters of Good Standing – The developers provided 14 letters of good standing from lenders. 
D&B Rating – The attached Springsted report indicates that the D&B rating for the developers is excellent. 
State Certificates – The developers provided the required Certificate of Good Stand and Tax Clearance Certificate 
for River Vista LLC. 
Defaults – The City’s vetting process indicates that the developers have zero defaults in the last 10 years. 
Team Experience – The partners in River Vista LLC indicated that they undertook one public-private partnership 
project together:  the Old Town Square project. 
References – Multiple references, including from municipal partners, were provided. 
Other Experience – The developers have documented exceptional experience. 

Page 2
106



(Enter "Yes" or "No" in the column and the appropriate score in "Score" column for each criterion based on the team's consensus evaluation)

Date:  June 11, 2013

Project:  River Vista

Evaluation Team Members:  Allen Bell, Monty Briley, Wayne Chambers, Jeff Fluhr, Jason Gregory, Scott Knebel, Brian McLeod, Rob Raine 

MINIMUM SUBMITTAL CRITERIA FOR DEVELOPER: Yes No
Development entity or key partners provide at least 10% equity Yes
Development entity and/or key partners provide a proportional guarantee for public revenue shortfall  Yes
Development entity and key partners pass City vetting process Yes
Submittal of Letter of Interest from primary lender or equity investor Yes

MINIMUM SUBMITTAL CRITERIA FOR PROJECT: Yes No
Consistent with Project Downtown's general and district design guidelines Yes
Economic analysis confirms that project is infeasible "but for" public investment Yes
Public investment is in a public asset as defined in Project Downtown Plan Yes
Minimum proportional private to public capital investment ratio of 2 to 1  Yes
Minimum public debt service coverage ratio of 1.2 to 1 Yes

If any of the above criterion is "No," the project is not eligible for further evaluation.

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES EVALUATION FORM

Page 1 Page 3
107



PUBLIC BENEFIT/COMPATIBILITY WITH OVERALL DOWNTOWN PLAN (40 points possible) Total Score: 31

Percentage: 77.5%
(35 points possible) Modified Percentage: 88.6%

PROJECT LOCATION/DESIGN Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
LOCATION (extent project location fits Project Downtown priorities) 1 2 3 4 5 4

Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
DESIGN (extent project design fits priorities of Project Downtown) 1 2 3 4 5 5

Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
LAND USE/PROJECT TYPE fits priorities of Project Downtown 1 2 3 4 5 4

Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
OTHER LOCATION/DESIGN BENEFITS documented by developer 0 1 2 3 3

RETURN ON PUBLIC INVESTMENT < 1.3:1 1.3‐1.6:1 1.6‐1.9‐1 1.9‐2.2:1 2.2‐2.5:1 >2.5:1 Score
Extent City's ROI exceeds benefit/cost ratio of 1.3:1 on CEDBR Model 0 1 2 3 4 5 0

PUBLIC PURPOSE Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
Extent public asset serves developments beyond the project 1 2 3 4 5 4
Extent that project helps accomplish Project Downtown vision & strategies 0 1 2 3 4 4
Extent that project enhances the community's economic base 0 0 1 2 3 3
Extent that project promotes environmental sustainability 0 0 1 2 2 1
Other public benefits as documented by Developer 0 0 1 2 3 3

Project Downtown identifies priority locations such as Catalyst Sites and Walkable Development Focus Areas. Projects will be evaluated on the extent to which 
they utilize these priority locations in a manner that fosters additional development on properties surrounding the project site. Projects also will be evaluated on 
the ability to connect existing downtown districts and nodes and on impacts to the transportation system, such as providing a strategic walking connection to the 
river or accommodating a key transit stop.

The design of projects will be evaluated on the extent to which they exceed the minimum thresholds. Project Downtown encourages extraordinary design that 
contributes to Wichita's identity as a community of distinction. Additionally, the Project Development Criteria identifies encouraged design features for each 
downtown district as "optional criteria." Projects will be evaluated on the extent to which they contribute to community identity and include encouraged design 
features.

The Project Development Criteria identifies encouraged land uses for each downtown district as "optional criteria." Projects will be evaluated on the extent to 
which they include these encouraged land uses. Projects also will be evaluated on the extent to which they provide a new attraction, destination business, or 
major employer to the community.

Page 2 Page 4
108



PROPOSED PROJECT CHARACTERISTICS        (35 points possible) Total Score: 26

Percentage: 74.3%

BUSINESS PLAN ASSESSMENT Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
MARKET ANALYSIS 0 1 2 3 4 3
a)Extent Project Downtown market analysis confirms project feasibility, or
b)Alternative, confirmation of project feasibility by 3rd party analysis
PRO FORMA ANALYSIS No Yes Score
a) Rate of private investment return falls within contemporary market standards 0 1 1

Moderate Significant Score
b) Projected rents/prices consistent with performance of comparables 1 2 2
c) Projected rate of absorption consistent with performance of comps 1 2 2

Fairly Likely Score
d) Long‐term solvency of the project 0 1 1

DEVELOPER EQUITY THIS PROJECT <12% 12‐14% 15‐19% 20‐24% 25‐29% 30%+ Score
Extent equity exceeds minimum threshold (min 10%) 0 2 4 6 8 10 10

Other Guaranty Bond/LOC Escrow Score
Firmness of equity commitment 0 2 4 5 2

SHARE OF PUBLIC FUNDING >2:1 >3:1 >4:1 >5:1 >6:1 Score
Extent private  to public  investment ratio exceeds 2:1  1 2 3 4 5 2

LENDER COMMITMENT
FINANCIAL STABILITY OF LENDER Average Above Avg. Superior Score
a) Bank or Other Company ‐3rd Party Rating Score only one‐bank/company or individual 1 2 3 2
or alternatively ****DO NOT SCORE BOTH**** <750 750+ Score
b) Individual ‐Personal Credit Score (FICO) 0 1
FIRMNESS OF LENDER COMMITMENT No w/conditions w/o cond. Score
Commitment letter 0 1 2 1

Page 3 Page 5
109



CURRENT EXPERIENCE AND CREDITWORTHINESS OF DEVELOPER        (25 points possible) Total Score: 23

Percentage: 92.0%

Poor Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2 4 6 8 10 10
Based on the summary report from the 3rd party consultant, evaluate the financial strength of the developer and the key partners.

DEVELOPER EXPERIENCE & QUALIFICATIONS Other Good Excellent Score
Developer Credit History 0 1 2 2

None One 2 or more Score
Letters of Good Standing from Lenders in previous projects 0 1 2 2

Other Good Excellent Score
D & B or other rating 0 1 2 2

No Yes Score
Certificate of Good Standing & Tax Clearance Certificate from State 0 1 1

Other 0 last 10 yrs Never Score
Extent of defaults by development entity or key partners 0 1 2 1

None One 2 or more Score
Experience with similar public‐private projects, completed by same development team 0 1 2 1

No Yes Score
References, esp from other municipal partners 0 1 1

Fair Moderate Significant Exceptional Score
Other Experience documented by the Developer 0 1 2 3 3

Page 4 Page 6
110



Page 7
111



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

 A letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, along with 
supporting documentation, which sets forth Fidelity’s 
“Sound” third party rating of financial stability. 

 A commitment letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, 
setting forth their interest in the project and proposed terms 
for financing. 

 
5. Amount and purpose of public investment sought 

 
Refer to “Incentive Information” and the figures provided in the 
“Application for Development Incentives” behind Tab #1. 

 
6. Repayment plan, if the City ordinarily requires a repayment plan or 

contingent repayment plan in connection with the type of incentive at issue. 
 

River Vista, L.L.C. agrees to pay a minimum of $250,470 in property 
taxes each year for the project. Each member will personally 
guaranty 125% of their pro-rata share of the project.   

 
7. Backup repayment plan, including guarantors, if a repayment plan is 

required 
 

Not applicable 
 

Page 8
112



   

 
DESIGN REVIEW EVALUATION FORM 

 
Date:  May 17, 2013 
 
Project Name:  River Vista 
 
Evaluation Team:  Allen Bell, John D’Angelo, Jeff Fluhr, Jason Gregory, Paul Gunzelman, Scott 
Knebel, Jess McNeely, John Philbrick, Rick Stubbs 
 
GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 
BUILDING PLACEMENT ON SITE 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  Apartment building placement provides an urban edge along 1st/2nd Street; however, 
further exploration of site utilities such as stormwater is needed to determine if the placement shown 
is financially feasible.  Apartment building placement along the Arkansas River reinforces the river’s 
edge and creates an active façade facing the river walk.  The placement of the commercial building 
along McLean needs further definition to reinforce the urban edge along McLean.  Current design 
seems disconnected from the properties across McLean. 
 
BUILDING MASSING AND HEIGHT 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  The height of the apartment building is the appropriate scale to the river walk area.  The 
lower commercial building and parking deck are the appropriate height to be placed in front of the 
apartment building along McLean.  Thought needs to be given to the massing of the ramp to the 
second level of parking deck and how it will be incorporated into the overall site.  As placed, it’s a 
utilitarian appendage that blocks building views and direct pedestrian access through the site. 
 
BUILDING GROUND FLOOR TRANSPARENCY AND RETAIL ACCOMODATION 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: The ability to accommodate retail on the first floor of the commercial building with ample 
area for patio uses is a positive feature of the design.  Some additional thought is needed as to how 
the “boats and bikes” feature will be accessed, particularly from the McLean side of the building. 
 

Page 9
113



   

BUILDING ARTICULATION OF SCALE AND PROPORTION 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  The urban quality of the façade of the apartment building offers interest from both the 
Arkansas River and 1st/2nd Street sides.  Care is needed on the McLean side so that the exterior 
walkways are not a monotonous feature that dominates the façade.  The urban-scale setback of the 
apartment building on 1st/2nd Street is a positive feature of the design, but careful design of that space 
is needed to maintain the urban proportions if a greater setback is needed due to utility conflicts.  The 
articulation of the commercial building is minimal, and the building appears suburban in character.  
Additional articulation is needed on the façade of the commercial building to give it a more urban 
character.  The use of shade elements given the western exposure was a suggested technique. 
 
BUILDING MATERIALS 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: Colored stucco and glazing are the primary façade materials with stone accents of the 
apartment building on the east and north facing facades.  While these materials and the building 
design contribute to a modern architectural style for the building, they are still suburban in character.  
Sample photographs of more urban materials have been provided.  The glass balcony rails that 
provide clear views of the river and contribute to the contemporary architecture are a plus.  The 
materials of the west and south facing facades need to be carefully selected to ensure that the 
exterior walkways do not dominate the façade.  The materials of the commercial building seemed 
suburban in character.   
 
OFF-STREET PARKING RATIOS 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: Project Downtown recommends providing no more than 3.5 spaces per thousand gross 
square feet for commercial uses and no more than 1.5 spaces per residential dwelling unit.  The 
proposed parking on the site is consistent with these ratios and provides additional public parking to 
access the river walk, Delano Park, and other public features in the area. 
 
OFF-STREET PARKING PLACEMENT AND DESIGN 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: The use of a parking deck and placement of much of the parking between the apartment 
building and commercial building contributes to the urban character of the development.  However, 
the large surface parking area between the commercial building and McLean is suburban in character 
and additional thought needs to be given to connecting the development across this surface parking 
area with the McLean streetscape and the properties west of McLean including the Delano area. 
 

  

Page 10
114



   

STREETSCAPING 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: The streetscaping plan needs additional development.  The guidelines of the Downtown 
Wichita Streetscape Design Guidelines, May 2010, should be followed.  Particular attention should be 
paid to sidewalk width, street trees, and amenities.  Consideration should be given to relocating the 
full-movement access drive to the development to the midway point between Douglas and 1st/2nd 
Streets with careful design of the pedestrian crossings and turning radii. 
 
PEDESTRIAN CONNECTIVITY 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent __X__ Mostly Consistent _____ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments: A pedestrian circulation plan needs to be developed.  As currently designed, there are no 
pedestrian crossings of vehicular drives and no on-site connections are provided to the sidewalks 
along McLean and 1st/2nd Streets, the mid-block crossing of McLean, or to Delano Park.  The 
connection through the apartment building to the river walk is a nice feature, but it needs to be 
connected to a readily identifiable pedestrian path that connects to the street (ideally past the 
commercial building and to the mid-block crossing of McLean) or it will only be used by apartment 
residents. 
 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT CRITERIA 
 
District:  River 
 
THRESHOLD CRITERIA 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent __X__ Consistent _____ 
 
Comments:  All units have river views with balconies, and the strong connection to the river will 
activate the river walk.  The current plan incorporates private/public parking well. 
 
OPTIONAL CRITERIA 
 
Not Consistent _____ Partially Consistent _____ Mostly Consistent _____ Consistent __X__ 
 
Comments: The proposed development includes a number a key public amenities such as the boat 
storage for WSU and Wichita Rowing Association, the “boats and bikes” rental for the public, the river 
walk improvements.  The desire to improve Delano Park in a manner that incorporates well with the 
proposed development is also a plus. 

  

Page 11
115



   

 

Page 12
116



   

  

Page 13
117



   

 

Page 14
118



Page 15
119



River Vista Apartments

No of 

Units

Project Income

One be units 960 103 1,000$      1,236,000$       
Two bed units 1130 51 1,200$      734,400$          
Parking 95 30$           34,200$             
Housing 2,000$      24,000$             
Boat Storage 200$         2,400$               
Room Rental 500$         6,000$               
Total Base Rent 2,037,000$       

Project Expenses

Vacancy 203,700$          10.0%

Admin /unit 775 119,350$          5.9%
Payroll /unit 984 151,536$          7.4%
Repairs and Maintenance /unit 272 41,888$             2.1%
Utilities and Security /unit 630 97,020$             4.8%
Landscape & Snow Removal /unit 300 46,200$             2.3%
Taxes 250,470$          12.3%
Insurance 25,000$             1.2%

35.9%

Total Expenses 935,164$          

NOI 1,101,836$       
Debt Service 790,429$          
Cash Flow 311,407$          

Capitalization Structure

Loan Amount 13,000,000$     
Equity 4,800,000$       
Loan to Value 94.39%
Debt Coverage Ratio 1.39
Interest Rate 4.50%
Amortization 30
Cash Return 6.49%
Cap Rate for Value 8%
Value 13,772,950$     

Gap Analysis

Development Cost 20,880,893$     4.7%
Net Operating Income 1,101,836$       (20,880,893)$    
Return on Investment 5.28%

Capitalization Rate 8.00%
Development Cost at Capitlization Rate 13,772,950$     
Project Gap (7,107,943)$      

Private Development Cost with Public Investment 15,880,893$     8.3%
Return on Investment with Public Investment 6.94% (15,880,893)$    

Annual Rent

CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

PROPERTY OPERATIONS ANALYSIS Sq Ft
Monthly 

Rent
YEAR 3

Page 16
120



2,492,616$      Total Project Supported

Notes Issued Summer 2014 Bonds Issued Fall 2016
Project Costs 2,324,813$       Total Public Cost 2,399,686$      
Note Interest + Costs 1.34%    - Includes Note Interest & Finance Costs 40,000$          
Note Term In Years 1.50    - Includes City Project Management Costs (1.5%) 34,872$          
Bond Interest Rate 3.17%
Debt Coverage Ratio 1.20
Bond Term In Years 18.00 TIF Bond Amount 2,400,000$      

Excess Cum Coverage
Principal Interest Debt Service TIF Other Total (Deficit) Exc/def

2016 60,000$            42,401             101,052$         121,263$        -$               121,263$              20,211$          20,211$          1.20        
2017 85,000$            82,917             168,420$         202,104$        -$               202,104$              33,684$          33,684$          1.20        
2018 90,000$            79,774             171,789$         206,146$        -$               206,146$              34,357$          68,041$          1.20        
2019 100,000$          76,467             175,224$         210,269$        -$               210,269$              35,045$          103,087$        1.20        
2020 105,000$          72,986             178,729$         214,475$        -$               214,475$              35,746$          138,832$        1.20        
2021 115,000$          69,323             182,303$         218,764$        -$               218,764$              36,461$          175,293$        1.20        
2022 120,000$          65,468             185,949$         223,139$        -$               223,139$              37,190$          212,484$        1.20        
2023 130,000$          61,412             189,668$         227,602$        -$               227,602$              37,934$          250,418$        1.20        
2024 135,000$          57,142             193,462$         232,154$        -$               232,154$              38,692$          289,110$        1.20        
2025 145,000$          52,649             197,331$         236,797$        -$               236,797$              39,466$          328,576$        1.20        
2026 155,000$          47,921             201,278$         241,533$        -$               241,533$              40,255$          368,831$        1.20        
2027 160,000$          42,945             205,303$         246,364$        -$               246,364$              41,061$          409,892$        1.20        
2028 170,000$          37,709             209,409$         251,291$        -$               251,291$              41,882$          451,774$        1.20        
2029 180,000$          32,198             213,597$         256,317$        -$               256,317$              42,720$          494,494$        1.20        
2030 190,000$          26,399             217,869$         261,443$        -$               261,443$              43,574$          538,069$        1.20        
2031 200,000$          20,295             222,227$         266,672$        -$               266,672$              44,445$          582,514$        1.20        
2032 215,000$          13,873             226,671$         272,006$        -$               272,006$              45,335$          627,849$        1.20        
2033 225,000$          7,113               231,205$         277,446$        -$               277,446$              46,241$          674,089$        1.20        

Total 2,580,000$       888,994$         3,471,486$       4,165,786$     -$               4,165,786$           694,300$        1.20        

RIVER VISTA PROJECT
Cash Flow Analysis And Bond Structure

Debt Service Requirements Net Revenue Available for Debt Service

19 DRAFT 5/29/2013
Page 17

121



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

PROJECT SUMMARY (no multipliers, no substitution)
  Company Name
  
  Number of new jobs for 10-year period
  Amount of payroll for 10-year period
  Amount of capital investment for 10-year period
      Land
      Buildings
      Machinery and Equipment

INCENTIVE SUMMARY
City Incentives - Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

County Incentives - Sedgwick
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

  State Incentives
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

School District Incentives - 259 Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

0
0
0
0

0

1,108,297
1,108,297

0

1,105,777
1,105,777

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0

1,513,526
1,513,526

1,664,323
1,664,323

0
0

3
$2,235,456

$25,529,420
$4,285,100

$20,994,320
$250,000

11:26 AM
Draft

River Vista, LLC

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 1 of 5
Page 18

122



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

TAX ABATEMENT PARAMETERS
  Real Property
      Number of years
      Percentage
  Personal Property
      Number of years
      Percentage

CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS
    Jobs Multiplier
    Earnings Multiplier

    Direct jobs
    Direct payroll earnings

    Total jobs
    Total payroll earnings

SUBSTITUTION 
  Firm NAICS code
  Substitution percentage applied to firm operations

FIRM MULTIPLIERS (On-going Operations)
  Jobs
  Earnings

ECONOMIC IMPACT OF FIRM OPERATIONS
  Number of jobs 10-year period
    Direct
    Total

  Payroll earnings for 10-year period
    Direct
    Total $0

-                                                                                            
-                                                                                            

$0

1.3204
1.6943

435                                                                                            
$18,372,033

531000 Real estate
100.0%

1.789
1.6764

243                                                                                            
$10,959,218

100.0%

0
0.0%

11:26 AM
Draft

10

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

Page 2 of 5
Page 19

123



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

FISCAL IMPACT
City Fiscal Impacts. - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $116,430
        Public costs 10-year period $1,380,120
        ROI 8.4%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,496,550
       Public costs 10-year period $1,380,120
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.08

City Fiscal Impacts General Fund - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $58,215
        Public costs 10-year period $873,616
        ROI 6.7%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $931,831
       Public costs 10-year period $873,616
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.07

City Fiscal Impacts Debt Service - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $58,215
        Public costs 10-year period $506,504
        ROI 11.5%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $564,719
       Public costs 10-year period $506,504
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.11

County Fiscal Impacts. - Sedgwick Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $57,134
        Public costs 10-year period $1,255,073
        ROI 4.6%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,312,207
       Public costs 10-year period $1,255,073
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.05                                        

$116,430

$57,134

$58,215

$58,215

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013
11:26 AM

Draft

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 3 of 5
Page 20

124



  State Fiscal Impacts Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $2,018,459
        Public costs 10-year period $916,952
        ROI 220.1%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $2,935,411
       Public costs 10-year period $916,952
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 3.20                                        

School District Fiscal Impacts. - 259 Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $0
        Public costs 10-year period $919,042
        ROI 0.0%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $919,042
       Public costs 10-year period $919,042
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.00                                        

$2,018,459

$0

Page 4 of 5
Page 21

125



In the preparation of this report, the Center for Economic Development and Business Research assumed that 
all information and data provided by the applicant or others is accurate and reliable.  CEDBR did not take 
extraordinary steps to verify or audit such information, but relied on such information and data as provided 
for purposes of the project.

This analysis requires CEDBR to make predictive forecasts, estimates and/or projections (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS”).  These FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS are based on information and data provided by others and involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that are difficult to predict.  The FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS should not be considered 
as guarantees or assurances that a certain level of performance will be achieved or that certain events will 
occur.  While CEDBR believes that all FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS it provides are reasonable 
based on the information and data available at the time of writing, actual outcomes and results are dependent 
on a variety of factors and may differ materially from what is expressed or forecast.  CEDBR does not assume 
any responsibility for any and all decisions made or actions taken based upon the FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS provided by CEDBR.

Page 5 of 5
Page 22

126



Page 23
127



 
 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Scott Knebel, City of Wichita 
 Allen Bell, City of Wichita 
 
FROM: Tony Schertler, Senior Vice President  
 Tom Denaway, Analyst 
 
CC:  David MacGillivray, Chairman 
  
DATE: June 17, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: River Vista Residences – Developer Equity Capacity Review 
 
Springsted was retained by the City to provide a third-party review of the ability of the Developers for the proposed 
River Vista apartment project to provide the level of equity necessary to secure private financing for the project.  The 
purpose of this review was to analyze the financial capacity of the applicant development entity, and its parent limited 
liability corporations and their respective members, to verify the access to the financial resources necessary to 
provide the level of equity financing outlined in the development application.  In making this determination we 
reviewed current financial statements, personal income tax returns, and developer disclosures provided by the 
entities.  The applicant development entity is titled River Vista, LLC a recently created single-asset development 
entity.  The financial review performed included a review of the parent limited liability corporations which comprise the 
membership of the River Vista, LLC, and the funding members of those limited liability corporations.  
 
Project Overview 
 
Proposed for the River Vista development is the Phase-1 construction of a 154-unit apartment project to be located 
on the west side of the river. The project will contain onsite amenities, including boat and bike rental and storage, 
walking paths and a water feature.  The apartment building itself is projected to consist of 85 one bedroom units, 51 
two bedroom units, and 18 two bedroom loft units; additionally the facility will contain an elevated parking structure.  
Onsite amenities are to include; an exercise room, swimming pool, social areas, and a party room.   
 
The development is proposed to be completed on land currently owned by the City, with the Developer seeking 
partial project assistance through the sale of the development site for an amount of $100,000. Additionally, the 
Developer is seeking public assistance in the form of TIF funds in an amount of $2,400,000.  Not listed in the 

Springsted Incorporated 
9229 Ward Parkway, Suite 104N 
Kansas City, MO  64114-3311 
Tel:  816-333-7200 
Fax:  816-333-6899 
www.springsted.com 

Page 24
128









Additionally, we purchased a D&B (Dun & Bradstreet) Risk Management Report for 1) Laham Development 
Company, LLC; 2) Key Construction, Inc.; 3) Warren Theatres; and 4) Marketplace Properties LLC.  The reports 
indicated the entities exhibit a low risk for ceasing business without paying all creditors in full, or reorganization or 
obtaining relief from creditors under state /federal law over the next 12 months.  The reports indicated zero public 
filings of bankruptcies, judgments, liens, or active suits for all entities.   
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The individual members comprising the member entities of the River Vista, LLC are all engaged in a mix of real 
estate ventures and commercial business operations and a majority of their assets are real estate related.  Their 
individual and collective abilities to generate approximately $6.45M of cash equity should be feasible based on the 
financial conditions we examined.  We note, however, that the information we were provided represents a snapshot 
in time, and therefore does not guarantee the available cash will be there today or upon closing.  Additionally, we 
note that none of the financial statements are audited, and the representations of asset value are not based on 
current appraisals and therefore could be over or under valued.  However, assuming the City intends to provide the 
public sources simultaneously to closing, the developer liquidity requirements will have necessarily been addressed 
by the private financing.  
 
The terms of the anticipated private financing were provided by the Developer, with the guarantees of the Principals 
set at 125% of their pro-rata share of ownership.  
 
Based on the above project detail and the review of the described information, we conclude that, collectively, the 
members of the development entity appear to have the financial capacity necessary to fulfill the equity fund 
requirement of $6,450,000.   
  

Page 28
132



Page 29
133



Page 30
134



Page 31
135



Page 32
136



Page 33
137



Page 34
138



 

 

   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
Tab #1  Application for Development Incentives 

· Application 
· Schedule 

 
  Tab #2  Project Summary 

· Project Summary Questionnaire 
· Key Construction Bonding Letter 

 
Tab #3  Design Plan 

· Design Summary 
· Site Plan and Drawings 

 
Tab #4  Business Plan 

· Business Plan Questionnaire 
· Pro Forma 
· JVSCo Market Rates Analysis 
· CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model 
· Evidence of Developer Equity 
· Third Party Rating of Lender 
· Evidence of Lender Commitment 

 
Tab #5  Developer Background 

· Developer Background Questionnaire 
· Certificate of Good Standing 
· Tax Clearance Certificate 
· Key Construction Similar Projects 
· Banking References 

o George E. Laham, II 
o David Burk 
o David Wells 
o Bill Warren 

· Applicant Disclosure Questionnaire 
o River Vista, L.L.C. 
o Acquisition Group, L.L.C./George E. Laham, II 
o DCB, L.L.C./David Burk 
o Summit Holdings, L.L.C./David Wells 
o Free Market Investments, LLC/Bill Warren  

 

139



 

 

 

   

TAB #1  

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #1 
Application for 
Development 

Incentives 

140



	APPLICATION	FOR	DEVELOPMENT	INCENTIVES	
 

Any questions can be directed to:   Office of Urban Development 
316‐268‐4524 

 
Please identify which incentive(s) you are interested in. 
Check the following that apply 

Tax Increment Financing (TIF)  Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) 
 

Guest Tax (Bed Tax)  STAR Bonds 

Forgivable Loans  Land 

Direct Cash Investment  CID 

 
 Business Information 

Applicant/Business Name:  River Vista, L.L.C. 

Business Address:  150 N. Market 

City:  Wichita  State:  KS  Zip:  67202 

Business Phone #:  316‐292‐3927  Fax #:  316‐262‐5877 

Contact Name: Amy Liebau 

Contact Phone: 316‐292‐3927  Email: amy@lahamdevelopment.com 

 

Brief description of applicant (nature of business, product, goods or services provided, primary 

market, and extent of market outside our area): 

The applicant is River Vista, L.L.C. This single‐purpose L.L.C. was formed to develop this project in a 

public/private partnership.  	

Project Address: An unplatted tract of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 27 
South, Range 1 East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas 

141



8‐25‐2011   2 

Project	Information	

Record of owners of the land to be included in the proposed project, if different than applicant: 

City of Wichita owns the land, which will be purchased by River Vista, L.L.C. 

 

Project site information (legal description, common address, and size):  

4.92 acres located at the southeast corner of 1st and Mclean Blvd., legally described as: 

 

An unplatted tract of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 27 South, Range 1 

East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, being more particularly 

described as follows: 

 

Commencing at the northwest corner of said Southwest Quarter; thence N01 degrees 13'23"W, 2.69 

feet along the west line of the Northwest Quarter of said Section 20; thence along the centerline of 2nd 

Street North on a Kansas coordinate system of 1983 south zone bearing of N88 degrees 56'32"E, 

1050.21 feet; thence N88 degrees 58'25"E, 888.30 feet along said centerline; thence S01 degrees 

01'35"E, 43.38 feet to the Point of Beginning; thence N81 degrees 20'49"E, 166.96 feet to a point on a 

curve to the right having a radius of 628.08 feet, a central angle of 8 degrees 45'22", and a long chord of 

95.89 feet, bearing N84 degrees 43'30"E; thence 95.99 feet along said curve; thence N89 degrees 

06'10"E, 127.60 feet; thence S27 degrees 25'35"E, 62.00 feet; thence S13 degrees 38'05"E, 512.78 feet; 

thence S66 degrees 22'00"W, 202.87 feet; thence N37 degrees 31'46"W, 651.54 feet; thence N28 

degrees 50'22"E, 93.67 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Proposed Project for which incentives are requested (Description of public and/or private 

improvements, building including square footage, proposed use, etc.  Attach site plan if available.): 

Please see "Incentive Information" section located within this document.  

Public purpose justification (how will your project benefit the City and its citizens): 

Phase 1 will provide housing needed along the river, as well as amenities that will create excitement and 

activity along the river. Those amenities will include boat and bike storage, paths for walking and biking, 

and a beautiful water feature.  

 

Phase 2 will add an office/retail element that will attract additional people to the area throughout the 

day and week rather than only at special events.  

   

Project Team: 

1. Name: George E. Laham, II/Acquisition 
Group, L.L.C. 

Position: Member 

Address: 150 N. Market  Wichita, KS 67202  Phone: 316‐292‐3950 

2. Name: David Burk/DCB, LLC  Position: Member 

Address: 151 N. Rock Island    Wichita, KS 67202  Phone: 316‐267‐0505 

142



8‐25‐2011   3 

3. Name: David E. Wells/Summit Holdings LLC  Position: Member 

Address: 741 W. 2nd    Wichita, KS 67203  Phone: 316‐263‐9515 

4. Name: Bill Warren/Free Market Investments, 
LLC 

Position: Member 

Address: P.O. Box 782560   Wichita, KS 67278  Phone: 316‐685‐3773 

If more room is needed please submit additional team members on a separate page.

 
Name and address of architect, engineer and general contractor: 
Spangenberg Phillips Tice Architecture     121 N. Mead, Ste. 201     Wichita, KS 67202 
Key Construction, Inc.     741 W. 2nd     Wichita, KS 67203 
MKEC     411 N. Webb Rd.     Wichita, KS 67206 
 
 Project Schedule (construction through occupancy): 
Please see attached schedule. 
  
Projected number of new jobs and economic impact: 
See Wichita State University CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model 

  	

143



8‐25‐2011   4 

Project	Budget	
 Estimated real estate and sales taxes generated by project upon completion (Please show calculations by 
building/use type): 
$22,000,000 in value @ 99 mils, bonded @ 2.75% over 20 years 
Property Tax: Yearly payments of $250,470 
Sales Tax: Included in WSU Report 

 
Estimated Project Costs and Sources of Funding. Provide in the format below

SOURCES  NAME  AMOUNT 

Bank Loan  Fidelity Bank  $13,000,000.00 

Other Private Funds                         

Equity  Cash  $6,450,000.00 

Fed/State Grant/Loan (please 
specify) 

                       

City Incentives (please specify)  TIF  $2,400,000.00 

Other              $350,000.00 

Other                       

Other                         

TOTAL SOURCES              $22,200,000 

 

USES  AMOUNT 

Land Acquisition  $100,000.00 

Site Development             

Site Improvements  $1,370,000.00 

Installation of public infrastructure  $554,000.00 

Installation of private infrastructure  $559,410.00 

Construction of parking facilities  $1,470,380.00 

Construction of buildings  $14,728,512.00 

Ongoing operating/maintenance             

Machinery & Equipment  $552,400.00 

Architectural & Engineering  $539,008.00 

Hard cost contingency  $510,000.00 

Legal Costs  $25,000.00 

Marketing Expenses             

Surveying/Platting/Permitting Costs             

Interest during construction  $408,000.00 

Debt Service Reserve             

Financing Costs (other than interest)  $45,000.00 

City Fees  $19,000.00 

Soft cost contingency  $227,290.00 

Other  $512,000.00 

Other  $10,000.00 

Other  $20,000.00 

Other  $200,000.00 

Other  $350,000.00 

TOTAL USES  $22,200,000.00 

144



8‐25‐2011   6 

Incentive	Information	
Please provide a summary and reasons for the incentives you are seeking. 

We are requesting the following incentives:  

•Land – We propose to pay $100,000 for the 4.92 acres identified by the City as Site #1.   

•TIF ‐ We are requesting $2,400,000 in TIF funds to be used for parking and infrastructure of an 

apartment complex to be constructed by the Developer.  The Developer will guaranty any shortfall over 

the 20‐year period by agreeing to pay a minimum of $205,000 in property taxes each year. 

•STAR Bonds – We are asking the City to consider using $2,500,000 of STAR bonds or other financial 

means to improve the area between the site and the river. 

These incentives are needed in order for the Developer to receive a modest 6.47% return on its 

investment.  For an investment with this level of risk, a typical return would be in the mid teens.  

Therefore, the expected return is below average for a project of this nature even with the incentives 

being requested. This project would not be possible “but for” the City’s involvement. The 4 partners, all 

being longtime Wichitans, believe in our downtown and are committed to this high end project for the 

community.  

In addition, investing in the project will allow the City to achieve many of the objectives established by 

Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita prepared by Goody Clancy (the “Plan”).  Specifically, the 

incentives will be used to support a mixed‐use development of housing and office/retail – two areas in 

which the Plan identified a demand.  The Plan also identifies “priority corridors” and concludes that 

these “are areas in which private investment in development and public investment in transit, parks and 

other infrastructure can best reinforce each other to create the biggest impact on regional economic 

growth and quality of life.” The project is designed to encourage such future development and to create 

walk paths along one of these “priority corridors.”  These walk paths will connect the project to the new 

library to the west, Exploration Place to the north and Century II, Hyatt, and Lawrence Dumont Stadium 

to the south, encouraging future development along the river. This project also helps to stimulate the 

Mclean corridor which will enhance the future library site for additional development. In addition, the 

Developer’s private investment in the project will include boat and bike storage (including storage for 

rowing shells for the Wichita Rowing Association and the WSU rowing team) and a large two‐story 

meeting/association room for the rowers.  Through these public and private investments we hope to 

bring activity and life to the riverbank throughout the day and week rather than just at special events. 

145

















 

 

 

   

TAB #2 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #2 
Project  

Summary 

153



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

1. Project amount and purpose. 
 

The project is a proposed $22,000,000 public/private partnership that 
will provide housing, public biking and boating facilities, and 
office/retail at Site #1, bringing activity and life to the riverbank.   

 
2. Description of the redevelopment project, including details of how the 

proposed project meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Public Benefit 
Criteria” described below. 
 

The project is a phased, mixed-use development.  The first phase will 
provide 154 apartment units on the West bank of the river.  The second 
phase will include a 2-story, 20,000sf office/retail center at such site.  
According to Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita, “new 
housing offers the most significant opportunity for market-driven 
development in this area, and would do more than other uses to bring 
it to life by creating a riverfront neighborhood that would stay active 
throughout the day and evening.”  The Project Downtown plan further 
indicates that “walkability is a special asset that Downtown should 
emphasize.”  Phase 1 of the proposed project will not only provide 
housing needed along the river, but will also provide amenities that 
will create excitement and activity along the river.  These amenities 
include boat and bike rental and storage, paths for walking and 
biking, and a beautiful water feature.  The proposed walk paths will 
connect the project to Exploration Place to the North and Century II, 
Hyatt, and Lawrence Dumont Stadium to the South, encouraging 
future development along those paths.  Phase 2 of the proposed 
project would add an office/retail element that will attract additional 
people to the area throughout the day and week instead of only at 
special events.  

 
3. Description of the proposed public-private partnership, including details of 

how the project partnership meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Business 
Plan Criteria” described above. 
 

We are asking that the City fund a $2,400,000 TIF bond for the public 
and infrastructure costs on the site and consider using $2,500,000 of 
STAR bonds or other financial means to improve the public area 
between the river and the east boundary line of the site in a similar 
manner as between the Drury Inn and the river. Developer will control 
the design of the parking deck and all other infrastructure 
improvements on the site, as well as construction oversight of such 
work, including, but not limited to, the time frames for bidding the 
project and the staging areas for all work to be done.  The bond 
would be personally guaranteed by River Vista, L.L.C. and its 

154



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

members. As shown in the reports included in the “Business Plan” 
section, this project would not be possible “but for” the City’s 
participation. 

 
4. Description of the development team, including details of how the 

development team meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Developer 
Background” criteria described above. 
 

The development team is comprised of River Vista, L.L.C., its 
consultants and construction contractor.  
 
River Vista, L.L.C. is owned by the following individuals: 

 George E. Laham, II/Acquisition Group, L.L.C. 
 David Burk/DCB, LLC 
 David Wells/Summit Holdings, LLC 
 Bill Warren/Free Market Investments, LLC 

Each of the foregoing members were a part of the group that 
negotiated a public/private partnership with the City on the 
redevelopment of Wichita’s old warehouse area now referred to as 
Wichita’s Old Town Marketplace Area.   
 
Consultants to River Vista, L.L.C. include the following: 

 Spangenberg Phillips Tice Architects 
 MKEC Engineering Consultants, Inc. 

 
The elevated parking structure and river bank improvements will be 
put out for bid per the City’s procedures.  The construction contractor 
for the balance of the site improvements and buildings will be:   

 Key Construction, Inc. 
 

The qualifications and experience of each member of the 
development team, including the consultants and construction 
contractor, are set forth below. 

 
 George E. Laham, II/Acquisition Group, L.L.C. (“Acquisition”):  

Acquisition was formed by George Laham for the purpose of owning 
and developing real estate.  Through Acquisition and other entities 
owned or managed by him, Laham has been involved in shaping 
Wichita’s energetic retail and development growth over the last 20 
years. As a native Wichitan, Laham’s commitment to the community 
can be seen in his developments of Wichita’s vibrant northeast 
corridor.  One of his early projects, Bradley Fair, created one of the 
nation’s first lifestyle centers.  Bradley Fair is the flagship of the 320 
acre Wilson Estates master-planned development, which includes 
Wilson Estates Office Park, Wilson Estates Medical Park, Legacy Park, 

155



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Hilton Garden Inn and Wilson Estates Residential.  In 2002, the Wichita 
Area Chamber of Commerce awarded Bradley Fair their Keeper of 
the Plains Award in recognition of an architectural project that 
contributes to the aesthetics of the community. 
 
Laham has been instrumental in bringing a succession of the nation’s 
foremost retail and restaurant concepts to Wichita including Ann 
Taylor, Banana Republic, Cabela’s, Chico’s, Coldwater Creek, Eddie 
Bauer, Gap, J. Jill, On The Border, Talbots, White House | Black Market, 
Williams-Sonoma and YaYa’s Eurobistro.  He has also helped cultivate 
key local retailers and restaurants, contributing to their growth and 
success. 
 
Other Laham projects include: Plazzio, a 350,000 square foot retail and 
entertainment center located at 13th and Greenwich, featuring the 
centerpiece, 20-screen Warren Theatre; Berkeley Square, a 95-acre 
master planned development at 13th and Greenwich, which will 
include 61 home sites within Waterfront Residential, a Class A office 
park, retail, and the new Scholfield Auto Plaza; and Regency Lakes, a 
400,000 square foot shopping center anchored by Super Target and 
Cabela’s. 
 

 David Burk/DCB, L.L.C.: Dave began his career as an architect in 1971 
and started his own firm, WBBA Architects in 1982. In 1987 Dave began 
development work through Marketplace Properties, L.L.C. In 1990 he 
negotiated a Public/Private partnership – Phase 1 with the City of 
Wichita for the redevelopment of Wichita’s old warehouse area now 
referred to as Wichita’s Old Town Marketplace Area; an award 
winning 33 acre, 60 historic building complex located in Wichita’s 
warehouse district. Currently Dave has been involved in the 
development of 41 of those buildings. 
 
In 2002 Dave negotiated a developer disposition agreement with the 
City of Wichita for a $20,000,000 plus development to the north of the 
current called Old Town Square. The project included a 28,000 square 
foot, 6 screen state-of-the-art Warren Theater with food and beverage 
service; a 500 stall, 2 ½ level parking structure with 14,000 square feet 
of retail, a 21,000 square foot, one level free standing entertainment 
building; a 42,000 square foot entertainment/retail/office building, 
21,000 square foot at grade with 21,000 square foot office on second 
level; a 40,000 square foot central plaza for special events and the 
renovation of Moore and Mead Streets. 
 
In 2002, after winning the City’s national RFP request, Dave negotiated 
a developer disposition agreement with the City of Wichita on 24 

156



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

acres that the City owned and is now referred to as WaterWalk. As of 
2010, Dave is no longer involved. During his involvement the following 
projects were built: Gander Mountain, the Board of Realtors building, 
and WaterWalk Place – a $20,000,000 mixed-use building including 
parking, retail, office and residential condos. 
 
Burk was instrumental in putting together the public/private 
partnership in 2011 that created Block 1: bounded by Douglas on the 
north, Topeka on the east, William on the south and Broadway on the 
west.  Block 1 contains a $25M, 117-room Ambassador Hotel in the 
historic Union National Bank Building, a public parking garage and 
urban park, a new $9M Kansas Leadership Building and a remodeled 
Henry’s building.   
 
In addition, over the past 20 years, Burk has developed 5 apartment 
projects with over 200 units in the Old Town area.  These 5 projects 
continue to have over a 95% average occupancy year after year. 
 

 David Wells/Summit Holdings, LLC (“Summit”): Summit was formed in 
December of 2002 as an investment entity held by the same five 
shareholders who own Key Construction, Inc.  Over the past eleven 
years, Summit has invested in various partnerships, including real 
estate. The real estate properties range from retail to office to 
medical.  In some instances, Summit’s investment was necessary as a 
prerequisite for Key Construction to be the general contractor.  In 
other cases, Summit was required to accept an equity position in 
order to enable Key Construction to receive final payment.   
 

 Bill Warren/Free Market Investments, LLC: Bill Warren, founder and 
President of the Warren Theatres, began his career as a ticket-taker at 
Wichita, Kansas' original Miller Theater.  At nineteen years of age in 
1968, Bill approached Pizza Hut co-founder, Frank Carney, to invest in 
a new theater concept, American Entertainment, and thus the region's 
first multi-screen theater concept was born. Warren continued in the 
theater business until 1981 when he sold all of his theater holdings and 
became an oilman.   

 
In 1988, Warren returned to the movies by introducing The Palace 
Theatres, Wichita’s first dollar cinemas.  Since that time, he has 
constructed 7 theatres with a combined 83 screens throughout Kansas 
and Oklahoma and has set a new standard for motion picture 
exhibition. The box office result of Bill Warren’s revolutionary business 
model speaks volumes. In the Wichita market, Warren Theatres takes 
over 98% of the total box office gross. The latest luxury Warren in the 
Oklahoma City metro is the top grossing theatre in Colorado, Kansas, 

157



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Missouri, Nebraska, Oklahoma, and Texas, against many theater 
complexes with higher numbers of screens. 
 
Bill Warren’s business enterprises are a major employer in Wichita with 
over 500 employees; as well as among the largest property taxpayers 
and sales tax generators in the community. Bill Warren has 
undertaken two public-private partnerships with the City of Wichita. In 
2008, the City agreed to an incentive of a ten-year loan (five year no 
interest, five year low interest) allowing the theatre to refinance debt 
and undertake facility and technology renovations. In return, the City 
retained the theatre as an Old Town anchor attraction through an 
irrevocable commitment to keep the theatre open for ten years. 
 
The second public-private partnership in 2010 provided industrial 
revenue bond financing and tax abatements allowing American 
Luxury Cinemas to expand the West 21st Street Warren Theatre to 
include a world-class IMAX auditorium, as well as general theatre 
renovations. The Wichita IMAX is a regional attraction and regularly 
among the top five grossing IMAX theatres in North America. 

 
 Spangenberg Tice Phillips Architects (“SPT”): Established in 1985 by 

Ron Spangenberg and Randy Phillips, SPT has over 27 years of 
experience in a variety of project types. Their varied experience 
includes medical, retail, corporate office, financial, civic, educational, 
religious, hospitality and entertainment facilities, as well as multi-
family and custom single family residential projects.  The firm is mid-
sized by design ensuring that partners maintain involvement in project 
design and not just firm management. At least one partner is 
personally involved with every aspect of a project, from start to finish. 

For multi-family projects, SPT integrates the fundamentals of profitable 
commercial design with elements of comfortable living to create 
efficient and engaging communities.  Creating smart working 
environments are the hallmarks of SPT’s office and banking designs. 
By efficiently allocating space, implementing new technologies and 
incorporating value-added design elements, they create cost-
effective facilities that encourage workforce productivity yet provide 
an inviting and customer-focused atmosphere. In addition to typical 
design services, SPT also offers services in interior architecture and 
design. Through their experience in space planning and specification 
of color, finish materials, lighting and furniture, they provide design 
solutions that create unique and personalized interior environments.   

 MKEC Engineering Consultants, Inc. (“MKEC”):  MKEC is a 160+ 
member, full-service engineering and land planning firm that offers a 

158



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

broad range of consulting services.  They provide feasibility and 
design services to both private and public sectors.  Their customers 
include industry, developers, city, county, state and federal 
governments, architects, other engineering firms, institutions and 
individuals.  Founded in 1982 on the principle of providing superior 
consulting services that are responsive to their client’s needs, MKEC 
has experienced steady growth in the number of clients served and 
services offered.  MKEC has assembled a talented staff of engineers, 
planners and landscape architects with an impressive breadth of 
project experience and a commitment to uncompromising quality of 
work, timely completion of projects and fairness in fees.  Based on 
their principal mission of providing clients with the best overall 
possible solutions, MKEC strives to think beyond the surface problems 
to identify and resolve underlying causes. 
 

 Key Construction, Inc.: Originating in 1978, Key Construction has 35 
years of successful construction project experience.  Often 
recognized as one of the fastest-growing contractors in the country, 
Key Construction specializes in customer satisfaction and the 
development of long-term relationships.  Their philosophies of 
customer service and on-time completion have allowed them to build 
a reputation as a proven performer within the construction industry. 
This service-based company philosophy enabled Key to build a base 
of repeat customers completing over 125 hotels, nearly 100 Walmart 
projects and over 115 Walgreen drugstores. Key doesn’t want to do 
the next project for their clients; they want to do all of them. 

 
Key Construction is licensed and has performed work in over 38 states 
nationwide.  They do not specialize in only one type of construction.  
Rather, they focus in five areas: Hospitality/Living, Retail, Commercial, 
Medical and Industrial.  This diversity increases their overall 
construction knowledge and practices while allowing company 
individuals to specialize in each area of work and maximize the 
owner’s dollar per project needs. 
 
The structure of Key Construction has not only allowed them to 
become a contractor of choice for many owners, but also a 
respected partner in lifetime relationships.  Building long-term 
relationships with regional and national firms has always been a Key 
Construction trademark. 

 
Company Strengths 

 
 Dedication to 100% customer satisfaction. 
 35 year history of completing projects on-time and within budget. 

159



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

 .96 Safety Experience Modification Factor 
 Financial stability:  $225,000,000 +   bonding capacity with a Dunn 

& Bradstreet rating of 4A2 (company is debt free). 
 Highly trained and dedicated staff of construction professionals. 

 
Zurich North America Surety will support single projects for Key 
Construction in the $90,000,000 range and with an aggregate program 
in excess of $225,000,000. 

 
  Bonding Company: Zurich North America Surety 

   
   Agent:   Lockton Companies, Inc. 
      444 W. 47th St., Ste. 900 
      Kansas City, MO 64112 
 

 A letter from Key Construction’s bonding agent can be found behind 
Tab #2 – Project Summary. 

 

160



161



 

 

 

   

TAB #3 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #3 
Design  

Plan 

162



 

 

   

DESIGN PLAN 

 
The development team has designed the site to maximize the amount of mixed-
use buildings while providing ample parking for the various uses in a two phase 
project.  According to Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita prepared 
by Goody Clancy in November of 2010 (the “Report”), the demand for 
downtown housing continues to be strong.  Phase 1 is designed to meet this 
demand through the construction of apartments along the east and north side of 
the site with parking to the west.  The apartment complex will include 85 one-
bedroom units, 51 two-bedroom units, and 18 two-bedroom loft units. The units 
will be substantially larger than normal in the Wichita area with the one-
bedroom units containing approximately 960 square feet, the two-bedroom 
units containing approximately 1,130 square feet, and the two-bedroom lofts 
containing approximately 1,410 square feet. The ceiling heights in all units will 
be nine foot and each apartment will contain a high level of interior finish with 
granite counter tops, wood, carpet, and tile floors, custom cabinets and 
contemporary lighting. In addition, all apartments will have exterior wood 
decks. The four-story, contemporary-Italianate apartments all have excellent 
views – those on the North will overlook Exploration Place, the Keeper of the 
Plains and the river and those on the East will overlook the river and our 
downtown. Units will stair-step back and forth to create set views and give 
dramatic shadows both in the daylight and at night. 

 
The Report suggests, and we agree, that additional housing will support other 
mixed-use along the river.  To encourage additional development along the 
river, the proposed project will provide amenities such as boat and bike rental 
and storage and walk paths that will connect the project to other key features 
along the river, including Exploration Place, Century II, Hyatt, and Lawrence 
Dumont Stadium.  Pedestrian walk through access to the river, bike paths, 
Delano Park and McLean fountain have been provided. The apartment building 
will also include storage for rowing shells for the Wichita Rowing Association and 
the WSU rowing team, as well as a large two-story meeting/association room for 
the rowers.  We have met with Jim Schmidt, President of the Wichita Rowing 
Association, and Delinda Royse, WSU Director of Development, and they were 
both very excited about having a permanent location for their rowing shells.  The 
project provides for easy access to all of these amenities through structured 
parking for the tenants of the building, as well as 134 parking stalls for the 
general public and guests to use.  There have also been discussions with the 
City about reviewing the speed limit on McLean and providing public parking 
on both sides of the street. 

 
One amenity will be the focal point of the whole project – the infinity edge pool 
at Northeast corner of the site. The pool will be located on the second floor level 
and water will cascade down over a 12 foot stone wall to the first floor level. This 
feature will be well lit at night and be a “welcome to the west side of the river” 
feature for both day and nighttime vehicular or pedestrian traffic coming across 

163



 

 

   

DESIGN PLAN 

the First Street bridge from the east. A deck will surround the pool on 3 sides and 
will connect to a 1,200 square foot room for general use or special parties. The 
south end of the complex will feature a fully-equipped exercise room, as well as 
a wood sun deck with 270 degree views to the south. 

 
The site is currently designed to provide for two entry points off of McLean.  In 
order to allow future integration with the property to the west where the new 
library is scheduled to built, we have allowed for the flexibility to have one entry 
that will tie into the property across McLean. In our pro forma we have included 
$300,000 for design and construction of the future intersection.  

 
The second phase of the project will include a two-story, 20,000 square foot 
office/retail center with additional parking.  Because of the design and location 
of the building, we anticipate that this will be some of the most highly-sought 
after space in the downtown area.  It is our hope that the success of the 
office/retail phase will create additional demand for new office/retail space in a 
village-like atmosphere on the site to the West of the project adjacent to the 
proposed library site. 

 
While most of the recent multi-family development in the downtown area has 
involved the renovation of existing buildings, this site provides one of the first 
opportunities for a ground-up multi-family project.  This is important because it 
will set the tone for future private development and public infrastructure along 
the river.  The River Vista project was inspired by what the developers have seen 
in other thriving downtown areas, as well as the contemporary design of nearby 
Exploration Place.  The result is an innovative design that is reflective of a 
thriving, energetic downtown and which sets the tone for future development 
that will create excitement and activity along the river.   
 
The Site Plan and Perspective Drawings prepared by Spangenberg Phillips Tice 
Architecture are included behind Tab #3. 

164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



 

 

 

   

TAB #4 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #4 
Business  

Plan 

175



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

 
 

1. Market Analysis, including written description of plan to meet projections 
 

According to Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita prepared 
by Goody Clancy in November of 2010 (the “Report”), there is a 
demand for approximately 1,000 housing units over the next 5 to 7 
years in the downtown Wichita area.  The Report revealed that 
“approximately 63 percent of Wichita’s existing households have one 
or two people.”  In addition, it concluded that “because the greatest 
interest in living in walkable downtown neighborhoods comes from 
one- and two-person households, and because single-family homes 
may not always meet the location and size preferences of these 
households, downtown offers important opportunity to offer housing 
options that respond to unmet demand.” 
 
Phase 1 of the proposed project includes one and two bedroom 
apartments with direct access to walk paths which connect to 
Exploration Place to the North and Century II, Hyatt, and Lawrence 
Dumont Stadium to the South and downtown to the East.  The 
proposed pricing of the units ($1,000 for a one bedroom and $1,200 for 
a two bedroom) falls within the optimum base rental rates set forth in 
the Report.  The proposed size of the units (960sf for one bedroom and 
1,130sf for two bedroom) is also within the optimum size set forth in the 
Report (800sf – 1,400sf).  These units will be ideal for one- and two-
person households and will address the demand cited in the Report.  
Structured parking for tenants of the apartments and 111 parking stalls 
for the general public and guests will be completed in Phase 1. 
 
With respect to the office market, the Report indicates that no 
multitenant Class-A office buildings have been added to the 
Downtown area for twenty years.  The Report further indicates that 
there is a need for high-quality office space with parking within easy 
walking distance of the building.  Phase 2 of the proposed project 
would include a two-to three story, 17,000-20,000sf office/retail 
building with additional parking for the general public and guests.  
 

2. Pro Forma, including written description of plan to meet projections 
 

The pro forma is included behind Tab #4.  As you can see from the pro 
forma, the total hard and soft costs for the project are expected to be 
$22,200,000. With respect to the land, we have accounted for a payment 
to the City of $100,000 with the remaining value being contributed by the 
City.  We are asking the City to bond $2,400,000 through the TIF program 
with River Vista guaranteeing any shortfall over the 20-year period.  The 

176



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

projected income is based upon rents of $1.04 per square foot for the 
one-bedroom units, $1.06 per square foot for the two-bedroom units, and 
$1.00 per square foot for a 2 bedroom/loft with a 10% vacancy.  This is 
consistent with the independent marketing study done by Jason Van 
Sickle & Company and included behind Tab #4. The projected annual 
gross income is $2,123,400 and after deducting projected expenses of 
$923,334, we are left with a Net Operating Income of $1,200,066.  The 
projected expenses should go down slightly when Phase 2 is completed, 
as some common area expenses can be shared between the two 
phases.  With the equity of $6,450,000 and bank debt of $13,000,000, our 
investors’ return is projected to be approximately 6.35%.  For an 
investment with this level of risk, a typical return would be in the lower 
teens.  Therefore, the expected return is below average for a project of 
this nature.   
 
The project will be marketed through the following means: 
 
 A website created for the project 
 We expect to get good coverage from the Eagle and Business 

Journal at the outset  
 We will pay to be in the Wichita Apartment Directory (they partner 

with 360 Wichita) 
 We will set up a referral program from existing apartment projects 

downtown so that if they are full or cannot accommodate the 
tenant’s needs they would refer them to River Vista.  This would 
include Innes Station, Lofts at Old Town Square, Mosley Street, Flats 
324 and Player Piano Lofts 

 We will have signage on the building containing phone number 
and website 

 We intend to set up an open house for the Young Professionals 
Organization 

 
3. CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model (the developer is responsible for CEDBR’s fee for 

this service)  
 

The CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model is included behind Tab #4. 
 

4. Source of capital, including: 
a. Evidence of developer equity 
b. Third party rating of financial stability of lenders 
c. Evidence of lender commitment 

 
The following documents are included behind Tab #4: 
 

177



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

 A letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, which 
provides evidence of Developer’s equity in the project. 

 A letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, along with 
supporting documentation, which sets forth Fidelity’s 
“Sound” third party rating of financial stability. 

 A commitment letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, 
setting forth their interest in the project and proposed terms 
for financing. 

 
5. Amount and purpose of public investment sought 

 
Refer to “Incentive Information” and the figures provided in the 
“Application for Development Incentives” behind Tab #1. 

 
6. Repayment plan, if the City ordinarily requires a repayment plan or 

contingent repayment plan in connection with the type of incentive at issue. 
 

River Vista, L.L.C. agrees to pay a minimum of $250,470 in property 
taxes each year for the project. Each member will personally 
guaranty 125% of their pro-rata share of the project.   

 
7. Backup repayment plan, including guarantors, if a repayment plan is 

required 
 

Not applicable 
 

178



River Vista, LLC
West Bank Apartments

Project cost Proforma

Sq Ft/ Construction No. of Monthly Annual
Number Cost Per Cost Sq Ft Units Rent Rent

Land Value 214,255    -$                  450,000$          One Bedroom Units 960         85 1,000$       1,020,000$       
Construction - Apartments 165,636    92$                    15,238,512      Two Bedroom (Loft) Units 1,450      18 1,400$       302,400            
Walkways 31,300       10$                    313,000            Two Bedroom Units 1,136      51 1,200$       734,400            
Swimming Pool/Spa 250,000            Parking 95 30$            34,200              
Decks 154 160$                  246,400            Housing 2,000$       24,000              
Elevators 3 100,800$          302,400            Boat Storage 200$          2,400                
Bridges 3 30,000$            90,000              Room Rental 500$          6,000                
Clubhouse 3,000         145$                  435,000            Total Base Rent 2,123,400$       
Boathouse/Banquet 3,000         100$                  300,000            
Boat Storage 7,000         55$                    385,000            Less:
Parking Structure/Ramp 200            5,200$               1,040,000         Vacancy 10.00% 212,340$          
Security/Leasing/FF&E/Exercise 200,000            Admin Per Unit 775$          119,350            
Boats/Bikes 50,000              Payroll Per Unit 984$          151,536            
Architect 2.50% 439,008            Repairs & Maintenance Per Unit 272$          41,888              
Engineering 100,000            Utilities & Security Per Unit 630$          97,020              
Parking/Streets 340,380            Landscape & Snow Removal Per Unit 300$          46,200              
Controlled Intersection 300,000            Taxes 205,000            
Utilities 150,000            Insurance 50,000              
Storm Sewer Relocation 104,000            
Landscape/Sprinkler 150,000            Total Expenses 923,334$          
Sidewalks 59,571              
Application Fees 19,000              Net Operating Income 1,200,066$       
Appraisal 5,000                Less:  Debt Service 790,429            
Closing 40,000              Cash Flow 409,637$          
Taxes and Insurance 20,000              
Development 512,000            
River Bank Development2 Capitalization Structure
City Reserve 200,000            
Interest During Const. 408,102            Loan Amount 13,000,000$     
Legal and Accounting 35,000              Investor Equity 6,450,000$       
Miscellaneous 17,627              Loan to Value 75.83%

Debt Coverage Ratio 1.52
Total Project Costs 22,200,000$    Interest Rate 4.50%

Amortization 30
Cash Return 6.35%

Loan Amount 13,000,000$    Cap Rate For Value 7.00%
City (TIF)1 2,400,000         Value 17,143,800$     
Investors 6,450,000         
Land Value 350,000            

Total Required 22,200,000$    

1 TIF calculation
Fees 56,813$            
Parking Structure/Ramp 1,040,000         
Parking/Streets 340,380            
Controlled Intersection 300,000            
Utilities 150,000            
Storm Sewer Relocation 104,000            
Landscape/Sprinkler 150,000            
Sidewalks 59,571              
Miscellaneous 199,236            

Total 2,400,000$      

2 STAR Bonds 2,500,000$      179



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

May 1, 2013

Effective Date:

(316) 682-2930 FAX

Marketplace Properties

Submitted to:

jvansickle@jvscompany.com

Key Construction

Wichita, KS 67202

(316) 262-2720

JVSCo

River Vista Residences

Wichita, Kansas

Jason D. Van Sickle

J. Van Sickle & Company

151 S. Rock Island, Suite 1C

Prepared by:

Project Reviewed:

Comprehensive Multifamily 

Market Rates Analysis

Proposed Downtown 

Market Rate Apartments

River Vista Residences

Wichita, Kansas

May 3, 2013

180



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

Table of Contents

Cap Rate Analysis

Comparable Properties Analysis

35-Year Occupancy Analysis

35-Year Rate Change Summary

Professional Training & Education

Consulting Experience

CONCLUSIONS, DATA & RATIONALIZATIONS

QUALIFICATIONS & ASSUMPTIONS

MARKET RATE DATA

20

3935-Year Rate Change Analysis

Comparable Properties Summary 2

Inflation Rate Analysis

46

45

10

Development Experience 11

Property Characteristics 12

Detailed Rent Roll Analysis 32

1-Bedroom Most Comparable Unit Analysis 37

2-Bedroom Most Comparable Unit Analysis 38

5-Year Detailed Market Rate Data 40

MATERIAL DISCLOSURE

7

Professional Background 8

Professional Services 9

4

Cap Rate Summary 5

Inflation Rate Summary 5

35-Year Occupancy Summary 1

14

181



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

By continuing to read this report, you are agreeing to release, indemnify, defend and hold harmless those 

who have created this report and J. Van Sickle & Company and their respective subsidiaries and 

affiliates, and any officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives, successors and assigns of 

each and any and all other persons or entities, including without limitation those providing information, 

from any and all liabilities for losses, claims, injuries, liabilities, and damages of whatever kind or nature, 

whether know or unknown, against any or all of them which may at any time arise or accrue to you or 

your heirs, successors, parents, subsidiaries, assigns, officers, directors, employees, agents or other 

persons or entities claiming by or through you, on account of the provision of such information or reliance 

on such information or on other information gathered pursuant thereto and hereto.

Material Disclosure

This report contains financial estimates regarding the future.  Those projections were developed based 

on a number of assumptions.  These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the timing and success 

of the development efforts, rates and occupancy levels, market share, local economic and employment 

conditions, general industry conditions, and other matters.  Although we believe that the assumptions 

that have been made are reasonable, they may be incomplete or incorrect, and unanticipated events and 

circumstances are likely to occur.  Our assumptions involve elements of subjective judgment, and we 

provide no guarantees as to their validity.

The projections provided in this report were not prepared with a view to public disclosure and do not 

comply with the published guidelines of the SEC or any state securities commission or the guidelines 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  The property valuations provided 

in this report were not completed by a certified appraiser and they were not developed to comply with the 

guidelines of the Appraisal Institute or any accounting standards.  It can be expected that actual results 

achieved during any future period will vary from the projections and the valuations, and the variations 

may be material and adverse.

Although we retain the right to make future revisions to this report, we are not obligated to make any 

further updates or changes.  Therefore, it is not our responsibility to track future changes to project plans, 

market conditions, or any other factors related to the material contained in this report.  The last date that 

any changes were made to this report are reflect in the Effective Date that is listed on the cover page.

The following Material Disclosure and the Indemnification and Release are in reference to the 

Comprehensive Development Plan and Financial Analysis for the Proposed Market Rate Apartments 

near Arkansas River in Downtown, Wichita, Kansas and all related research and discussions.

Statements and projections in this report and any related discussions concerning expectations regarding 

the project outlined herein are forward-looking.  As such, these statements carry no guarantee of actual 

future events.  A variety of unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors are likely to cause actual 

results to differ materially from the projections contained herein.

Indemnification and Release

182



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

CONCLUSIONS, DATA & RATIONALIZATIONS

183



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Based on a 35-year data set that has been collected by Savage Inc. through the 

Wichita Apartment Guide, a 35-year Occupancy Analysis was completed to 

determine the average occupancies in the overall Wichita market and in the 

Downtown Wichita submarket.  The analysis revealed an average multifamily 

occupancy rate in Wichita over the last 35 years of 90.6%.  The analysis of the 

Downtown Wichita multifamily housing submarket showed a 35-year average 

occupancy of 90.3%.  

It should be noted that a significant decrease in occupancy has been seen in the 

downtown area, as new supply has come into the market.  It is our opinion that the 

lower occupancies are primarily affecting the older properties.  Therefore, we would 

anticipate the proposed project to stabilize at the long-term occupancy rate of 90%.

35-Year 

Occupancy 

Summary

JVSCo

Estimated Occupancy Rate 90.4%

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

1

184



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

1-Bedroom Analysis - Data & Rationalization

Data & Rationalization

Based on the comparable properties that were surveyed, it was determined that the 

average income per square foot that is being received in Downtown Wichita for 1-

bedroom units is $1.09.  Based on this calculation, and given the 960 square foot 

size of the 1-bedroom units in the proposed project, we would estimate that the 

expected rent rate would be $1,047.  That number is purely based on an income 

per square foot comparision.

Alternatively, we analyzed the comparable properties to find the most comparable 

property in terms of 1-bedroom square footage.  The rent per square foot was then 

taken from that comparable property and applied to the square footage of the 1-

bedroom units at the proposed property.  The resulting monthly rent estimate was 

$1,195.

The final approach to determining the potential rent for the proposed 1-bedroom 

units was a detailed examination of the rent rolls from Market Place properties (the 

largest downtown apartment owner).  1-bedroom units similar in sized to the 

proposed units (i.e., 900 to 1,000 square feet) were analyzed to determine the 

average income per square foot for 1-bedroom apartments in that size range.  The 

resulting monthly rent estimate based on that approach was $957.

In order to arrive at a final estimate of potential rent, the estimates from the three 

different approaches were averaged together.  The result was an estimated 

monthly rent of $1,066.  That is the rate that we recommend be used in estimates 

of potential rents for the proposed 1-bedroom units.

Comparable 

Properties 

Market Rate 

Summary

JVSCo

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

Estimated Rent Based on Average of Above  $      1,066 

 $       1,066 

 $       1,163 

Estimated Income for 1-Bedroom Units

Estimated Income for 2-Bedroom Units

 $      1,047 

 $         957 

 $      1,195 

Estimated Rent Based on PSF Comps

Estimated Rent Based on Monthly Comp Rents

Estimated Rent Based on Detailed Rent Roll

2

185



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

2-Bedroom Analysis - Data & Rationalization

Data & Rationalization

Based on the comparable properties that were surveyed, it was determined that the 

average income per square foot that is being received in Downtown Wichita for 2-

bedroom units is $1.02.  Based on this calculation, and given the 1,130 square foot 

size of the 1-bedroom units in the proposed project, we would estimate that the 

expected rent rate would be $1,053.  That number is purely based on an income 

per square foot comparision.

Alternatively, we analyzed the comparable properties to find the most comparable 

property in terms of 2-bedroom square footage.  The rent per square foot was then 

taken from that comparable property and applied to the square footage of the 2-

bedroom units at the proposed property.  The resulting monthly rent estimate was 

$1,227.

The final approach to determining the potential rent for the proposed 2-bedroom 

units was a detailed examination of the rent rolls from Market Place properties (the 

largest downtown apartment owner).  2-bedroom units similar in sized to the 

proposed units (i.e., 1,100 to 1,200 square feet) were analyzed to determine the 

average income per square foot for 2-bedroom apartments in that size range.  The 

resulting monthly rent estimate based on that approach was $1,109.

In order to arrive at a final estimate of potential rent, the estimates from the three 

different approaches were averaged together.  The result was an estimated 

monthly rent of $1,163.  That is the rate that we recommend be used in estimates 

of potential rents for the proposed 2-bedroom units.

Comparable 

Properties 

Market Rate 

Summary 
(continued)

Estimated Rent Based on PSF Comps  $      1,153 

Estimated Rent Based on Monthly Comp Rents  $      1,227 

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

Estimated Rent Based on Detailed Rent Roll  $      1,109 

Estimated Rent Based on Average of Above  $      1,163 

JVSCo

3

186



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Based on a 35-year data set that has been collected by Savage Inc. through the 

Wichita Apartment Guide, a 35-year Rate Change Analysis was completed to 

determine the average rate at which rents tended to change for apartments in the 

Downtown Wichita submarket over the last 35-years.  The analysis revealed an 

average annual increase in rent of 3.01%.

It should be noted that these estimates were reached by limiting the analysis to the 

average of the high end of the rents reported in the Savage dataset for 1- and 2-

bedroom apartments only. The high end of the rent range was used, given the high 

quality of the proposed apartments.  Only the 1- and 2-bedroom data was used, 

given the fact that the unit mix in the proposed apartments will be limited to those 

configurations.

35-Year Rate 

Change 

Summary

The purpose of this Inflation Rate Analysis is to determine an average historical 

rate of change in interest rates.  Once established, this rate can then be used to 

estimate the pace at which the operating expenses associated with a project may 

increase in the future.  The dataset used for these calculations was the data 

reported by the Federal Reserve Bank since 1987.

1987 was chosen as the base year for inflation calculations, because that was the 

year that Alan Greenspan took over as Chairman of the Federal Reserve and 

began implementing the sophisticated price control models that remain at the heart 

of the Fed's monetary policies.  Those quantitative theories of money policy, which 

have been implemented through the interest rate and money supply controls of the 

Federal Open Market Committee, have been aimed at bringing more stability to 

price level, inflation, and the business cycle.  Therefore, inflation rates since this 

shift in Fed policy are seen as a better predictor of future inflations rates than the 

rates occurring prior to this change.

Inflation Rate 

Summary

Estimated Annual Change in Expenses 2.9%

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

Estimated Annual Change in Rents

JVSCo

3.1%

4

187



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

The purpose of this Cap Rate Analysis is to determine a rate for the valuation of the 

project.  The capitalization rate is the annual rate of return that an investor could 

receive on a property given a cash investment.  Capitalization Rates are inversely 

used to determine a potential sale price for a property.  By surveying the cap rates 

at which similar properties have recently sold, a potential sale price can then be 

estimated by dividing the net operating income from a project by the cap rate.

In order to estimate a capitalization rate for the proposed project, data from the 

database of Real Capital Analytics (RCA) was used.  RCA has been compiling cap 

rate data since 2000.  Over the years, their U.S. database has grown to include 

over 150,000 transactions at a dollar volume of over $2.4 trillion in closed deals.  

The multifamily data that from RCA is based on properties with a value of $10 

million or more that have been sold over the last 12 months.

Cap Rate 

Summary

JVSCo

Estimated Capitalization Rate 6.2%

5

188



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

QUALIFICATIONS & ASSUMPTIONS

189





 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Jason Van Sickle

Based on an innovative new approach to development that Jason has pioneered, 

JVSCo's efforts to develop apartments has expanded rapidly.  The first project 

(upscale, $20M, 216-units) broke ground on September 4, 2012 in Wichita.  Since 

then the company has started work on over $150 million in projects in 6 cities 

across 3 states.

Professional 

Background

Qualifications

JVSCo

In 2009, Jason also started working as an independent real estate consultant, with 

the formation of J. Van Sickle & Company (JVSCo).  Over the next couple of years 

he provided real estate development consulting services to dozens of clients.  In 

January 2012, JVSCo stopped accepting new clients and shifted the company's 

focus to creating a model for the development of new construction, Class A, 

market rate apartments.

In 2008, Jason was invited to become the first full-time real estate researcher for 

the Wichita State University Center for Real Estate.  In 2009, while at the 

university, Jason began work on his first apartment project.  Partnering with a local 

architect and contractor, Jason was part of a team that converted the original 

Wichita High School into a 68-unit, upscale apartment complex.  The project was 

an adaptive reuse project that utilized historic preservation tax credits.

During his time at Value Place, Jason built the company's Research and Market 

Planning department based on a number of proprietary site selection, sign rate 

estimation, capital expenditure, and general pro forma models that he developed 

for over 100 hotel projects.  In 2007, Jason left Value Place to partner in the joint-

venture of Young & Van Sickle Real Estate to purchase, remodel, and sell houses.  

He also co-founded Cedar Mills Property Management in that same year.

After graduation Jason began his career in real estate research and analysis at 

Grubb & Ellis | Martens Commercial Group, the largest commercial appraisal firm 

in Wichita.  Within a year Jason was co-authoring appraisals with the senior 

appraiser.  While working on appraisals for a start-up hotel chain called Value 

Place Hotels, Jason met the hotel's founder Jack DeBoer (founder of Residence 

Inn, Summerfield Suites, and Candlewood Suites).  Jason was soon offered a job 

as the first Market Analyst at Value Place.

Jason Van Sickle grew up in Wichita, Kansas and he was one of the first students 

in the city's International Baccalaureate (IB) program at Wichita High School East.  

He graduated from high school in 2 1/2 years and immediately began college.  He 

received a Bachelor's degree in Philosophy with a minor in Mathematics and a 

Master's degree in Quantitative Sociology (social statistics) from Wichita State 

University.

8

191



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

J. Van Sickle & Company

FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS

DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANTS

DEVELOPMENT PROFESSIONALS

JVSCo

Qualifications

As a development services company, J. Van Sickle & Company (through J. Van 

Sickle Construction) can provide projects with everything from development insight 

and guidance, to owner's representative oversight, or complete design-build 

services.  Our joint venture partnerships with established and highly respected 

architects, engineers, and contractors, allow us to provide a complete range of 

development services.  We can often find ways to make financially unfeasible 

projects possible by reducing both soft and hard costs through strategic equity 

partnerships.

As a development consultant, J. Van Sickle & Company has experience planning 

large, mixed-use, master planned developments.  We have also worked with 

developers to determine how to infill undeveloped space in partially completed 

developments.  In addition, we have worked with many individual property owners 

to determine how to best redevelop existing real estate.  Our market research, 

Highest and Best Use analyses, and comprehensive project plans, help our clients 

determine options for the development of vacant land or the redevelopment of 

existing buildings.

As a financial consultant, J. Van Sickle & Company has helped develop business 

plans, pro forma analyses, investor prospectuses, and bank financing application 

packages.  Our easy to understand reports are both comprehensive and concise.  

From simple, well written, and cross-referenced Executive Summaries to detailed 

construction estimates and 39-year Balance Sheets, our reports provide the 

financial blueprints needed to take a project from concept to completion (and 

beyond).

Professional 

Services J. Van Sickle & Company provides the highest quality real estate research and 

development services.  As a consultant, we provide a full range of research and 

analysis services to banks, investors, real estate professionals, developers, and 

property owners.  As a development partner, we can provide a full range of design-

build services through our joint venture partnerships with architects, engineers, 

contractors, and management companies.

9

192



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Most Recent Consulting Projects

125 S. Washington

Creation and implementation of a marketing plan to help sell or lease the 

property.

150 N. Main

Office Park Plaza Old Town

JVSCo

Working with the property owner to explore renovation options using Historic 

Preservation Tax Credits.

Working with the owner to find adaptive reuse options for the redevelopment of 

the property.

Consulting services that included market study research and the analysis of the 

possible conversion of the property into subsidized housing using Historic 

Preservation Tax Credits and Low Income Housing Tax Credits.

Comparable rate data research for new construction apartments.

General consulting services to help find investment partners, develop a 

renovation plan using tax credits, and coordinating the efforts of the tax credit 

consultant, the architect, and the contractor.

Qualifications

Severdale Apartments

1401 W. Maple

701 E. 2nd

Taking the property through the Part 1 and Part 2 application process for the 

National Registry of Historic Places, and working to qualify the project for Historic 

Preservation Tax Credits.

Conversion of an existing office building into full-service office suites that cater to 

small businesses wanting an affordable option for having a presence in Old 

Town and Downtown Wichita.

Creation of a Market Rate Analysis and Project Development Outline as well as a 

Comprehensive Financial Pro Forma Analysis to explore the possibility of 

converting the property to apartments.

Market research and site selection consulting services.

Market research, highest and best use analysis, and development of a master 

planned, 100-acre, mixed-use business park.

Development of a Comprehensive Pro Forma Financial Plan to renovate and 

update the apartment / hotel using Historic Preservation Tax Credits.

906 E. Waterman

Kansas Leadership Center

Venture Business Park

Commodore Hotel

507-509 S. Market & 514 S. Main

Parkstone at College Hill - Research & Analysis

Consulting 

Experience

10

193



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Most Recent Development Projects

Upscale, 216-unit apartment complex under construction at Ventures Business 

Park in Wichita, Kansas.

Finalizing the project planning for a 70-unit expansion of the Flats-324 

apartments in Downtown Wichita, Kansas.

Topeka, Kansas - Apartments

Wichita, Kansas - Apartment Expansion

Derby, Kansas - Apartments

Involved in the design phase for a nationally branded, nightly stay hotel at 

Ventures Business Park in Wichita, Kansas.

Gladstone, Missouri - Multifamily Housing

Working with the City Manager's office to develop apartments and possibly 

townhomes in Gladstone, Missouri.

Newton, Kansas - Apartments

Finalized project plan for apartments in Broken Arrow, OK.

Oklahoma City MSA - Apartments

In the process of forming partnerships with local communities, business and 

economic development organizations, architects, contractors, and engineers to 

focus on developing apartments and hotels within the Oklahoma City MSA.

Designing a large mixed-use development (retail, hospitality, office, and 

apartments) at the intersection of two highways in Shawnee, Kansas.

Wichita, Kansas - Apartments

In the Process of developing the preliminary schematic design for a 200+ unit 

apartment project in Shawnee, Kansas.

Shawnee, Kansas - Mixed-Use, Master Planned Development

Maize, Kansas - Apartments

In the Process of developing the preliminary schematic design for a 144 unit 

apartment project in Newton, Kansas.

Working with the City Manager's office to find a feasible location for a limited-

service hotel in Gladstone, Missouri.

Gladstone, Missouri - Nightly Stay Hotel

Qualifications

Development 

Experience

JVSCo

Broken Arrow, Oklahoma - Apartments

In the Process of finalizing a complete project plan for a 180-unit apartment 

project in Maize, Kansas.

In the Process of finalizing a complete project plan for a 180-unit apartment 

project in Derby, Kansas.

Wichita, Kansas - Full-Service Hotel & Restaurant

Working with a local architect and civil engineer to find a site for the development 

of apartments in Topeka, Kansas.

Shawnee, Kansas - Apartments

11

194



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Property Characteristics

Assumptions have been made in the estimates of the rent rates for this project, 

which are based on the number of units and quality of finishes.  The assumptions 

that were made based on those factors were the result of conversations with the 

developers and the information that was provided below (by the developers), which 

defines the quality and scope of the project:

The apartment complex will include 103 one-bedroom units and 51 two-bedroom 

units. The units will be substantially larger than normal in the Wichita area with 

the one-bedrooms containing approximately 960 square feet and the two-

bedrooms containing approximately 1,130 square feet. The ceiling heights in all 

units will be nine foot and each apartment will contain a high level of interior 

finish with granite countertops, wood, carpet and tile floors, custom cabinets and 

contemporary lighting. In addition, all apartments will have exterior wood decks. 

The four-story, contemporary-Italianate apartments all have excellent views – 

those on the North will overlook Exploration Place, the Keeper of the Plains and 

the river and those on the East will overlook the river and our downtown. Units 

will stair-step back and forth to create set views and give dramatic shadows both 

in the daylight and at night.

Based on the above descriptions, the proposed apartments were assumed to 

consist of 154 upscale units that are to be located in the downtown area.

JVSCo

Assumptions

Property 

Characteristics

12

195



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

JVSCo

196



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

35-Year 

Occupancy 

Analysis

The table below is based on data collected by the Apartment Directory.  That 

primary data source was compiled by the WSU Center for Real Estate.  The master 

data from that compilation was then distilled down into the information in the 

following 35-year occupancy rate table.  The last 6 years of the supporting primary 

research from Savage Inc. is included in the Addendum to this report.

1978
1979

Occupancy
94.6%
97.3%
95.2%

1977
Quadrant
Wichita

Occupancy
96.9%

The purpose of the 35-Year Occupancy Analysis is to establish a historic 

occupancy rate.  The data below shows that the average occupancy rate over the 

last 35 years of 90.6% for the Wichita market and 90.3% for the Downtown Wichita 

submarket.

Wichita
Wichita

Average:

1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987

1994

2007

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006

1995
1996
1997
1998
1999

Wichita

1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita
Wichita

Wichita

Wichita
Wichita

89.4%
89.9%
92.0%
94.1%

85.3%
90.6%

Wichita

91.5%
85.0%
89.2%
89.0%
87.9%

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita

91.9%
92.0%
94.9%

90.6%

Quadrant
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

86.1%
89.4%
91.5%
93.4%

97.3%
84.5%

91.0%
87.9%
89.4%
89.7%

91.9%

85.8%
84.5%

94.1%
90.4%

87.0%
90.4%

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

92.1%

93.9%
94.9%
87.9%

Downtown

90.3%

93.5%
81.9%
82.8%
85.5%
86.5%
93.7%

88.1%
90.8%
93.2%
91.2%
89.5%
91.0%

95.2%
95.0%
94.0%
96.9%
92.1%
93.1%

94.9%

Wichita 89.5% Downtown 90.0%

JVSCo

Date

Maximum:
Minimum:
Average:

Maximum:
Minimum:

89.7%

98.2%
71.3%

82.7%
94.0%
96.7%

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

98.2%
96.7%

2012 Wichita 90.7% Downtown 73.8%

90.4%

The average occupancy 

rates in Wichita have held in 

a fairly reliable range of 

roughly 85% to 95% over the 

last 35 years.  That is 

consistent with national 

averages for multifamily 

properties.  The high in 

occupancy rates occurred in 

1978, and the low occurred in 

2003, which were trends that 

followed the national trends 

in occupancy rates.

The average occupancy 

rates in the Downtown 

Wichita submarket have also 

held to a fairly reliable range 

of roughly 85% to 95% over 

the last 35 years.  As 

mentioned, that is consistent 

with national averages for 

multifamily properties.  

However, Downtown Wichita 

has recently seen a 

significant drop in 

occupancies rates that has 

taken multifamily occupancy 

rates to 35-year lows for the 

Downtown submarket.

Average of Wichita and Downtown Wichita Rates:

2010 Wichita 91.2% Downtown 88.2%
2011 Wichita 89.1% Downtown 71.3%

2008 Wichita 92.8% Downtown 90.7%
2009

14

197





































 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Innes Station 2 2 1,360$   1905 0.71$ 20

Flats 324. 2 2 1,600$   1897 0.84$ 106

Innes Station 2 2 1,510$   1787 0.84$ 19

Innes Station 2 2 1,200$   1757 0.68$ 15

Innes Station 2 2 1,140$   1717 0.66$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 950$      1697 0.56$ 2

Innes Station 2 1 820$      1697 0.48$ 2

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1697 0.30$ 2

Innes Station 2 1 1,150$   1680 0.68$ 16

Innes Station 2 1 1,100$   1680 0.65$ 16

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1680 0.30$ 16

Innes Station 2 2 1,050$   1615 0.65$ 16

Innes Station 2 2 1,060$   1610 0.66$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1508 0.60$ 9

Old Town Square 2 1 1,560$   1480 1.05$ 15

Innes Station 2 1 1,140$   1400 0.81$ 7

Innes Station 2 1 1,025$   1400 0.73$ 7

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1400 0.36$ 7

Flats 324. 2 2 1396 -$   401

Innes Station 1 1.5 370$      1362 0.27$ 4

Flats 324. 2 2 1,025$   1356 0.76$ 121

Old Town Square 2 1 1,325$   1330 1.00$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 905$      1300 0.70$ 19

Innes Station 1 1 865$      1300 0.67$ 19

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1300 0.30$ 19

Old Town Square 2 1 1300 -$   5

Innes Station 1 1 950$      1241 0.77$ 2

Innes Station 1 1 800$      1240 0.65$ 11

Innes Station 1 1 875$      1232 0.71$ 3

Innes Station 2 1 955$      1224 0.78$ 3

Innes Station 2 1 950$      1224 0.78$ 3

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1224 0.42$ 3

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1222 1.02$ 122

Innes Station 1 1 1,300$   1203 1.08$ 6

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

Given the unusually large size of the proposed 1-bedroom units, it was determined 

that a more detailed analysis of income per unit based on similar sized units was 

necessary.  Therefore, the Rent Rolls for the apartments owned by Marketplace 

Properties were obtained.  Marketplace Properties is the single largest owner of 

apartment building in Downtown Wichita.

Below is the list of the units owned by Market Place Properties, which has been sorted 

in decending order based on unit square footage (SF).

32

215



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Innes Station 1 1 930$      1200 0.78$ 4

Innes Station 1 1 875$      1200 0.73$ 4

Innes Station 1 1 -$       1200 -$   4

Flats 324. 1 1 1,150$   1180 0.97$ 313

Flats 324. 1 1 1,075$   1180 0.91$ 311

Flats 324. 2 2 1177 -$   102

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1173 0.33$ 7

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1172 0.81$ 101

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1160 0.78$ 1

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 202

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 302

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 322

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1130 1.03$ 2

Flats 324. 1 1 1,100$   1126 0.98$ 213

Flats 324. 1 1 1,050$   1126 0.93$ 211

Innes Station 1 1 800$      1104 0.72$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1088 0.83$ 14

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1080 1.08$ 3

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1079 0.77$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 815$      1065 0.77$ 12

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1060 0.90$ 222

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      1060 0.85$ 201

Innes Station 1 1 855$      1060 0.81$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 2 1 930$      1027 0.91$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 900$      1027 0.88$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 875$      1027 0.85$ 17

Innes Station 1 2 885$      1025 0.86$ 18

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 307

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 317

Innes Station 2 1 950$      975 0.97$ 18

Innes Station 2 1 905$      975 0.93$ 18

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      975 0.52$ 18

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   970 1.29$ 312

Old Town Square 1 1 970 -$   4

Old Town Square 1 1 1,380$   960 1.44$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 850$      936 0.91$ 5

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      927 1.02$ 111

Old Town Square 1 1 1,060$   920 1.15$ 6

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

33

216



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Old Town Square 1 1 1,050$   920 1.14$ 10

Old Town Square 1 1 1,015$   920 1.10$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 850$      920 0.92$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 840$      920 0.91$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 740$      920 0.80$ 6

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 212

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 210

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,300$   885 1.47$ 37

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,300$   885 1.47$ 57

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,250$   885 1.41$ 26

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,165$   885 1.32$ 25

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 -$       885 -$   47

Innes Station 1 1 905$      875 1.03$ 5

Innes Station 1 1 795$      875 0.91$ 5

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      875 0.44$ 5

Flats 324. 2 2 924$      870 1.06$ 112

Flats 324. 2 2 924$      870 1.06$ 113

Old Town Square 1 1 950$      860 1.10$ 11

Old Town Square 1 1 910$      860 1.06$ 7

Old Town Square 1 1 900$      860 1.05$ 9

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      855 0.96$ 105

Innes Station 1 1 655$      850 0.77$ 15

Innes Station 1 1 615$      850 0.72$ 15

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      850 0.46$ 15

Flats 324. 1 1 850$      843 1.01$ 118

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      828 1.09$ 120

Old Town Square 1 1 1,115$   800 1.39$ 13

Old Town Square 1 1 1,105$   800 1.38$ 14

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 750$      800 0.94$ 22

Flats 324. 1 1 845$      776 1.09$ 115

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      770 1.04$ 12

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 -$       770 -$   16

Flats 324. 1 1 880$      768 1.15$ 304

Flats 324. 1 1 875$      768 1.14$ 303

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      767 1.01$ 103

Innes Station 1 1 750$      760 0.99$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 705$      760 0.93$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 695$      760 0.91$ 8

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      756 1.19$ 203

Flats 324. 1 1 880$      756 1.16$ 204

Flats 324. 1 1 850$      756 1.12$ 321

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      745 1.11$ 109

Flats 324. 1 1 875$      744 1.18$ 320

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

34

217



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      744 1.11$ 219

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      744 1.11$ 220

Innes Station 1 1 720$      720 1.00$ 14

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 14

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 9

Innes Station 1 1 695$      720 0.97$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 695$      720 0.97$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 670$      720 0.93$ 14

Innes Station 1 1 655$      720 0.91$ 11

Innes Station 1 1 655$      720 0.91$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 11

Innes Station 1 1 610$      720 0.85$ 9

Innes Station 1 1 615$      720 0.85$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 590$      720 0.82$ 13

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      720 0.54$ 9

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      720 0.54$ 12

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      720 0.54$ 11

Flats 324. 1 1 850$      710 1.20$ 323

Flats 324. 1 1 840$      710 1.18$ 301

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      707 1.10$ 208

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      705 1.17$ 205

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      705 1.17$ 207

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      690 1.20$ 217

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      690 1.20$ 218

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      690 1.20$ 305

Flats 324. 1 1 800$      690 1.16$ 319

Flats 324. 1 1 800$      690 1.16$ 108

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      690 1.09$ 107

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      690 1.09$ 117

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      688 1.09$ 104

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      684 1.21$ 215

Flats 324. 1 1 820$      684 1.20$ 308

Flats 324. 1 1 820$      684 1.20$ 316

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      682 1.17$ 15

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 750$      675 1.11$ 13

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      675 1.04$ 23

Flats 324. 1 1 700$      630 1.11$ 119

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 900$      625 1.44$ 58

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 900$      625 1.44$ 48

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      625 1.28$ 38

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

35

218



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      621 1.21$ 206

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      621 1.21$ 306

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      621 1.21$ 318

Flats 324. 1 1 621 -$   216

Flats 324. 1 1 800$      609 1.31$ 314

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      609 1.27$ 309

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      609 1.27$ 310

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      609 1.23$ 116

Flats 324. 1 1 609 -$   209

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      599 1.29$ 214

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      599 1.29$ 315

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      576 1.39$ 11

Flats 324. 1 1 700$      560 1.25$ 110

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      550 1.27$ 24

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 625$      550 1.14$ 21

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      530 1.42$ 114

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      520 1.35$ 14

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      515 1.36$ 41

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      515 1.36$ 51

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 625$      515 1.21$ 31

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 750$      500 1.50$ 42

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      500 1.40$ 44

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 650$      500 1.30$ 52

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 650$      500 1.30$ 32

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 625$      500 1.25$ 54

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 600$      500 1.20$ 34

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      495 1.41$ 43

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 675$      495 1.36$ 53

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 650$      495 1.31$ 33

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 775$      455 1.70$ 46

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      455 1.54$ 36

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      455 1.54$ 56

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 675$      410 1.65$ 55

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 600$      410 1.46$ 45

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 550$      410 1.34$ 35

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

36

219



 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 307

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 317

Innes Station 2 1 950$      975 0.97$ 18

Innes Station 2 1 905$      975 0.93$ 18

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      975 0.52$ 18

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   970 1.29$ 312

Old Town Square 1 1 970 -$   4

Old Town Square 1 1 1,380$   960 1.44$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 850$      936 0.91$ 5

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      927 1.02$ 111

Old Town Square 1 1 1,060$   920 1.15$ 6

Old Town Square 1 1 1,050$   920 1.14$ 10

Old Town Square 1 1 1,015$   920 1.10$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 850$      920 0.92$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 840$      920 0.91$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 740$      920 0.80$ 6

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 212

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 210

1.00$ 

sq. ft. Rent

960 $957

Average per Square Foot Rent for 1-Bdrm Apts

1-Bedroom 

Most 

Comparable 

Unit Analysis

JVSCo

In order to determine a per square foot rate based on units that are presently rented 

and similar in size and type, the rents for 1-bedroom units between 900 and 1,000 

square feet were isolated.  That data set was then adjusted to exclude unit 4 at Old 

Town Square because the unit was vacant at the time the rent roll was run by the 

management company.  Unit 12 at Old Town Square was also excluded from the 

analysis, because the management verified that the unit was at a high rate due to it 

being on a month-to-month lease.

The table below shows the 1-bedroom apartments within the range of 900 to 1,000 

square feet in size.  The average per square foot is shown below, along with the 

estimated rent for the proposed 1-bedroom units, based on that estimated per square 

foot rate.

Estimated Rent at the Proposed Property

37

220



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 1 1 1,150$   1180 0.97$ 313

Flats 324. 1 1 1,075$   1180 0.91$ 311

Flats 324. 2 2 1177 -$   102

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1173 0.33$ 7

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1172 0.81$ 101

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1160 0.78$ 1

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 202

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 302

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 322

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1130 1.03$ 2

Flats 324. 1 1 1,100$   1126 0.98$ 213

Flats 324. 1 1 1,050$   1126 0.93$ 211

Innes Station 1 1 800$      1104 0.72$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1088 0.83$ 14

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1080 1.08$ 3

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1079 0.77$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 815$      1065 0.77$ 12

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1060 0.90$ 222

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      1060 0.85$ 201

Innes Station 1 1 855$      1060 0.81$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 2 1 930$      1027 0.91$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 900$      1027 0.88$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 875$      1027 0.85$ 17

Innes Station 1 2 885$      1025 0.86$ 18

0.98$ 

sq. ft. Rent

Proposed Property 1,130 $1,109

As shown in the table below, the average income per square foot for 1-bedroom units 

in the comparable property set is $1.06 per square foot.  The average rent rate for a 2-

bedroom unit on a square foot basis is $0.96.

JVSCo

The site for the proposed apartment development is in Downtown Wichita.  The 

following section presents rent rate data for comparable properties (comps) in 

Downtown Wichita.  The data was obtained through online published rates, phone 

surveys, and rent rolls.  The set includes a total of 9 comparable properties.  Below is 

a table summarizing the data.

Average per Square Foot Rent for 2-Bdrm Apts

2-Bedroom 

Most 

Comparable 

Unit Analysis

38

221



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Estimated Annual Change in Rents

1985

1984

1983

1982

1981

1980

1979

1978

JVSCo

The following table shows the average of the high end of the rents reported for 1- 

and 2-bedroom apartments. The high end of the range was used, given the quality 

of the proposed apartments.  Only the 1- and 2-bedroom data was used, given the 

fact that the unit mix in the proposed apartments will be limited to those 

configurations.  The data shows an average annual growth in rents of 3.01%.

Year Market Rent Change

35-Year Rate 

Change 

Analysis

8.58%

Downtown $325 9.08%

Downtown $298

9.55%

Downtown $378

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

1998

1997

1996

1995

2006

2002

2001

2000

1999

2005

2004

2003

1994

1993

1992

1991

1990

1989

1988

1987

1986

6.19%

Downtown $356

5.74%

Downtown $403 -0.62%

Downtown $405

-3.31%

Downtown $383 4.93%

Downtown $365

0.00%

Downtown $424 4.95%

Downtown $404

0.25%

Downtown $404 0.12%

Downtown $404

3.03%

Downtown $448 -5.78%

Downtown $476

0.12%

Downtown $462 8.72%

Downtown $425

5.82%

Downtown $486 0.73%

Downtown $482

4.02%

Downtown $456 -2.25%

Downtown $466

24.47%

Downtown $495

4.33%

Downtown $511 0.89%

Downtown $507

3.05%

30.62%

Downtown $696 1.98%

Downtown $683

Average

Downtown $818 17.53%

Downtown $751 -8.25%

Downtown $728 -3.06%

The table below is based on data collected by the Apartment Directory.  That 

primary data source was compiled by the WSU Center for Real Estate.  The master 

data from that compilation was then distilled down into the information in the 

following 35-year occupancy rate table.  The last 6 years of the supporting primary 

research from Savage Inc. is included in the Addendum to this report.

Downtown $771 5.91%

2012 Downtown $690 -10.51%

3.05%

7.96%

Downtown $523 -20.59%

Downtown $658

0.57%

Downtown $610 -1.53%

Downtown $619

-3.23%

Downtown $616

39

222













 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Estimated Annual Change in Expenses Based on Inflation

2.30% 1.70% 1.66% 1.41% 1.69%

JVSCo

The table below shows the monthly and annual rates of inflation since 1987.  1987 

was chosen as the base year for inflation calculations, because that was the year 

that Alan Greenspan took over as Chairman of the Federal Reserve and began 

implementing the sophisticated price control models that remain at the heart of the 

Fed's monetary policies.  Those quantitative theory of money policies, which have 

been implemented through the interest rate and money supply controls of the 

Federal Open Market Committee, have been aimed at bringing more stability to 

price level, inflation, and the business cycle.  Therefore, inflation rates since this 

shift in Fed policy are seen as a better predictor of future inflations rates than the 

rates occurring prior to this change.

Apr May Jun

2.07%1.99% 2.16% 1.76% 1.74%

The purpose of this Inflation Rate Analysis is to determine an average historical rate 

of change in interest rates.  Once established, this rate is used to estimate the pace 

at which the operating expenses associated with this project will likely increase in 

the future.  In order to calculate this rate, the average of the monthly inflation rates 

was first calculate, and then an average of the annual inflation rates was 

determined.

2012 2.93% 2.87% 2.65%

Nov Dec Ann

Inflation Rate 

Analysis

1.64%

2.96% 3.16%

2010 2.63% 2.14% 2.31% 2.24% 2.02% 1.05% 1.24%

3.56% 3.63% 3.77% 3.87% 3.53% 3.39%2011 1.63% 2.11% 2.68% 3.16% 3.57%

0.24% -0.38% -0.74% -1.28%

1.15% 1.14% 1.17% 1.14% 1.50%

5.37% 4.94% 3.66% 1.07% 0.09% 3.85%

2.72% -0.34%

2008 4.28% 4.03% 3.98% 3.94% 4.18% 5.02% 5.60%

-1.43% -2.10% -1.48% -1.29% -0.18% 1.84%2009 0.03%

3.24%

4.08% 2.85%

2006 3.99% 3.60% 3.36% 3.55% 4.17% 4.32% 4.15%

2.69% 2.36% 1.97% 2.76% 3.54% 4.31%2007 2.08% 2.42% 2.78% 2.57% 2.69%

3.01% 3.15% 3.51% 2.80%

3.82% 2.06% 1.31% 1.97% 2.54%

2.65% 2.54% 3.19% 3.52% 3.26% 2.68%

3.42% 3.39%

2004 1.93% 1.69% 1.74% 2.29% 3.05% 3.27% 2.99%

2.53% 3.17% 3.64% 4.69% 4.35% 3.46%2005 2.97%

1.59%

1.88% 2.27%

2002 1.14% 1.14% 1.48% 1.64% 1.18% 1.07% 1.46%

2.11% 2.11% 2.16% 2.32% 2.04% 1.77%2003 2.60% 2.98% 3.02% 2.22% 2.06%

3.53% 2.92% 3.27% 3.62%

1.80% 1.51% 2.03% 2.20% 2.38%

3.41% 3.45% 3.45% 3.45% 3.39% 3.38%

1.55% 2.83%

2000 2.74% 3.22% 3.76% 3.07% 3.19% 3.73% 3.66%

3.25% 2.72% 2.72% 2.65% 2.13% 1.90%2001 3.73%

1998 1.57% 1.44% 1.37% 1.44% 1.69% 1.68% 1.68%

1.96% 2.14%1999 1.67% 1.61% 1.73% 2.28% 2.09%

1.55% 1.61% 1.55%

2.68% 2.19%2.26% 2.63% 2.56% 2.62%

3.26% 3.32% 2.93%

1.70% 2.34%

1996 2.73% 2.65% 2.84% 2.90% 2.89% 2.75% 2.95%

2.30% 2.23% 2.23% 2.15% 2.08% 1.83%1997 3.04% 3.03% 2.76% 2.50%

2.67% 2.67% 2.61%

2.54% 2.81%

1994 2.52% 2.52% 2.51% 2.36% 2.29% 2.49% 2.77%

3.04% 2.76% 2.62% 2.54% 2.81% 2.61%1995 2.80% 2.86% 2.85% 3.05%

3.05% 2.90% 3.03%

2.75% 2.96%

1992 2.60% 2.82% 3.19% 3.18% 3.02% 3.09% 3.16%

3.00% 2.78% 2.77% 2.69% 2.75% 2.68%1993 3.26% 3.25% 3.09% 3.23%

1987 1.46% 2.10% 3.03% 3.78% 3.86% 4.43% 3.66%

3.06% 4.25%

4.42% 4.08%

4.65% 4.83%

6.11% 5.39%

4.70% 4.45% 3.80% 3.39% 2.92% 2.99%1991 5.65%

3.65% 3.93%

4.02% 4.17% 4.25% 4.25%3.96% 4.13%

4.28% 4.36% 4.53% 4.53%

5.12% 5.36% 5.17% 4.98%

1988 4.05% 3.94% 3.93% 3.90% 3.89%

2.89%

JulyYear Jan Feb Mar Aug

1989 4.67% 4.83% 4.98%

6.29% 6.27%4.67% 4.82% 5.62% 6.16%

4.71% 4.34% 4.49% 4.66%

4.36%1990 5.20% 5.26% 5.23% 4.71%

Sept Oct

5.31% 4.90% 4.89% 4.95%

3.15% 2.99% 3.20%

3.22%

2.90% 2.96% 2.61%

3.19%

2.88% 3.00% 2.99%

2.23%

1.62% 1.49% 1.49%

#REF!2013 1.59% 1.98%

45

228





DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

PROJECT SUMMARY (no multipliers, no substitution)
  Company Name
  
  Number of new jobs for 10-year period
  Amount of payroll for 10-year period
  Amount of capital investment for 10-year period
      Land
      Buildings
      Machinery and Equipment

INCENTIVE SUMMARY
City Incentives - Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

County Incentives - Sedgwick
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

  State Incentives
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

School District Incentives - 259 Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

0
0
0
0

0

1,108,297
1,108,297

0

1,105,777
1,105,777

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0

1,513,526
1,513,526

1,664,323
1,664,323

0
0

3
$2,235,456

$25,529,420
$4,285,100

$20,994,320
$250,000

11:26 AM
Draft

River Vista, LLC

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 1 of 5

230



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

TAX ABATEMENT PARAMETERS
  Real Property
      Number of years
      Percentage
  Personal Property
      Number of years
      Percentage

CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS
    Jobs Multiplier
    Earnings Multiplier

    Direct jobs
    Direct payroll earnings

    Total jobs
    Total payroll earnings

SUBSTITUTION 
  Firm NAICS code
  Substitution percentage applied to firm operations

FIRM MULTIPLIERS (On-going Operations)
  Jobs
  Earnings

ECONOMIC IMPACT OF FIRM OPERATIONS
  Number of jobs 10-year period
    Direct
    Total

  Payroll earnings for 10-year period
    Direct
    Total $0

-                                                                                            
-                                                                                            

$0

1.3204
1.6943

435                                                                                            
$18,372,033

531000 Real estate
100.0%

1.789
1.6764

243                                                                                            
$10,959,218

100.0%

0
0.0%

11:26 AM
Draft

10

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

Page 2 of 5

231



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

FISCAL IMPACT
City Fiscal Impacts. - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $116,430
        Public costs 10-year period $1,380,120
        ROI 8.4%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,496,550
       Public costs 10-year period $1,380,120
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.08

City Fiscal Impacts General Fund - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $58,215
        Public costs 10-year period $873,616
        ROI 6.7%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $931,831
       Public costs 10-year period $873,616
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.07

City Fiscal Impacts Debt Service - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $58,215
        Public costs 10-year period $506,504
        ROI 11.5%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $564,719
       Public costs 10-year period $506,504
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.11

County Fiscal Impacts. - Sedgwick Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $57,134
        Public costs 10-year period $1,255,073
        ROI 4.6%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,312,207
       Public costs 10-year period $1,255,073
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.05                                        

$116,430

$57,134

$58,215

$58,215

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013
11:26 AM

Draft

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 3 of 5

232



  State Fiscal Impacts Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $2,018,459
        Public costs 10-year period $916,952
        ROI 220.1%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $2,935,411
       Public costs 10-year period $916,952
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 3.20                                        

School District Fiscal Impacts. - 259 Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $0
        Public costs 10-year period $919,042
        ROI 0.0%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $919,042
       Public costs 10-year period $919,042
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.00                                        

$2,018,459

$0

Page 4 of 5

233



In the preparation of this report, the Center for Economic Development and Business Research assumed that 
all information and data provided by the applicant or others is accurate and reliable.  CEDBR did not take 
extraordinary steps to verify or audit such information, but relied on such information and data as provided 
for purposes of the project.

This analysis requires CEDBR to make predictive forecasts, estimates and/or projections (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS”).  These FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS are based on information and data provided by others and involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that are difficult to predict.  The FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS should not be considered 
as guarantees or assurances that a certain level of performance will be achieved or that certain events will 
occur.  While CEDBR believes that all FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS it provides are reasonable 
based on the information and data available at the time of writing, actual outcomes and results are dependent 
on a variety of factors and may differ materially from what is expressed or forecast.  CEDBR does not assume 
any responsibility for any and all decisions made or actions taken based upon the FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS provided by CEDBR.

Page 5 of 5

234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



 

 

 

   

TAB #5 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #5 
Developer 

Background 

246



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

 
1. Projected or existing financial statements (three years) and Dun & Bradstreet 

Financial Stress Score or other third party financial stability rating for: 
a. Developer, development entity, and key project partners, as 

applicable 
b. Guarantors (if different) 
c. If desired, financial statements may be submitted separately to a 

designated third party for analysis and summary report to the City. 
 

Financial statements will be furnished directly to Springsted. 
 

2. History/ownership/legal structure of the business, including: 
a. Certificate of Good Standing from the Secretary of State 
b. Tax Clearance Certificate from the Department of Revenue 

 
Both documents are included behind Tab #5. 
 

3. Experience of the development team, including: 
a. Experience with similar projects  
b. Number of projects completed by the development team 
c. Past project experience with the City of Wichita 
d. References, especially from other municipal partners 

 
George E. Laham, II 

 
George has been in the real estate development business for over 
20 years.  During that time he has been involved in the 
development of approximately 1,500 acres of ground, including 
many mixed use developments such as the Wilson Estates master 
planned community, Berkeley Square master planned community 
and Cornerstone master planned community – all of which include 
residential and office/retail uses.  As described behind Tab #2, 
George was part of the group that negotiated a public/private 
partnership with the City of Wichita on the redevelopment of 
Wichita’s old warehouse area now referred to as Wichita’s Old 
Town Marketplace Area. 
 
References: 
 Ben Lawrence, Mayor of Andover (316) 640-3440 
 Bob Layton, Wichita City Manager (316) 268-4351 
 Tom Devlin, Devlin Enterprises (316) 634-1800 
 Nestor Weigand, JP Weigand & Sons (316) 262-6400 
 David Elkouri, Halcon Resources Corporation (832) 538-0514 
 Dave Unruh, Sedgwick County Commissioner (316) 660-9300 
 Jeff Longwell, Wichita City Council Member (316) 268-4331 

247



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

 Pete Meitzner, Wichita City Council Member (316) 268-4331 
 
David Burk 
 

David Burk’s focus is critical mass, mixed-use, public/private 
partnerships. He has participated in numerous partnerships with the 
City of Wichita.  His experience in these types of projects and his 
partnerships with the City of Wichita are described in more detail 
behind Tab #2. 
 
References: 
 Jack DeBoer (316) 631-1300 
 Phil Perry (402) 429-6230 
 Paul Coury (918) 556-8215 

 
 David Wells 
 

David Wells has been involved in numerous public projects -- both 
as a contractor through his ownership in Key Construction, Inc. and 
as a member of the development team through his ownership in 
Summit Holdings, LLC.  Most recently, Wells was a part of the 
development team that created Block 1 in the City of Wichita, 
which contains the $25M, 117-room Ambassador Hotel in the 
historic Union National Bank Building, a public parking garage and 
urban park, a new $9M Kansas Leadership Building and a 
remodeled Henry’s building. 
 
References: 
 Mayor Carl Brewer (316) 268-4331 
 District Attorney Marc Bennett (316) 660-3600 
 Sherriff Jeff Easter (316) 660-3900 
 City Councilman Jeff Longwell (316) 268-4331 
 County Commissioner Tim Norton (316) 660-9300 
 County Commissioner Dave Unruh (316) 660-9300 
 Jack Roberts – Intrust Bank (316) 383-1468 
 Eric Benson – City of Enid, OK (580) 747-5666 
 Lynn Burrow – City of Glenpool, OK (918) 322-5409 

 
Bill Warren 
 

Since 1988, Bill Warren has constructed 7 theatres with a combined 
83 screens throughout Kansas and Oklahoma, including 5 theatres 
with a combined 58 screens in Wichita.  Warren’s business 
enterprises are a major employer in Wichita with over 500 
employees; as well as among the largest property taxpayers and 

248



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

sales tax generators in the community.  As explained behind Tab 
#2, Warren has been involved in two public-private partnerships 
with the City of Wichita. 
 
References: 
 Sam Brownback, Kansas Governor (785) 296-3232 
 Mike Pompeo, 4th District U. S. Congressman, (316) 262-8992 
 Jeff Easter, Sedgwick County Sheriff (316) 660-3900 
 Marvin Autrey, Midwest Corporate FBO, Jabara Airport (316) 

636-9700 
 Dave Murfin, Murfin Oil (316) 267-3241 
 Frank Carney, retired Founder Pizza Hut – Phone number 

provided only upon request and assurance of confidentiality 
 Jerry Aaron, retired Senior Vice President/Counsel, Lone Star 

Steakhouse – Phone number provided only upon request and 
assurance of confidentiality 
 

Key Construction, Inc.  
 

A list of similar projects Key Construction has built can be found 
behind Tab #5 – Developer Background. Key has participated in 
numerous projects delivered through the public-private 
partnership method. Some of those include: 

o Ambassador Hotel 
o Old Town Square 
o WaterWalk Place 
o Eaton Place 
o Gander Mountain 

 
Key Construction has completed over 100 projects with Dave Burk 
over the past 35 years. Five public/private partnerships in which 
Key Construction and Dave Burk were both involved is 
Ambassador Hotel, WaterWalk Place, Old Town, Old Town Square 
and Eaton Hotel. 
 
Key has a wonderful working relationship with the City of Wichita 
and has completed the following City projects: 

o Block One Parking Garage 
o Old Town Square Parking Garage 
o City Hall Security and Landscape Improvements 
o Wichita WaterWalk Phase 1A 
o City Arts 
o Fire Station #19 
o Alford Branch Library 
o Fire Station #12 

249



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

o Fairmount and Osage Water Parks 
o 505/507 Buildings 
o State Office Building 
o Vest Pocket Park 

 
References 

o Carl Brewer, Mayor (316) 268-4331 
o Jerry Jones, Slawson Companies (316) 263-3201 

 
4. Banking references, including: 

a. Credit history reports, including past credit defaults 
b. Letters of good standing from previous lenders 

 
Credit history reports will be submitted to Springsted. 
 
Banking reference letters for the following individuals are included 
behind Tab #5: 

 
 George E. Laham, II 
 David Burk 
 David Wells 
 Bill Warren 
 

5. Applicant Disclosure Questionnaire for: 
a. Developer, development entity, and key project partners, as 

applicable 
b. Guarantors (if different) 

 
Applicant Disclosure Questionnaires for the following are included 
behind Tab #5: 
 

 River Vista, L.L.C. 
 Acquisition Group, L.L.C./George E. Laham, II 
 DCB, L.L.C./David Burk 
 Summit Holdings, L.L.C./David Wells 
 Free Market Investments, LLC/Bill Warren  

 

250



251







254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265









269



270



 

 

   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
Tab #1  Application for Development Incentives 

• Application 
• Schedule 

 
  Tab #2  Project Summary 

• Project Summary Questionnaire 
• Key Construction Bonding Letter 

 
Tab #3  Design Plan 

• Design Summary 
• Site Plan and Drawings 

 
Tab #4  Business Plan 

• Business Plan Questionnaire 
• Pro Forma 
• JVSCo Market Rates Analysis 
• CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model 
• Evidence of Developer Equity 
• Third Party Rating of Lender 
• Evidence of Lender Commitment 

 
Tab #5  Developer Background 

• Developer Background Questionnaire 
• Certificate of Good Standing 
• Tax Clearance Certificate 
• Key Construction Similar Projects 
• Banking References 

o George E. Laham, II 
o David Burk 
o David Wells 
o Bill Warren 

• Applicant Disclosure Questionnaire 
o River Vista, L.L.C. 
o Acquisition Group, L.L.C./George E. Laham, II 
o DCB, L.L.C./David Burk 
o Summit Holdings, L.L.C./David Wells 
o Free Market Investments, LLC/Bill Warren  

 

271



 

 

 

   

TAB #1  

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #1 
Application for 
Development 

Incentives 

272



	APPLICATION	FOR	DEVELOPMENT	INCENTIVES	
 

Any questions can be directed to:   Office of Urban Development 
316‐268‐4524 

 
Please identify which incentive(s) you are interested in. 
Check the following that apply 

Tax Increment Financing (TIF)  Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) 
 

Guest Tax (Bed Tax)  STAR Bonds 

Forgivable Loans  Land 

Direct Cash Investment  CID 

 
 Business Information 

Applicant/Business Name:  River Vista, L.L.C. 

Business Address:  150 N. Market 

City:  Wichita  State:  KS  Zip:  67202 

Business Phone #:  316‐292‐3927  Fax #:  316‐262‐5877 

Contact Name: Amy Liebau 

Contact Phone: 316‐292‐3927  Email: amy@lahamdevelopment.com 

 

Brief description of applicant (nature of business, product, goods or services provided, primary 

market, and extent of market outside our area): 

The applicant is River Vista, L.L.C. This single‐purpose L.L.C. was formed to develop this project in a 

public/private partnership.  	

Project Address: An unplatted tract of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 27 
South, Range 1 East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas 

273



8‐25‐2011   2 

Project	Information	

Record of owners of the land to be included in the proposed project, if different than applicant: 

City of Wichita owns the land, which will be purchased by River Vista, L.L.C. 

 

Project site information (legal description, common address, and size):  

4.92 acres located at the southeast corner of 1st and Mclean Blvd., legally described as: 

 

An unplatted tract of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 27 South, Range 1 

East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas, being more particularly 

described as follows: 

 

Commencing at the northwest corner of said Southwest Quarter; thence N01 degrees 13'23"W, 2.69 

feet along the west line of the Northwest Quarter of said Section 20; thence along the centerline of 2nd 

Street North on a Kansas coordinate system of 1983 south zone bearing of N88 degrees 56'32"E, 

1050.21 feet; thence N88 degrees 58'25"E, 888.30 feet along said centerline; thence S01 degrees 

01'35"E, 43.38 feet to the Point of Beginning; thence N81 degrees 20'49"E, 166.96 feet to a point on a 

curve to the right having a radius of 628.08 feet, a central angle of 8 degrees 45'22", and a long chord of 

95.89 feet, bearing N84 degrees 43'30"E; thence 95.99 feet along said curve; thence N89 degrees 

06'10"E, 127.60 feet; thence S27 degrees 25'35"E, 62.00 feet; thence S13 degrees 38'05"E, 512.78 feet; 

thence S66 degrees 22'00"W, 202.87 feet; thence N37 degrees 31'46"W, 651.54 feet; thence N28 

degrees 50'22"E, 93.67 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Proposed Project for which incentives are requested (Description of public and/or private 

improvements, building including square footage, proposed use, etc.  Attach site plan if available.): 

Please see "Incentive Information" section located within this document.  

Public purpose justification (how will your project benefit the City and its citizens): 

Phase 1 will provide housing needed along the river, as well as amenities that will create excitement and 

activity along the river. Those amenities will include boat and bike storage, paths for walking and biking, 

and a beautiful water feature.  

 

Phase 2 will add an office/retail element that will attract additional people to the area throughout the 

day and week rather than only at special events.  

   

Project Team: 

1. Name: George E. Laham, II/Acquisition 
Group, L.L.C. 

Position: Member 

Address: 150 N. Market  Wichita, KS 67202  Phone: 316‐292‐3950 

2. Name: David Burk/DCB, LLC  Position: Member 

Address: 151 N. Rock Island    Wichita, KS 67202  Phone: 316‐267‐0505 

274



8‐25‐2011   3 

3. Name: David E. Wells/Summit Holdings LLC  Position: Member 

Address: 741 W. 2nd    Wichita, KS 67203  Phone: 316‐263‐9515 

4. Name: Bill Warren/Free Market Investments, 
LLC 

Position: Member 

Address: P.O. Box 782560   Wichita, KS 67278  Phone: 316‐685‐3773 

If more room is needed please submit additional team members on a separate page.

 
Name and address of architect, engineer and general contractor: 
Spangenberg Phillips Tice Architecture     121 N. Mead, Ste. 201     Wichita, KS 67202 
Key Construction, Inc.     741 W. 2nd     Wichita, KS 67203 
MKEC     411 N. Webb Rd.     Wichita, KS 67206 
 
 Project Schedule (construction through occupancy): 
Please see attached schedule. 
  
Projected number of new jobs and economic impact: 
See Wichita State University CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model 

  	

275



8‐25‐2011   4 

Project	Budget	
 Estimated real estate and sales taxes generated by project upon completion (Please show calculations by 
building/use type): 
$22,000,000 in value @ 99 mils, bonded @ 2.75% over 20 years 
Property Tax: Yearly payments of $250,470 
Sales Tax: Included in WSU Report 

 
Estimated Project Costs and Sources of Funding. Provide in the format below

SOURCES  NAME  AMOUNT 

Bank Loan  Fidelity Bank  $13,000,000.00 

Other Private Funds                         

Equity  Cash  $6,450,000.00 

Fed/State Grant/Loan (please 
specify) 

                       

City Incentives (please specify)  TIF  $2,400,000.00 

Other              $350,000.00 

Other                       

Other                         

TOTAL SOURCES              $22,200,000 

 

USES  AMOUNT 

Land Acquisition  $100,000.00 

Site Development             

Site Improvements  $1,370,000.00 

Installation of public infrastructure  $554,000.00 

Installation of private infrastructure  $559,410.00 

Construction of parking facilities  $1,470,380.00 

Construction of buildings  $14,728,512.00 

Ongoing operating/maintenance             

Machinery & Equipment  $552,400.00 

Architectural & Engineering  $539,008.00 

Hard cost contingency  $510,000.00 

Legal Costs  $25,000.00 

Marketing Expenses             

Surveying/Platting/Permitting Costs             

Interest during construction  $408,000.00 

Debt Service Reserve             

Financing Costs (other than interest)  $45,000.00 

City Fees  $19,000.00 

Soft cost contingency  $227,290.00 

Other  $512,000.00 

Other  $10,000.00 

Other  $20,000.00 

Other  $200,000.00 

Other  $350,000.00 

TOTAL USES  $22,200,000.00 

276



8‐25‐2011   6 

Incentive	Information	
Please provide a summary and reasons for the incentives you are seeking. 

We are requesting the following incentives:  

•Land – We propose to pay $100,000 for the 4.92 acres identified by the City as Site #1.   

•TIF ‐ We are requesting $2,400,000 in TIF funds to be used for parking and infrastructure of an 

apartment complex to be constructed by the Developer.  The Developer will guaranty any shortfall over 

the 20‐year period by agreeing to pay a minimum of $205,000 in property taxes each year. 

•STAR Bonds – We are asking the City to consider using $2,500,000 of STAR bonds or other financial 

means to improve the area between the site and the river. 

These incentives are needed in order for the Developer to receive a modest 6.47% return on its 

investment.  For an investment with this level of risk, a typical return would be in the mid teens.  

Therefore, the expected return is below average for a project of this nature even with the incentives 

being requested. This project would not be possible “but for” the City’s involvement. The 4 partners, all 

being longtime Wichitans, believe in our downtown and are committed to this high end project for the 

community.  

In addition, investing in the project will allow the City to achieve many of the objectives established by 

Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita prepared by Goody Clancy (the “Plan”).  Specifically, the 

incentives will be used to support a mixed‐use development of housing and office/retail – two areas in 

which the Plan identified a demand.  The Plan also identifies “priority corridors” and concludes that 

these “are areas in which private investment in development and public investment in transit, parks and 

other infrastructure can best reinforce each other to create the biggest impact on regional economic 

growth and quality of life.” The project is designed to encourage such future development and to create 

walk paths along one of these “priority corridors.”  These walk paths will connect the project to the new 

library to the west, Exploration Place to the north and Century II, Hyatt, and Lawrence Dumont Stadium 

to the south, encouraging future development along the river. This project also helps to stimulate the 

Mclean corridor which will enhance the future library site for additional development. In addition, the 

Developer’s private investment in the project will include boat and bike storage (including storage for 

rowing shells for the Wichita Rowing Association and the WSU rowing team) and a large two‐story 

meeting/association room for the rowers.  Through these public and private investments we hope to 

bring activity and life to the riverbank throughout the day and week rather than just at special events. 

277

















 

 

 

   

TAB #2 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #2 
Project  

Summary 

285



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

1. Project amount and purpose. 
 

The project is a proposed $22,000,000 public/private partnership that 
will provide housing, public biking and boating facilities, and 
office/retail at Site #1, bringing activity and life to the riverbank.   

 
2. Description of the redevelopment project, including details of how the 

proposed project meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Public Benefit 
Criteria” described below. 
 

The project is a phased, mixed-use development.  The first phase will 
provide 154 apartment units on the West bank of the river.  The second 
phase will include a 2-story, 20,000sf office/retail center at such site.  
According to Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita, “new 
housing offers the most significant opportunity for market-driven 
development in this area, and would do more than other uses to bring 
it to life by creating a riverfront neighborhood that would stay active 
throughout the day and evening.”  The Project Downtown plan further 
indicates that “walkability is a special asset that Downtown should 
emphasize.”  Phase 1 of the proposed project will not only provide 
housing needed along the river, but will also provide amenities that 
will create excitement and activity along the river.  These amenities 
include boat and bike rental and storage, paths for walking and 
biking, and a beautiful water feature.  The proposed walk paths will 
connect the project to Exploration Place to the North and Century II, 
Hyatt, and Lawrence Dumont Stadium to the South, encouraging 
future development along those paths.  Phase 2 of the proposed 
project would add an office/retail element that will attract additional 
people to the area throughout the day and week instead of only at 
special events.  

 
3. Description of the proposed public-private partnership, including details of 

how the project partnership meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Business 
Plan Criteria” described above. 
 

We are asking that the City fund a $2,400,000 TIF bond for the public 
and infrastructure costs on the site and consider using $2,500,000 of 
STAR bonds or other financial means to improve the public area 
between the river and the east boundary line of the site in a similar 
manner as between the Drury Inn and the river. Developer will control 
the design of the parking deck and all other infrastructure 
improvements on the site, as well as construction oversight of such 
work, including, but not limited to, the time frames for bidding the 
project and the staging areas for all work to be done.  The bond 
would be personally guaranteed by River Vista, L.L.C. and its 

286



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

members. As shown in the reports included in the “Business Plan” 
section, this project would not be possible “but for” the City’s 
participation. 

 
4. Description of the development team, including details of how the 

development team meets the “Threshold Criteria” and the “Developer 
Background” criteria described above. 
 

The development team is comprised of River Vista, L.L.C., its 
consultants and construction contractor.  
 
River Vista, L.L.C. is owned by the following individuals: 

 George E. Laham, II/Acquisition Group, L.L.C. 
 David Burk/DCB, LLC 
 David Wells/Summit Holdings, LLC 
 Bill Warren/Free Market Investments, LLC 

Each of the foregoing members were a part of the group that 
negotiated a public/private partnership with the City on the 
redevelopment of Wichita’s old warehouse area now referred to as 
Wichita’s Old Town Marketplace Area.   
 
Consultants to River Vista, L.L.C. include the following: 

 Spangenberg Phillips Tice Architects 
 MKEC Engineering Consultants, Inc. 

 
The elevated parking structure and river bank improvements will be 
put out for bid per the City’s procedures.  The construction contractor 
for the balance of the site improvements and buildings will be:   

 Key Construction, Inc. 
 

The qualifications and experience of each member of the 
development team, including the consultants and construction 
contractor, are set forth below. 

 
 George E. Laham, II/Acquisition Group, L.L.C. (“Acquisition”):  

Acquisition was formed by George Laham for the purpose of owning 
and developing real estate.  Through Acquisition and other entities 
owned or managed by him, Laham has been involved in shaping 
Wichita’s energetic retail and development growth over the last 20 
years. As a native Wichitan, Laham’s commitment to the community 
can be seen in his developments of Wichita’s vibrant northeast 
corridor.  One of his early projects, Bradley Fair, created one of the 
nation’s first lifestyle centers.  Bradley Fair is the flagship of the 320 
acre Wilson Estates master-planned development, which includes 
Wilson Estates Office Park, Wilson Estates Medical Park, Legacy Park, 

287



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Hilton Garden Inn and Wilson Estates Residential.  In 2002, the Wichita 
Area Chamber of Commerce awarded Bradley Fair their Keeper of 
the Plains Award in recognition of an architectural project that 
contributes to the aesthetics of the community. 
 
Laham has been instrumental in bringing a succession of the nation’s 
foremost retail and restaurant concepts to Wichita including Ann 
Taylor, Banana Republic, Cabela’s, Chico’s, Coldwater Creek, Eddie 
Bauer, Gap, J. Jill, On The Border, Talbots, White House | Black Market, 
Williams-Sonoma and YaYa’s Eurobistro.  He has also helped cultivate 
key local retailers and restaurants, contributing to their growth and 
success. 
 
Other Laham projects include: Plazzio, a 350,000 square foot retail and 
entertainment center located at 13th and Greenwich, featuring the 
centerpiece, 20-screen Warren Theatre; Berkeley Square, a 95-acre 
master planned development at 13th and Greenwich, which will 
include 61 home sites within Waterfront Residential, a Class A office 
park, retail, and the new Scholfield Auto Plaza; and Regency Lakes, a 
400,000 square foot shopping center anchored by Super Target and 
Cabela’s. 
 

 David Burk/DCB, L.L.C.: Dave began his career as an architect in 1971 
and started his own firm, WBBA Architects in 1982. In 1987 Dave began 
development work through Marketplace Properties, L.L.C. In 1990 he 
negotiated a Public/Private partnership – Phase 1 with the City of 
Wichita for the redevelopment of Wichita’s old warehouse area now 
referred to as Wichita’s Old Town Marketplace Area; an award 
winning 33 acre, 60 historic building complex located in Wichita’s 
warehouse district. Currently Dave has been involved in the 
development of 41 of those buildings. 
 
In 2002 Dave negotiated a developer disposition agreement with the 
City of Wichita for a $20,000,000 plus development to the north of the 
current called Old Town Square. The project included a 28,000 square 
foot, 6 screen state-of-the-art Warren Theater with food and beverage 
service; a 500 stall, 2 ½ level parking structure with 14,000 square feet 
of retail, a 21,000 square foot, one level free standing entertainment 
building; a 42,000 square foot entertainment/retail/office building, 
21,000 square foot at grade with 21,000 square foot office on second 
level; a 40,000 square foot central plaza for special events and the 
renovation of Moore and Mead Streets. 
 
In 2002, after winning the City’s national RFP request, Dave negotiated 
a developer disposition agreement with the City of Wichita on 24 

288



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

acres that the City owned and is now referred to as WaterWalk. As of 
2010, Dave is no longer involved. During his involvement the following 
projects were built: Gander Mountain, the Board of Realtors building, 
and WaterWalk Place – a $20,000,000 mixed-use building including 
parking, retail, office and residential condos. 
 
Burk was instrumental in putting together the public/private 
partnership in 2011 that created Block 1: bounded by Douglas on the 
north, Topeka on the east, William on the south and Broadway on the 
west.  Block 1 contains a $25M, 117-room Ambassador Hotel in the 
historic Union National Bank Building, a public parking garage and 
urban park, a new $9M Kansas Leadership Building and a remodeled 
Henry’s building.   
 
In addition, over the past 20 years, Burk has developed 5 apartment 
projects with over 200 units in the Old Town area.  These 5 projects 
continue to have over a 95% average occupancy year after year. 
 

 David Wells/Summit Holdings, LLC (“Summit”): Summit was formed in 
December of 2002 as an investment entity held by the same five 
shareholders who own Key Construction, Inc.  Over the past eleven 
years, Summit has invested in various partnerships, including real 
estate. The real estate properties range from retail to office to 
medical.  In some instances, Summit’s investment was necessary as a 
prerequisite for Key Construction to be the general contractor.  In 
other cases, Summit was required to accept an equity position in 
order to enable Key Construction to receive final payment.   
 

 Bill Warren/Free Market Investments, LLC: Bill Warren, founder and 
President of the Warren Theatres, began his career as a ticket-taker at 
Wichita, Kansas' original Miller Theater.  At nineteen years of age in 
1968, Bill approached Pizza Hut co-founder, Frank Carney, to invest in 
a new theater concept, American Entertainment, and thus the region's 
first multi-screen theater concept was born. Warren continued in the 
theater business until 1981 when he sold all of his theater holdings and 
became an oilman.   

 
In 1988, Warren returned to the movies by introducing The Palace 
Theatres, Wichita’s first dollar cinemas.  Since that time, he has 
constructed 7 theatres with a combined 83 screens throughout Kansas 
and Oklahoma and has set a new standard for motion picture 
exhibition. The box office result of Bill Warren’s revolutionary business 
model speaks volumes. In the Wichita market, Warren Theatres takes 
over 98% of the total box office gross. The latest luxury Warren in the 
Oklahoma City metro is the top grossing theatre in Colorado, Kansas, 

289



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Missouri, Nebraska, Oklahoma, and Texas, against many theater 
complexes with higher numbers of screens. 
 
Bill Warren’s business enterprises are a major employer in Wichita with 
over 500 employees; as well as among the largest property taxpayers 
and sales tax generators in the community. Bill Warren has 
undertaken two public-private partnerships with the City of Wichita. In 
2008, the City agreed to an incentive of a ten-year loan (five year no 
interest, five year low interest) allowing the theatre to refinance debt 
and undertake facility and technology renovations. In return, the City 
retained the theatre as an Old Town anchor attraction through an 
irrevocable commitment to keep the theatre open for ten years. 
 
The second public-private partnership in 2010 provided industrial 
revenue bond financing and tax abatements allowing American 
Luxury Cinemas to expand the West 21st Street Warren Theatre to 
include a world-class IMAX auditorium, as well as general theatre 
renovations. The Wichita IMAX is a regional attraction and regularly 
among the top five grossing IMAX theatres in North America. 

 
 Spangenberg Tice Phillips Architects (“SPT”): Established in 1985 by 

Ron Spangenberg and Randy Phillips, SPT has over 27 years of 
experience in a variety of project types. Their varied experience 
includes medical, retail, corporate office, financial, civic, educational, 
religious, hospitality and entertainment facilities, as well as multi-
family and custom single family residential projects.  The firm is mid-
sized by design ensuring that partners maintain involvement in project 
design and not just firm management. At least one partner is 
personally involved with every aspect of a project, from start to finish. 

For multi-family projects, SPT integrates the fundamentals of profitable 
commercial design with elements of comfortable living to create 
efficient and engaging communities.  Creating smart working 
environments are the hallmarks of SPT’s office and banking designs. 
By efficiently allocating space, implementing new technologies and 
incorporating value-added design elements, they create cost-
effective facilities that encourage workforce productivity yet provide 
an inviting and customer-focused atmosphere. In addition to typical 
design services, SPT also offers services in interior architecture and 
design. Through their experience in space planning and specification 
of color, finish materials, lighting and furniture, they provide design 
solutions that create unique and personalized interior environments.   

 MKEC Engineering Consultants, Inc. (“MKEC”):  MKEC is a 160+ 
member, full-service engineering and land planning firm that offers a 

290



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

broad range of consulting services.  They provide feasibility and 
design services to both private and public sectors.  Their customers 
include industry, developers, city, county, state and federal 
governments, architects, other engineering firms, institutions and 
individuals.  Founded in 1982 on the principle of providing superior 
consulting services that are responsive to their client’s needs, MKEC 
has experienced steady growth in the number of clients served and 
services offered.  MKEC has assembled a talented staff of engineers, 
planners and landscape architects with an impressive breadth of 
project experience and a commitment to uncompromising quality of 
work, timely completion of projects and fairness in fees.  Based on 
their principal mission of providing clients with the best overall 
possible solutions, MKEC strives to think beyond the surface problems 
to identify and resolve underlying causes. 
 

 Key Construction, Inc.: Originating in 1978, Key Construction has 35 
years of successful construction project experience.  Often 
recognized as one of the fastest-growing contractors in the country, 
Key Construction specializes in customer satisfaction and the 
development of long-term relationships.  Their philosophies of 
customer service and on-time completion have allowed them to build 
a reputation as a proven performer within the construction industry. 
This service-based company philosophy enabled Key to build a base 
of repeat customers completing over 125 hotels, nearly 100 Walmart 
projects and over 115 Walgreen drugstores. Key doesn’t want to do 
the next project for their clients; they want to do all of them. 

 
Key Construction is licensed and has performed work in over 38 states 
nationwide.  They do not specialize in only one type of construction.  
Rather, they focus in five areas: Hospitality/Living, Retail, Commercial, 
Medical and Industrial.  This diversity increases their overall 
construction knowledge and practices while allowing company 
individuals to specialize in each area of work and maximize the 
owner’s dollar per project needs. 
 
The structure of Key Construction has not only allowed them to 
become a contractor of choice for many owners, but also a 
respected partner in lifetime relationships.  Building long-term 
relationships with regional and national firms has always been a Key 
Construction trademark. 

 
Company Strengths 

 
 Dedication to 100% customer satisfaction. 
 35 year history of completing projects on-time and within budget. 

291



 

 

 

   

PROJECT SUMMARY 

 .96 Safety Experience Modification Factor 
 Financial stability:  $225,000,000 +   bonding capacity with a Dunn 

& Bradstreet rating of 4A2 (company is debt free). 
 Highly trained and dedicated staff of construction professionals. 

 
Zurich North America Surety will support single projects for Key 
Construction in the $90,000,000 range and with an aggregate program 
in excess of $225,000,000. 

 
  Bonding Company: Zurich North America Surety 

   
   Agent:   Lockton Companies, Inc. 
      444 W. 47th St., Ste. 900 
      Kansas City, MO 64112 
 

 A letter from Key Construction’s bonding agent can be found behind 
Tab #2 – Project Summary. 

 

292



293



 

 

 

   

TAB #3 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #3 
Design  

Plan 

294



 

 

   

DESIGN PLAN 

 
The development team has designed the site to maximize the amount of mixed-
use buildings while providing ample parking for the various uses in a two phase 
project.  According to Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita prepared 
by Goody Clancy in November of 2010 (the “Report”), the demand for 
downtown housing continues to be strong.  Phase 1 is designed to meet this 
demand through the construction of apartments along the east and north side of 
the site with parking to the west.  The apartment complex will include 85 one-
bedroom units, 51 two-bedroom units, and 18 two-bedroom loft units. The units 
will be substantially larger than normal in the Wichita area with the one-
bedroom units containing approximately 960 square feet, the two-bedroom 
units containing approximately 1,130 square feet, and the two-bedroom lofts 
containing approximately 1,410 square feet. The ceiling heights in all units will 
be nine foot and each apartment will contain a high level of interior finish with 
granite counter tops, wood, carpet, and tile floors, custom cabinets and 
contemporary lighting. In addition, all apartments will have exterior wood 
decks. The four-story, contemporary-Italianate apartments all have excellent 
views – those on the North will overlook Exploration Place, the Keeper of the 
Plains and the river and those on the East will overlook the river and our 
downtown. Units will stair-step back and forth to create set views and give 
dramatic shadows both in the daylight and at night. 

 
The Report suggests, and we agree, that additional housing will support other 
mixed-use along the river.  To encourage additional development along the 
river, the proposed project will provide amenities such as boat and bike rental 
and storage and walk paths that will connect the project to other key features 
along the river, including Exploration Place, Century II, Hyatt, and Lawrence 
Dumont Stadium.  Pedestrian walk through access to the river, bike paths, 
Delano Park and McLean fountain have been provided. The apartment building 
will also include storage for rowing shells for the Wichita Rowing Association and 
the WSU rowing team, as well as a large two-story meeting/association room for 
the rowers.  We have met with Jim Schmidt, President of the Wichita Rowing 
Association, and Delinda Royse, WSU Director of Development, and they were 
both very excited about having a permanent location for their rowing shells.  The 
project provides for easy access to all of these amenities through structured 
parking for the tenants of the building, as well as 134 parking stalls for the 
general public and guests to use.  There have also been discussions with the 
City about reviewing the speed limit on McLean and providing public parking 
on both sides of the street. 

 
One amenity will be the focal point of the whole project – the infinity edge pool 
at Northeast corner of the site. The pool will be located on the second floor level 
and water will cascade down over a 12 foot stone wall to the first floor level. This 
feature will be well lit at night and be a “welcome to the west side of the river” 
feature for both day and nighttime vehicular or pedestrian traffic coming across 

295



 

 

   

DESIGN PLAN 

the First Street bridge from the east. A deck will surround the pool on 3 sides and 
will connect to a 1,200 square foot room for general use or special parties. The 
south end of the complex will feature a fully-equipped exercise room, as well as 
a wood sun deck with 270 degree views to the south. 

 
The site is currently designed to provide for two entry points off of McLean.  In 
order to allow future integration with the property to the west where the new 
library is scheduled to built, we have allowed for the flexibility to have one entry 
that will tie into the property across McLean. In our pro forma we have included 
$300,000 for design and construction of the future intersection.  

 
The second phase of the project will include a two-story, 20,000 square foot 
office/retail center with additional parking.  Because of the design and location 
of the building, we anticipate that this will be some of the most highly-sought 
after space in the downtown area.  It is our hope that the success of the 
office/retail phase will create additional demand for new office/retail space in a 
village-like atmosphere on the site to the West of the project adjacent to the 
proposed library site. 

 
While most of the recent multi-family development in the downtown area has 
involved the renovation of existing buildings, this site provides one of the first 
opportunities for a ground-up multi-family project.  This is important because it 
will set the tone for future private development and public infrastructure along 
the river.  The River Vista project was inspired by what the developers have seen 
in other thriving downtown areas, as well as the contemporary design of nearby 
Exploration Place.  The result is an innovative design that is reflective of a 
thriving, energetic downtown and which sets the tone for future development 
that will create excitement and activity along the river.   
 
The Site Plan and Perspective Drawings prepared by Spangenberg Phillips Tice 
Architecture are included behind Tab #3. 

296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



 

 

 

   

TAB #4 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #4 
Business  

Plan 

307



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

 
 

1. Market Analysis, including written description of plan to meet projections 
 

According to Project Downtown: The Master Plan for Wichita prepared 
by Goody Clancy in November of 2010 (the “Report”), there is a 
demand for approximately 1,000 housing units over the next 5 to 7 
years in the downtown Wichita area.  The Report revealed that 
“approximately 63 percent of Wichita’s existing households have one 
or two people.”  In addition, it concluded that “because the greatest 
interest in living in walkable downtown neighborhoods comes from 
one- and two-person households, and because single-family homes 
may not always meet the location and size preferences of these 
households, downtown offers important opportunity to offer housing 
options that respond to unmet demand.” 
 
Phase 1 of the proposed project includes one and two bedroom 
apartments with direct access to walk paths which connect to 
Exploration Place to the North and Century II, Hyatt, and Lawrence 
Dumont Stadium to the South and downtown to the East.  The 
proposed pricing of the units ($1,000 for a one bedroom and $1,200 for 
a two bedroom) falls within the optimum base rental rates set forth in 
the Report.  The proposed size of the units (960sf for one bedroom and 
1,130sf for two bedroom) is also within the optimum size set forth in the 
Report (800sf – 1,400sf).  These units will be ideal for one- and two-
person households and will address the demand cited in the Report.  
Structured parking for tenants of the apartments and 111 parking stalls 
for the general public and guests will be completed in Phase 1. 
 
With respect to the office market, the Report indicates that no 
multitenant Class-A office buildings have been added to the 
Downtown area for twenty years.  The Report further indicates that 
there is a need for high-quality office space with parking within easy 
walking distance of the building.  Phase 2 of the proposed project 
would include a two-to three story, 17,000-20,000sf office/retail 
building with additional parking for the general public and guests.  
 

2. Pro Forma, including written description of plan to meet projections 
 

The pro forma is included behind Tab #4.  As you can see from the pro 
forma, the total hard and soft costs for the project are expected to be 
$22,200,000. With respect to the land, we have accounted for a payment 
to the City of $100,000 with the remaining value being contributed by the 
City.  We are asking the City to bond $2,400,000 through the TIF program 
with River Vista guaranteeing any shortfall over the 20-year period.  The 

308



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

projected income is based upon rents of $1.04 per square foot for the 
one-bedroom units, $1.06 per square foot for the two-bedroom units, and 
$1.00 per square foot for a 2 bedroom/loft with a 10% vacancy.  This is 
consistent with the independent marketing study done by Jason Van 
Sickle & Company and included behind Tab #4. The projected annual 
gross income is $2,123,400 and after deducting projected expenses of 
$923,334, we are left with a Net Operating Income of $1,200,066.  The 
projected expenses should go down slightly when Phase 2 is completed, 
as some common area expenses can be shared between the two 
phases.  With the equity of $6,450,000 and bank debt of $13,000,000, our 
investors’ return is projected to be approximately 6.35%.  For an 
investment with this level of risk, a typical return would be in the lower 
teens.  Therefore, the expected return is below average for a project of 
this nature.   
 
The project will be marketed through the following means: 
 
 A website created for the project 
 We expect to get good coverage from the Eagle and Business 

Journal at the outset  
 We will pay to be in the Wichita Apartment Directory (they partner 

with 360 Wichita) 
 We will set up a referral program from existing apartment projects 

downtown so that if they are full or cannot accommodate the 
tenant’s needs they would refer them to River Vista.  This would 
include Innes Station, Lofts at Old Town Square, Mosley Street, Flats 
324 and Player Piano Lofts 

 We will have signage on the building containing phone number 
and website 

 We intend to set up an open house for the Young Professionals 
Organization 

 
3. CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model (the developer is responsible for CEDBR’s fee for 

this service)  
 

The CEDBR Fiscal Impact Model is included behind Tab #4. 
 

4. Source of capital, including: 
a. Evidence of developer equity 
b. Third party rating of financial stability of lenders 
c. Evidence of lender commitment 

 
The following documents are included behind Tab #4: 
 

309



 

 

 

   

BUSINESS PLAN 

 A letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, which 
provides evidence of Developer’s equity in the project. 

 A letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, along with 
supporting documentation, which sets forth Fidelity’s 
“Sound” third party rating of financial stability. 

 A commitment letter from Fidelity Bank dated May 2, 2013, 
setting forth their interest in the project and proposed terms 
for financing. 

 
5. Amount and purpose of public investment sought 

 
Refer to “Incentive Information” and the figures provided in the 
“Application for Development Incentives” behind Tab #1. 

 
6. Repayment plan, if the City ordinarily requires a repayment plan or 

contingent repayment plan in connection with the type of incentive at issue. 
 

River Vista, L.L.C. agrees to pay a minimum of $250,470 in property 
taxes each year for the project. Each member will personally 
guaranty 125% of their pro-rata share of the project.   

 
7. Backup repayment plan, including guarantors, if a repayment plan is 

required 
 

Not applicable 
 

310



River Vista, LLC
West Bank Apartments

Project cost Proforma

Sq Ft/ Construction No. of Monthly Annual
Number Cost Per Cost Sq Ft Units Rent Rent

Land Value 214,255    -$                  450,000$          One Bedroom Units 960         85 1,000$       1,020,000$       
Construction - Apartments 165,636    92$                    15,238,512      Two Bedroom (Loft) Units 1,450      18 1,400$       302,400            
Walkways 31,300       10$                    313,000            Two Bedroom Units 1,136      51 1,200$       734,400            
Swimming Pool/Spa 250,000            Parking 95 30$            34,200              
Decks 154 160$                  246,400            Housing 2,000$       24,000              
Elevators 3 100,800$          302,400            Boat Storage 200$          2,400                
Bridges 3 30,000$            90,000              Room Rental 500$          6,000                
Clubhouse 3,000         145$                  435,000            Total Base Rent 2,123,400$       
Boathouse/Banquet 3,000         100$                  300,000            
Boat Storage 7,000         55$                    385,000            Less:
Parking Structure/Ramp 200            5,200$               1,040,000         Vacancy 10.00% 212,340$          
Security/Leasing/FF&E/Exercise 200,000            Admin Per Unit 775$          119,350            
Boats/Bikes 50,000              Payroll Per Unit 984$          151,536            
Architect 2.50% 439,008            Repairs & Maintenance Per Unit 272$          41,888              
Engineering 100,000            Utilities & Security Per Unit 630$          97,020              
Parking/Streets 340,380            Landscape & Snow Removal Per Unit 300$          46,200              
Controlled Intersection 300,000            Taxes 205,000            
Utilities 150,000            Insurance 50,000              
Storm Sewer Relocation 104,000            
Landscape/Sprinkler 150,000            Total Expenses 923,334$          
Sidewalks 59,571              
Application Fees 19,000              Net Operating Income 1,200,066$       
Appraisal 5,000                Less:  Debt Service 790,429            
Closing 40,000              Cash Flow 409,637$          
Taxes and Insurance 20,000              
Development 512,000            
River Bank Development2 Capitalization Structure
City Reserve 200,000            
Interest During Const. 408,102            Loan Amount 13,000,000$     
Legal and Accounting 35,000              Investor Equity 6,450,000$       
Miscellaneous 17,627              Loan to Value 75.83%

Debt Coverage Ratio 1.52
Total Project Costs 22,200,000$    Interest Rate 4.50%

Amortization 30
Cash Return 6.35%

Loan Amount 13,000,000$    Cap Rate For Value 7.00%
City (TIF)1 2,400,000         Value 17,143,800$     
Investors 6,450,000         
Land Value 350,000            

Total Required 22,200,000$    

1 TIF calculation
Fees 56,813$            
Parking Structure/Ramp 1,040,000         
Parking/Streets 340,380            
Controlled Intersection 300,000            
Utilities 150,000            
Storm Sewer Relocation 104,000            
Landscape/Sprinkler 150,000            
Sidewalks 59,571              
Miscellaneous 199,236            

Total 2,400,000$      

2 STAR Bonds 2,500,000$      311



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

May 1, 2013

Effective Date:

(316) 682-2930 FAX

Marketplace Properties

Submitted to:

jvansickle@jvscompany.com

Key Construction

Wichita, KS 67202

(316) 262-2720

JVSCo

River Vista Residences

Wichita, Kansas

Jason D. Van Sickle

J. Van Sickle & Company

151 S. Rock Island, Suite 1C

Prepared by:

Project Reviewed:

Comprehensive Multifamily 

Market Rates Analysis

Proposed Downtown 

Market Rate Apartments

River Vista Residences

Wichita, Kansas

May 3, 2013

312



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

Table of Contents

Cap Rate Analysis

Comparable Properties Analysis

35-Year Occupancy Analysis

35-Year Rate Change Summary

Professional Training & Education

Consulting Experience

CONCLUSIONS, DATA & RATIONALIZATIONS

QUALIFICATIONS & ASSUMPTIONS

MARKET RATE DATA

20

3935-Year Rate Change Analysis

Comparable Properties Summary 2

Inflation Rate Analysis

46

45

10

Development Experience 11

Property Characteristics 12

Detailed Rent Roll Analysis 32

1-Bedroom Most Comparable Unit Analysis 37

2-Bedroom Most Comparable Unit Analysis 38

5-Year Detailed Market Rate Data 40

MATERIAL DISCLOSURE

7

Professional Background 8

Professional Services 9

4

Cap Rate Summary 5

Inflation Rate Summary 5

35-Year Occupancy Summary 1

14

313



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

By continuing to read this report, you are agreeing to release, indemnify, defend and hold harmless those 

who have created this report and J. Van Sickle & Company and their respective subsidiaries and 

affiliates, and any officers, directors, employees, agents, representatives, successors and assigns of 

each and any and all other persons or entities, including without limitation those providing information, 

from any and all liabilities for losses, claims, injuries, liabilities, and damages of whatever kind or nature, 

whether know or unknown, against any or all of them which may at any time arise or accrue to you or 

your heirs, successors, parents, subsidiaries, assigns, officers, directors, employees, agents or other 

persons or entities claiming by or through you, on account of the provision of such information or reliance 

on such information or on other information gathered pursuant thereto and hereto.

Material Disclosure

This report contains financial estimates regarding the future.  Those projections were developed based 

on a number of assumptions.  These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the timing and success 

of the development efforts, rates and occupancy levels, market share, local economic and employment 

conditions, general industry conditions, and other matters.  Although we believe that the assumptions 

that have been made are reasonable, they may be incomplete or incorrect, and unanticipated events and 

circumstances are likely to occur.  Our assumptions involve elements of subjective judgment, and we 

provide no guarantees as to their validity.

The projections provided in this report were not prepared with a view to public disclosure and do not 

comply with the published guidelines of the SEC or any state securities commission or the guidelines 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  The property valuations provided 

in this report were not completed by a certified appraiser and they were not developed to comply with the 

guidelines of the Appraisal Institute or any accounting standards.  It can be expected that actual results 

achieved during any future period will vary from the projections and the valuations, and the variations 

may be material and adverse.

Although we retain the right to make future revisions to this report, we are not obligated to make any 

further updates or changes.  Therefore, it is not our responsibility to track future changes to project plans, 

market conditions, or any other factors related to the material contained in this report.  The last date that 

any changes were made to this report are reflect in the Effective Date that is listed on the cover page.

The following Material Disclosure and the Indemnification and Release are in reference to the 

Comprehensive Development Plan and Financial Analysis for the Proposed Market Rate Apartments 

near Arkansas River in Downtown, Wichita, Kansas and all related research and discussions.

Statements and projections in this report and any related discussions concerning expectations regarding 

the project outlined herein are forward-looking.  As such, these statements carry no guarantee of actual 

future events.  A variety of unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors are likely to cause actual 

results to differ materially from the projections contained herein.

Indemnification and Release

314



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

CONCLUSIONS, DATA & RATIONALIZATIONS

315



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Based on a 35-year data set that has been collected by Savage Inc. through the 

Wichita Apartment Guide, a 35-year Occupancy Analysis was completed to 

determine the average occupancies in the overall Wichita market and in the 

Downtown Wichita submarket.  The analysis revealed an average multifamily 

occupancy rate in Wichita over the last 35 years of 90.6%.  The analysis of the 

Downtown Wichita multifamily housing submarket showed a 35-year average 

occupancy of 90.3%.  

It should be noted that a significant decrease in occupancy has been seen in the 

downtown area, as new supply has come into the market.  It is our opinion that the 

lower occupancies are primarily affecting the older properties.  Therefore, we would 

anticipate the proposed project to stabilize at the long-term occupancy rate of 90%.

35-Year 

Occupancy 

Summary

JVSCo

Estimated Occupancy Rate 90.4%

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

1

316



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

1-Bedroom Analysis - Data & Rationalization

Data & Rationalization

Based on the comparable properties that were surveyed, it was determined that the 

average income per square foot that is being received in Downtown Wichita for 1-

bedroom units is $1.09.  Based on this calculation, and given the 960 square foot 

size of the 1-bedroom units in the proposed project, we would estimate that the 

expected rent rate would be $1,047.  That number is purely based on an income 

per square foot comparision.

Alternatively, we analyzed the comparable properties to find the most comparable 

property in terms of 1-bedroom square footage.  The rent per square foot was then 

taken from that comparable property and applied to the square footage of the 1-

bedroom units at the proposed property.  The resulting monthly rent estimate was 

$1,195.

The final approach to determining the potential rent for the proposed 1-bedroom 

units was a detailed examination of the rent rolls from Market Place properties (the 

largest downtown apartment owner).  1-bedroom units similar in sized to the 

proposed units (i.e., 900 to 1,000 square feet) were analyzed to determine the 

average income per square foot for 1-bedroom apartments in that size range.  The 

resulting monthly rent estimate based on that approach was $957.

In order to arrive at a final estimate of potential rent, the estimates from the three 

different approaches were averaged together.  The result was an estimated 

monthly rent of $1,066.  That is the rate that we recommend be used in estimates 

of potential rents for the proposed 1-bedroom units.

Comparable 

Properties 

Market Rate 

Summary

JVSCo

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

Estimated Rent Based on Average of Above  $      1,066 

 $       1,066 

 $       1,163 

Estimated Income for 1-Bedroom Units

Estimated Income for 2-Bedroom Units

 $      1,047 

 $         957 

 $      1,195 

Estimated Rent Based on PSF Comps

Estimated Rent Based on Monthly Comp Rents

Estimated Rent Based on Detailed Rent Roll

2

317



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

2-Bedroom Analysis - Data & Rationalization

Data & Rationalization

Based on the comparable properties that were surveyed, it was determined that the 

average income per square foot that is being received in Downtown Wichita for 2-

bedroom units is $1.02.  Based on this calculation, and given the 1,130 square foot 

size of the 1-bedroom units in the proposed project, we would estimate that the 

expected rent rate would be $1,053.  That number is purely based on an income 

per square foot comparision.

Alternatively, we analyzed the comparable properties to find the most comparable 

property in terms of 2-bedroom square footage.  The rent per square foot was then 

taken from that comparable property and applied to the square footage of the 2-

bedroom units at the proposed property.  The resulting monthly rent estimate was 

$1,227.

The final approach to determining the potential rent for the proposed 2-bedroom 

units was a detailed examination of the rent rolls from Market Place properties (the 

largest downtown apartment owner).  2-bedroom units similar in sized to the 

proposed units (i.e., 1,100 to 1,200 square feet) were analyzed to determine the 

average income per square foot for 2-bedroom apartments in that size range.  The 

resulting monthly rent estimate based on that approach was $1,109.

In order to arrive at a final estimate of potential rent, the estimates from the three 

different approaches were averaged together.  The result was an estimated 

monthly rent of $1,163.  That is the rate that we recommend be used in estimates 

of potential rents for the proposed 2-bedroom units.

Comparable 

Properties 

Market Rate 

Summary 
(continued)

Estimated Rent Based on PSF Comps  $      1,153 

Estimated Rent Based on Monthly Comp Rents  $      1,227 

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

Estimated Rent Based on Detailed Rent Roll  $      1,109 

Estimated Rent Based on Average of Above  $      1,163 

JVSCo

3

318



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Based on a 35-year data set that has been collected by Savage Inc. through the 

Wichita Apartment Guide, a 35-year Rate Change Analysis was completed to 

determine the average rate at which rents tended to change for apartments in the 

Downtown Wichita submarket over the last 35-years.  The analysis revealed an 

average annual increase in rent of 3.01%.

It should be noted that these estimates were reached by limiting the analysis to the 

average of the high end of the rents reported in the Savage dataset for 1- and 2-

bedroom apartments only. The high end of the rent range was used, given the high 

quality of the proposed apartments.  Only the 1- and 2-bedroom data was used, 

given the fact that the unit mix in the proposed apartments will be limited to those 

configurations.

35-Year Rate 

Change 

Summary

The purpose of this Inflation Rate Analysis is to determine an average historical 

rate of change in interest rates.  Once established, this rate can then be used to 

estimate the pace at which the operating expenses associated with a project may 

increase in the future.  The dataset used for these calculations was the data 

reported by the Federal Reserve Bank since 1987.

1987 was chosen as the base year for inflation calculations, because that was the 

year that Alan Greenspan took over as Chairman of the Federal Reserve and 

began implementing the sophisticated price control models that remain at the heart 

of the Fed's monetary policies.  Those quantitative theories of money policy, which 

have been implemented through the interest rate and money supply controls of the 

Federal Open Market Committee, have been aimed at bringing more stability to 

price level, inflation, and the business cycle.  Therefore, inflation rates since this 

shift in Fed policy are seen as a better predictor of future inflations rates than the 

rates occurring prior to this change.

Inflation Rate 

Summary

Estimated Annual Change in Expenses 2.9%

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

Estimated Annual Change in Rents

JVSCo

3.1%

4

319



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Conclusion

Data & Rationalization

Conclusions, Data & Rationalizations

The purpose of this Cap Rate Analysis is to determine a rate for the valuation of the 

project.  The capitalization rate is the annual rate of return that an investor could 

receive on a property given a cash investment.  Capitalization Rates are inversely 

used to determine a potential sale price for a property.  By surveying the cap rates 

at which similar properties have recently sold, a potential sale price can then be 

estimated by dividing the net operating income from a project by the cap rate.

In order to estimate a capitalization rate for the proposed project, data from the 

database of Real Capital Analytics (RCA) was used.  RCA has been compiling cap 

rate data since 2000.  Over the years, their U.S. database has grown to include 

over 150,000 transactions at a dollar volume of over $2.4 trillion in closed deals.  

The multifamily data that from RCA is based on properties with a value of $10 

million or more that have been sold over the last 12 months.

Cap Rate 

Summary

JVSCo

Estimated Capitalization Rate 6.2%

5

320



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

JVSCo

QUALIFICATIONS & ASSUMPTIONS

321





 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Jason Van Sickle

Based on an innovative new approach to development that Jason has pioneered, 

JVSCo's efforts to develop apartments has expanded rapidly.  The first project 

(upscale, $20M, 216-units) broke ground on September 4, 2012 in Wichita.  Since 

then the company has started work on over $150 million in projects in 6 cities 

across 3 states.

Professional 

Background

Qualifications

JVSCo

In 2009, Jason also started working as an independent real estate consultant, with 

the formation of J. Van Sickle & Company (JVSCo).  Over the next couple of years 

he provided real estate development consulting services to dozens of clients.  In 

January 2012, JVSCo stopped accepting new clients and shifted the company's 

focus to creating a model for the development of new construction, Class A, 

market rate apartments.

In 2008, Jason was invited to become the first full-time real estate researcher for 

the Wichita State University Center for Real Estate.  In 2009, while at the 

university, Jason began work on his first apartment project.  Partnering with a local 

architect and contractor, Jason was part of a team that converted the original 

Wichita High School into a 68-unit, upscale apartment complex.  The project was 

an adaptive reuse project that utilized historic preservation tax credits.

During his time at Value Place, Jason built the company's Research and Market 

Planning department based on a number of proprietary site selection, sign rate 

estimation, capital expenditure, and general pro forma models that he developed 

for over 100 hotel projects.  In 2007, Jason left Value Place to partner in the joint-

venture of Young & Van Sickle Real Estate to purchase, remodel, and sell houses.  

He also co-founded Cedar Mills Property Management in that same year.

After graduation Jason began his career in real estate research and analysis at 

Grubb & Ellis | Martens Commercial Group, the largest commercial appraisal firm 

in Wichita.  Within a year Jason was co-authoring appraisals with the senior 

appraiser.  While working on appraisals for a start-up hotel chain called Value 

Place Hotels, Jason met the hotel's founder Jack DeBoer (founder of Residence 

Inn, Summerfield Suites, and Candlewood Suites).  Jason was soon offered a job 

as the first Market Analyst at Value Place.

Jason Van Sickle grew up in Wichita, Kansas and he was one of the first students 

in the city's International Baccalaureate (IB) program at Wichita High School East.  

He graduated from high school in 2 1/2 years and immediately began college.  He 

received a Bachelor's degree in Philosophy with a minor in Mathematics and a 

Master's degree in Quantitative Sociology (social statistics) from Wichita State 

University.

8

323



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

J. Van Sickle & Company

FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS

DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANTS

DEVELOPMENT PROFESSIONALS

JVSCo

Qualifications

As a development services company, J. Van Sickle & Company (through J. Van 

Sickle Construction) can provide projects with everything from development insight 

and guidance, to owner's representative oversight, or complete design-build 

services.  Our joint venture partnerships with established and highly respected 

architects, engineers, and contractors, allow us to provide a complete range of 

development services.  We can often find ways to make financially unfeasible 

projects possible by reducing both soft and hard costs through strategic equity 

partnerships.

As a development consultant, J. Van Sickle & Company has experience planning 

large, mixed-use, master planned developments.  We have also worked with 

developers to determine how to infill undeveloped space in partially completed 

developments.  In addition, we have worked with many individual property owners 

to determine how to best redevelop existing real estate.  Our market research, 

Highest and Best Use analyses, and comprehensive project plans, help our clients 

determine options for the development of vacant land or the redevelopment of 

existing buildings.

As a financial consultant, J. Van Sickle & Company has helped develop business 

plans, pro forma analyses, investor prospectuses, and bank financing application 

packages.  Our easy to understand reports are both comprehensive and concise.  

From simple, well written, and cross-referenced Executive Summaries to detailed 

construction estimates and 39-year Balance Sheets, our reports provide the 

financial blueprints needed to take a project from concept to completion (and 

beyond).

Professional 

Services J. Van Sickle & Company provides the highest quality real estate research and 

development services.  As a consultant, we provide a full range of research and 

analysis services to banks, investors, real estate professionals, developers, and 

property owners.  As a development partner, we can provide a full range of design-

build services through our joint venture partnerships with architects, engineers, 

contractors, and management companies.

9

324



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Most Recent Consulting Projects

125 S. Washington

Creation and implementation of a marketing plan to help sell or lease the 

property.

150 N. Main

Office Park Plaza Old Town

JVSCo

Working with the property owner to explore renovation options using Historic 

Preservation Tax Credits.

Working with the owner to find adaptive reuse options for the redevelopment of 

the property.

Consulting services that included market study research and the analysis of the 

possible conversion of the property into subsidized housing using Historic 

Preservation Tax Credits and Low Income Housing Tax Credits.

Comparable rate data research for new construction apartments.

General consulting services to help find investment partners, develop a 

renovation plan using tax credits, and coordinating the efforts of the tax credit 

consultant, the architect, and the contractor.

Qualifications

Severdale Apartments

1401 W. Maple

701 E. 2nd

Taking the property through the Part 1 and Part 2 application process for the 

National Registry of Historic Places, and working to qualify the project for Historic 

Preservation Tax Credits.

Conversion of an existing office building into full-service office suites that cater to 

small businesses wanting an affordable option for having a presence in Old 

Town and Downtown Wichita.

Creation of a Market Rate Analysis and Project Development Outline as well as a 

Comprehensive Financial Pro Forma Analysis to explore the possibility of 

converting the property to apartments.

Market research and site selection consulting services.

Market research, highest and best use analysis, and development of a master 

planned, 100-acre, mixed-use business park.

Development of a Comprehensive Pro Forma Financial Plan to renovate and 

update the apartment / hotel using Historic Preservation Tax Credits.

906 E. Waterman

Kansas Leadership Center

Venture Business Park

Commodore Hotel

507-509 S. Market & 514 S. Main

Parkstone at College Hill - Research & Analysis

Consulting 

Experience

10

325



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Most Recent Development Projects

Upscale, 216-unit apartment complex under construction at Ventures Business 

Park in Wichita, Kansas.

Finalizing the project planning for a 70-unit expansion of the Flats-324 

apartments in Downtown Wichita, Kansas.

Topeka, Kansas - Apartments

Wichita, Kansas - Apartment Expansion

Derby, Kansas - Apartments

Involved in the design phase for a nationally branded, nightly stay hotel at 

Ventures Business Park in Wichita, Kansas.

Gladstone, Missouri - Multifamily Housing

Working with the City Manager's office to develop apartments and possibly 

townhomes in Gladstone, Missouri.

Newton, Kansas - Apartments

Finalized project plan for apartments in Broken Arrow, OK.

Oklahoma City MSA - Apartments

In the process of forming partnerships with local communities, business and 

economic development organizations, architects, contractors, and engineers to 

focus on developing apartments and hotels within the Oklahoma City MSA.

Designing a large mixed-use development (retail, hospitality, office, and 

apartments) at the intersection of two highways in Shawnee, Kansas.

Wichita, Kansas - Apartments

In the Process of developing the preliminary schematic design for a 200+ unit 

apartment project in Shawnee, Kansas.

Shawnee, Kansas - Mixed-Use, Master Planned Development

Maize, Kansas - Apartments

In the Process of developing the preliminary schematic design for a 144 unit 

apartment project in Newton, Kansas.

Working with the City Manager's office to find a feasible location for a limited-

service hotel in Gladstone, Missouri.

Gladstone, Missouri - Nightly Stay Hotel

Qualifications

Development 

Experience

JVSCo

Broken Arrow, Oklahoma - Apartments

In the Process of finalizing a complete project plan for a 180-unit apartment 

project in Maize, Kansas.

In the Process of finalizing a complete project plan for a 180-unit apartment 

project in Derby, Kansas.

Wichita, Kansas - Full-Service Hotel & Restaurant

Working with a local architect and civil engineer to find a site for the development 

of apartments in Topeka, Kansas.

Shawnee, Kansas - Apartments

11

326



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

Property Characteristics

Assumptions have been made in the estimates of the rent rates for this project, 

which are based on the number of units and quality of finishes.  The assumptions 

that were made based on those factors were the result of conversations with the 

developers and the information that was provided below (by the developers), which 

defines the quality and scope of the project:

The apartment complex will include 103 one-bedroom units and 51 two-bedroom 

units. The units will be substantially larger than normal in the Wichita area with 

the one-bedrooms containing approximately 960 square feet and the two-

bedrooms containing approximately 1,130 square feet. The ceiling heights in all 

units will be nine foot and each apartment will contain a high level of interior 

finish with granite countertops, wood, carpet and tile floors, custom cabinets and 

contemporary lighting. In addition, all apartments will have exterior wood decks. 

The four-story, contemporary-Italianate apartments all have excellent views – 

those on the North will overlook Exploration Place, the Keeper of the Plains and 

the river and those on the East will overlook the river and our downtown. Units 

will stair-step back and forth to create set views and give dramatic shadows both 

in the daylight and at night.

Based on the above descriptions, the proposed apartments were assumed to 

consist of 154 upscale units that are to be located in the downtown area.

JVSCo

Assumptions

Property 

Characteristics

12

327



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

JVSCo

328



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

35-Year 

Occupancy 

Analysis

The table below is based on data collected by the Apartment Directory.  That 

primary data source was compiled by the WSU Center for Real Estate.  The master 

data from that compilation was then distilled down into the information in the 

following 35-year occupancy rate table.  The last 6 years of the supporting primary 

research from Savage Inc. is included in the Addendum to this report.

1978
1979

Occupancy
94.6%
97.3%
95.2%

1977
Quadrant
Wichita

Occupancy
96.9%

The purpose of the 35-Year Occupancy Analysis is to establish a historic 

occupancy rate.  The data below shows that the average occupancy rate over the 

last 35 years of 90.6% for the Wichita market and 90.3% for the Downtown Wichita 

submarket.

Wichita
Wichita

Average:

1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987

1994

2007

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006

1995
1996
1997
1998
1999

Wichita

1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita
Wichita

Wichita

Wichita
Wichita

89.4%
89.9%
92.0%
94.1%

85.3%
90.6%

Wichita

91.5%
85.0%
89.2%
89.0%
87.9%

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita
Wichita
Wichita

Wichita

91.9%
92.0%
94.9%

90.6%

Quadrant
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

86.1%
89.4%
91.5%
93.4%

97.3%
84.5%

91.0%
87.9%
89.4%
89.7%

91.9%

85.8%
84.5%

94.1%
90.4%

87.0%
90.4%

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

92.1%

93.9%
94.9%
87.9%

Downtown

90.3%

93.5%
81.9%
82.8%
85.5%
86.5%
93.7%

88.1%
90.8%
93.2%
91.2%
89.5%
91.0%

95.2%
95.0%
94.0%
96.9%
92.1%
93.1%

94.9%

Wichita 89.5% Downtown 90.0%

JVSCo

Date

Maximum:
Minimum:
Average:

Maximum:
Minimum:

89.7%

98.2%
71.3%

82.7%
94.0%
96.7%

Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown
Downtown

98.2%
96.7%

2012 Wichita 90.7% Downtown 73.8%

90.4%

The average occupancy 

rates in Wichita have held in 

a fairly reliable range of 

roughly 85% to 95% over the 

last 35 years.  That is 

consistent with national 

averages for multifamily 

properties.  The high in 

occupancy rates occurred in 

1978, and the low occurred in 

2003, which were trends that 

followed the national trends 

in occupancy rates.

The average occupancy 

rates in the Downtown 

Wichita submarket have also 

held to a fairly reliable range 

of roughly 85% to 95% over 

the last 35 years.  As 

mentioned, that is consistent 

with national averages for 

multifamily properties.  

However, Downtown Wichita 

has recently seen a 

significant drop in 

occupancies rates that has 

taken multifamily occupancy 

rates to 35-year lows for the 

Downtown submarket.

Average of Wichita and Downtown Wichita Rates:

2010 Wichita 91.2% Downtown 88.2%
2011 Wichita 89.1% Downtown 71.3%

2008 Wichita 92.8% Downtown 90.7%
2009

14

329





































 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Innes Station 2 2 1,360$   1905 0.71$ 20

Flats 324. 2 2 1,600$   1897 0.84$ 106

Innes Station 2 2 1,510$   1787 0.84$ 19

Innes Station 2 2 1,200$   1757 0.68$ 15

Innes Station 2 2 1,140$   1717 0.66$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 950$      1697 0.56$ 2

Innes Station 2 1 820$      1697 0.48$ 2

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1697 0.30$ 2

Innes Station 2 1 1,150$   1680 0.68$ 16

Innes Station 2 1 1,100$   1680 0.65$ 16

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1680 0.30$ 16

Innes Station 2 2 1,050$   1615 0.65$ 16

Innes Station 2 2 1,060$   1610 0.66$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1508 0.60$ 9

Old Town Square 2 1 1,560$   1480 1.05$ 15

Innes Station 2 1 1,140$   1400 0.81$ 7

Innes Station 2 1 1,025$   1400 0.73$ 7

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1400 0.36$ 7

Flats 324. 2 2 1396 -$   401

Innes Station 1 1.5 370$      1362 0.27$ 4

Flats 324. 2 2 1,025$   1356 0.76$ 121

Old Town Square 2 1 1,325$   1330 1.00$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 905$      1300 0.70$ 19

Innes Station 1 1 865$      1300 0.67$ 19

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1300 0.30$ 19

Old Town Square 2 1 1300 -$   5

Innes Station 1 1 950$      1241 0.77$ 2

Innes Station 1 1 800$      1240 0.65$ 11

Innes Station 1 1 875$      1232 0.71$ 3

Innes Station 2 1 955$      1224 0.78$ 3

Innes Station 2 1 950$      1224 0.78$ 3

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      1224 0.42$ 3

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1222 1.02$ 122

Innes Station 1 1 1,300$   1203 1.08$ 6

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

Given the unusually large size of the proposed 1-bedroom units, it was determined 

that a more detailed analysis of income per unit based on similar sized units was 

necessary.  Therefore, the Rent Rolls for the apartments owned by Marketplace 

Properties were obtained.  Marketplace Properties is the single largest owner of 

apartment building in Downtown Wichita.

Below is the list of the units owned by Market Place Properties, which has been sorted 

in decending order based on unit square footage (SF).

32

347



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Innes Station 1 1 930$      1200 0.78$ 4

Innes Station 1 1 875$      1200 0.73$ 4

Innes Station 1 1 -$       1200 -$   4

Flats 324. 1 1 1,150$   1180 0.97$ 313

Flats 324. 1 1 1,075$   1180 0.91$ 311

Flats 324. 2 2 1177 -$   102

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1173 0.33$ 7

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1172 0.81$ 101

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1160 0.78$ 1

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 202

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 302

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 322

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1130 1.03$ 2

Flats 324. 1 1 1,100$   1126 0.98$ 213

Flats 324. 1 1 1,050$   1126 0.93$ 211

Innes Station 1 1 800$      1104 0.72$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1088 0.83$ 14

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1080 1.08$ 3

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1079 0.77$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 815$      1065 0.77$ 12

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1060 0.90$ 222

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      1060 0.85$ 201

Innes Station 1 1 855$      1060 0.81$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 2 1 930$      1027 0.91$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 900$      1027 0.88$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 875$      1027 0.85$ 17

Innes Station 1 2 885$      1025 0.86$ 18

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 307

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 317

Innes Station 2 1 950$      975 0.97$ 18

Innes Station 2 1 905$      975 0.93$ 18

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      975 0.52$ 18

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   970 1.29$ 312

Old Town Square 1 1 970 -$   4

Old Town Square 1 1 1,380$   960 1.44$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 850$      936 0.91$ 5

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      927 1.02$ 111

Old Town Square 1 1 1,060$   920 1.15$ 6

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

33

348



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Old Town Square 1 1 1,050$   920 1.14$ 10

Old Town Square 1 1 1,015$   920 1.10$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 850$      920 0.92$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 840$      920 0.91$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 740$      920 0.80$ 6

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 212

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 210

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,300$   885 1.47$ 37

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,300$   885 1.47$ 57

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,250$   885 1.41$ 26

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 1,165$   885 1.32$ 25

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 -$       885 -$   47

Innes Station 1 1 905$      875 1.03$ 5

Innes Station 1 1 795$      875 0.91$ 5

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      875 0.44$ 5

Flats 324. 2 2 924$      870 1.06$ 112

Flats 324. 2 2 924$      870 1.06$ 113

Old Town Square 1 1 950$      860 1.10$ 11

Old Town Square 1 1 910$      860 1.06$ 7

Old Town Square 1 1 900$      860 1.05$ 9

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      855 0.96$ 105

Innes Station 1 1 655$      850 0.77$ 15

Innes Station 1 1 615$      850 0.72$ 15

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      850 0.46$ 15

Flats 324. 1 1 850$      843 1.01$ 118

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      828 1.09$ 120

Old Town Square 1 1 1,115$   800 1.39$ 13

Old Town Square 1 1 1,105$   800 1.38$ 14

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 750$      800 0.94$ 22

Flats 324. 1 1 845$      776 1.09$ 115

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      770 1.04$ 12

Player Piano Lofts 2 1 -$       770 -$   16

Flats 324. 1 1 880$      768 1.15$ 304

Flats 324. 1 1 875$      768 1.14$ 303

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      767 1.01$ 103

Innes Station 1 1 750$      760 0.99$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 705$      760 0.93$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 695$      760 0.91$ 8

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      756 1.19$ 203

Flats 324. 1 1 880$      756 1.16$ 204

Flats 324. 1 1 850$      756 1.12$ 321

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      745 1.11$ 109

Flats 324. 1 1 875$      744 1.18$ 320

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

34

349



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      744 1.11$ 219

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      744 1.11$ 220

Innes Station 1 1 720$      720 1.00$ 14

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 14

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 9

Innes Station 1 1 695$      720 0.97$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 695$      720 0.97$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 670$      720 0.93$ 14

Innes Station 1 1 655$      720 0.91$ 11

Innes Station 1 1 655$      720 0.91$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 700$      720 0.97$ 11

Innes Station 1 1 610$      720 0.85$ 9

Innes Station 1 1 615$      720 0.85$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 590$      720 0.82$ 13

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      720 0.54$ 9

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      720 0.54$ 12

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      720 0.54$ 11

Flats 324. 1 1 850$      710 1.20$ 323

Flats 324. 1 1 840$      710 1.18$ 301

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      707 1.10$ 208

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      705 1.17$ 205

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      705 1.17$ 207

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      690 1.20$ 217

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      690 1.20$ 218

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      690 1.20$ 305

Flats 324. 1 1 800$      690 1.16$ 319

Flats 324. 1 1 800$      690 1.16$ 108

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      690 1.09$ 107

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      690 1.09$ 117

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      688 1.09$ 104

Flats 324. 1 1 825$      684 1.21$ 215

Flats 324. 1 1 820$      684 1.20$ 308

Flats 324. 1 1 820$      684 1.20$ 316

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      682 1.17$ 15

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 750$      675 1.11$ 13

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      675 1.04$ 23

Flats 324. 1 1 700$      630 1.11$ 119

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 900$      625 1.44$ 58

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 900$      625 1.44$ 48

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      625 1.28$ 38

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

35

350



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      621 1.21$ 206

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      621 1.21$ 306

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      621 1.21$ 318

Flats 324. 1 1 621 -$   216

Flats 324. 1 1 800$      609 1.31$ 314

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      609 1.27$ 309

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      609 1.27$ 310

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      609 1.23$ 116

Flats 324. 1 1 609 -$   209

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      599 1.29$ 214

Flats 324. 1 1 775$      599 1.29$ 315

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 800$      576 1.39$ 11

Flats 324. 1 1 700$      560 1.25$ 110

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      550 1.27$ 24

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 625$      550 1.14$ 21

Flats 324. 1 1 750$      530 1.42$ 114

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      520 1.35$ 14

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      515 1.36$ 41

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      515 1.36$ 51

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 625$      515 1.21$ 31

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 750$      500 1.50$ 42

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      500 1.40$ 44

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 650$      500 1.30$ 52

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 650$      500 1.30$ 32

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 625$      500 1.25$ 54

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 600$      500 1.20$ 34

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      495 1.41$ 43

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 675$      495 1.36$ 53

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 650$      495 1.31$ 33

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 775$      455 1.70$ 46

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      455 1.54$ 36

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 700$      455 1.54$ 56

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 675$      410 1.65$ 55

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 600$      410 1.46$ 45

Player Piano Lofts 1 1 550$      410 1.34$ 35

JVSCo

Detailed 

Comparable 

Rent Roll 

Analysis

36

351



 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 307

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   978 1.28$ 317

Innes Station 2 1 950$      975 0.97$ 18

Innes Station 2 1 905$      975 0.93$ 18

Innes Station 2 1.5 510$      975 0.52$ 18

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   970 1.29$ 312

Old Town Square 1 1 970 -$   4

Old Town Square 1 1 1,380$   960 1.44$ 12

Innes Station 1 1 850$      936 0.91$ 5

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      927 1.02$ 111

Old Town Square 1 1 1,060$   920 1.15$ 6

Old Town Square 1 1 1,050$   920 1.14$ 10

Old Town Square 1 1 1,015$   920 1.10$ 8

Innes Station 1 1 850$      920 0.92$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 840$      920 0.91$ 6

Innes Station 1 1 740$      920 0.80$ 6

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 212

Flats 324. 2 2 1,050$   913 1.15$ 210

1.00$ 

sq. ft. Rent

960 $957

Average per Square Foot Rent for 1-Bdrm Apts

1-Bedroom 

Most 

Comparable 

Unit Analysis

JVSCo

In order to determine a per square foot rate based on units that are presently rented 

and similar in size and type, the rents for 1-bedroom units between 900 and 1,000 

square feet were isolated.  That data set was then adjusted to exclude unit 4 at Old 

Town Square because the unit was vacant at the time the rent roll was run by the 

management company.  Unit 12 at Old Town Square was also excluded from the 

analysis, because the management verified that the unit was at a high rate due to it 

being on a month-to-month lease.

The table below shows the 1-bedroom apartments within the range of 900 to 1,000 

square feet in size.  The average per square foot is shown below, along with the 

estimated rent for the proposed 1-bedroom units, based on that estimated per square 

foot rate.

Estimated Rent at the Proposed Property

37

352



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Property Beds Baths Rent SF $ / SF Unit #

Flats 324. 1 1 1,150$   1180 0.97$ 313

Flats 324. 1 1 1,075$   1180 0.91$ 311

Flats 324. 2 2 1177 -$   102

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1173 0.33$ 7

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1172 0.81$ 101

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1160 0.78$ 1

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 202

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 302

Flats 324. 2 2 1,250$   1152 1.09$ 322

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Innes Station 1 1.5 388$      1150 0.34$ 20

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1130 1.03$ 2

Flats 324. 1 1 1,100$   1126 0.98$ 213

Flats 324. 1 1 1,050$   1126 0.93$ 211

Innes Station 1 1 800$      1104 0.72$ 10

Innes Station 1 1 900$      1088 0.83$ 14

Old Town Square 1 1 1,165$   1080 1.08$ 3

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1079 0.77$ 13

Innes Station 1 1 815$      1065 0.77$ 12

Flats 324. 1 1 950$      1060 0.90$ 222

Flats 324. 1 1 900$      1060 0.85$ 201

Innes Station 1 1 855$      1060 0.81$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 1 1 835$      1060 0.79$ 1

Innes Station 2 1 930$      1027 0.91$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 900$      1027 0.88$ 17

Innes Station 2 1 875$      1027 0.85$ 17

Innes Station 1 2 885$      1025 0.86$ 18

0.98$ 

sq. ft. Rent

Proposed Property 1,130 $1,109

As shown in the table below, the average income per square foot for 1-bedroom units 

in the comparable property set is $1.06 per square foot.  The average rent rate for a 2-

bedroom unit on a square foot basis is $0.96.

JVSCo

The site for the proposed apartment development is in Downtown Wichita.  The 

following section presents rent rate data for comparable properties (comps) in 

Downtown Wichita.  The data was obtained through online published rates, phone 

surveys, and rent rolls.  The set includes a total of 9 comparable properties.  Below is 

a table summarizing the data.

Average per Square Foot Rent for 2-Bdrm Apts

2-Bedroom 

Most 

Comparable 

Unit Analysis

38

353



 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Estimated Annual Change in Rents

1985

1984

1983

1982

1981

1980

1979

1978

JVSCo

The following table shows the average of the high end of the rents reported for 1- 

and 2-bedroom apartments. The high end of the range was used, given the quality 

of the proposed apartments.  Only the 1- and 2-bedroom data was used, given the 

fact that the unit mix in the proposed apartments will be limited to those 

configurations.  The data shows an average annual growth in rents of 3.01%.

Year Market Rent Change

35-Year Rate 

Change 

Analysis

8.58%

Downtown $325 9.08%

Downtown $298

9.55%

Downtown $378

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

1998

1997

1996

1995

2006

2002

2001

2000

1999

2005

2004

2003

1994

1993

1992

1991

1990

1989

1988

1987

1986

6.19%

Downtown $356

5.74%

Downtown $403 -0.62%

Downtown $405

-3.31%

Downtown $383 4.93%

Downtown $365

0.00%

Downtown $424 4.95%

Downtown $404

0.25%

Downtown $404 0.12%

Downtown $404

3.03%

Downtown $448 -5.78%

Downtown $476

0.12%

Downtown $462 8.72%

Downtown $425

5.82%

Downtown $486 0.73%

Downtown $482

4.02%

Downtown $456 -2.25%

Downtown $466

24.47%

Downtown $495

4.33%

Downtown $511 0.89%

Downtown $507

3.05%

30.62%

Downtown $696 1.98%

Downtown $683

Average

Downtown $818 17.53%

Downtown $751 -8.25%

Downtown $728 -3.06%

The table below is based on data collected by the Apartment Directory.  That 

primary data source was compiled by the WSU Center for Real Estate.  The master 

data from that compilation was then distilled down into the information in the 

following 35-year occupancy rate table.  The last 6 years of the supporting primary 

research from Savage Inc. is included in the Addendum to this report.

Downtown $771 5.91%

2012 Downtown $690 -10.51%

3.05%

7.96%

Downtown $523 -20.59%

Downtown $658

0.57%

Downtown $610 -1.53%

Downtown $619

-3.23%

Downtown $616

39

354













 J. Van Sickle & Company
 Comprehensive / Concise

 Business Analytics

MARKET RATE DATA

Estimated Annual Change in Expenses Based on Inflation

2.30% 1.70% 1.66% 1.41% 1.69%

JVSCo

The table below shows the monthly and annual rates of inflation since 1987.  1987 

was chosen as the base year for inflation calculations, because that was the year 

that Alan Greenspan took over as Chairman of the Federal Reserve and began 

implementing the sophisticated price control models that remain at the heart of the 

Fed's monetary policies.  Those quantitative theory of money policies, which have 

been implemented through the interest rate and money supply controls of the 

Federal Open Market Committee, have been aimed at bringing more stability to 

price level, inflation, and the business cycle.  Therefore, inflation rates since this 

shift in Fed policy are seen as a better predictor of future inflations rates than the 

rates occurring prior to this change.

Apr May Jun

2.07%1.99% 2.16% 1.76% 1.74%

The purpose of this Inflation Rate Analysis is to determine an average historical rate 

of change in interest rates.  Once established, this rate is used to estimate the pace 

at which the operating expenses associated with this project will likely increase in 

the future.  In order to calculate this rate, the average of the monthly inflation rates 

was first calculate, and then an average of the annual inflation rates was 

determined.

2012 2.93% 2.87% 2.65%

Nov Dec Ann

Inflation Rate 

Analysis

1.64%

2.96% 3.16%

2010 2.63% 2.14% 2.31% 2.24% 2.02% 1.05% 1.24%

3.56% 3.63% 3.77% 3.87% 3.53% 3.39%2011 1.63% 2.11% 2.68% 3.16% 3.57%

0.24% -0.38% -0.74% -1.28%

1.15% 1.14% 1.17% 1.14% 1.50%

5.37% 4.94% 3.66% 1.07% 0.09% 3.85%

2.72% -0.34%

2008 4.28% 4.03% 3.98% 3.94% 4.18% 5.02% 5.60%

-1.43% -2.10% -1.48% -1.29% -0.18% 1.84%2009 0.03%

3.24%

4.08% 2.85%

2006 3.99% 3.60% 3.36% 3.55% 4.17% 4.32% 4.15%

2.69% 2.36% 1.97% 2.76% 3.54% 4.31%2007 2.08% 2.42% 2.78% 2.57% 2.69%

3.01% 3.15% 3.51% 2.80%

3.82% 2.06% 1.31% 1.97% 2.54%

2.65% 2.54% 3.19% 3.52% 3.26% 2.68%

3.42% 3.39%

2004 1.93% 1.69% 1.74% 2.29% 3.05% 3.27% 2.99%

2.53% 3.17% 3.64% 4.69% 4.35% 3.46%2005 2.97%

1.59%

1.88% 2.27%

2002 1.14% 1.14% 1.48% 1.64% 1.18% 1.07% 1.46%

2.11% 2.11% 2.16% 2.32% 2.04% 1.77%2003 2.60% 2.98% 3.02% 2.22% 2.06%

3.53% 2.92% 3.27% 3.62%

1.80% 1.51% 2.03% 2.20% 2.38%

3.41% 3.45% 3.45% 3.45% 3.39% 3.38%

1.55% 2.83%

2000 2.74% 3.22% 3.76% 3.07% 3.19% 3.73% 3.66%

3.25% 2.72% 2.72% 2.65% 2.13% 1.90%2001 3.73%

1998 1.57% 1.44% 1.37% 1.44% 1.69% 1.68% 1.68%

1.96% 2.14%1999 1.67% 1.61% 1.73% 2.28% 2.09%

1.55% 1.61% 1.55%

2.68% 2.19%2.26% 2.63% 2.56% 2.62%

3.26% 3.32% 2.93%

1.70% 2.34%

1996 2.73% 2.65% 2.84% 2.90% 2.89% 2.75% 2.95%

2.30% 2.23% 2.23% 2.15% 2.08% 1.83%1997 3.04% 3.03% 2.76% 2.50%

2.67% 2.67% 2.61%

2.54% 2.81%

1994 2.52% 2.52% 2.51% 2.36% 2.29% 2.49% 2.77%

3.04% 2.76% 2.62% 2.54% 2.81% 2.61%1995 2.80% 2.86% 2.85% 3.05%

3.05% 2.90% 3.03%

2.75% 2.96%

1992 2.60% 2.82% 3.19% 3.18% 3.02% 3.09% 3.16%

3.00% 2.78% 2.77% 2.69% 2.75% 2.68%1993 3.26% 3.25% 3.09% 3.23%

1987 1.46% 2.10% 3.03% 3.78% 3.86% 4.43% 3.66%

3.06% 4.25%

4.42% 4.08%

4.65% 4.83%

6.11% 5.39%

4.70% 4.45% 3.80% 3.39% 2.92% 2.99%1991 5.65%

3.65% 3.93%

4.02% 4.17% 4.25% 4.25%3.96% 4.13%

4.28% 4.36% 4.53% 4.53%

5.12% 5.36% 5.17% 4.98%

1988 4.05% 3.94% 3.93% 3.90% 3.89%

2.89%

JulyYear Jan Feb Mar Aug

1989 4.67% 4.83% 4.98%

6.29% 6.27%4.67% 4.82% 5.62% 6.16%

4.71% 4.34% 4.49% 4.66%

4.36%1990 5.20% 5.26% 5.23% 4.71%

Sept Oct

5.31% 4.90% 4.89% 4.95%

3.15% 2.99% 3.20%

3.22%

2.90% 2.96% 2.61%

3.19%

2.88% 3.00% 2.99%

2.23%

1.62% 1.49% 1.49%

#REF!2013 1.59% 1.98%

45

360





DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

PROJECT SUMMARY (no multipliers, no substitution)
  Company Name
  
  Number of new jobs for 10-year period
  Amount of payroll for 10-year period
  Amount of capital investment for 10-year period
      Land
      Buildings
      Machinery and Equipment

INCENTIVE SUMMARY
City Incentives - Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

County Incentives - Sedgwick
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

  State Incentives
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

School District Incentives - 259 Wichita
    Tax abatement
    Sales tax exemption
    Forgivable loans
    Training dollars
    Infrastructure
    Cash value all other incentives

0
0
0
0

0

1,108,297
1,108,297

0

1,105,777
1,105,777

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0

1,513,526
1,513,526

1,664,323
1,664,323

0
0

3
$2,235,456

$25,529,420
$4,285,100

$20,994,320
$250,000

11:26 AM
Draft

River Vista, LLC

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 1 of 5

362



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

TAX ABATEMENT PARAMETERS
  Real Property
      Number of years
      Percentage
  Personal Property
      Number of years
      Percentage

CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS
    Jobs Multiplier
    Earnings Multiplier

    Direct jobs
    Direct payroll earnings

    Total jobs
    Total payroll earnings

SUBSTITUTION 
  Firm NAICS code
  Substitution percentage applied to firm operations

FIRM MULTIPLIERS (On-going Operations)
  Jobs
  Earnings

ECONOMIC IMPACT OF FIRM OPERATIONS
  Number of jobs 10-year period
    Direct
    Total

  Payroll earnings for 10-year period
    Direct
    Total $0

-                                                                                            
-                                                                                            

$0

1.3204
1.6943

435                                                                                            
$18,372,033

531000 Real estate
100.0%

1.789
1.6764

243                                                                                            
$10,959,218

100.0%

0
0.0%

11:26 AM
Draft

10

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

Page 2 of 5

363



DATE OF ANALYSIS
TIME OF ANALYSIS
VERSION OF ANALYSIS

FISCAL IMPACT
City Fiscal Impacts. - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $116,430
        Public costs 10-year period $1,380,120
        ROI 8.4%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,496,550
       Public costs 10-year period $1,380,120
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.08

City Fiscal Impacts General Fund - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $58,215
        Public costs 10-year period $873,616
        ROI 6.7%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $931,831
       Public costs 10-year period $873,616
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.07

City Fiscal Impacts Debt Service - Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $58,215
        Public costs 10-year period $506,504
        ROI 11.5%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $564,719
       Public costs 10-year period $506,504
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.11

County Fiscal Impacts. - Sedgwick Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $57,134
        Public costs 10-year period $1,255,073
        ROI 4.6%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $1,312,207
       Public costs 10-year period $1,255,073
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.05                                        

$116,430

$57,134

$58,215

$58,215

(316) 978-3225

5/2/2013
11:26 AM

Draft

Center for Economic Development and Business Research
Wichita State University

1845 Fairmount St.
Wichita, Kansas 67260-0121

Page 3 of 5

364



  State Fiscal Impacts Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $2,018,459
        Public costs 10-year period $916,952
        ROI 220.1%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $2,935,411
       Public costs 10-year period $916,952
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 3.20                                        

School District Fiscal Impacts. - 259 Wichita Discounted
    Present value of net benefits
    Rate of Return on Investment
        Net public benefits 10-year period $0
        Public costs 10-year period $919,042
        ROI 0.0%
    Benefit-Cost Ratio
       Public benefits 10-year period $919,042
       Public costs 10-year period $919,042
       Benefit-Cost Ratio 1.00                                        

$2,018,459

$0

Page 4 of 5

365



In the preparation of this report, the Center for Economic Development and Business Research assumed that 
all information and data provided by the applicant or others is accurate and reliable.  CEDBR did not take 
extraordinary steps to verify or audit such information, but relied on such information and data as provided 
for purposes of the project.

This analysis requires CEDBR to make predictive forecasts, estimates and/or projections (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS”).  These FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS are based on information and data provided by others and involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that are difficult to predict.  The FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS should not be considered 
as guarantees or assurances that a certain level of performance will be achieved or that certain events will 
occur.  While CEDBR believes that all FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS it provides are reasonable 
based on the information and data available at the time of writing, actual outcomes and results are dependent 
on a variety of factors and may differ materially from what is expressed or forecast.  CEDBR does not assume 
any responsibility for any and all decisions made or actions taken based upon the FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS provided by CEDBR.

Page 5 of 5

366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



 

 

 

   

TAB #5 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Tab #5 
Developer 

Background 

378



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

 
1. Projected or existing financial statements (three years) and Dun & Bradstreet 

Financial Stress Score or other third party financial stability rating for: 
a. Developer, development entity, and key project partners, as 

applicable 
b. Guarantors (if different) 
c. If desired, financial statements may be submitted separately to a 

designated third party for analysis and summary report to the City. 
 

Financial statements will be furnished directly to Springsted. 
 

2. History/ownership/legal structure of the business, including: 
a. Certificate of Good Standing from the Secretary of State 
b. Tax Clearance Certificate from the Department of Revenue 

 
Both documents are included behind Tab #5. 
 

3. Experience of the development team, including: 
a. Experience with similar projects  
b. Number of projects completed by the development team 
c. Past project experience with the City of Wichita 
d. References, especially from other municipal partners 

 
George E. Laham, II 

 
George has been in the real estate development business for over 
20 years.  During that time he has been involved in the 
development of approximately 1,500 acres of ground, including 
many mixed use developments such as the Wilson Estates master 
planned community, Berkeley Square master planned community 
and Cornerstone master planned community – all of which include 
residential and office/retail uses.  As described behind Tab #2, 
George was part of the group that negotiated a public/private 
partnership with the City of Wichita on the redevelopment of 
Wichita’s old warehouse area now referred to as Wichita’s Old 
Town Marketplace Area. 
 
References: 
 Ben Lawrence, Mayor of Andover (316) 640-3440 
 Bob Layton, Wichita City Manager (316) 268-4351 
 Tom Devlin, Devlin Enterprises (316) 634-1800 
 Nestor Weigand, JP Weigand & Sons (316) 262-6400 
 David Elkouri, Halcon Resources Corporation (832) 538-0514 
 Dave Unruh, Sedgwick County Commissioner (316) 660-9300 
 Jeff Longwell, Wichita City Council Member (316) 268-4331 

379



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

 Pete Meitzner, Wichita City Council Member (316) 268-4331 
 
David Burk 
 

David Burk’s focus is critical mass, mixed-use, public/private 
partnerships. He has participated in numerous partnerships with the 
City of Wichita.  His experience in these types of projects and his 
partnerships with the City of Wichita are described in more detail 
behind Tab #2. 
 
References: 
 Jack DeBoer (316) 631-1300 
 Phil Perry (402) 429-6230 
 Paul Coury (918) 556-8215 

 
 David Wells 
 

David Wells has been involved in numerous public projects -- both 
as a contractor through his ownership in Key Construction, Inc. and 
as a member of the development team through his ownership in 
Summit Holdings, LLC.  Most recently, Wells was a part of the 
development team that created Block 1 in the City of Wichita, 
which contains the $25M, 117-room Ambassador Hotel in the 
historic Union National Bank Building, a public parking garage and 
urban park, a new $9M Kansas Leadership Building and a 
remodeled Henry’s building. 
 
References: 
 Mayor Carl Brewer (316) 268-4331 
 District Attorney Marc Bennett (316) 660-3600 
 Sherriff Jeff Easter (316) 660-3900 
 City Councilman Jeff Longwell (316) 268-4331 
 County Commissioner Tim Norton (316) 660-9300 
 County Commissioner Dave Unruh (316) 660-9300 
 Jack Roberts – Intrust Bank (316) 383-1468 
 Eric Benson – City of Enid, OK (580) 747-5666 
 Lynn Burrow – City of Glenpool, OK (918) 322-5409 

 
Bill Warren 
 

Since 1988, Bill Warren has constructed 7 theatres with a combined 
83 screens throughout Kansas and Oklahoma, including 5 theatres 
with a combined 58 screens in Wichita.  Warren’s business 
enterprises are a major employer in Wichita with over 500 
employees; as well as among the largest property taxpayers and 

380



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

sales tax generators in the community.  As explained behind Tab 
#2, Warren has been involved in two public-private partnerships 
with the City of Wichita. 
 
References: 
 Sam Brownback, Kansas Governor (785) 296-3232 
 Mike Pompeo, 4th District U. S. Congressman, (316) 262-8992 
 Jeff Easter, Sedgwick County Sheriff (316) 660-3900 
 Marvin Autrey, Midwest Corporate FBO, Jabara Airport (316) 

636-9700 
 Dave Murfin, Murfin Oil (316) 267-3241 
 Frank Carney, retired Founder Pizza Hut – Phone number 

provided only upon request and assurance of confidentiality 
 Jerry Aaron, retired Senior Vice President/Counsel, Lone Star 

Steakhouse – Phone number provided only upon request and 
assurance of confidentiality 
 

Key Construction, Inc.  
 

A list of similar projects Key Construction has built can be found 
behind Tab #5 – Developer Background. Key has participated in 
numerous projects delivered through the public-private 
partnership method. Some of those include: 

o Ambassador Hotel 
o Old Town Square 
o WaterWalk Place 
o Eaton Place 
o Gander Mountain 

 
Key Construction has completed over 100 projects with Dave Burk 
over the past 35 years. Five public/private partnerships in which 
Key Construction and Dave Burk were both involved is 
Ambassador Hotel, WaterWalk Place, Old Town, Old Town Square 
and Eaton Hotel. 
 
Key has a wonderful working relationship with the City of Wichita 
and has completed the following City projects: 

o Block One Parking Garage 
o Old Town Square Parking Garage 
o City Hall Security and Landscape Improvements 
o Wichita WaterWalk Phase 1A 
o City Arts 
o Fire Station #19 
o Alford Branch Library 
o Fire Station #12 

381



 

 

   

DEVELOPER BACKGROUND 

o Fairmount and Osage Water Parks 
o 505/507 Buildings 
o State Office Building 
o Vest Pocket Park 

 
References 

o Carl Brewer, Mayor (316) 268-4331 
o Jerry Jones, Slawson Companies (316) 263-3201 

 
4. Banking references, including: 

a. Credit history reports, including past credit defaults 
b. Letters of good standing from previous lenders 

 
Credit history reports will be submitted to Springsted. 
 
Banking reference letters for the following individuals are included 
behind Tab #5: 

 
 George E. Laham, II 
 David Burk 
 David Wells 
 Bill Warren 
 

5. Applicant Disclosure Questionnaire for: 
a. Developer, development entity, and key project partners, as 

applicable 
b. Guarantors (if different) 

 
Applicant Disclosure Questionnaires for the following are included 
behind Tab #5: 
 

 River Vista, L.L.C. 
 Acquisition Group, L.L.C./George E. Laham, II 
 DCB, L.L.C./David Burk 
 Summit Holdings, L.L.C./David Wells 
 Free Market Investments, LLC/Bill Warren  

 

382



383







386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397









401



402



         Agenda Item No. IV-4 
       
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

 August 6, 2013 
    
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  Affordable Airfares Funding Agreement with Sedgwick County 
 
INITIATED BY: Urban Development Office  
 
AGENDA:  New Business 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the agreement. 
 
Background:  Since 2002, the City of Wichita and later Sedgwick County entered into annual revenue 
guarantee agreements with AirTran Airways, and in 2007 with Frontier Airlines.  This affordable airfares 
program has resulted in over $500 million in cost savings to businesses and individuals flying in and out 
of Wichita Mid-Continent Airport.   
 
In 2012, AirTran was acquired by Southwest Airlines.  In June 2013, AirTran ceased operations at Mid-
Continent Airport and Southwest began operating daily flights from Wichita to Dallas, Chicago and Las 
Vegas, pursuant to an affordable airfares revenue agreement with Sedgwick County. 
 
Starting in 2006, the State of Kansas has provided up to $5,000,000 per year in state funding to support 
affordable airfares in Kansas.  The state funding requires a local match, which has been jointly funded by 
the City and Sedgwick County. State funding has been provided to Sedgwick County to defray most of 
the cost of the revenue guarantees for the state fiscal year that began July 1, 2013.  As in past years, the 
local match will be provided under the terms of the attached Transportation Services Agreement between 
the City and Sedgwick County. 
 
Analysis:  On July 10, 2013, the Sedgwick County Board of County Commissioners approved a new 
contract with Southwest Airlines for air service to Dallas, Chicago, and Las Vegas with a revenue 
guarantee capped at $6.5 million for the period from July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014.  The revenue 
guarantee is based on stated costs of operating Boeing 737 jet service between Wichita and the three 
destinations, plus five percent. The County's commitment is to pay Southwest the difference between 
these cost calculations and Southwest's customer revenue for these flights. Whenever Southwest collects 
revenue in amounts greater than costs, the excess revenue is used to defray County revenue guarantees in 
subsequent reporting periods. The agreement also provides that Southwest can add service to other cities, 
and apply the County's revenue guarantee to those flights.   
 
The state funding of $4.75 million leaves $1.75 million to be provided from local sources. The proposed 
agreement between the City and County will provide up to $875,000 of City funding to offset half of the 
County's contractual obligation not funded by the state. The proposed agreement between Wichita and 
Sedgwick County is the same form as an agreement entered into one year ago.  
 
Financial Considerations:  The total cost of providing revenue guaranty payments under the Southwest 
contract is $6,500,000.  Funding sources include the State of Kansas for $4,750,000 and the City and 

403



Sedgwick County Air Service Agreement 
August 6, 2013 
Page 2 
 
Sedgwick County for $875,000 each.  Funding for the City’s share of costs under the 2013-2014 
transportation service agreement with Sedgwick County will come from funds appropriated for that 
purpose in the Economic Development Fund.     
 
Legal Considerations:  The attached funding agreement between the City and County has been approved 
as to form by the Law Department. 
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the agreement and 
authorize the necessary signatures, and authorize any necessary budget adjustments. 
  
Attachments:  Transportation Service Agreement between the Sedgwick County and the City of Wichita; 
Transportation Service Agreement between the Sedgwick County and Southwest Airlines. 
 

404



405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



1 
 

                  Agenda Item No. IV-5 
       

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

 August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Hearing, Request for Resolution of Support for Application for Housing 

Tax Credits; Market and Main Apartments (District I) 
 
INITIATED BY: Housing and Community Services Department 
 
AGENDA:  New Business 
 
 
Recommendation:  Close the public hearing, adopt the resolution, approve the issuance of a letter of 
intent, and approve the application for a sales tax exemption certificate. 
 
Background:  The Housing Tax Credit Program is administered by the Kansas Housing Resources 
Corporation.  Enacted in the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the Housing Tax Credit Program is designed to 
secure private equity capital for the development of affordable rental housing.  The Program can provide 
as much as 55%-60% of the total development cost, which reduces the amount of debt financing in 
affordable rental housing developments.  This allows lower rents and greater affordability.  The State 
receives a tax credit allocation from the Federal government, and requires developers/owners to obtain a 
resolution of support from the local government, when submitting applications for financing through the 
program. 
 
The City has received a request from Jason Swords of Pioneer Sunflower Development Company, for a 
City Council resolution of support for its application for 4% Housing Tax Credits in connection with the 
acquisition and renovation of three existing apartment buildings in the downtown area.  The developer is 
also requesting a letter of intent to issue industrial revenue bonds (IRBs) in an amount not to exceed 
$2,750,000.   
 
Under the City’s adopted Housing Tax Credit (HTC) Policy, developers/owners must present proposed 
Housing Tax Credit projects to the applicable District Advisory Board (DAB).  The policy also requires a 
review by the City’s Development Coordinating Committee (DCC).  The Planning Department and the 
Metropolitan Area Building and Construction Department (MABCD) also review the project for zoning 
and design appropriateness and provide comment regarding consistency with neighborhood plans, if 
applicable.  Once the project is reviewed by the DAB, DCC, Planning and MABCD, it is forwarded to the 
City Council for a public hearing, with a staff recommendation regarding the resolution of support for the 
Housing Tax Credit application. 
  
Analysis:  The project site includes three existing apartment buildings located at 507 and 509 S. Market, 
and 514 S. Main, and a surface parking lot immediately south of 521 S. Market.  According to the 
documentation submitted in connection with the request, a full renovation is planned, in order to provide 
for 52 apartments, including 16 studio units and 36 one-bedroom units, in a manner that will maintain the 
historic character of the buildings. Each apartment will feature new individual heating and air 
conditioning systems, individual water heaters, and kitchen appliances.  Washing machines and dryers 
will be included in Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) units, which will be located on the first floor 
of the 507 and 509 S. Market buildings.  A common laundry facility will be provided in the basement of 
each building.  The development will offer parking for the residents, with an updated entrance into the 
apartment units.  
 

416



2 
 

Monthly rent amounts are expected to be $525 per month for the studio units and $585 per month for the 
one-bedroom units.  The City's HTC Policy requires a set-aside of 20% of the units for market-rate 
tenants.  The developer is requesting waiver of this requirement, because a requirement for market rate 
units will create a financial burden on the project to the extent that it would not be feasible.  The City’s 
Housing Tax Credit Policy includes a provision for a waiver of the market-rate unit requirement if 
extenuating circumstances exist, or if market conditions support a deviation from the guideline.  The 
developer has indicated that a requirement for market-rate units would require additional long-term debt 
financing that cannot be supported with additional revenue.  Further, a potential buyer of the housing tax 
credits performed a preliminary underwriting analysis, and has indicated that market rate units in this 
particular development would not be competitive in the market place, and would create operating risk to 
investment partners. 
 
The Planning Department has expressed support for the project following a preliminary review.  Planning 
staff confirmed that the project site falls within the Main Street and Commerce Street Arts Districts of the 
Project Downtown Master Plan, which has been adopted as an element of the Wichita-Sedgwick County 
Comprehensive Plan.  Planning staff indicated that the Project Downtown Master Plan identifies housing 
as Downtown’s most significant market-driven development opportunity.  Further, Planning staff 
confirmed that the current and proposed land use is consistent with the zoning designation for the site. 
 
The MABCD also reviewed the project and noted that on-site parking is not required, as the site is located 
within the Central Business District.  Apartment units would not be required to meet construction design 
standards of the Fair Housing Act, but the common use elements within the building, including the 
common laundry rooms in the basement of each building, would be required to meet the 2010 Standards 
for Accessibility. 
 
The Development Coordinating Committee voted to recommend adoption of the resolution of support.  
DAB I voted (5-3) against a recommendation for adoption of the resolution of support, citing concerns 
expressed by neighboring residents and business owners regarding the type of development and also, 
parking.  

The developer met with members of the Waterwalk Condominium Association on July 18, in order to 
answer additional questions regarding the development and address concerns of neighboring residents.  A 
representative of the Wichita Downtown Development Corporation (WDDC) was present and noted the 
availability of over 1,000 parking spaces within a three block area of the project site.  The developer also 
provided additional information relative to tenant selection, project scope, management, and long-term 
intent with respect to ownership.   

Housing and Community Services believes that the proposed project will improve the existing site and 
buildings involved, and will provide safe, clean affordable rental housing.  Staff recommends adoption of 
the resolution of support by the City Council, with waiver of the 20% market rate unit requirement. 

The resolution of support will not constitute final plan or design approval.  If the project is awarded 
Housing Tax Credits, the project developer must comply with all requirements associated with 
appropriate plan reviews required for issuance of a City building permit.  These reviews will include 
compliance with the City of Wichita’s Housing Tax Credit Policy design guidelines.  Further, the 
developer must comply with any additional reviews that may be requested by the City Council member in 
whose district the proposed project is planned. 

Under federal law, a developer must use tax-exempt bonds to finance multi-family housing projects in 
order to qualify for 4% housing tax credits.  The City’s economic development incentive policy allows 
the issuance of IRBs for this purpose, provided that the property shall not receive property tax 
abatements, and provided that the cost of rehabilitation will be a minimum of 20% of the acquisition cost.  
Property purchased with bond proceeds, such as construction materials and furnishings, is eligible for 
sales tax exemption with the authorization of the City Council.  The developer has agreed to comply with 
the City’s letter of intent conditions for the issuance of the IRBs. 
 

417



3 
 

Vetting of the developer was conducted by Office of Urban Development staff.  There were no 
outstanding issues noted. 
 
Financial Considerations:  The total project cost is estimated to be $5,412,700, including approximately 
$3,535,000 in rehabilitation/construction-related expenses.  The developer intends to finance the project 
utilizing funding from the sale of 4% housing tax credits, historic tax credits, and debt financing.  The 4% 
housing tax credits do not involve a competitive application process but require the issuance of tax-
exempt qualified residential housing bonds for the debt-financed portion of the project, which is estimated 
to be $2,750,000 for this project.  The developer agrees to pay all of the City’s costs associated with the 
issuance of the IRBs and to pay the City’s $2,500 annual administrative service fee. 

Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed the resolution document and approved it as to 
form.  The law firm of Gilmore & Bell, PC will serve as bond counsel in the transaction.  The Law 
Department will review and approve the form of all bond documents prior to the issuance of any bonds. 
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council close the public hearing, adopt the 
resolution of support for the application for Housing Tax Credits, subject to all local building and zoning 
ordinances and any additional design review requirements, with waiver of the 20% market-rate unit 
requirement.  It is further recommended that the City Council approve the issuance of a letter of intent to 
issue industrial revenue bonds in the amount not-to-exceed $2,750,000, approve the application for a sales 
tax exemption certificate, and authorize the necessary signatures.  

Attachments:  Resolution document. 

418



RESOLUTION NO. 13-333 
 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING SUPPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS. 
  

WHEREAS, the City of Wichita, Kansas has been informed by Pioneer 
Sunflower Development Company, that a housing tax credit application will be 
filed with the Kansas Housing Resources Corporation for the development of 
affordable rental housing to be located on a site described in the records of 
Sedgwick County, Kansas, as follows: 

 
Lots 97, 99 and 103, Market Street, and the South ½ of lot 98 and all of lot 

100, Main Street, in Greiffenstein’s third Addition to the City of Wichita, 
Sedgwick County, Kansas 
 
 WHEREAS, this housing development will include a total of 52 Housing Tax 
Credit-assisted apartment units, comprised of studio apartment units and one-bedroom 
apartment units, within three individual buildings, with amenities to include common 
area laundry rooms.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS: 
 
 That the Governing Body of the City of Wichita, Kansas supports and approves 
the development of the aforesaid housing in our community, subject to city ordinances 
and the building permit process.  This Resolution is effective until August 6, 2015.  In the 
event that any of the characteristics mentioned above should change prior to the issuance 
of a building permit, this resolution is null and void. 
 
 This resolution does not constitute design or plan approval by the City of Wichita.  
The project design must comply with the City of Wichita’s Housing Tax Credit Policy 
design guidelines, which will be determined by the Metropolitan Area Planning 
Department and the Metropolitan Area Building and Code Department, after the project 
is approved for tax credits.  During that review, complete building plans may be 
submitted to the Council Member, at the Council Member’s request, prior to issuance of a 
building permit. 
 
All projects must comply with all applicable building codes, zoning codes, ordinances, 
and requirements. 
 
 ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, this 
6th day of August, 2013. 
      ______________________________ 
      Carl Brewer, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
__________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
                                                     
Approved as to Form: 
__________________________   
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney 

419



Agenda Item No. IV-6 
 
 City of Wichita 
 City Council Meeting 
 August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT:  2013 Community Services Block Grant Application - Revision 
 
INITIATED BY: Housing and Community Services Department 
 
AGENDA:  New Business 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the revised 2013 Community Services Block Grant funding application 
which includes a name change for the Career Development Office and authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Background:  The Community Services Block Grant (CSBG) is a federal funding source which supports 
programs to address the needs of persons who have low incomes.  CSBG funds are administered by the 
Kansas Housing Resources Corporation and are awarded by formula to Community Action Programs 
(CAPs) throughout the state.  For over 30 years the City of Wichita has been a CAP and received CSBG 
funding for Wichita and Sedgwick County. The Career Development Office (CDO) of the Housing and 
Community Services Department administers the CSBG program locally. 
 
The Community Services Block Grant Review Committee (Review Committee) is the official 
administering board for CSBG and as such is required to fully participate in the development, planning, 
implementation and evaluation of programs and operations supported by CSBG funds.  These 
requirements are set forth in policies established by the Kansas Housing Resources Corporation (KHRC). 
 
Analysis:   An annual application is required for receipt of CSBG funds.  The application for 2013 funds 
was submitted on February 14, 2013, however a change in program scope now requires a change in the 
application.  Following are highlights of the changes included in the amended application: 
 
• The Career Development Office will be known as the Wichita Sedgwick County Community Action 

Partnership (WSCCAP). 
• Employment and training services will be contracted with a local community provider. 
• WSCCAP staff will implement a family self-sufficiency service delivery model based on the Annie E. 

Casey Foundation Family Centered Community Change approach. 
 
The new model will very closely match the goal of the Community Services Block Grant which is to 
support services and activities for low-income individuals that alleviate the causes and conditions of 
poverty in communities.  The goal is to establish a model for family economic stability which is two-
generational and focuses on asset building and family economic support, which both the Casey 
Foundation and the National League of Cities recognize as essential for moving families out of poverty.  
The initial target population will be families living in Public Housing and/or those using Section 8 
Housing Choice Vouchers.   
 
The Community Services Block Grant Review Committee considered the new model at meetings on July 
11 and 18 and recommended approval of the attached application which reflects the new model.  The 
Review Committee asked that the minutes of the July 18 meeting be included with its recommendation.  
Those minutes are attached.  
 

420



Financial Considerations:  No general operating funds from the City budget are obligated by the 
application.   
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed the 2013 Community Services Block Grant 
application as to form. 
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the revised 2013 
Community Services Block Grant funding application which includes a name change for the Career 
Development Office and authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Attachments:   
Revised 2013 Community Services Block Grant funding application summary 
Minutes of the July 18, 2013 Community Services Block Grant Review Committee meeting 

 

 
 

421



August 2, 2013 City Council Meeting Support Document 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES BLOCK GRANT 
 

REVISED PROGRAM BUDGET 
 

AUGUST, 2013 
 
 

2013 Revised Budget 
(April, 2013 through September, 2014) 

 
Internal   

ACTIVITY BUDGET DISCUSSION 

WSCCAP Staff $433,305 The actual salary costs are greater than this amount for 
15 months.  The deficit is being addressed through staff 
furloughs and program re-design. 

Office Operations $75,000 This is a reduced amount as a result of moving staff and 
operations to 332 N. Riverview. 

Indirect $24,160 This represents the indirect service percentage applied to 
the new allocation amount. 

Client Support $10,000 These funds will provide support services to clients under 
the new program model. 

External/Contracts   

Project Access $225,000 Funds support coordination of a program to provide 
prescription medications for low-income persons. 

Neighborhood City 
Halls 

$28,794 This includes 3 months of operating costs for the 
Neighborhood City Halls (through December 31, 2013). 

Employment & 
Training 

$202,000 This amount will be available to contract with one or 
more local employment and training service providers.  
$48,000 will be added from CDBG for a total of $250,000. 

TOTAL $998,259  
 

422



423



424



425



426



 
 

 
         Agenda Item No. IV-7 
       
 

 
City of Wichita 

City Council Meeting 
August 6, 2013 

 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  United States Bowling Congress, Inc. 2019 Tournament 
    
INITIATED BY: City Manager’s Office  
 
AGENDA:   New Business 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Recommendation:  Approve the Memorandum of Understanding and related financial support for the 2019 
Women’s Championship bowling tournament. 

Background:   The City of Wichita received a request from GoWichita to support a proposal to host either the 
2017 or the 2019 United States Bowling Congress (USBC) Women’s Championship Tournament. Numerous 
cities competed for the opportunity to host this tournament because of the resulting economic benefit and the 
national publicity.  For cities to be competitive they must not only sell USBC on the merits of the community 
but be willing to offer financial support.  A presentation was made to the USBC in January, 2013, and Wichita 
was selected to host the 2019 tournament.   

Analysis:   The USBC Championship Tournament will be utilizing Northrock Lanes and Thunderbird Bowl 
from March 23, 2019 through July 31, 2019.  It is estimated that 40,000 hotel room nights will be booked as a 
result of this tournament. The tournament will generate revenue from lodging, food and beverages and the 
purchase of goods and services.  The City will also experience increased guest tax and sales tax revenue.  The 
economic impact to the Wichita area over the three month period is estimated at $14.3 million. 

Financial Considerations:   GoWichita’s presentation included a $650,000 subsidy for the USBC tournament. 
The subsidy needs to be paid to USBC by January 11, 2019.  GoWichita will contribute $200,000 from its 
reserve account and has requested the City provide the remainder of the upfront payment ($450,000).  The 
source of funds for the upfront payment is the Tourism and Convention Fund.  It is expected that all but  
$106,600 from the Tourism and Convention Fund will be reimbursed. GoWichita projects increased sales tax 
receipts of $105,800 and guest tax receipts of $237,600 as a result of the tournament. 

Legal Considerations:   The Law Department has reviewed the MOU and has approved as to form. 

 Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council: (1) approve the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the City of Wichita and GoWichita and authorize the necessary signatures; and (2) 
authorize financial support in the amount of $450,000 from the Convention and Tourism Fund subject to the 
limitations of the Kansas Cash Basis and Kansas Budget Laws, with the remaining $200,000 to be contributed 
by GoWichita.  

 Attachment:  MOU 

427



1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
 

 This Memorandum of Understanding is entered into this 6th day of August, 2013 between 
the City of Wichita, Kansas, a Kansas municipal corporation (“City”), and Wichita Convention 
and Tourism Bureau, Inc., a Kansas not-for-profit corporation (“GoWichita”). 
 
 WHEREAS, Go Wichita has an existing agreement with City to employ its professional 
staff, and its fiscal and administrative capabilities to expend funds provided by City from the 
Transient Guest Tax for the purpose of generating new dollars in the Wichita area economy 
through promotion of Wichita as a convention and visitor destination; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Go Wichita has secured by contract the United States Bowling Congress, 
Inc.’s (“USBC”) 2019 Women’s Championship Tournament to be held at private venues in 
Wichita from March 23, 2019 to July 31, 2019, and this tournament is anticipated to produce 
approximately 40,000 hotel room nights, with associated purchases of food, beverages, goods 
and services, for a combined positive economic impact of $14.3 million for the Wichita area; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to secure this contractual obligation, USBC requires that a lump sum 
subsidy payment be made to that organization in the amount of $650,000 on or before January 
11, 2019; and 
 
 WHEREAS, City wishes to facilitate this contractual obligation to host the 2019 
Women’s Championship Tournament in Wichita by accumulating in the ensuing time from the 
Transient Guest Tax sufficient funds to front the payment of this subsidy obligation, to be 
reimbursed from various projected sources;  
 
 THEREFORE, subject to the limitations created by the Kansas Cash Basis and Budget 
laws: 
 

1. City agrees to establish annual reserves from the Transient Guest Tax generated 
from now through 2018, in such scheduled amounts as it deems prudent to satisfy the needed 
pre-payment. 

 
2. City agrees to program into the budget for 2019 the expenditure of $450,000 as an 

upfront payment of the required USBC 2019 Championship Tournament subsidy, and to timely 
make such payment in January, 2019. 
 

3. City agrees that $100,000 of that sum will represent its pledge of support, for 
which it may be reimbursed. 
 

4. Go Wichita agrees that it will provide an upfront payment to USBC in the amount 
of $200,000 on or before January, 2019.   

 

428



2 
 

5. City anticipates that the balance of its reimbursement will be generated from 
additional Transient Guest Tax and sales tax revenues not under the control of Go Wichita. 
 
 WHEREFORE, in furtherance of and in accordance with its standing agreement to 
promote convention and tourism in the Wichita area, as that agreement may be amended and 
extended through 2019, the parties enter into this Memorandum of Understanding on the date 
first written above. 
 
 
CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS   WICHITA CONVENTION &  
       TOURISM BUREAU, INC. 
 
 
 
______________________________  ___________________________________ 
Carl Brewer, Mayor     Susie Santo, President and CEO 
 
 
Attest:       Attest: 
  
 
________________________________   ______________________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk    Maureen Hofrenning, Vice President 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney 
 
 

429



Agenda Item No. IV-8. 
 
 

CITY OF WICHITA 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
 

TO:    Mayor and City Council Members 
 
SUBJECT:   Ordinances Amending Chapter 5.68 Relating to Sex Trafficking,  
   Prostitution and Morals Offenses 
 
INITIATED BY: Law Department 
 
AGENDA:   New Business 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation: Adopt the ordinances and place on first reading. 
 
Background: During the recent legislative session, Senate Substitute for House Bill 20343 was passed by 
the Kansas Legislature. The bill made revisions to state laws regarding crimes of sex trafficking. Some 
crimes that were previously misdemeanors have been upgraded to felonies. The penalties have changed 
on misdemeanor crimes. The crime that was previously referred to as “prostitution” has been renamed 
“the sale of sexual relations.” Amendments to the City Code regarding sex trafficking are required to 
comply with the state statute. The state statutes have ceased using the term “prostitute” or “prostitution.” 
 
Analysis: The Bill requires the City to collect a $2,500 fine on any conviction of “buying sexual 
relations.” This fine is in addition to any penalty imposed by the City. The crime of promoting sexual 
relations is now a felony, which requires the City to repeal two sections that deem it a misdemeanor. A 
comprehensive view of the code regarding set crimes reveals a number of ordinances that are repetitive. 
The proposed amendments repeal ordinances pertaining to Sodomy for Hire and Patronizing Sodomy for 
hire which are duplicative in nature. Conduct prohibited by those ordinances is also banned in ordinances 
pertaining to the selling and buying of sexual relations as well as the Solicit for Immoral Purposes 
ordinance, Section 5.68.110. 
 
The proposed amendments rename Chapter 5.68 “Sex trafficking, obscenity, and morals offenses,” and 
brings the City Code into compliance with state law by eliminating misdemeanor charges which are not 
felonies and updating the penalty sections and definitions as required by the state legislation. 
 
Financial Considerations: The increased $2,500 fine collected for the offense of “buying sexual 
relations” is to be transmitted to the State treasurer. 
 
Legal Considerations: The ordinance amendments have been drafted and approved as to form by the 
Law Department. 
 
Recommendations/Actions: It is recommended that the City Council adopt the ordinances and place on 
first reading. 
 
Attachments: Proposed ordinance. 
 

430





2 
 

(2) Any person who shall commit or offer or agree to commit an act of 

selling sexual relations prostitution shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon 

conviction under this section, shall be punished by a fine of not more than one 

thousand dollars or six months imprisonment or by both such fine and 

imprisonment; however, upon a second or subsequent conviction, the court shall 

impose a mandatory minimum jail sentence of five consecutive days and no 

person shall be eligible for probation or parole until serving the entire minimum 

sentence. 

(a) For the purposes of determining whether a conviction is a 

first, second, or subsequent conviction in sentencing under this section: 

(1) ‘Conviction’ includes being convicted of a violation 

of this section. 

(2) ‘Conviction’ includes being convicted of a violation 

of a law of this state or of another state or an ordinance of any 

municipality which prohibits the acts that this section prohibits. 

(3) Only convictions occurring on or after the date the 

ordinance codified in this section becomes effective shall be taken 

into account, but the court may consider other prior convictions in 

determining the sentence to be imposed within the limits provided. 

(4) It is irrelevant whether an offense occurred before 

or after conviction for a previous offense. 

(3)  It shall be an affirmative defense to any prosecution under this section 

that the defendant committed the violation of this section because such defendant 

432



3 
 

was subjected to human trafficking or aggravated human trafficking, as define by 

K.S.A. 21-5426, and amendments thereto, or commercial sexual exploitation of a 

child, as defined by section 4 of Senate Substitute for House Bill No. 2034 (2013) 

and amendments thereto. 

 SECTION 3.   Section 5.68.020 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

“Buying sexual relations Patronizing a prostitute.  Any person who  

knowingly buys sexual relations patronizes a prostitute is guilty of a 

misdemeanor.   For purposes of this chapter, “patronizing a prostitute” “buying 

sexual relations”  shall mean: 

(a) Knowingly Entering or remaining in a place house of 

prostitution where sexual relations are being sold or offered for sale with 

the intent to engage in manual or other bodily contact stimulation of the 

genitals of any person with the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual 

desires of the offender or another, sexual intercourse, sodomy or any 

unlawful sexual acts with a person selling sexual relations who is 18 years 

of age or older prostitute; or 

(b) Knowingly h Hiring a person selling sexual relations who 

is 18 years of age or older  prostitute to engage in manual or other bodily 

contact stimulation of the genitals of any person with the intent to arouse 

or gratify the sexual desires of the offender or another, sexual intercourse, 

sodomy or any unlawful sexual act; 

433



4 
 

(c) Every person convicted under this section (5.68.020), shall 

be punished by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars $2,500 or  six 

months twelve months imprisonment or both such fine and imprisonment. 

(d) In addition to any other sentence imposed, a person 

convicted under this section shall be fined $2,500.  Pursuant to K.S.A. 12-

4120 and amendments thereto, the Clerk of the Municipal Court shall 

remit $2,500 of any fine imposed and collected to the state treasurer.   

(e) The court, in addition to any other sentence imposed, for 

any conviction under this section, may order the person convicted to enter 

into and complete a suitable educational and treatment program regarding 

commercial sexual  exploitation.  

SECTION 4.  Section 5.68.110 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

  “Soliciting for immoral purposes.  (a)  It is unlawful to solicit any person upon 

the streets or in public places within the corporate limits of the city, to engage in an act of 

selling sexual relations prostitution, sodomy or sodomy for hire. 

(b) For the purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the 

meanings respectively ascribed to them: 

(1) “Public place” is any place to which the general public has access 

and a right to resort for business, entertainment or other lawful purpose, but does 

not necessarily means a place devoted solely to the uses of the public.  Such term 

also includes the front or immediate area of any store, shop, restaurant, tavern or 

other place of business and all public grounds, areas and parks. 

434



5 
 

(2) “Selling sexual relations Prostitution” is sexual intercourse for hire 

defined in 5.68.010. 

(3) “Sodomy” is oral or anal copulation between persons who are not 

husband and wife or consenting adult members of the opposite sex, or between a 

person and an animal, or coitus with an animal.  “Solicit” is an offer to buy or sell. 

(4) “Sodomy for hire” is an act of oral or anal copulation for hire. 

(c) Any person violating the provisions of this section (5.68.110) shall be 

deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and any person convicted thereof shall be punished by 

a fine of not more than five hundred dollars or six months imprisonment or both such fine 

and imprisonment.” 

 SECTION 5.     Section 5.68.210 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

  “Loitering for the purpose of soliciting.  (a) It shall be unlawful for any person 

to loiter in or near any thoroughfare, or any other public place, in a manner and under 

circumstances manifesting the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring 

another to commit an act in violation of any of the following sections of this Code:  

Sections 5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations prostitution), 5.68.020 (patronizing a 

prostitute buying sexual relations), 5.68.170 (sodomy for hire), 5.68.180 (patronizing a 

person offering sodomy for hire) or 5.68.200 (sodomy), 5.68.110 (soliciting for immoral 

purposes).  Among the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether 

such purpose is manifested are:  that such person repeatedly stops or attempts to stop 

motor vehicle operators or pedestrians by hailing, waving of arms or any bodily gesture, 

or is a known prostitute, prostitute patron seller or buyer of sexual relations., pimp or 

435



6 
 

sodomist.  No arrest shall be made or notices to appear issued for a violation of this 

subsection unless the arresting officer first affords such person an opportunity to explain 

such conduct, and no one shall be convicted of violating this subsection if it appears at 

trial that the explanation given was true and disclosed a lawful purpose. 

  (b) For purposes of this section, “any public place” shall mean any place to 

which the general public has access and a right to resort for business, entertainment or 

other lawful purpose, but does not necessarily mean a place devoted solely to the uses of 

the public.  It also includes the front or immediate area of any store, shop, restaurant, 

tavern or other place of business, and all public grounds, areas or parks. 

  (c) For purposes of this section, the term “loitering” means remaining idle in 

essentially one location and includes the concept of spending time idly; to be dilatory; to 

linger, to stay; to saunter; to delay; to stand around; and shall also include the colloquial 

expression “hanging around.” 

  (d) For purposes of this section, the term “known prostitute, prostitute patron, 

pimp or sodomist “known seller or buyer of sexual relations” means a person who within 

two years previous to the date of arrest or issuing of a notice to appear for violation of 

this section has, within the knowledge of the arresting officer, been convicted of violating 

any statutes of the State of Kansas or any other state or ordinances of the City of Wichita, 

Kansas, or of any other city defining and punishing acts of soliciting, committing or 

offering or agreeing to commit the sale of sexual relations, buying sexual relations, or 

soliciting for immoral purposes prostitution, sodomy, or sodomy for hire, or patronizing a 

prostitute or a person offering sodomy for hire. 

436



7 
 

 (e) Any person who violates the provisions of this section shall be 

guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine 

of not more than five hundred dollars or six months’ imprisonment or both such 

fine and imprisonment, provided, however, that if any person convicted under this 

section shall have within two years prior to the date of the violation of this section 

been convicted of prostitution, patronizing a prostitute, sodomy, sodomy for hire, 

patronizing a person offering sodomy for hire, soliciting for immoral purposes, or 

a previous violation of this section in violation of the laws of the State of Kansas 

or any other state or contrary to the ordinances of the City of Wichita, Kansas, or 

any other municipality, defining and punishing such acts, then and in that event, 

the court shall impose a mandatory minimum jail sentence of five days and no 

person shall be eligible for probation or parole until serving the entire minimum 

sentence. 

 SECTION 6.  Section 5.68.215 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

  “Anti-prostitution Anti sex-trafficking emphasis area—Enhanced penalties.  

(a) The following described area of the city is designated to be an anti-sex trafficking 

prostitution emphasis area: 

(1) An area bounded to the north at Twenty-First Street, on the east by 

Washington, on the south by Second Street, and on the west by Main Street, 

which becomes Park Place, which encompasses all areas within those parameters, 

including the property on both sides of each of the boundary streets. 

(2) An area bounded to the north at Waterman, on the east by 

437



8 
 

Washington, on the south by Forty-Seventh Street South, and to the west by 

Wichita, which encompasses all areas within those parameters, including the 

property on both sides of each of the boundary streets. 

(3) An area bounded to the north by Thirteenth Street, on the east by 

Hillside, on the south by Second Street, and on the west by Cleveland, which 

encompasses all areas within those parameters, and including the property on both 

sides of each of the boundary streets. 

(b) Any person who commits an unlawful act of the sale of sexual relations 

prostitution, or a sale of sexual relations prostitution-related act within the area set forth 

in subsection (a) is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a 

fine of not more than two thousand five hundred dollars or one year’s imprisonment, or 

by both such fine and imprisonment.  Upon a first conviction of a violation of this 

section, the court shall impose a fine not less than two hundred dollars nor more than five 

hundred dollars, and a mandatory jail sentence of not less than five consecutive days nor 

more than six months’ imprisonment.  Upon a second conviction of a violation of this 

section, the court shall impose a fine of not less than five hundred dollars nor more than 

one thousand dollars and a mandatory jail sentence of not less than thirty consecutive 

days nor more than one year’s imprisonment.  Upon a third or a subsequent conviction of 

a violation of this section, the court shall impose a fine of not less than one thousand 

dollars nor more than two thousand five hundred dollars and a mandatory jail sentence of 

not less than ninety consecutive days nor more than one year’s imprisonment.  No person 

shall be eligible for probation or parole until serving the entire minimum sentence. 

(c) For the purposes of this section, an unlawful act of the sale of sexual 

438



9 
 

relations prostitution or a sale of sexual relations prostitution-related act shall include the 

following sections of this code, and any amendments thereto:  Sections 5.68.010 (the sale 

of sexual relations prostitution), 5.68.020 (patronizing a prostitute buying sexual 

relations), 5.68.030 (promoting  prostitution), 5.68.110 (soliciting for immoral purposes), 

5.68.170 (sodomy for hire), 5.68.180 (patronizing a person offering sodomy for hire), 

5.68.190 (promoting sodomy for hire), 5.68.200 (sodomy), or 5.68.210 (loitering for the 

purpose of solicitation). Prior convictions for promoting prostitution, prostitution, 

sodomy for hire, patronizing a person offering sodomy for hire, promoting sodomy for 

hire, patronizing a prostitute  and sodomy shall be considered as unlawful acts of selling 

or buying sexual relations for the purposes of this section.  

(d) For the purpose of determining whether a conviction is a first, second, 

third or subsequent conviction in sentencing under this section, it is irrelevant whether an 

offense occurred before or after conviction for a previous offense. 

(e) The imposition of the fines established in subsection (b) herein shall be 

mandatory and the court shall not waive, remit, suspend, parole or otherwise excuse the 

payment thereof except that defendants who are in violation of this section due to their 

commission of an act in violations of Sections 5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations 

prostitution), 5.68.110 (solicitation for immoral purposes) or 5.68.170 (sodomy for hire) 

shall be eligible to have such fines suspended by their agreement to enter and 

successfully complete a court-ordered program of treatment and supervision.  The court 

may also order that any defendant perform community service specified by the court but 

such an order shall be entered only after the court has required the defendant to file an 

affidavit of such defendant’s financial condition as required by Section 1.04.210(e) of 

439



10 
 

this code and amendments thereto, and the court has found from the information 

contained in the affidavit that the defendant is financially unable to pay the fines imposed 

herein. 

(f) If any subsection, clause or provision of this section is for any 

reason held illegal, invalid or unconstitutional, such action shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this section which shall remain valid to the extent 

possible. 

 SECTION 7.  Section 5.68.218 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

  “Failure to comply with mapping restrictions.  (a) Whenever a defendant has 

been released on probation or parole from a conviction of the sale of sexual relations 

prostitution or a sale of sexual relations prostitution-related act, the municipal judge may 

impose mapping restrictions upon such defendant.  A mapping restriction prohibits the 

defendant from being in any area of the city that is mapped by the court.  A copy of such 

mapped area shall be provided to the defendant, and shall be entered as a part of the court 

record and as a condition of the defendant’s probation. 

(b) Any person who is released on probation or parole upon a conviction of 

the sale of sexual relations prostitution or a sale of sexual relations prostitution-related act 

who has been made subject to mapping restrictions by the court, and who, during the 

term of such defendant’s probation or parole knowingly violates or knowingly fails to 

comply with said mapping restrictions, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon 

conviction, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed two thousand five hundred dollars 

and by imprisonment of not more than one year, or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

440



11 
 

(c) For the purposes of this section, the sale of sexual relations prostitution or 

a sale of sexual relations prostitution-related act shall include a violation of the following 

sections of this Code, and any amendments thereto:  5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations 

prostitution), 5.68.020 (patronizing a prostitute buying sexual relations), 5.68.030 

(promoting the sale of sexual relations prostitution), 5.68.110 (soliciting for immoral 

purposes), 5.68.170 (sodomy for hire), 5.68.180 (patronizing a person offering sodomy 

for hire), 5.68.190 (promoting sodomy for hire), 5.68.200 (sodomy), or 5.68.210 

(loitering for the purpose of solicitation).   

 SECTION 8.    The original of Sections 5.68.010, 5.68.020, 5.68.030, 5.68.110, 

5.68.170, 5.68.180, 5.68.190, 5.68.210, 5.68.215 and 5.68.218 of the Code of the City of 

Wichita, Kansas, are hereby repealed. 

 SECTION 9.  This ordinance shall be included in the Code of the City of Wichita, 

Kansas, and shall be effective upon its passage and publication once in the official city paper.  

PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this ________ day of 

_________________, 2013. 

 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

441



12 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf 
Director of Law 
 
 

442



First Published in The Wichita Eagle on August 16, 2013 
 
 
CLEAN          06/20/2013 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 49-552 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 5.68.010, 5.68.020, 5.68.110, 
5.68.190, 5.68.210, 5.68.215 AND 5.68.218 OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF 
WICHITA, KANSAS, AND REPEALING THE ORIGINAL OF SECTIONS 
5.68.010, 5.68.020. 5.68.030, 5.68.110, 5.68.170. 5.68.180, 5.68.190, 5.68.210, 
5.68.215 AND 5.68.218 OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF WICHITA .  

 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 

KANSAS: 

 SECTION 1.   The title to Chapter 5.68 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is 

hereby amended to read as follows:   

  Chapter 5.68. Sex trafficking, Obscenity and Morals Offenses 

 SECTION 2.    Section 5.68.010 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

"The sale of sexual relations. (1)  The sale of sexual relations is 

performing for hire, or offering or agreeing to perform for hire where there is an 

exchange of value, any of the following acts: 

(a) Sexual intercourse; 

(b) Sodomy; or 

(c) Manual or other bodily contact stimulation of the genitals 

of any person with the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desires of the 

offender or another. 

443



2 
 

(2)  Any person who shall commit or offer or agree to commit an act of 

selling sexual relations shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction 

under this section, shall be punished by a fine of not more than one thousand 

dollars or six months imprisonment or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

(3)  It shall be an affirmative defense to any prosecution under this section 

that the defendant committed the violation of this section because such defendant 

was subjected to human trafficking or aggravated human trafficking, as define by 

K.S.A. 21-5426, and amendments thereto, or commercial sexual exploitation of a 

child, as defined by section 4 of Senate Substitute for House Bill No. 2034 (2013) 

and amendments thereto. 

 SECTION 3.  Section 5.68.020 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

“Buying sexual relations.  Any person who knowingly buys sexual 

relations is guilty of a misdemeanor.  For purposes of this chapter, “buying sexual 

relations” shall mean: 

(a) Entering or remaining in a place  where sexual relations are 

being sold or offered for sale with intent to engage in manual or other 

bodily contact stimulation of the genitals of any person with the intent to 

arouse or gratify the sexual desires of the offender or another, sexual 

intercourse, sodomy or any unlawful sexual acts with a person selling 

sexual relations who is 18 years of age or older; or 

(b) Hiring a person selling sexual relations who is 18 years of 

age or older to engage in manual or other bodily contact stimulation of the 

444



3 
 

genitals of any person with the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual 

desires of the offender or another, sexual intercourse, sodomy or any 

unlawful sexual act; 

(c) Every person convicted under this section (5.68.020), shall 

be punished by a fine of not more than $2,500 or  twelve months 

imprisonment or both such fine and imprisonment. 

(d) In addition to any other sentence imposed, a person 

convicted under this section shall be fined $2,500.  Pursuant to K.S.A. 12-

4120 and amendments thereto, the Clerk of the Municipal Court shall 

remit $2,500 of any fine imposed and collected to the state treasurer.   

(e) The court, in addition to any other sentence imposed, for 

any conviction under this section, may order the person convicted to enter 

into and complete a suitable educational and treatment program regarding 

commercial sexual exploitation.  

SECTION 4.  Section 5.68.110 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is 

hereby amended to read as follows: 

  “Soliciting for immoral purposes.  (a)  It is unlawful to solicit any person upon 

the streets or in public places within the corporate limits of the city, to engage in an act of 

selling sexual relations. 

(b) For the purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the 

meanings respectively ascribed to them: 

(1) “Public place” is any place to which the general public has access 

and a right to resort for business, entertainment or other lawful purpose, but does 

445



4 
 

not necessarily means a place devoted solely to the uses of the public.  Such term 

also includes the front or immediate area of any store, shop, restaurant, tavern or 

other place of business and all public grounds, areas and parks. 

(2) “Selling sexual relations” is defined in 5.68.010. 

(3)  “Solicit” is an offer to buy or sell. 

(c) Any person violating the provisions of this section (5.68.110) shall be 

deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and any person convicted thereof shall be punished by 

a fine of not more than five hundred dollars or six months imprisonment or both such fine 

and imprisonment.” 

 SECTION 5.     Section 5.68.210 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

  “Loitering for the purpose of soliciting.  (a) It shall be unlawful for any person 

to loiter in or near any thoroughfare, or any other public place, in a manner and under 

circumstances manifesting the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring 

another to commit an act in violation of any of the following sections of this Code:  

Sections 5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations), 5.68.020 (buying sexual relations), 

5.68.110 (soliciting for immoral purposes).  Among the circumstances which may be 

considered in determining whether such purpose is manifested are:  that such person 

repeatedly stops or attempts to stop motor vehicle operators or pedestrians by hailing, 

waving of arms or any bodily gesture, or is a known seller or buyer of sexual relations.  

No arrest shall be made or notices to appear issued for a violation of this subsection 

unless the arresting officer first affords such person an opportunity to explain such 

conduct, and no one shall be convicted of violating this subsection if it appears at trial 

446



5 
 

that the explanation given was true and disclosed a lawful purpose. 

  (b) For purposes of this section, “any public place” shall mean any place to 

which the general public has access and a right to resort for business, entertainment or 

other lawful purpose, but does not necessarily mean a place devoted solely to the uses of 

the public.  It also includes the front or immediate area of any store, shop, restaurant, 

tavern or other place of business, and all public grounds, areas or parks. 

  (c) For purposes of this section, the term “loitering” means remaining idle in 

essentially one location and includes the concept of spending time idly; to be dilatory; to 

linger, to stay; to saunter; to delay; to stand around; and shall also include the colloquial 

expression “hanging around.” 

  (d) For purposes of this section, the term “known seller or buyer of sexual 

relations” means a person who within two years previous to the date of arrest or issuing 

of a notice to appear for violation of this section has, within the knowledge of the 

arresting officer, been convicted of violating any statutes of the State of Kansas or any 

other state or ordinances of the City of Wichita, Kansas, or of any other city defining and 

punishing acts of soliciting, committing or offering or agreeing to commit the sale of 

sexual relations, buying sexual relations, or soliciting for immoral purposes. 

 (e) Any person who violates the provisions of this section shall be 

guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine 

of not more than five hundred dollars or six months’ imprisonment or both such 

fine and imprisonment.  

 SECTION 6.  Section 5.68.215 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

447



6 
 

  “Anti sex-trafficking emphasis area—Enhanced penalties.  (a) The following 

described area of the city is designated to be an anti-sex trafficking emphasis area: 

(1) An area bounded to the north at Twenty-First Street, on the east by 

Washington, on the south by Second Street, and on the west by Main Street, 

which becomes Park Place, which encompasses all areas within those parameters, 

including the property on both sides of each of the boundary streets. 

(2) An area bounded to the north at Waterman, on the east by 

Washington, on the south by Forty-Seventh Street South, and to the west by 

Wichita, which encompasses all areas within those parameters, including the 

property on both sides of each of the boundary streets. 

(3) An area bounded to the north by Thirteenth Street, on the east by 

Hillside, on the south by Second Street, and on the west by Cleveland, which 

encompasses all areas within those parameters, and including the property on both 

sides of each of the boundary streets. 

(b) Any person who commits an unlawful act of the sale of sexual relations or 

a sale of sexual relations related act within the area set forth in subsection (a) is guilty of 

a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine of not more than two 

thousand five hundred dollars or one year’s imprisonment, or by both such fine and 

imprisonment.  Upon a first conviction of a violation of this section, the court shall 

impose a fine not less than two hundred dollars nor more than five hundred dollars, and a 

mandatory jail sentence of not less than five consecutive days nor more than six months’ 

imprisonment.  Upon a second conviction of a violation of this section, the court shall 

impose a fine of not less than five hundred dollars nor more than one thousand dollars 

448



7 
 

and a mandatory jail sentence of not less than thirty consecutive days nor more than one 

year’s imprisonment.  Upon a third or a subsequent conviction of a violation of this 

section, the court shall impose a fine of not less than one thousand dollars nor more than 

two thousand five hundred dollars and a mandatory jail sentence of not less than ninety 

consecutive days nor more than one year’s imprisonment.  No person shall be eligible for 

probation or parole until serving the entire minimum sentence. 

(c) For the purposes of this section, an unlawful act of the sale of sexual 

relations or a sale of sexual relations related act shall include the following sections of 

this code, and any amendments thereto:  Sections 5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations), 

5.68.020 (buying sexual relations), 5.68.110 (soliciting for immoral purposes) or 

5.68.210 (loitering for the purpose of solicitation).  Prior convictions for promoting 

prostitution, prostitution, sodomy for hire, patronizing a person offering sodomy for hire, 

promoting sodomy for hire, patronizing a prostitute and sodomy shall be considered as 

unlawful acts of selling or buying sexual relations for the purposes of this section.  

(d) For the purpose of determining whether a conviction is a first, second, 

third or subsequent conviction in sentencing under this section, it is irrelevant whether an 

offense occurred before or after conviction for a previous offense. 

(e) The imposition of the fines established in subsection (b) herein shall be 

mandatory and the court shall not waive, remit, suspend, parole or otherwise excuse the 

payment thereof except that defendants who are in violation of this section due to their 

commission of an act in violations of Sections 5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations), 

5.68.110 (solicitation for immoral purposes) or shall be eligible to have such fines 

suspended by their agreement to enter and successfully complete a court-ordered program 

449



8 
 

of treatment and supervision.  The court may also order that any defendant perform 

community service specified by the court but such an order shall be entered only after the 

court has required the defendant to file an affidavit of such defendant’s financial 

condition as required by Section 1.04.210(e) of this code and amendments thereto, and 

the court has found from the information contained in the affidavit that the defendant is 

financially unable to pay the fines imposed herein. 

(f) If any subsection, clause or provision of this section is for any 

reason held illegal, invalid or unconstitutional, such action shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this section which shall remain valid to the extent 

possible. 

 SECTION 7.  Section 5.68.218 of the Code of the City of Wichita, Kansas, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

  “Failure to comply with mapping restrictions.  (a) Whenever a defendant has 

been released on probation or parole from a conviction of the sale of sexual relations or a 

sale of sexual relations related act, the municipal judge may impose mapping restrictions 

upon such defendant.  A mapping restriction prohibits the defendant from being in any 

area of the city that is mapped by the court.  A copy of such mapped area shall be 

provided to the defendant, and shall be entered as a part of the court record and as a 

condition of the defendant’s probation. 

(b) Any person who is released on probation or parole upon a conviction of 

the sale of sexual relations or a sale of sexual relations related act who has been made 

subject to mapping restrictions by the court, and who, during the term of such defendant’s 

probation or parole knowingly violates or knowingly fails to comply with said mapping 

450



9 
 

restrictions, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction, shall be punished by 

a fine not to exceed two thousand five hundred dollars and by imprisonment of not more 

than one year, or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

(c) For the purposes of this section, the sale of sexual relations or a sale of 

sexual relations related act shall include a violation of the following sections of this 

Code, and any amendments thereto:  5.68.010 (the sale of sexual relations), 5.68.020 

(buying sexual relations), 5.68.110 (soliciting for immoral purposes) or 5.68.210 

(loitering for the purpose of solicitation).   

 SECTION 8.    The original of Sections 5.68.010, 5.68.020, 5.68.030, 5.68.110, 

5.68.170, 5.68.180, 5.68.190, 5.68.210, 5.68.215 and 5.68.218 of the Code of the City of 

Wichita, Kansas, are hereby repealed. 

 SECTION 9.  This ordinance shall be included in the Code of the City of Wichita, 

Kansas, and shall be effective upon its passage and publication once in the official city paper.  

PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 13th day of August, 

2013. 

 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Carl Brewer, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf 
Director of Law 

451



  Agenda Item No. IV-9 
City of Wichita 

City Council Meeting 
August 6, 2013 

 
TO: Mayor and City Council Members 

SUBJECT: 2014 Annual Operating Budget  

INITIATED BY: City Manager’s Office 

AGENDA: New Business 
                                                                                                                                                                        
 
Recommendation:  Receive public comment. 
 
Background:  The 2014 Proposed Budget has been developed over the past several months based on input from 
the public and direction from the City Council.  Community engagement has been emphasized, using monthly 
District Advisory Board meetings, televised community budget meetings and social media town halls.   Two City 
Council workshops have been held.   On July 16, 2013, the City Manager’s Proposed Budget was presented to the 
City Council and the official budget adoption date (as required by state statute) was set for August 13, 2013.    
 
Analysis:   The local operating budget totals $543 million (which does not include internal service funds, capital 
projects, grant funds, trust funds or interfund transfers).  The General Fund totals slightly more than $214 million 
of that amount.  The budget is formulated to adhere to the City’s mission by allocating resources in strategic 
priority areas.  Although only legally required to produce a budget for 2014, the City budget also includes 
recommendations for 2015, to enhance planning processes.  The highlights of the 2014 Proposed Budget include: 
 

• The mill levy rate is unchanged.  The budget is based on an estimated mill levy rate equal to last year.  
This is the 20th consecutive year that the mill levy has remained flat. 

• Reserves are maintained at appropriate levels.  The budget includes General Fund reserves of $23 
million, which is slightly greater than 10% of projected expenditures, in accordance with City Council 
policy. 

• Strategic priority areas are funded.  In 2009, the City Council identified four strategic priorities: 
protecting life, protecting property, investing in infrastructure and ensuring a growing and sustainable 
community.  Funding levels in the budget focus on these strategic priority areas. 

• A new Strategic Plan will be initiated.  The financial outlook provides the opportunity to launch a new 
strategic planning process.  This will provide flexibility to respond to future challenges and will ensure 
that City resources continue to be directed in the most important areas.   

• Property tax revenue is shifted back to the Debt Service Fund.  One mill of property tax revenue was 
shifted from the Debt Service Fund to the General Fund in 2011, allowing the City to capitalize on 
economic development opportunities.  One half mill of property taxes was moved back to the Debt 
Service Fund beginning in 2013.  An additional half mill will move back in 2014. 

• Transit services are funded through 2014.  The budget includes increased local resources to fund 
current levels of transit services through 2014.  The budget recommendation is designed to ensure 
adequate funding through 2014 and to provide time for a comprehensive community engagement 
regarding financing alternatives. 

• Fire Department equipment deployment is modified.  Call volume and response times are constantly 
evaluated for each station service area.  Equipment will be redeployed from Station 2 to Station 22, and 
Station 38 will house a squad rather than an engine.  This will result in a budget with six fewer fire fighter 
positions, but network response times will be unchanged. 

452



• Contract street maintenance funding is preserved.  Citizen feedback, especially in regards to the 
residential street network, has guided this decision.  Contracted street maintenance will total $8 million, 
when combined with CIP resources.  This is $1 million more than 2013. 

• Water conservation efforts are included.  The Park & Recreation budget includes funding to convert 
400 acres to native grasses and wildflowers.  This will reduce water usage and mowing.  Other water 
conservation measures are included in Recreation Programming, Fire Operations, and Building 
Maintenance budgets. 

• Strategic reductions are planned in 2015.  Citizen engagement and staff planning will guide a number 
of efforts, including privatization of security at City Hall, discontinuation of library services at Orchard 
Recreation Center, repurposing of the Wichita Wildlife Exhibit at Central Riverside Park, full cost 
recovery for Watson Park, and contracting for intergovernmental relations services. 

 
Financial Considerations:  The Proposed Budget would require a mill levy estimated at 32.471 mills (23.971 for 
the General Fund and 8.500 for the Debt Service Fund), based on the estimated assessed valuation provided by 
the Sedgwick County Clerk and the taxes levied in the budget.   The total estimated mill levy is unchanged from 
the 2013 mill levy. 
 
Legal Considerations:  To comply with State law, the City of Wichita must hold two public hearings, one to set 
the maximum levy and to set the official budget hearing date (which occurred on July 16, 2013) and one to adopt 
the budget (scheduled for August 13, 2013).   
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council receive public comment on the 2014 Proposed 
Budget.  

453



ZON2013-00010   
Wichita City Council – August 6, 2013  Page 1 
 
 

             Agenda Item No. V-1 
 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:     Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:   ZON2013-00010 – City request for a zone change from B Multi-family 

Residential to GC General Commercial, generally located east of N. Park Place 
and south of 29th Street North (2914 N. Park Place). (District VI) 

 
INITIATED BY:  Metropolitan Area Planning Department 
 
AGENDA:   Planning (Non-consent)  
 
 
MAPC Recommendation: The MAPC recommended approval (12-0). 
 
DAB Recommendation: District Advisory Board VI recommended denial (5-0). 
 
MAPD Staff Recommendation: MAPD staff recommended denial.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

454



ZON2013-00010   
Wichita City Council – August 6, 2013  Page 2 
 
 

Background:  The applicants request a zone change from the existing B Multi-family to GC General 
Commercial on a 0.2 acre platted property.  The 75 by 122-foot site is currently developed with a two-car 
garage, an accessory structure to the applicants’ home on contiguous property to the south.  The 
applicants appear to be running a chartered passenger bus terminal from the site; the applicants indicate 
that they wish to continue that business and develop other commercial activities permitted under GC 
zoning, such as an ice-cream factory or vehicle repair.  The site has limited space for off street parking 
and bus parking/loading, which could pose problems for a bus terminal with a regional draw.  The small 
site size could pose problems in meeting other code required development standards, such as 
compatibility setbacks. 
 
The Unified Zoning Code (UZC) does not define a bus terminal; however, the ticket sales would be 
consistent with general retail under the UZC.  The surrounding neighborhood has a mixture of zoning 
districts and land uses.  The applicants’ property lies at the edge of a B zoned single-family residential 
neighborhood located to the south and a GC and GI General Industrial zoned commercial and industrial 
area to the north.  Property north of the site is zoned GC and is vacant, further north is GI zoned property 
developed with warehousing uses.  South of the site is B zoning and single-family residential 
development.  East of the site is B zoning and single-family residential development, further east, across 
Market Street is GC zoning with retail development. West of the site is B zoning and single-family 
residential development. 

 
Analysis:  The Metropolitan Area Planning Commission (MAPC) heard this request on June 6, 2013 and 
voted to defer the case for two weeks.  At the MAPC meeting held on June 20, 2013, the MAPC voted 
(12-0) to approve the request with the following protective overlay conditions:   
 

1. Uses on the site shall be limited to those permitted in the B Multi-family zoning district, a 
chartered bus terminal, and manufacturing, limited with associated sales only.   

2. The bus terminal operations shall be limited to one chartered bus pick-up per week and one 
chartered bus drop-off per week.  

3. Chartered busses shall not exceed 40 seats in size.   
4. The applicant shall provide a dimensioned site plan, for planning staff approval, demonstrating 

bus dimensions and an off-street bus loading location.  
5. The site shall be maintained and operated in conformance with the approved site plan and all 

applicable codes. 
 

At the District Advisory Board (DAB) VI meeting on June 4, 2013, DAB VI recommended denial (5-0) 
based on the staff recommendation.  No citizens spoke at the MAPC or DAB hearings, no protest 
petitions were filed for this request. 
 
Financial Considerations:  Approval of this request will not create any financial obligations for the City. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the ordinance as to form. 
 
Recommendation/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council 1) Adopt the findings of the 
MAPC, approve the zone change request with the Protective Overlay, authorize the mayor to sign the 
ordinance and place the ordinance on the first reading (simple majority vote required), or; 2) make 
alternate findings and deny the request (a 2/3 majority vote is required to override the MAPC 
recommendation on the first hearing), or; 3) return the request to the MAPC for reconsideration (simple 
majority vote required).  
 
Attachments:  Ordinance, DAB Memo and MAPC minutes. 

455



(150004) Published in The Wichita Eagle on August 16, 2013  
 

ORDINANCE NO. 49-553 
 
AN ORDINANCE CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS OR DISTRICTS OF CERTAIN 
LANDS LOCATED IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, UNDER THE AUTHORITY GRANTED 
BY THE WICHITA-SEDGWICK COUNTY UNIFIED ZONING CODE, SECTION V-C, AS 
ADOPTED BY SECTION 28.04.010, AS AMENDED. 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY 
OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS. 

 
SECTION 1.  That having received a recommendation from the Planning Commission, and proper notice 
having been given and hearing held as provided by law and under authority and subject to the provisions 
of The Wichita-Sedgwick County Unified Zoning Code, Section V-C, as adopted by Section 28.04.010, 
as amended, the zoning classification or districts of the lands legally described hereby are changed as 
follows:   

 
Case No. ZON2013-00010 

 
A zone change from B Multi-family Residential (“B”) to GC General Commercial (“GC”), on property 
described as: 
 
Lots 36, 38, and 40, Block B, Montrose Park Addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas.  Generally 
located east of North Park Place and south of West 29th Street North (2914 N. Park Place).   
 
Subject to Protective Overlay (PO) 278:   
 

1. Uses on the site shall be limited to those permitted in the B Multi-family zoning district, a 
chartered bus terminal, and manufacturing, limited with associated sales only.   

2. The bus terminal operations shall be limited to one chartered bus pick-up per week and one 
chartered bus drop-off per week.  

3. Chartered busses shall not exceed 40 seats in size.   
4. The applicant shall provide a dimensioned site plan, for planning staff approval, demonstrating 

bus dimensions and an off-street bus loading location.  
5. The site shall be maintained and operated in conformance with the approved site plan and all 

applicable codes. 
 
SECTION 2.  That upon the taking effect of this ordinance, the above zoning changes shall be entered and 
shown on the "Official Zoning Map" previously adopted by reference, and said official zoning map is 
hereby reincorporated as a part of the Wichita -Sedgwick County Unified Zoning Code as amended. 
 
SECTION 3.  That this Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its adoption and 
publication in the official City paper.   
 
 

ADOPTED this 13th day of August, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

456



ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________    ______________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk      Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, Director of Law 
 
 

457



458



459



460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



Page 1 
 
 

             Agenda Report No. V-2 
 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:     Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:   ZON2013-00013 – Zone change request from SF-5 Single-family Residential to 

TF-3 Two-family Residential subject to Protective Overlay No. 277 on property 
generally located 300 hundred feet east of Knight Street on the north side of West 
St. Louis Avenue (south of West Central and east of North West Street, 3514 
West St. Louis Avenue) (District VI) 

 
INITIATED BY:  Metropolitan Area Planning Department 
 
AGENDA:   Planning (Non-consent)  
 
 
MAPC Recommendation:  The MAPC recommended approval subject to a Protective Overly #277 (10-

2). 
 
DAB Recommendation:  District Advisory Board VI recommended approval (6-0).  
 
MAPD Staff Recommendation:  Metropolitan Area Planning Department staff recommended approval. 

 

469



Page 2 
 
 

Background:  The applicant is seeking TF-3 Two-family Residential (TF-3) zoning on .95 acre 
(approximately 41,382 square feet) zoned SF-5 Single-family Residential (SF-5) that is located north of 
West St. Louis Avenue, approximately 300 feet east of North Knight Street.  The property is developed 
with a single-family residence and other accessory structures.  The County Assessor’s records indicate the 
existing residence was built in 1946.  The applicant’s agent indicates that the property will be lot split in a 
way so that the existing house will remain and that a duplex structure will be built to the east of the 
existing residence and a second duplex structure will be built to the west.  The property has approximately 
264 feet of frontage along West St. Louis Avenue.   
 
Abutting and adjoining properties are predominantly zoned SF-5 and developed with single-family 
residences, two-family residences, radio broadcast towers or are vacant.  A property, .9 acre in size, 
located approximately 100 feet east of the application area, at the southwest corner of West St. Louis and 
North Joan Street, is zoned TF-3, and is developed with four two-family residences.  Lot sizes 
surrounding the application area range in size from 2.69 acres to 10,890 square feet. 
 
In the TF-3 district, the Wichita-Sedgwick County Unified Zoning Code (UZC) permits single-family 
residential development on lots as small as 3,500 square feet and duplex development on lots with a 
minimum lot area of 3,000 square feet per dwelling unit or 6,000 square feet per duplex structure.  A 
duplex is defined by the Unified Zoning Code as the use of a lot for two principal dwelling units within a 
single building.  If the site were scraped clean, it could accommodate 6.89 six-thousand square-foot lots 
or up to six duplex structures.     
 
The City’s Stormwater Engineer indicates he is aware of drainage concerns at the intersection of North 
Sheridan Avenue and West St. Louis where water is reported to be curb depth or somewhat higher on 
occasion.  The Federal Emergency Management Agency floodway map indicates the property has a less 
than .2 percent chance of annual flooding. 

 
Analysis:  District Advisory Board (DAB) VI heard the rezone request on June 19, 2013, and 
recommended unanimous (6-0) approval.  There were three members of the public who spoke in 
opposition to the request.  Neighbors expressed the following concerns:  The proposed duplexes will be 
rentals and not owner occupied single-family residences.  Renters are more transient than residents of 
owner-occupied units and tend to not become as involved with the upkeep of the neighborhood as are the 
rest of the neighborhood’s residents.  Multiple duplex units will decrease property values for existing 
residences.  Traffic volumes will increase.  New construction in the area will increase flooding.  Rental 
units will increase the number of police and EMS calls.    
 
At the Metropolitan Area Planning Commission (MAPC) meeting held on June 20, 2013, the MAPC 
voted (10-2) to recommend approval of the request subject to Protective Overlay #277 (PO-277) that 
limits the site to a maximum of eight dwelling units.  There were neighboring property owners present to 
speak in opposition, and at least eight letters of protest had been received prior to the MAPC meeting.  
These letters repeated many of the opposition’s comments that had been presented at the DAB VI 
meeting.  By the end of the protest period at least 12 property owners had filed protests that equal 79.58 
percent.  State statute requires a three-fourths majority vote (six out of seven) on the part of the City 
Council to approve applications that have a 20 percent or greater protest. 
 
Financial Considerations:  Approval of this request will not create any financial obligations for the City. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the ordinance. 
 
Recommendation/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council 1) Adopt the findings of the 
MAPC, approve the zone change request subject to Protective Overly #277 that limits the site to a 
maximum of eight dwelling units, place the ordinance on first reading and authorize the Mayor to sign the 
ordinance (three-fourths majority vote required); 2) Deny the application by making alternate findings 
(two-thirds majority vote required); or 3) Return the application to the MAPC for further consideration 
(simple majority vote required). 

470



Page 3 
 
 

 
Attachments:  Protest map, Ordinance, MAPC minutes, DAB memo and eight protest letters. 

471



Page 1 of 2 
 

OCA 150004 
ORDINANCE NO. 49-554 

 
AN ORDINANCE CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS OR DISTRICTS OF CERTAIN 
LANDS LOCATED IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, UNDER THE AUTHORITY 
GRANTED BY THE WICHITA-SEDGWICK COUNTY UNIFIED ZONING CODE, SECTION V-C, 
AS ADOPTED BY SECTION 28.04.010, AS AMENDED. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY 

OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS. 
 

SECTION 1.  That having received a recommendation from the Planning Commission, and proper 
notice having been given and hearing held as provided by law and under authority and subject to the 
provisions of The Wichita-Sedgwick County Unified Zoning Code, Section V-C, as adopted by Section 
28.04.010, as amended, the zoning classification or districts of the lands legally described hereby are 
changed as follows:   
 

Case No. ZON2013-00013 
Zone change from SF-5 Single-Family Residential (“SF-5”) to TF-3 Two-family Residential (TF-3) on 
an approximately .95 acre described as: 
 
Lot 20 EXCEPT the North 361 feet and EXCEPT the North 114 feet of the West 139 feet of the 
South 249 feet and EXCEPT the South 135 feet of the West 125 feet thereof, Knight Acres 
Addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas. 
 
AND 
 
The South 135 feet of lot 21, Knight Acres Addition to Wichita, Sedgwick County, Kansas. 
 
 
SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS OF PROTECTIVE OVERLAY DISTRICT 
#277: 

The site is restricted to a maximum of eight dwelling units. 
 

SECTION 2.  That upon the taking effect of this ordinance, the above zoning changes shall be entered 
and shown on the "Official Zoning Map" previously adopted by reference, and said official zoning map 
is hereby reincorporated as a part of the Wichita -Sedgwick County Unified Zoning Code as amended. 
 
SECTION 3.  That this Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its adoption and 
publication in the official City paper.   
 
 

   
 
 
 

472



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
   ___________________________ 

   Carl Brewer - Mayor     
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________  
Karen Sublett, City Clerk     
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
Approved as to form:  ______________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 

473

































489



490



491



492



493



494



495



496



497



498



499



500



501



502



503



504



505



506



507



508



509



510



511



512



513



514



515



516



1 
 

         Agenda Item No. II-4a 
      

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT: Petitions for Improvements to Serve Falcon Falls Second Addition (District I) 
 
INITIATED BY: Department of Public Works & Utilities   
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
Recommendation:   Approve the petitions and adopt the resolutions. 

Background:   On October 4, 2005, the City Council approved petitions for paving improvements and a 
water distribution system to serve Falcon Falls Second Addition.  The developer has submitted new 
petitions to rephase the construction of infrastructure within the addition to reflect current market 
conditions.  Petitions for additional paving improvements and a water distribution system have been 
submitted as well.   The signatures on the petitions represent 100% of the improvement district and the 
petitions are valid per Kansas statute. 

Analysis:  The projects will provide paving improvements and water distribution systems required for a 
new residential development located north of 45th Street North, west of Hillside. 

Financial Considerations:  The total of the existing petitions is $558,000.  The total of the revised 
petitions is $339,000, and the total of the new petitions is $368,000, for a new, revised total cost of 
$707,000.  The funding source is special assessments. 

Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the petitions and resolutions as 
to form. 

 Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the petitions, adopt the 
resolutions, and authorize the necessary signatures. 

Attachments:  Map, budget sheets, petitions, and resolutions. 

517



518



519



520



521



522



523



524



525



526



527



528



529



530



531



532



533



534



535



536



537



538



539



540



541



542



1 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-134 
 
RESOLUTION OF FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY AND RESOLUTION 
AUTHORIZING CONSTRUCTING PAVEMENT ON MARBLEFALLS FROM THE 
SOUTHEAST LINE OF LOT 13, BLOCK A, SOUTH TO AND INCLUDING THE 
ROUNDABOUT; AND ON MANTANE FROM THE EAST LINE OF THE 
ROUNDABOUT EAST TO THE EAST LINE OF THE PLAT AND THAT 
SIDEWALK BE CONSTRUCTED ON MARBLEFALLS AND MANTANE 
(NORTH OF 45TH STREET NORTH, WEST OF HILLSIDE) 472-85106 IN THE 
CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, PURSUANT TO FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY 
MADE BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 
KANSAS, THAT THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS AS TO THE ADVISABILITY OF 
AUTHORIZING CONSTRUCTING PAVEMENT ON MARBLEFALLS FROM 
THE SOUTHEAST LINE OF LOT 13, BLOCK A, SOUTH TO AND 
INCLUDING THE ROUNDABOUT; AND ON MANTANE FROM THE EAST 
LINE OF THE ROUNDABOUT EAST TO THE EAST LINE OF THE PLAT 
AND THAT SIDEWALK BE CONSTRUCTED ON MARBLEFALLS AND 
MANTANE (NORTH OF 45TH STREET NORTH, WEST OF HILLSIDE) 472-
85106 IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, ARE HEREBY MADE TO-WIT: 
 

  SECTION 1. That it is necessary and in the public interest to construct pavement on 
Marblefalls from the southeast line of Lot 13, Block A, south to and including the roundabout; 
and on Mantane from the east line of the roundabout east to the east line of the plat and that 
sidewalk be constructed on Marblefalls and Mantane (north of 45th Street North, west of Hillside) 
472-85106. 

 
Said pavement shall be constructed of the material in accordance with plans and 
specifications provided by the City Engineer. 

 
 SECTION 2. That the cost of said improvements provided for in Section 1 hereof is 
estimated to be Three Hundred Three Thousand Dollars ($303,000) exclusive of the cost of interest 
on borrowed money, with 100 Percent payable by the improvement district.  Said estimated cost as 
above set forth is hereby increased at the pro-rata rate of 1 percent per month from and after July 1, 
2013, exclusive of the costs of temporary financing. 
 
 
 SECTION 3. That all costs of said improvements attributable to the improvement district, 
when ascertained, shall be assessed against the land lying within the improvement district described as 
follows: 

 
FALCON FALLS 2ND ADDITION 

Lots 1 through 12, Block A 
Lots 6 through 13, Block E 

 

543



2 
 

 SECTION 4.   That the method of apportioning all costs of said improvements attributable to 
the improvement district to the owners of land liable for assessment therefore shall be on a fractional 
basis. 
  

The fractional shares provided for herein have been determined on the basis of equal 
shares being assessed to lots or parcels of substantially comparable size and/or value:  
Lots 1 through 12, Block A, and Lots 6 through 13, Block E, FALCON FALLS 2ND 
ADDITION shall each pay 1/20 of the total cost of the improvements.  
 

 In the event all or part of the lots or parcels in the improvement district are replatted before 
assessments have been levied, the assessments against the replatted area shall be recalculated on the 
basis of the method of assessment set forth herein. Where the ownership of a single lot is or may be 
divided into two or more parcels, the assessment to the lot so divided shall be assessed to each 
ownership or parcel on a square foot basis. Except when driveways are requested to serve a particular 
tract, lot, or parcel, the cost of said driveway shall be in addition to the assessment to said tract, lot, or 
parcel and shall be in addition to the assessment for other improvements. 
 
 SECTION 5. That payment of said assessments may indefinitely be deferred as against those 
property owners eligible for such deferral available through the Special Assessment Deferral Program. 
 
 SECTION 6. That the City Engineer shall prepare plans and specifications for said 
improvement and a preliminary estimate of cost therefore, which plans, specifications, and a preliminary 
estimate of cost shall be presented to this Body for its approval. 
 
 SECTION 7. Whereas, the Governing Body of the City, upon examination thereof, 
considered, found and determined the Petition to be sufficient, having been signed by the owners of 
record, whether resident or not, of more than Fifty Percent (50%) of the property liable for assessment 
for the costs of the improvement requested thereby; the advisability of the improvements set forth above 
is hereby established as authorized by K.S.A. 1980 Supp. 12-6a01 et seq. 
 
 SECTION 8. Be it further resolved that the above described improvement is hereby 
authorized and declared to be necessary in accordance with the findings of the Governing Body as set 
out in this resolution. 
 
 SECTION 9. That the City Clerk shall make proper publication of this resolution, which shall 
be published once in the official City paper and which shall be effective from and after said publication. 
 

544



3 
 

PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas this 6th day of  
 
August, 2013. 
 
 
           
     CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
    ____ 
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
GARY E. REBENSTORF 
DIRECTOR OF LAW 
 

545



4 
 

132019 
First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 13-135 

 
RESOLUTION OF FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY AND RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING 

CONSTRUCTION OF WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM NUMBER 448-90108 (NORTH OF 
45TH ST. NORTH, WEST OF HILLSIDE) IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, PURSUANT 
TO FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY MADE BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
WICHITA, KANSAS. 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, 
THAT THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS AS TO THE ADVISABILITY OF CONSTRUCTING 
WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM NUMBER 448-90108 (NORTH OF 45TH ST. NORTH, 
WEST OF HILLSIDE) IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, ARE HEREBY MADE TO-WIT: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Resolution No. 05-489 adopted on October 4, 2005 is hereby rescinded.   
 
 SECTION 2. That it is necessary and in the public interest to construct Water Distribution 
System Number 448-90108 (north of 45th St. North, west of Hillside) in the City of Wichita, Kansas. 
 
 SECTION 3. That the cost of said improvements provided for hereof is estimated to be Fifty-
Seven Thousand Dollars ($57,000) exclusive of the cost of interest on borrowed money, with 100 
percent payable by the improvement district.  Said estimated cost as above set forth is hereby increased 
at the pro-rata rate of 1 percent per month from and after July 1, 2013, exclusive of the costs of 
temporary financing. 
 
 SECTION 4. That all costs of said improvements attributable to the improvement district, 
when ascertained, shall be assessed against the land lying within the improvement district described as 
follows:  
 

FALCON FALLS 2ND ADDITION  
Lots 13 through 18, Block A  
Lots 14 through 27, Block E 

 
 SECTION 5. That the method of apportioning all costs of said improvements attributable to 
the owners of land liable for assessment shall be on a fractional basis: 

 
The fractional shares provided for herein have been determined on the basis of equal 
shares being assessed to lots or parcels of substantially comparable size and/or value:  
Lots 13 through 18, Block A, and Lots 14 through 27, Block E, FALCON FALLS 2ND 
ADDITION shall each pay 1/20 of the total cost of the improvements. 
 
In the event all or part of the lots or parcels in the improvement district are replatted before 

assessments have been levied, the assessments against the replatted area shall be recalculated on the 
basis of the method of assessment set forth herein.  Where the ownership of a single lot is or may be 
divided into two or more parcels, the assessment to the lot so divided shall be assessed to each 
ownership or parcel on a square foot basis. 
 
 SECTION 6. That payment of said assessments may indefinitely be deferred as against those 
property owners eligible for such deferral available through the Special Assessment Deferral Program. 
 
 SECTION 7.   That the City Engineer shall prepare plans and specifications for said 
improvement and a preliminary estimate of cost therefore, which plans, specifications, and a preliminary 
estimate of cost shall be presented to this Body for its approval. 

546



5 
 

 
 SECTION 8. Whereas, the Governing Body of the City, upon examination thereof, 
considered, found and determined the Petition to be sufficient, having been signed by the owners of 
record, whether resident or not, of more than Fifty Percent (50%) of the property liable for assessment 
for the costs of the improvement requested thereby; the advisability of the improvements set forth above 
is hereby established as authorized by K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq. as amended. 
 
 SECTION 9. Be it further resolved that the above described improvement is hereby 
authorized and declared to be necessary in accordance with the findings of the Governing Body as set 
out in this resolution. 
 
 SECTION 10.  That the City Clerk shall make proper publication of this resolution, which shall 
be published once in the official City paper and which shall be effective from and after said publication. 
 

 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this day of 6th, August, 2013. 
 
 _______________________________                                                       

  CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
 (SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
___________________________________ 
GARY E. REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

547



6 
 

132019 
First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 13-137 

 
 RESOLUTION OF FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY AND RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING 
THE IMPROVEMENT OF WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM NUMBER 448-90602 (NORTH 
OF 45TH ST. NORTH, WEST OF HILLSIDE) PURSUANT TO FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY 
MADE BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS. 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, 
THAT THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS AS TO THE ADVISABILITY OF IMPROVING FINDINGS 
OF ADVISABILITY AND RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE IMPROVEMENT OF WATER 
DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM NUMBER 448-90602 (NORTH OF 45TH ST. NORTH, WEST OF 
HILLSIDE) IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, ARE HEREBY MADE TO-WIT: 
 
 SECTION 1. That it is necessary and in the public interest to improve Water Distribution 
System Number 448-90602 (North of 45th Street North, west of Hillside). 
 
 SECTION 2. That the cost of said improvements provided for in Section 1 hereof is estimated 
to be Sixty-Five Thousand Dollars ($65,000) exclusive of the cost of interest on borrowed money, 
with 100 percent payable by the improvement district.  Said estimated cost as above set forth is hereby 
increased at the pro-rata rate of 1 percent per month from and after Ju1y 1, 2013, exclusive of the costs 
of temporary financing.   
 
 SECTION 3. That all costs of said improvements attributable to the improvement district, 
when ascertained, shall be assessed against the land lying within the improvement district described as 
follows: 
 

FALCON FALLS 2ND ADDITION  
Lots 1 through 12, Block A 
Lots 6 through 13, Block E 

 
 SECTION 4. That the method of apportioning all costs of said improvements attributable to the 
improvement district to the owners of land liable for assessment therefore shall be on a fractional basis. 
 

The fractional shares provided for herein have been determined on the basis of equal 
shares being assessed to lots or parcels of substantially comparable size and/or value:  
Lots 1 through 12, Block A, and Lots 6 through 13, Block E, FALCON FALLS 2ND 
ADDITION shall each pay 1/20 of the total cost of the improvements.  
 
In the event all or part of the lots or parcels in the improvement district are replatted before 

assessments have been levied, the assessments against the replatted area shall be recalculated  on the 
basis of the method of assessment set forth herein. Where the ownership of a single lot is or may be 
divided into two or more parcels, the assessment to the lot so divided shall be assessed to each 
ownership or parcel on a square foot basis. 

 

 SECTION 5. That payment of said assessments may indefinitely be deferred as 
against those property owners eligible for such deferral available through the Special Assessment 
Deferral Program. 

  
 SECTION 6. That the City Engineer shall prepare plans and specifications for said 
improvement and a preliminary estimate of cost therefore, which plans, specifications, and a preliminary 
estimate of cost shall be presented to this Body for its approval. 

548



7 
 

 
 SECTION 7. Whereas, the Governing Body of the City, upon examination thereof, 
considered, found and determined the Petition to be sufficient, having been signed by the owners of 
record, whether resident or not, of more than Fifty Percent (50%) of the property liable for assessment 
for the costs of the improvement requested thereby; the advisability of the improvements set forth above 
is hereby established as authorized by K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq., as amended. 
 
 SECTION 8. Be it further resolved that the above described improvement is hereby 
authorized and declared to be necessary in accordance with the findings of the Governing Body as set 
out in this resolution. 
 
 SECTION 9. That the City Clerk shall make proper publication of this resolution, which shall 
be published once in the official City paper and which shall be effective from and after said publication. 
 
 
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 
  
 

 ___________________________                                                
    CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________                                                         
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
GARY E. REBENSTORF,  
DIRECTOR OF LAW 
 

549



1 
 

132019 
First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013                                                                                     

 
RESOLUTION NO. 13-136 

 
 RESOLUTION OF FINDINGS OF ADVISABILITY AND RESOLUTION 
AUTHORIZING CONSTRUCTING PAVEMENT ON MARBLEFALLS FROM THE 
SOUTHEAST LINE OF LOT 19, BLOCK A, SOUTH TO THE SOUTHEAST LINE OF 
LOT 13, BLOCK A AND THAT THERE BE CONSTRUCTED PAVEMENT ON 
MARBLEFALLS COURT FROM THE WEST LINE OF MARBLEFALLS, WEST TO 
AND INCLUDING THE CUL-DE-SAC AND THAT SIDEWALK BE CONSTRUCTED 
ON MARBLEFALLS (NORTH OF 45TH ST. NORTH, WEST OF HILLSIDE) 472-
84266 IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, PURSUANT TO FINDINGS OF 
ADVISABILITY MADE BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 
KANSAS. 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 
KANSAS, THAT THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS AS TO THE ADVISABILITY OF 
AUTHORIZING CONSTRUCTING PAVEMENT ON MARBLEFALLS FROM THE 
SOUTHEAST LINE OF LOT 19, BLOCK A, SOUTH TO THE SOUTHEAST LINE OF 
LOT 13, BLOCK A AND THAT THERE BE CONSTRUCTED PAVEMENT ON 
MARBLEFALLS COURT FROM THE WEST LINE OF MARBLEFALLS, WEST TO 
AND INCLUDING THE CUL-DE-SAC AND THAT SIDEWALK BE CONSTRUCTED 
ON MARBLEFALLS (NORTH OF 45TH ST. NORTH, WEST OF HILLSIDE) 472-
84266    IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, ARE HEREBY MADE TO-WIT: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Resolution No. 05-492 adopted on October 4, 2005 is hereby 
rescinded.  
 
 SECTION 2. That it is necessary and in the public interest to construct pavement on 
Marblefalls from the southeast line of Lot 19, Block A, south to the southeast line of Lot 
13, Block A and that there be constructed pavement on Marblefalls Court from the west 
line of Marblefalls, west to and including the cul-de-sac and that sidewalk be constructed 
on Marblefalls (north of 45th St. north, west of Hillside) 472-84266.  
 
 Said pavement shall be constructed of the material in accordance with plans and 
specifications provided by the City Engineer. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

550



2 
 

 SECTION 3. That the cost of said improvements provided for in Section 2 hereof is 
estimated to Two Hundred Eighty-Two Thousand Dollars ($282,000) exclusive of the cost 
of interest on borrowed money, with 100 percent payable by the improvement district.  Said 
estimated cost as above set forth is hereby increased at the pro-rata rate of 1 percent per month 
from and after July 1, 2013 exclusive of the costs of temporary financing. 
 
 SECTION 4.   That all costs of said improvements attributable to the improvement 
district, when ascertained, shall be assessed against the land lying within the improvement 
district described as follows: 
 

FALCON FALLS 2ND ADDITION  
Lots 13 through 18, Block A 
Lots 14 through 27, Block E 

 
 SECTION 5.   That the method of apportioning all costs of said improvements 
attributable to the improvement district to the owners of land liable for assessment therefore 
shall be on a fractional basis: 
 

 The fractional shares provided for herein have been determined on the basis of 
equal shares being assessed to lots or parcels of substantially comparable size 
and/or value:  Lots 13 through 18, Block A, and Lots 14 through 26, Block E, 
FALCON FALLS 2ND ADDITION shall each pay 1/20 of the total cost of the 
improvements.   

       
In the event all or part of the lots or parcels in the improvement district are replatted 

before assessments have been levied, the assessments against the replatted area shall be 
recalculated on the basis of the method of assessment set forth herein. Except when driveways 
are requested to serve a particular tract, lot, or parcel, the cost of said driveway shall be in 
addition to the assessment of said tract, lot, or parcel and shall be in addition to the assessment 
for other improvements. Where the ownership of a single lot is or may be divided into two or 
more parcels, the assessment to the lot so divided shall be assessed to each ownership or parcel 
on a square foot basis. 
 
 SECTION 6. That payment of said assessments may indefinitely be deferred as 
against those property owners eligible for such deferral available through the Special 
Assessment Deferral Program. 
 
 SECTION 7. That the City Engineer shall prepare plans and specifications for said 
improvement and a preliminary estimate of cost therefore, which plans, specifications, and a 
preliminary estimate of cost shall be presented to this Body for its approval. 
 
 SECTION 8. Whereas, the Governing Body of the City, upon examination thereof, 
considered, found and determined the Petition to be sufficient, having been signed by the 
owners of record, whether resident or not, of more than Fifty Percent (50%) of the property 
liable for assessment for the costs of the improvement requested  
thereby; the advisability of the improvements set forth above is hereby established as 
authorized by K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq., as amended. 
 
 SECTION 9. Be it further resolved that the above-described improvement is hereby 
authorized and declared to be necessary in accordance with the findings of the Governing Body 
as set out in this resolution. 
 

551



3 
 

 SECTION 10. That the City Clerk shall make proper publication of this resolution, 
which shall be published once in the official City paper and which shall be effective from and 
after said publication. 
 
 
 
 

PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this day of 6th, 
August, 2013. 
 
 
 _______________________________                                                       

  CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
 (SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
___________________________________ 
GARY E. REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 
 

552



1 
 

          Agenda Item No. II-5a 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
  
SUBJECT:  Street Closure at Lincoln Street from McLean to Waco (Districts III and IV) 
  
INITIATED BY: Department of Public Works & Utilities 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the temporary street closure. 
 
Background:  The Lincoln Street Bridge and Dam reconstruction project was approved by the City 
Council on April 20, 2010.  The project was completed in the spring of 2013.   
                                                 
Analysis:   The temporary closure of Lincoln Street is being requested to allow a dedication ceremony 
recognizing completion of the Lincoln Street Bridge and Dam project on Saturday, August 10, 2013, from 
7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  The Department of Public Works & Utilities is responsible for placement of the 
required detour and construction signs, barricades, and notification of area businesses and residents.  The 
closure will affect Lincoln Street from the east line of McLean to the west line of Waco, and traffic will 
be detoured as follows: 
 
Eastbound traffic on Lincoln will be detoured south on McLean to Harry, then east on Harry to Market, 
then north on Market back to Lincoln. 
 
Westbound traffic on Lincoln will be detoured south on Main Street to Harry, then west on Harry to 
McLean, then north on McLean back to Lincoln.   
 
Financial Considerations:  There is no cost to the City associated with this street closure. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The City Council has legislative authority under the powers granted in the 
Kansas Constitution, Art. 12, § 5 to temporarily close a street not a part of a designated federal or state 
highway system in order to secure the public safety and welfare.  A motion is the appropriate format for 
such action. 
 
Recommendation/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the temporary street 
closure. 
 
Attachment:  Map. 
 

553



554



             Agenda Item No. II-6a 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Grant with the Kansas Department of Transportation (All Districts) 
   
INITIATED BY:  Wichita Transit 
 
AGENDA:  Consent  
 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the KDOT grant and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreement. 
 
Background:  The KDOT grant application process requires official action by the governing body 
authorizing staff to: execute approved grants, and administer the grant’s program.  The governing body’s 
approval will authorize the City of Wichita Transit Department to receive eligible state funds in support 
of the City’s transit services. A public hearing was held on May 30, 2013. 
 
The City of Wichita has been allotted $1,827,723 for State Fiscal Year 2014 (timeframe is July 1, 2013 
through June 30, 2014), which may be used for capital or operating expenditures. 
 
Analysis:  The grant will provide for continued KDOT-funded operations including: operator wages, fuel 
and purchased transportation. No capital items will be purchased with this fiscal year’s allotment. 

 
Financial Consideration:  The total grant request is $1,827,723.  The funds are 100% grant supported, 
and require no local match. 
 
Legal Consideration:  The Law Department has approved the contract as to form. 
 
Recommendation/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the KDOT grant and 
authorize the Mayor to execute the agreement. 
 
Attachments:  KDOT SFY2014 Agreement for State grant funds. 

555



 

 

Agenda Item No. II- 6b 
 

 
City of Wichita 

City Council Meeting 
August 6, 2013 

 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Transit Pass-through Agreement with Butler County (All Districts) 
 
INITIATED BY: Wichita Transit  
 
AGENDA:  Consent  
  
 
Recommendation:  Approve the interlocal agreement. 
 
Background:  Each year, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) provides grant money for use in 
providing urban public transportation services.  The amount of funding is based upon a complex formula 
involving miles driven, passenger rides provided, population area and density serviced.     
 
Analysis:  The City can request funds for public transportation services to enhance the programs of the 
urbanized area, and pass through a portion of the total annual apportionment.  For Fiscal Year 2013, the 
pass-through funds for Butler County will be for a total of $20,000 for operating expenses.  The funds 
will be used to support Butler County’s transportation efforts to provide rides in the Andover area.  The 
total funding will be $40,000.  The Federal Transit Administration will fund 50% of the total funds 
($20,000) and Butler County will provide the remaining 50% match ($20,000).   
 
Financial Considerations:  Butler County will pay the matching portion. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the agreements as to form. 
 
Recommendations/Actions: It is recommended that the City Council approve the interlocal agreement. 
 
Attachments:  Interlocal agreement for Butler County. 
 

556



557



558



559



560



561



562



563



564



565



566



1 
 

Agenda Item No. II-7a 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT: Supplemental Design Agreement No. 5 for Lincoln Street Bridge and Dam 

Improvements (District III and IV) 
  
 INITIATED BY: Department of Public Works & Utilities 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve Supplemental Agreement No. 5. 
 
Background:  On April 20, 2010, the City Council approved a design concept by MKEC Engineering 
Consultants, Inc. (MKEC) which provided for reconstruction of the Lincoln Street Bridge and 
construction of a new dam downstream from the bridge.  The City Council also approved final design 
funding for the separate structures.  On December 14, 2010, the City Council approved a construction 
contract with Dondlinger & Sons Construction Company, Inc. for improvements to the Lincoln Street 
Bridge and Dam.  Construction was completed on September 30, 2012. 
 
Supplemental Agreement History 

No. Date Approved 
by City Council Amount Services Provided 

1 October 17, 2007 $339,166 
Detailed evaluation of rehabilitation and redesign options in the 
concept phase of the project 

2 May 11, 2010 $364,847 
Additional design services based on the concept option chosen 
by the City Council; addition of a boat and fish passage 

3 October 19, 2010 $50,000 Design of aesthetic improvements 

4 January 15, 2013 $8,240 
Final survey of the new dam as required by the Kansas 
Department of Agriculture’s Division of Water Resources 

 
Analysis:  During Riverfest 2012, while construction was underway, festival events required the 
Arkansas River to be raised to normal pool elevation, resulting in a week-long manual operation of the 
new dam gates.  Several significant rain events occurred in a short period of time during this week, 
causing the water level to rise higher than the boat pass was designed to accommodate.  The inability to 
effectively adjust the gates by hand during the rapid change in river level resulted in damage to the pass.  
In response, MKEC provided additional design services to repair the damage and prevent future 
recurrences.  Supplemental Agreement No. 5 provides for the assessment and design services. 
 
Financial Considerations:  Payment to MKEC for the additional work is on a lump sum basis in the 
amount of $30,000.  The approved design fee to-date is $770,753.  With this supplemental agreement, the 
total design fee will be $800,753.  Funding is available within the existing project budget. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The supplemental agreement has been reviewed and approved as to form by the 
Law Department. 
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the supplemental agreement 
and authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Attachments:  Supplemental Agreement No. 5. 

567



2 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 5 
 

TO THE 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES DATED May 28, 2003 
 

BETWEEN 
 

THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS 
 

PARTY OF THE FIRST PART, HEREINAFTER CALLED THE 
 

“CITY” 
 

AND 
 

MKEC ENGINEERING CONSULTANTS, INC.  
 

PARTY OF THE SECOND PART, HEREINAFTER CALL THE 
 

“ENGINEER” 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, there now exists a Contract (dated May 28, 2003) between the two parties covering 
engineering services to be provided by the ENGINEER in conjunction with the construction of 
improvements to LINCOLN STREET BRIDGE & DAM AT THE ARKANSAS RIVER (Project no. 
472 84884). 
 
 WHEREAS, Paragraph IV. B. of the above referenced Contract provides that additional work be 
performed and additional compensation be paid on the basis of a Supplemental Agreement duly entered 
into by the parties, and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is the desire of both parties that the ENGINEER provide additional services 
required for the PROJECT and receive additional compensation (as revised herein). 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
A. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 The description of the improvements that the CITY intends to construct and thereafter called the 
“PROJECT” as stated on page 1 of the above referenced agreement is hereby amended to include the 
following: 
 

Boat Pass Modifications for 
Lincoln Street Bridge and Dam 

(see attached) 
 

B. PAYMENT PROVISIONS 
 
 The fee in Section IV. A. shall be amended to include the following:  
 
 Payment to the ENGINEER for the performance of the professional services as outlined in this 
supplemental agreement will increase the total contract by $30,000.00. 
 
C. PROVISIONS OF THE ORIGINAL CONTRACT 
 
  

568



3 
 

 The parties hereunto mutually agree that all provisions and requirements of the existing Contract, 
not specifically modified by this Supplemental Agreement, shall remain in force and effect. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY and the ENGINEER have executed this Supplemental 
Agreement as of this _______ day of __________________, 2013. 
 
 
 
      BY ACTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________ 
Gary Rebenstorf, Director of Law 
 
      MKEC ENGINEERING CONSULTANTS, INC. 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      (Name and Title) 
      Gregory J. Allison, P.E., Vice President  
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Cynthia A. Womack, Admin. Asst.        
  
 

 
 

 

569



570



571



572



573



574



575



576



577



578



579



580



581



Agenda Item No. II-8a 
CITY OF WICHITA 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT: Acquisition of part of 11051 East Kellogg for the Improvement of the Kellogg 

Avenue (US Highway 54) from Cypress to Chateau (District II) 
  
INITIATED BY: Office of Property Management 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the acquisition. 

 
Background:  On February 8, 2011, the City Council approved the design for the improvement of 
Kellogg Avenue (US Highway 54) from Cypress to Chateau.  The project calls for the improvement of 
Kellogg to a six lane, limited access highway, with one way frontage roads on each side of the highway 
and interchanges at the intersections of Webb Road and the Kansas Turnpike (Interstate Highway 35). 
The project will require the acquisition of all or part of approximately 32 parcels.  The properties consist 
of a mix of retail and commercial uses.  The property located at 11051 East Kellogg contains 108,464 
square feet, zoned general commercial, and is improved with an automobile sales office and paving.  The 
project requires 26,290 square feet of the site, access control along the new right-of-way, and an 8,737 
square foot temporary easement.       
 
Analysis:  The acquisition was appraised at $307,438.  The owner rejected this offer.  The valuation was 
based on land value of $10.25 per square foot.  The current owner acquired the site in late 2012 for 
$13.90 per square foot.  Substituting the acquisition price of $13.90 per square foot for the value in the 
appraisal produces a value of $460,000.  The owner has agreed to accept this amount.   
 
Financial Considerations:  A budget of $465,000 is requested.  This includes $460,000 for the 
acquisition and $5,000 for the closing costs and other administrative costs.   The funding source is Local 
Sales Tax (LST) together with State and Federal grant funds administered by the Kansas Department of 
Transportation.  
  
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has approved the real estate agreement as to form. 
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council; 1) approve the Budget; 2) approve 
the Real Estate Purchase Agreement; and 3) authorize the necessary signatures.  
 
Attachments:  Aerial map, tract map, and real estate purchase agreement.  
 
 

582



583



584



585



586



587



588



589



590



591



592



593



594



595



Agenda Item No. II-8b 
 

CITY OF WICHITA 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT: Partial Acquisition of 2603 North Amidon for the Amidon, 21st Street North to 

29th Street North Improvement Project (District VI) 
  
INITIATED BY: Office of Property Management 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the acquisition. 

 
Background:  On March 20, 2012, the City Council approved the design concept to improve Amidon 
Street between 21st Street North and 29th Street North.  The project will require a partial acquisition of 30 
properties together with the full taking of two additional properties.  The tracts within the project 
corridor consist of commercial and residential.  The proposed road improvement project includes 
widening Amidon to provide a continuous center turn lane, and the intersections at 21st Street, 25th Street 
and 29th Street will be reconstructed.  The proposed partial acquisition of 2603 North Amidon consists of 
1,098 square feet for road right-of-way together with a 560 square foot temporary easement.  The taking 
is a five foot wide strip of land adjacent to Amidon.  The improvements are not impacted by the proposed 
project.  The temporary easement during construction will allow for proper grading at the driveway 
approach. 
 
Analysis:  The proposed acquisition was valued at $1,310, or $1,210 ($1.10 per square foot) for the 
right-of-way and $100 for the temporary easement.  The seller agreed to accept the appraised offer. 
 
Financial Considerations:  The funding source for the project is General Obligation Bonds.  A budget 
of $1,810 is requested.  This includes $1,310 for the acquisition and $500 for title work, closing costs 
and other administrative fees.   
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has approved the real estate agreement as to form.  
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council 1) approve the real estate 
agreement; 2) approve the budget; and 3) authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Attachments:  Real estate agreement, tract map and aerial map. 

596



597



598



599



600



601



602



603



Agenda Item No. II-8c 
 

CITY OF WICHITA 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT: Partial Acquisition of 3215 East 9th Street for the Redbud Multi-Use Path, 

Interstate 135 to Oliver (District I)  
 
INITIATED BY: Office of Property Management 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the acquisition.  

 
Background:  On December 4, 2012, the City Council approved the design concept for the completion of 
the bicycle/pedestrian path along the abandoned railroad corridor from Murdock and Interstate 135 to 17th 
Street North and Oliver.  The project will require the partial acquisition of four tracts.  The property at 
3215 East 9th Street is improved with a commercial office/warehouse facility.  The proposed taking at 
3215 East 9th is a 292.5 square foot temporary construction easement.  The improvements are not 
impacted by the project.   
 
Analysis:  The owner accepted the estimated market value of $500, the project’s established minimum 
offer amount.   
 
Financial Considerations:  The funding sources for the project are from both General Obligation Bonds 
and Federal grants administered by the Kansas Department of Transportation (KDOT).  A budget of 
$1,000 is requested.  This includes $500 for the acquisitions and $500 for title work, closing costs and 
other administrative fees.   
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has approved the easement as to form. 
 
Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council 1) approve the budget and; 2) accept 
the easement.  
 
Attachments:  Temporary easement, tract map, and aerial map. 

604



605



606



607



608



1 
 

Agenda Item No. II-10 
 
 City of Wichita 
 City Council Meeting 
 August 6, 2013 
 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council  
 
SUBJECT:  Public Housing Five Year Energy Audit  
 
INITIATED BY: Housing and Community Services Department 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation:  Approve a contract with EMG to perform a Five-Year Energy Audit of the Wichita 
Housing Authority (WHA) as required by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD). 
 
Background:  HUD is taking a proactive approach to encourage energy efficiency in its housing 
programs because of the positive impact on operating costs. HUD has therefore determined that there is a 
need for stronger energy audit data to be included in Public Housing Authorities’ (PHAs) capital fund 
planning processes.  According to 24 CFR 905, all PHAs must complete an energy audit for each PHA-
owned project under management at least every five years.  On November 17, 2011 HUD issued a 
Proposed Rule (FR Vol. 76, No. 222) that will further define energy audits to look at building systems to 
evaluate and identify projected costs, savings, and payback periods related to implementing a variety of 
energy conservation measures.  
 
Analysis:   The City’s Purchasing department issued Request for Proposal No. FP340023 on behalf of the 
WHA, for energy audit and utility study services. A Staff Selection Committee (SSC) comprised of 
representatives from Finance, Purchasing, the City Manager’s Office, Public Works & Utilities, Law, and 
Housing and Community Services reviewed three proposals received by the City. Two firms were 
selected for interviews.  The firm that was not selected submitted an incomplete proposal and failed to 
supply appropriate information when staff gave them the opportunity. 
 
EMG was unanimously selected by the SSC. The firm has 26 years of experience, has performed energy 
audits on 150,000 multifamily housing units, and has worked for more than 90 Public Housing 
Authorities within the last five years. The company has a thorough understanding of HUD energy audit 
requirements and its audit staff is appropriately credentialed.   
 
The energy audit will provide accurate information about energy conservation methods (ECMs) and the 
return on investment that the WHA can expect from implementing core ECMs that have proven track 
records of reducing energy and water consumption in a cost-effective manner. Core ECMs will be 
identified for the building envelope, heating, cooling, and other mechanical equipment systems and 
controls, water conservation, power and lighting systems, and appliances. 
  
Financial Considerations:  Public Housing funds will be utilized to pay for the audit and implementation 
of any recommendations.  General operating funds from the City budget will not be required. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed the contract with EMG as to form. 
 

609



2 
 

Recommendation/Action:  It is recommended that the City Council approve a contract with EMG to 
perform a Five-Year Energy Audit of the Wichita Housing Authority (WHA) as required by the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 
 
Attachments:  Contract with EMG for FP340023 – Energy Audit & Utility Study Services for Housing 
& Community Services Department/Public Housing Division. 

610



CONTRACT 
for 

ENERGY AUDIT AND UTILITY STUDY SERVICES 
 

 THIS CONTRACT entered into this 6TH day of August, 2013 by and between the 
CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called “CITY”, and  
CLAMPETT INDUSTRIES, LLC DBA EMG (Performance Vendor Code Number –  
828620-001 ), 222 Schilling Circle, Suite 275, Hunt Valley, MD 21031 Telephone 
Number (800) 733-0660 hereinafter called “VENDOR”. 
 
 WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY has solicited proposals for Energy Audit and Utility 
Study Services (Formal Proposal – FP340023) [Commodity Code Number 91016] and  
 
 WHEREAS, VENDOR has submitted the proposal most beneficial to the CITY 
and is ready, willing, and able to provide the commodities and/or services required by 
the CITY. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 
 1. Scope of Services.  VENDOR shall provide to the CITY all those 
commodities and/or services specified in its revised response to Formal Proposal 
Number – FP340023 [Commodity Code Number 91016], which is incorporated herein 
by this reference the same as if it were fully set forth.  The proposal package, including 
all specifications, plans, addenda, provided by the City of Wichita as part of the bid 
letting process for Formal Proposal – FP340023, shall be considered a part of this 
contract and is incorporated by reference herein. 
 
 2. Compensation.  CITY agrees to pay to VENDOR the following fee for 
Energy Audit and Utility Study Services (Formal Proposal – FP340023) [Commodity 
Code Number - 91016] for the Housing & Community Services Department, Public 
Housing Division of the City of Wichita as shown below as compensation as per the 
proposal, specifications, plans, and/or addenda of May 14, 2013 and the VENDOR’s 
proposal dated May 14, 2013 as approved by the City Council on August 6, 2013. 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FEE 
Energy Audit and Utility Study Services $31,715.00 
 
 
 Billing Terms:  Net Thirty Days   
    

 

611



 2 

3. Term.  The term of this contract shall be from August 6, 2013  
through December 13, 2013 by mutual agreement of the parties.  This contract is 
subject to cancellation by the CITY, at its discretion at any time during any renewal 
term, upon thirty (30) days written notice to VENDOR.  The CITY shall not cancel this 
contract during the original contract term without cause. 
 
 4.   Indemnification and Insurance. 
 
  a.  VENDOR shall save and hold the CITY harmless against all suits, 
claims, damages and losses for injuries to persons or property arising from or caused 
by errors, omissions or negligent acts of VENDOR, its officers, agents, servants, or 
employees, occurring in the performance of its services under this Contract. 
 
1. Comprehensive General Liability 

 Covering premises---operations, xcu hazards when applicable, Product/Completed Operations, Broad Form 
Property Damage and Contractual Liability with minimum limits as follows: 

 
  Bodily Injury Liability   $500,000 Each Occurrence 
        $500,000 Each Aggregate 
 
  Property Damage Liability   $500,000 Each Occurrence 
        $500,000 Each Aggregate 
 
  Or 
 
  Bodily Injury and Property Damage $500,000 Each Occurrence 
  Liability (Combined Single Limit)  $500,000 Each Aggregate     
 
2. Comprehensive Automobile Liability 
 All Owned, Non-Owned, and Hired vehicles with minimum limits as follows: 
 
  Bodily Injury Liability   $500,000 Each Accident 
  Property Damage Liability   $500,000 Each Accident 
 
  Or 
 
  Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
  Liability (Combined Single Limit)  $500,000 Each Accident 
 
3. Workers' Compensation     Statutory  
  
  Employers Liability    $100,000 Each Accident 
        $500,000 Aggregate 
        $100,000 Occupational Disease 
 
The Insurance Certificate must contain the following: 
 

 Statement that the Contractual Liability includes the Liability of the City of Wichita assumed by the 
Contractor in the contract documents.   

 
 

612



 3 

 5.   Compliance with Laws.  VENDOR shall comply with all laws, statutes 
and ordinances which are applicable to the providing of services under this Contract. 
 
 6. Independent Contractor.  The relationship of the VENDOR to the CITY 
will be that of an independent contractor.  No employee or agent of the VENDOR shall 
be considered an employee of the CITY. 
 
 7. No Assignment.  The services to be provided by the VENDOR under this 
contract are personal and cannot be assigned, sublet or transferred without the specific 
written consent of the CITY. 
 
 8. Non-Discrimination.  VENDOR shall comply with all applicable 
requirements of the City of Wichita Revised Non-Discrimination and Equal Employment 
/Affirmative Action Program Requirements Statement for Contracts or Agreements 
attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 
 9. Third Party Rights.  It is specifically agreed between the parties that it is 
not intended by any of the provisions of any part of this contract to create the public or 
any member thereof a third-party beneficiary hereunder, or to authorize anyone not a 
party to this contract to maintain a suit for damages pursuant to the terms or provisions 
of this contract. 
 
 10. No Arbitration.  The Contractor and the City shall not be obligated to 
resolve any claim or dispute related to the Contract by arbitration.  Any reference to 
arbitration in bid or proposal documents is deemed void. 
  
 11. Governing Law.  This contract shall be interpreted according to the laws 
of the State of Kansas. 
 
 12. Representative’s Authority to Contract.  By signing this contract, the 
representative of the contractor or CONTRACTOR represents the he or she is duly 
authorized by the contractor or CONTRACTOR to execute this contract, and that the 
contractor or CONTRACTOR has agreed to be bound by all its provisions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

613



 4 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands the day and year first 
above written. 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS 
 
 
______________________________ _______________________________ 
Janis Edwards Carl G. Brewer 
Deputy City Clerk Mayor 
 
 

  APPROVED AS TO FORM: CLAMPETT INDUSTRIES, LLC 
  DBA EMG 

 
 
______________________________ ________________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf  Signature 
Director of Law 
   
 _____________________________ 
 Print Name 
 
     
 _______________________________  
 Title (Managing Member) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

614



 5 

EXHIBIT A 
 

REVISED NON-DISCRIMINATION AND 
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PROGRAM 

REQUIREMENTS STATEMENT FOR CONTRACTS OR AGREEMENTS 
 
 
During the term of this contract, the contractor or subcontractor, vendor or supplier of 
the City, by whatever term identified herein, shall comply with the following 
Non-Discrimination--Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program 
Requirements: 
 
A. During the performance of this contract, the contractor, subcontractor, vendor or 

supplier of the City, or any of its agencies, shall comply with all the provisions of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended:  The Equal Employment Opportunity 
Act of 1972; Presidential Executive Orders 11246, 11375, 11131; Part 60 of Title 
41 of the Code of Federal Regulations; the Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act of 1967; the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and laws, regulations or 
amendments as may be promulgated thereunder. 

 
B. Requirements of the State of Kansas: 
 

1. The contractor shall observe the provisions of the Kansas Act against 
Discrimination (Kansas Statutes Annotated 44-1001, et seq.) and shall not 
discriminate against any person in the performance of work under the 
present contract because of race, religion, color, sex, disability, and age 
except where age is a bona fide occupational qualification, national origin 
or ancestry; 

 
2. In all solicitations or advertisements for employees, the contractor shall 

include the phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a similar phrase to 
be approved by the "Kansas Human Rights Commission"; 

 
3. If the contractor fails to comply with the manner in which the contractor 

reports to the "Kansas Human Rights Commission" in accordance with the 
provisions of K.S.A. 1976 Supp. 44-1031, as amended, the contractor 
shall be deemed to have breached this contract and it may be canceled, 
terminated or suspended in whole or in part by the contracting agency; 

 
4. If the contractor is found guilty of a violation of the Kansas Act against 

Discrimination under a decision or order of the "Kansas Human Rights 
Commission" which has become final, the contractor shall be deemed to 
have breached the present contract, and it may be canceled, terminated 
or suspended in whole or in part by the contracting agency; 

 
5. The contractor shall include the provisions of Paragraphs 1 through 4 

inclusive, of this Subsection B, in every subcontract or purchase so that 
such provisions will be binding upon such subcontractor or vendor. 

615



 6 

C. Requirements of the City of Wichita, Kansas, relating to Non-Discrimination -- 
Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 

 
1. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall practice Non-

Discrimination -- Equal Employment Opportunity in all employment 
relations, including but not limited to employment, upgrading, demotion or 
transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination, rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including 
apprenticeship.  The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall 
submit an Equal Employment Opportunity or Affirmative Action Program, 
when required, to the Department of Finance of the City of Wichita, 
Kansas, in accordance with the guidelines established for review and 
evaluation; 

 
2. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will, in all solicitations or 

advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the vendor, 
supplier, contractor or subcontractor, state that all qualified applicants will 
receive consideration for employment without regard to race, religion, 
color, sex, "disability, and age except where age is a bona fide 
occupational qualification", national origin or ancestry.  In all solicitations 
or advertisements for employees the vendor, supplier, contractor or 
subcontractor shall include the phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a 
similar phrase; 

 
3. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will furnish all 

information and reports required by the Department of Finance of said City 
for the purpose of investigation to ascertain compliance with 
Non-Discrimination -- Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements.  If 
the vendor, supplier, contractor, or subcontractor fails to comply with the 
manner in which he/she or it reports to the City in accordance with the 
provisions hereof, the vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall 
be deemed to have breached the present contract, purchase order or 
agreement and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or 
in part by the City or its agency; and further Civil Rights complaints, or 
investigations may be referred to the State; 

  
4. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall include the 

provisions of Subsections 1 through 3 inclusive, of this present section in 
every subcontract, subpurchase order or subagreement so that such provi-
sions will be binding upon each subcontractor, subvendor or subsupplier. 

 
5. If the contractor fails to comply with the manner in which the contractor 

reports to the Department of Finance as stated above, the contractor shall 
be deemed to have breached this contract and it may be canceled, 
terminated or suspended in whole or in part by the contracting agency; 

 
 
 
 

616



 7 

D. Exempted from these requirements are:   
 

1. Those contractors, subcontractors, vendors or suppliers who have less 
than four (4) employees, whose contracts, purchase orders or agreements 
cumulatively total less than five thousand dollars ($5,000) during the fiscal 
year of said City are exempt from any further Equal Employment Oppor-
tunity or Affirmative Action Program submittal. 

 
2. Those vendors, suppliers, contractors or subcontractors who have already 

complied with the provisions set forth in this section by reason of holding a 
contract with the Federal government or contract involving Federal funds; 
provided that such contractor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier provides 
written notification of a compliance review and determination of an 
acceptable compliance posture within a preceding forty-five (45) day  
period from the Federal agency involved. 

 

617



 8 

ASSURANCE OF COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 3 OF THE HOUSING AND URBAN 
DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1968, AS AMENDED 

 
A. The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of section 3 of 

the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u (section 3). 
The purpose of section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities 
generated by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by section 3, shall, to the 
greatest extent feasible, be directed to low- and very low-income persons, particularly 
persons who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 

     
B. The parties to this contract agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135, 

which implement section 3. As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to 
this contract certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would 
prevent them from complying with the part 135 regulations. 

 
C. The contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with 

which the contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a 
notice advising the labor organization or workers' representative of the contractor's 
commitments under this section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous 
places at the work site where both employees and applicants for training and employment 
positions can see the notice. The notice shall describe the section 3 preference, shall set forth 
minimum number and job titles subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training 
positions, the qualifications for each; and the name and location of the person(s) taking 
applications for each of the positions; and the anticipated date the work shall begin. 

 
D. The contractor agrees to include this section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 

compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as 
provided in an applicable provision of the subcontract or in this section 3 clause, upon a 
finding that the subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135. The 
contractor will not subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or 
knowledge that the subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR 
part 135. 

 
E. The contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training 

positions, that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected but before the contract is 
executed, and (2) with persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 135 
require employment opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the 
contractor's obligations under 24 CFR part 135. 

 
F. Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, 

termination of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD 
assisted contracts. 

 
G. With respect to work performed in connection with section 3 covered Indian housing 

assistance, section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 
U.S.C. 450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract. Section 7(b) 
requires that to the greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and 
employment shall be given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and 
subcontracts shall be given to Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises. 
Parties to this contract that are subject to the provisions of section 3 and section 7(b) agree to 

 

618



 9 

comply with section 3 to the maximum extent feasible, but not in derogation of compliance 
with section 7(b). 

 
H.  Section 3 Goals.  The City of Wichita in accordance with 24 CFR Part 135, has established goals for CDBG 

assisted projects.  All Section 3 covered contracts shall include the Section 3 clause as shown above.  Consistent 
with existing Federal, State and local laws and regulations, the City of Wichita has set the following goals to 
comply with the Section 3 requirements: 

 
• Committing to employ Section 3 residents at a rate of 30% of the aggregate of new hires for housing and 

community development assisted projects 
• Committing to contract a minimum of 10% of the total dollar amount of all other Section 3 covered 

contracts, such as community development infrastructure improvements or professional services. 
 

Section 3 applies to training, employment, contracting and other economic opportunities 
arising in connection with the expenditure of CDBG funds for the following activities: 

 
• Housing construction 
• Housing rehabilitation 
• Other public construction 
• Public Housing Authorities 

 
 

619



1 
 

         Agenda Item No. II-11 
       

 
City of Wichita 

City Council Meeting 
 August 6, 2013 

 
 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  HOME CHDO Operating Support Funding (Districts I, III, IV, V, and VI) 
 
INITIATED BY: Housing and Community Services Department 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the recommended allocations and the funding agreements and authorize the 
necessary signatures. 
 
Background:  On June 18, 2013, the City Council approved final allocations under the 2013-2014 fifth 
program year action plan which included $50,000 of HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) 
funds for operational support for City-designated Community Housing Development Organizations 
(CHDOs).   
   
Analysis:  HOME funds are provided by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD) and HUD regulations allow up to five percent of HOME allocations to be used for general 
operating assistance to CHDOs that are receiving set-aside funds for a housing development activity.  
Operating expenses are defined as reasonable and necessary costs for the operation of the CHDO, and 
may include salaries and other employee compensation and benefits.  Expenses for education, training, 
travel, rent, utilities, communications costs, taxes, insurance equipment, materials and supplies are also 
eligible.  Under the City’s program, a maximum grant amount of $25,000 is available to any one CHDO. 
 
Housing and Community Services staff has evaluated funding applications prepared by the CHDOs and 
recommendation allocations to Mennonite Housing Rehabilitation Services and Power CDC, based on 
anticipated housing production using 2013 HOME Program funding.  
 
Financial Considerations:  Funding for these allocations will come from the 2013-2014 HOME Grant, 
as previously allocated by the City Council.  Funding allocations are based on anticipated housing 
production utilizing 2013 HOME Program CHDO set-aside funding of $266,959. 
 
Mennonite Housing Rehabilitation Services (MHRS) is recommended to receive $25,000.   The 
funding will partially fund the MHRS project coordinator’s salary, to oversee the following programs 
which are HOME-funded:  2013 CHDO set-aside Neighborhood Homes projects, Boarded-up House 
projects, and single-family development projects funded under the Housing Development Loan Program.  
MHRS development activity should produce five units of housing with 2013 CHDO set-aside funding. 
 
Power CDC is recommended to receive $25,000.  The funding will partially fund the salary and benefits 
for the Executive Director, to oversee the following programs which are HOME-funded:  2013 CHDO 
set-aside single-family housing projects, Boarded-up House projects, and single-family development 
projects funded under the Housing Development Loan Program.  Power CDC development activity 
should produce three units of housing with 2013 CHDO set-aside funding. 
 
 
 
 

620



2 
 

Legal Considerations:  Funding agreements have been approved as to form by the Law Department. 
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the recommended 
allocations and the funding agreements and authorize the necessary signatures.   

Attachments:  Funding agreements. 
   
   

621



     
 
 
 

 
GRANT AGREEMENT 

Between 
 

THE CITY OF WICHITA 
HOUSING SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

A 
PARTICIPATING JURISDICTION 

And 
Mennonite Housing Rehabilitation Services, Inc. 

(The Agency) 
A 

COMMUNITY HOUSING DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION  
 

Operating Support Funding 
2013-2014 

 
HOME Investment Partnerships 

Program 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Housing and Community Services Department 
City of Wichita 
332 N. Riverview 
Wichita, KS  67203 
Phone (316) 268-4688 
Fax   (316) 268-4219 
 
 
 

622



 
 Page 2 

 
 
 
 
No.____________    
 AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS CONTRACT, dated the 6th day of August, 2013, and effective the date signed by 
the Mayor of the City of Wichita, by and between the City of Wichita, Kansas (hereinafter 
referred to as the City) and Mennonite Housing Rehabilitation Services, Inc. (hereinafter referred 
to as the "Agency"). 
 
 WITNESSETH THAT: 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is entitled to receive a HOME Investment Partnerships Program 
Grant (hereinafter referred to as HOME), from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (hereinafter referred to as the "Department"). 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency is desirous of participating in activities eligible under HOME, 
and further agrees that the beneficiaries of its activities under the program and this agreement are, 
or will be, individuals or families who meet the income eligibility guidelines of Title 24 CFR 
Part 92.216/217 as applicable; and 
 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the assistance to be provided under this agreement is 
specifically authorized by Title 24 CFR Section 92.208; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City deems the activities to be provided by the Agency as consistent 
with, and supportive of the HOME Investment Partnership Program, and the Agency requires the 
financial assistance of the City to initiate its activities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cooperation of the City and the Agency is essential for the successful 
implementation of an Affordable Housing Program; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the contracting parties do mutually agree as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  SCOPE OF SERVICES.  The Agency must follow the Performance 
Criteria and Program Description as outlined in Exhibit B.  Any programmatic change 
substantially altering the contract's original intent or financial change in contract amount or line 
items in the approved budget that is greater than $10,000 shall require a written contract 
amendment.  The amendment shall be approved by the City Council and shall also be approved 
and signed by all parties to the original contract. 
 

SECTION 2.  TIME OF PERFORMANCE.  The services of the Agency are to begin July 
August 6, 2013, and end no later than December 31, 2014 and shall be undertaken to accomplish 
the purposes of this contract.  

623



 
 Page 3 

 
SECTION 3.  RECORDS, REPORTS AND INSPECTION. 

 
A.  Establishment and Maintenance of Records.  The Agency shall establish and 

maintain records as prescribed by the Department, and/or the City, with respect to all matters 
covered by this contract. Except as otherwise authorized by the Department and/or the City, the 
Agency shall (Per 24 CFR 92.508) retain such records for a period of five years following the 
date final payment is received under this contract. 
 
  B.  Documentation of Costs.  All costs shall be supported by properly executed 
payrolls, time records, invoices, contracts or vouchers, or other official documentation 
evidencing in proper detail the nature and propriety of the charges.  All checks, payrolls, 
invoices, contracts, vouchers, orders or other accounting documents pertaining in whole or in 
part to this contract shall be clearly identified and readily accessible.    
 

C. Reports and information.  The Agency, at such times and in such forms as the City 
or its designated and authorized representative(s) may require, shall furnish to the City or its 
designated and authorized representative(s) such statements, records, reports, data and information as 
the City may request pertaining to matters covered by this contract. 
 

D.  Audits and Inspections.  The Agency shall at any time and as often as the Housing and 
Community Services Department, or the City or the Comptroller General, or the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development, (HUD) or the HUD Inspector General of the United States may 
deem necessary, make available all its records and data for the purpose of making audits, reviews, 
examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. 
 
     SECTION 4.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  No owner, Agency or sponsor of a project 
assisted with HOME funds (or officer, employee, agent, elected or appointed official or consultant of 
the owner, Agency or sponsor) whether private, for profit or non-profit (including a Community 
Housing Development Organization (CHDO) when acting as an owner, Agency or sponsor) may 
occupy a HOME-assisted affordable unit in a project. This provision does not apply to an individual 
who receives HOME funds to acquire or rehabilitate his or her principal residence or to an employee 
or agent of the owner or Agency of a rental housing project who occupies a housing unit as the 
project manager or maintenance worker.  (24 CFR 92.356 (f)(1)). 
 
EXCEPTIONS:  An exception may be granted in accordance and in compliance with 24 CFR 92.356 
(f)(2)(I) through (V), and with the City’s prior approval. 
 
     SECTION 5.  DISCRIMINATION. 
 

   A.  Discrimination Prohibited.  No recipient or proposed recipient of any funds, services or 
other assistance under the provisions of this contract or any program related to this contract, shall be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any 
program or activity funded in whole or in part with the funds made available through this contract on 
the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, disability, sex or age.  (Reference Title 

624



 
 Page 4 

VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Pub. L. 88-352)).  For purposes of this section, "program or 
activity" is defined as any function conducted by an identifiable administrative unit of the Agency 
receiving funds pursuant to this contract. 
 

   B.  The Agency further agrees to implement and comply with the "Revised Non-
Discrimination and Equal Employment Opportunity Statement for contracts or agreements" as 
provided in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

 
C.  The Agency will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, national origin, sex, or religion, in accordance with Executive Order 11246 – 
Equal Employment Opportunity, as amended and its implementing regulations at 41 CFR Part 60.  If 
the Agency has fifteen or more employees, the Agency is prohibited from discriminating against any 
employee or applicant with a disability, in accordance with Title I of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990 (ADA).  Nondiscrimination notices should be included in all job postings and posted in 
a visible place in the Agency’s office. 
 

SECTION 6.  EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR BUSINESSES AND LOWER 
INCOME PERSONS IN CONNECTION WITH ASSISTED PROJECTS. 
 

   A.  GENERAL.  Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, 12 U.S.C. 
1701 u., and Sec. 7 (d), Department of HUD Act, 42 U.S.C. 3535 (d) is applicable to all projects 
assisted by any Department program in which loans, grants, subsidies or other financial assistance, 
including HOME Investment Partnerships Program under the Act are provided in aid of housing, 
urban planning, development, redevelopment or renewal, public or community facilities, and new 
community developments. 
 

   B.  Assurance of Compliance. 
 

1.  The work to be performed under this contract is on a project assisted under a program 
providing direct Federal financial assistance from the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development and is subject to the requirements of Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development 
Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701 u (section 3).  The purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that 
employment and other economic opportunities generated by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted 
projects covered by section 3, shall, to the greatest extent feasible, be directed to low- and very low-
income persons, particularly persons who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 
 

2.  The parties to this contract will comply with the provisions of said Section 3 and the 
regulations issued pursuant thereto by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development set forth in 
24 CFR 135 and all applicable rules and orders of the Department issued thereunder prior to the 
execution of this contract.  The parties to this contract certify and agree that they are under no 
contractual or other disability that would prevent them from complying with these requirements. 
 

3.  The Agency agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with 
which the owner has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a notice 
advising the labor organization or workers’ representative of the contractor’s commitments under 

625



 
 Page 5 

this section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous places at the work site where 
both employees and applicants for training and employment positions can see the notice.  The notice 
shall describe the section 3 preference, shall set forth minimum number and job titles subject to hire, 
availability of apprenticeship and training positions, the qualifications for each; and the name and 
location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions; and the anticipated date the 
work shall begin. 
 

   4.  The Agency agrees to include this section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 
compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as provided 
in an applicable provision of the subcontract or in this section 3 clause, upon finding that the 
subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135.  The contractor will not 
subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or knowledge that the 
subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135.  
 

5. The Agency will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training 
positions, that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected, but before the contract is executed, and 
(2) with persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 135 require employment 
opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor’s obligations under 24 CFR 
part 135. 
 

6. Noncompliance with HUD’s regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, 
termination of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD assisted 
contracts. 
 

7. With respect to work performed in connection with section 3 covered Indian housing 
assistance, section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 U.S.C. 
450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract.  Section 7(b) requires that to the 
greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and employment shall be given to 
Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and subcontracts shall be given to Indian 
organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises.  Parties to this contract that are subject to the 
provisions of section 3 and section 7(b) agree to comply with section 3 to the maximum extent 
feasible, but not in derogation of compliance with section 7(b). 

 
 8.  Every contract or agreement entered into by the Agency that involves funds provided 
under this contract will have incorporated therein subsection B of Section 6 of this contract. 
 

9.  In the event the Agency sells, leases, transfers or otherwise conveys land upon which work 
in connection with this project is to be performed, the City must be notified in writing, thirty (30) 
days prior to such action.  Further, prior to sale or lease of property purchases, funded under this 
agreement, the Agency shall include in each contract or subcontract for work on such land, a clause 
requiring the purchaser, lessee or Agency to assume the same obligations as the Agency for work 
under subsection B of Section 6 of this contract.  Each such purchaser, lessee or Agency shall be 
relieved of such obligations upon satisfactory completion of all work to be performed under the 
terms of the redevelopment contract.    
 

626



 
 Page 6 

SECTION 7.  FEDERAL LABOR STANDARDS PROVISIONS.  Except with respect to the 
rehabilitation of residential property containing less than twelve units, the Agency and all contractors 
and subcontractors engaged under contracts in excess of $2,000 for the construction, prosecution, 
completion or repair of any building or work financed in whole or in part with assistance provided 
under this contract will comply with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 276 a to a-7), as 
supplemented by Department of Labor (DOL) regulations (29 CFR, Part 5), the Copeland "Anti-
Kickback" Act (18 U.S.C. 874), as supplemented in DOL regulations (29 CFR, Part 3), sections 103 
and 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 327-330) as supplemented 
by DOL regulations (29 CFR, Part 5), and the regulations issued pursuant thereto.  The Agency shall 
cause or require to be inserted in full, in all such contracts subject to such regulations, 
provisions consistent with applicable Federal Labor Standards.  No contracts under this section 
shall be awarded to any contractors or subcontractors debarred for violating Federal Labor Standards 
Provisions.  This Project does not include construction, prosecution, completion or repair of 
any building and is exempt from Davis-Bacon Act wage requirements.   
 
The Agency shall take affirmative action to ensure that applicants for employment are employed, 
contractors or subcontractors receive contracts, and all employees are treated, without regard to their 
race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to the 
following: 
 

employment, recruitment or recruitment advertising, 
contracting or subcontracting, promotion, demotion, 

transfer, layoff, termination, rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation, and selection for training, 

including apprenticeship. 
 
The Agency shall incorporate the foregoing requirements of this paragraph in all of its contracts, 
except those exempt by law, and will require all of its contractors to incorporate such requirements in 
all subcontracts. 
 

SECTION 503 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION FOR QUALIFIED INDIVIDUALS WITH 
DISABILITIES: 

 
The Agency and any subcontractors will comply with the provisions of Section 503 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, if the funding award of their Agreement is $2,500 or more, including, but 
not limited, to the following: 
 

a) The Agency will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of physical or mental disability in regard to any position for which the employee or applicant 
for employment is qualified. 
 

b) The Agency agrees to take affirmative action to employ, advance in employment and 
otherwise treat qualified individuals with disabilities without discrimination based upon their 
physical or mental disability in all employment practices, including, but not limited to, the following: 

627



 
 Page 7 

 
Employment, recruitment or recruitment advertising, contracting or subcontracting, 
promotion, demotion, transfer, layoff, termination, rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

 
c) The Agency agrees to post in conspicuous places, within administrative office and 

warehouse facilities available to employees and applicants for employment, notices, which 
make reference to the Agency’s compliance with The Rehabilitation Act. Such notices shall state 
the Agency’s obligation under the law not to discriminate on the basis of physical or mental 
disability and to take affirmative action to employ and advance in employment qualified individuals 
with disabilities. 
 

SECTION 8.  COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL LAWS.  All parties shall comply with all 
applicable laws, ordinances, codes and regulations of the State of Kansas and local governments. 
 

SECTION 9.  ASSIGNABILITY.  The Agency shall not assign any interest in this contract 
without prior written consent of the City. 
 

SECTION 10. POLITICAL ACTIVITY PROHIBITED.  
  
 A.  None of the funds, materials, property or services provided directly or indirectly under 
this contract shall be used for partisan political activity. 
 
         B.  The funds provided under this contract shall not be engaged in any way in contravention 
of Chapter 15 of Title 5, U.S.C.     
 

SECTION 11. LOBBYING PROHIBITED.  None of the funds provided under this contract 
shall be used for lobbying and/or propaganda purposes designed to support or defeat legislation 
pending before the Congress of the United States of America or the Legislature of the State of 
Kansas. 
 

SECTION 12.  PAYMENTS. 
 
 A.  Compensation and Method of Payment.  Compensation and method of payment to the 
Agency, relative to conducting the operations of the project activities and services as herein 
described, will be carried out as specified in Exhibit B attached hereto, and will be administered 
under the established accounting and fiscal policies of the City of Wichita. 
 
 B.  Total Payments.  Total Payment to the Agency will not exceed $25,000 as referenced in 
Exhibit B. 
 
 C.  Restriction on Disbursements.  No Entitlement Funds shall be disbursed to the 
Agency or contractor except pursuant to a written contract, which incorporates by reference the 
general conditions of this contract. 

 

628



 
 Page 8 

 D.  Unearned Payments.  Under this contract unearned payments may be suspended or 
terminated if the entitlement funds to the City of Wichita under the HOME Investment 
Partnerships Program (24 CFR Part 92) are suspended or terminated. 
 

SECTION 13.  TERMINATION CLAUSE.  Upon breach of the contract by the Agency, 
the City, by giving written notification, may terminate this contract immediately.  A breach shall 
include, but not be limited to, failure to comply with any or all items contained within Section 1 
through Section 26, Exhibits and/or provisions of any subsequent contractual amendments 
executed relative to this contract.  In the event of a breach of contract, the Agency agrees to re-
pay any HOME funds advanced under this agreement. 
 

SECTION 14.  AMENDMENTS.   
    

 A.  To provide necessary flexibility for the most effective execution of this project, 
whenever both the City and the Agency mutually agree, changes to this contract may be effected 
by placing them in written form and incorporating them into this contract. 
 
 B.  Programmatic changes substantially altering the contract's original intent or financial 
changes in contract amount or line items in the approved budget (Exhibit C) that are greater than 
$10,000 shall require a written contract amendment.  The amendment must be approved by the 
City Council and must also be approved and signed by all parties to the original contract. 
 

SECTION 15.  POLLUTION STANDARDS.  In the event the grand total of Exhibit C is 
in excess of $100,000, the Agency agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or 
regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act of 1970 (42 U.S.C. 185, et seq.) and the Federal 
Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C.1251, et seq.), as amended. 
 

SECTION 16.  ARCHITECTURAL BARRIERS.  Every building or facility (other than a 
private residential structure) designed, constructed or altered with funds provided pursuant to this 
contract shall be designed, altered or constructed in accordance with the standards issued under 
the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 (42 USC 4151 et. seq.), as amended, and the minimum 
guidelines and requirements issued by the Architectural and Transportation Compliance Board 
pursuant to Section 502 (b.) (7.) of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 792 (b.) (7.) as 
amended. 

 
The Section 504 implementing regulations (24 CFR Part 8) apply to this project.  Newly 
constructed or rehabilitated housing for purchase or single-family housing developed with 
Federal funds must be made accessible upon the request of the prospective buyer if the nature of 
the prospective occupant’s disability so requires.  Should a prospective buyer request a 
modification to make a unit accessible, the owner/Agency must work with the buyer to provide 
specific features that meet the need(s) of the prospective homebuyer/occupant.  If the design 
features that are needed for the buyer are design features that are covered in the Uniform Federal 
Accessibility Standards (UFAS), those features must comply with the UFAS standard.  The 
Agency shall be permitted to depart from the standard in order to have the buyer/occupant’s 
needs met. 

629



 
 Page 9 

 
Multi-family dwellings must also meet the design and construction requirements at 24 CFR 
100.205, which implement the Fair Housing Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-19), and Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as applicable.  
 

SECTION 17.  ANTI-TRUST LITIGATION.  For good cause, and as consideration for 
executing this contract, the Agency, acting herein by and through its authorized agent, hereby 
conveys, sells, assigns and transfers to the City of Wichita all right, title and interest in and to all 
causes of action it may now or hereafter acquire under the anti-trust laws of the United States and 
the State of Kansas, relating to the particular product, products, or services purchased or acquired 
by the Agency pursuant to this contract. 
 

SECTION 18.  UNIFORM GRANT ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS AND 
COST PRINCIPLES.  During the administration of this contract, the Agency shall comply with 
24 CFR 84.21, Standards for financial management systems, as follows: 
 
(a)   Agency is required to relate financial data to performance data and develop unit cost 
information whenever practical. 

(b)   Agency’s financial management systems shall provide for the following: 

(1)   Accurate, current and complete disclosure of the financial results of each federally-
sponsored project or program in accordance with the reporting requirements set forth in 
§84.52. If a recipient maintains its records on other than an accrual basis, the Agency 
shall not be required to establish an accrual accounting system. The Agency may develop 
such accrual data for reports on the basis of an analysis of the documentation on hand. 

(2)   Records that identify adequately the source and application of funds for federally-
sponsored activities. These records shall contain information pertaining to Federal 
awards, authorizations, obligations, unobligated balances, assets, outlays, income and 
interest. 

(3)   Effective control over and accountability for all funds, property and other assets. The 
Agency shall adequately safeguard all such assets and assure they are used solely for 
authorized purposes. 

(4)   Comparison of outlays with budget amounts for each award. Whenever appropriate, 
financial information should be related to performance and unit cost data. 

(5)   Written procedures to minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds to 
the Agency from the City, and the issuance or redemption of checks, warrants or 
payments by other means for program purposes by the Agency. To the extent that the 
provisions of the Cash Management Improvement Act (CMIA) (Pub. L. 101-453) govern, 
payment methods of State agencies, instrumentalities, and fiscal agents shall be consistent 
with CMIA Treasury-State Agreements or the CMIA default procedures codified at 31 

630



 
 Page 10 

CFR part 205, “Withdrawal of Cash from the Treasury for Advances under Federal Grant 
and Other Programs.” 

(6)   Written procedures for determining the reasonableness, allocability and allowability 
of costs in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Federal cost principles and 
the terms and conditions of the award. 

(7)   Accounting records including cost accounting records that are supported by source 
documentation. 

(c)   Where the City guarantees or insures the repayment of money borrowed by the Agency, The 
City, at its discretion, may require adequate bonding and insurance if the bonding and insurance 
requirements of the recipient are not deemed adequate to protect the interest of the City. 

(d)   The City may require adequate fidelity bond coverage where the Agency lacks sufficient 
coverage to protect the City’s interest. 
(e)   Where bonds are required in the situations described above, the bonds shall be obtained 
from companies holding certificates of authority as acceptable sureties, as prescribed in 31 CFR 
part 223, “Surety Companies Doing Business with the United States.” 
 

SECTION 19.  RENEGOTIATION.  This contract may be renegotiated in the event 
alternate sources of funding become available during the term of the contract. 
 

SECTION 20.  LEAD-BASED PAINT POISONING PREVENTION.  The Agency will 
comply with the lead-based paint provisions at 24 CFR Part 35 and at 24 CFR 570.608, and Title 
X of the Housing and Development Act of 1992.  Compliance will include all activities required 
by these regulations.  The Agency also agrees to document each client file with regard to these 
provisions, and action(s) taken if required.  A copy of the current HUD Lead-Based Paint 
Certification will be retained in the file of each client assisted with HOME funds under this 
contract.  The Agency will comply with the Lead-Based paint Poisoning Prevention Act (42 
U.S.C. 4821 et seq.) and 24 CFR part 35.  The Project will comply with section 92.355 of the 
HOME rule.  The Agency will also comply with the lead-based paint provisions of section 
982.401(j) and the Lead-Based Paint provisions of the Section 8 Housing Quality Standards 
(HQS), irrespective of the applicable property standard under section 92.251.  The Agency will 
comply with sections 1012 and 1013 of the Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard Reduction Act 
of 1992 (P.L. 102-550), and the regulations found at 24 CFR part 35. 
 

SECTION 21.  TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE.  The City may terminate this 
contract at any time by a notice in writing from the City to the Agency.  If the contract is 
terminated by the City as provided herein, the Agency will be paid an amount which bears the 
same ratio to the total compensation as the services actually performed bear to the total services 
of the Agency covered by this contract, less payments of compensation previously made: 
Provided, however, that if less than sixty (60) percent of the services covered by this contract 
have been performed upon the effective date of such termination, the Agency shall be reimbursed 
(in addition to the above payment) for that portion of the actual out-of-pocket expense (not 
otherwise reimbursed under this contract) incurred by the Agency during the contract period 

631



 
 Page 11 

which are directly attributable to the uncompleted portion of the services covered by this 
contract.  If this contract is terminated due to the fault of the Agency, Section 13 herein relative 
to termination shall apply. 
 

SECTION 22.  REFUND OF INCOME.  All income earned by a project as a result of 
entitlement funds shall be accounted for and refunded to the City quarterly or used to offset 
project cost unless otherwise specified in Exhibit B.  Earned income shall be defined as fees 
received, subsidies, sales and any program income. 

 
SECTION 23.  REVERSION OF ASSETS.  In the event this contract is terminated, due 

to breach, convenience, or expiration, the Agency agrees to transfer ownership of any real 
property purchased with HOME funds under this agreement, to the City.  This clause shall not 
apply if the project has been completed as contractually agreed, and the applicable affordability 
period has expired. 

 
SECTION 24.  OTHER FEDERAL REGULATIONS.  Activities funded with HOME 

funds must comply with all of the following federal laws, executive orders and regulations 
pertaining to fair housing and equal opportunity, as follows: 
 
Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act, (42 U.S.C. 3601-3620) As 
Amended, and implementing regulations at 24 CFR 100.  The Fair Housing Act prohibits 
discrimination in the sale, rental and financing of dwellings and in other housing-related 
transactions, based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex, familial status, and disability. 
 
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, As Amended (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.).  This law 
prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, and national origin in all Federally-assisted 
programs. 
 
The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, As Amended (42 U.S.C. 6101), and implementing 
regulations at 24 CFR Part 146.  This law prohibits age discrimination based on disability in all 
programs or activities operated by recipients of Federal financial assistance. 
 
Equal Opportunity in Housing (Executive Order 11063, and Executive Order 12259), and 
implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 107.  These Executive Orders prohibit discrimination 
against individuals on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, and national origin in the sale, rental, 
leasing or other disposition of residential property, or in the use or occupancy of housing assisted 
with Federal funds. 
 
Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  Title II of ADA prohibits discrimination 
against persons with disabilities in all programs, activities, and services of a public entity. (42 
U.S.C. 12131; 47 U.S.C. 155, 201, 218, and 225)  
 

SECTION 25.  DISBURSEMENT OF HOME FUNDS.  The Agency may not request 
disbursement of HOME funds under this agreement until the funds are needed for payment of 
eligible costs.  Unless otherwise approved by the Housing Services Department, payments to the 

632



 
 Page 12 

Agency will be provided on a reimbursement basis.  The amount of each request will be limited 
to the amount needed. 

 
SECTION 26.  APPENDICES.  All exhibits referenced in this contract, all amendments 

mutually agreed upon, and modifications made by both parties are hereby incorporated as though 
fully set forth herein. 
 
Exhibit A:  Revised Non-Discrimination & Equal Employment 

  Opportunity Statement 
 
Exhibit B:  Performance Criteria and Program Description 
       
Exhibit C:  Budget          

633



 
 Page 13 

 
Mennonite Housing Rehabilitation Services, Inc. 
(the Agency)  
 
_____________________________________ 
Signature 
 
                                           
Title of Officer   
 
___________ 
Date 
 
 
 
CITY OF WICHITA, at the Direction of the City Council 
 
By______________________________ 
       Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
                              
Date   

   
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
___________ 
Date 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
__________________________________ ___________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney  Date 
And Director of Law of the  
City of Wichita 
 

634



 
 Page 14 

  Exhibit A 
 

REVISED NON-DISCRIMINATION AND 
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PROGRAM 

REQUIREMENTS STATEMENT FOR CONTRACTS OR AGREEMENTS 
 
 
During the term of this contract, the contractor or subcontractor, vendor or supplier of the City, 
by whatever term identified herein, shall comply with the following Non-Discrimination--Equal 
Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 
 
A. During the performance of this contract, the contractor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier 

of the City, or any of its agencies, shall comply with all the provisions of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, as amended:  The Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972; Presidential 
Executive Orders 11246, 11375, 11131; Part 60 of Title 41 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967; the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 and laws, regulations or amendments as may be promulgated 
thereunder. 

 
B. Requirements of the State of Kansas: 
 

1.   The contractor shall observe the provisions of the Kansas Act against Discrimination 
(Kansas Statutes Annotated 44-1001, et seq.) and shall not discriminate against any 
person in the performance of work under the present contract because of race, 
religion, color, sex, disability, and age except where age is a bona fide occupational 
qualification, national origin or ancestry; 

 
2.   In all solicitations or advertisements for employees, the contractor shall include the 

phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a similar phrase to be approved by the 
"Kansas Human Rights Commission"; 

 
3. If the contractor fails to comply with the manner in which the contractor reports to the 

"Kansas Human Rights Commission" in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 
1976 Supp. 44-1031, as amended, the contractor shall be deemed to have breached 
this contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part by 
the contracting agency; 

 
4. If the contractor is found guilty of a violation of the Kansas Act against 

Discrimination under a decision or order of the "Kansas Human Rights Commission" 
which has become final, the contractor shall be deemed to have breached the present 
contract, and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part by the 
contracting agency; 

 

635



 
 Page 15 

5. The contractor shall include the provisions of Paragraphs 1 through 4 inclusive, of this 
Subsection B, in every subcontract or purchase so that such provisions will be binding 
upon such subcontractor or vendor. 

 
C. Requirements of the City of Wichita, Kansas, relating to Non-Discrimination -- Equal 

Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 
 

1. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall practice Non-Discrimination -- 
Equal Employment Opportunity in all employment relations, including but not limited 
to employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment 
advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and 
selection for training, including apprenticeship.  The vendor, supplier, contractor or 
subcontractor shall submit an Equal Employment Opportunity or Affirmative Action 
Program, when required, to the Department of Finance of the City of Wichita, Kansas, 
in accordance with the guidelines established for review and evaluation; 

 
2. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will, in all solicitations or 

advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the vendor, supplier, con-
tractor or subcontractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration 
for employment without regard to race, religion, color, sex, "disability, and age except 
where age is a bona fide occupational qualification", national origin or ancestry.  In all 
solicitations or advertisements for employees the vendor, supplier, contractor or 
subcontractor shall include the phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a similar 
phrase; 

 
3. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will furnish all information and 

reports required by the Department of Finance of said City for the purpose of in-
vestigation to ascertain compliance with Non-Discrimination -- Equal Employment 
Opportunity Requirements.  If the vendor, supplier, contractor, or subcontractor fails 
to comply with the manner in which he/she or it reports to the City in accordance with 
the provisions hereof, the vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall be 
deemed to have breached the present contract, purchase order or agreement and it may 
be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part by the City or its agency; and 
further Civil Rights complaints, or investigations may be referred to the State; 

  
4. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall include the provisions of 

Subsections 1 through 3 inclusive, of this present section in every subcontract, 
subpurchase order or subagreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor, subvendor or subsupplier. 

 

636



 
 Page 16 

D. Exempted from these requirements are:   
 

1. Those contractors, subcontractors, vendors or suppliers who have less than four (4) 
employees, whose contracts, purchase orders or agreements cumulatively total less 
than five thousand dollars ($5,000) during the fiscal year of said City are exempt from 
any further Equal Employment Opportunity or Affirmative Action Program submittal. 

 
2. Those vendors, suppliers, contractors or subcontractors who have already complied 

with the provisions set forth in this section by reason of holding a contract with the 
Federal government or contract involving Federal funds; provided that such contrac-
tor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier provides written notification of a compliance 
review and determination of an acceptable compliance posture within a preceding 
forty-five (45) day period from the Federal agency involved. 

 

637



 
 Page 17 

Exhibit B 
 

PERFORMANCE CRITERIA  
AND 

CONTRACT OBJECTIVES 
 
It is mutually agreed and understood by the City of Wichita and the Agency, hereinafter referred 
to as the "City" and "Agency," respectively, that execution of this contract obligates the Agency 
to the following performance requirements. 
 
HOME operating funds in the amount of $25,000 shall be used for the operating expenses of the 
Agency.  Eligible costs are outlined in 24 CFR Part 92, dated September 16, 1996 as amended, as 
specifically outlined at 24 CFR 92.208. 
 
I.  Administration 
 
The Agency’s Executive Director will supervise operations and administration on a day-to-day 
basis.  The Agency's Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for program administration. 
 

A. Funding 
 

It is mutually agreed by and between the City and the Agency that the total HOME 
funds available to the Agency will be $25,000, to provide operational support for 
HOME-related, single-family housing development activities in the City’s Local 
Investment Areas.  Specific use of the funding to be set forth in the sections entitled, 
Budget and Method of Payment.  Funding provided under this contract incorporates 
the funding application issued in connection with the funding, and the Agency’s 
response, unless superceded by this contract.  Equipment purchased with funding 
provided under this contract must be returned to the City of Wichita for disposition. 

 
B. Budget 
 

The City shall pay the Agency as hereinafter set out; the maximum of $25,000.00 
for the program described in this contract.  Said funding shall be used as follows: 

 
   Professional Services; Salaries Support  $25,000.00 
 
    TOTAL  $25,000.00 
 

C.  Method of Payment 
 

The Agency agrees that payments under this contract shall be made according to 
established budgeting, purchasing and accounting procedures of the City of Wichita 
and HOME.  The Agency agrees that all payments under this contract will be on a 
reimbursement basis.  The Agency shall submit a request for reimbursement on a 

638



 
 Page 18 

monthly basis, by no later than the 30th of each month.  Upon review of the 
reimbursement request by the Housing Services Department, the City will proceed 
to make payment directly to the Agency for all eligible and adequately documented 
expenses.  

 
   1.   The City and Agency also agree that the categories of expenditures and 

amounts are estimates and may vary during the course of the contract.  Adjustments 
between existing budget categories can be made administratively. However, 
changes greater than $10,000 must be approved by the City Council.   

 
2. The Agency will ensure all costs are eligible according to the approved 
budget. The original documentation supporting any expenditures made under this 
agreement will be retained in the Agency’s files for five (5) years after the final 
audit of expenditures made under this contract and throughout the applicable period 
of affordability.  Documentation of eligible costs will include, but is not limited to:  
vendor invoices, purchase orders, receipts and payroll records. The City shall retain 
all such documentation for audit purposes. 

 
3. A maximum of 1/12 of the budgeted amount for salaries will be paid out per 
month for salaries expenses. 

 
4. The Agency may request a cash advance in the amount of no more than 1/12 
of the total amount of the contract.  Cash advances will be deducted from the total 
amount of funding provided under this contract. 
   

D.  Records and Reports 
 

1.  Records shall be maintained documenting performance to be indicated in an 
annual report.  Records are subject to review by the City. 

 
 2.  The Agency will provide, for the year ending June 30 of each year, 

beginning June 30, 2014, and for each year this contract is in effect, an annual 
report of the HOME funded portion of the program.  The report will consist of a 
narrative or other description of activities undertaken during the year. Said report 
shall be due on July 10 of each year during the contract term. 

 
3.  The Agency will maintain records documenting receipts of program income and 
expenditures of the same. Records shall be maintained valuing in-kind services, and 
donated goods and services, to be reported in the same manner as other annual 
reports, for a period of 5 years, following the expiration of this contract. 

 
II. Other Program Requirements 
 

A.  The Agency shall comply with the applicable provisions of OMB Circular A-110, 
Attachment F, Standards for Financial Management Systems, requiring independent 

639



 
 Page 19 

financial and programmatic audits not less frequently than every two years.  In 
addition to the financial and programmatic audit, the audit shall indicate whether the 
organization has complied with laws and regulations that may have a material effect 
on its financial statements and on each Federal assistance program reviewed.  Other 
federal requirements may apply, as outlined in Section 18 of this contract.  

 
III. Program Evaluation 
 

The City shall evaluate this project based on the objectives stated in Section I.B. of this 
Exhibit.  Failure by the Agency to provide the level of service stated herein may result in 
a determination by the City to modify the level of payment to the Agency on a pro rata 
basis with level of service.  The Agency records are subject to review by the City to 
ensure the accuracy and validity of information reported in monthly progress reports. 

640



 
 Page 20 

 
Exhibit C 

 
 
BUDGET 
 
 
 
Professional Services; Salaries Support  $25,000.00 
 

TOTAL          $25,000.00 
 

641



     
 
 
 

 
GRANT AGREEMENT 

Between 
 

THE CITY OF WICHITA 
HOUSING SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

A 
PARTICIPATING JURISDICTION 

And 
Power CDC, Inc. 

(The Agency) 
A 

COMMUNITY HOUSING DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION  
 

Operating Support Funding 
2013-2014 

 
HOME Investment Partnerships 

Program 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Housing and Community Services Department 
City of Wichita 
332 N. Riverview 
Wichita, KS  67203 
Phone (316) 268-4688 
Fax   (316) 268-4219 
 
 
 

642



 
 Page 2 

 
 
 
 
No.____________    
 AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS CONTRACT, dated the 6th day of August, 2013, and effective the date signed by 
the Mayor of the City of Wichita, by and between the City of Wichita, Kansas (hereinafter 
referred to as the City) and Power CDC, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Agency"). 
 
 WITNESSETH THAT: 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is entitled to receive a HOME Investment Partnerships Program 
Grant (hereinafter referred to as HOME), from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (hereinafter referred to as the "Department"). 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency is desirous of participating in activities eligible under HOME, 
and further agrees that the beneficiaries of its activities under the program and this agreement are, 
or will be, individuals or families who meet the income eligibility guidelines of Title 24 CFR 
Part 92.216/217 as applicable; and 
 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the assistance to be provided under this agreement is 
specifically authorized by Title 24 CFR Section 92.208; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City deems the activities to be provided by the Agency as consistent 
with, and supportive of the HOME Investment Partnership Program, and the Agency requires the 
financial assistance of the City to initiate its activities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cooperation of the City and the Agency is essential for the successful 
implementation of an Affordable Housing Program; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the contracting parties do mutually agree as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  SCOPE OF SERVICES.  The Agency must follow the Performance 
Criteria and Program Description as outlined in Exhibit B.  Any programmatic change 
substantially altering the contract's original intent or financial change in contract amount or line 
items in the approved budget that is greater than $10,000 shall require a written contract 
amendment.  The amendment shall be approved by the City Council and shall also be approved 
and signed by all parties to the original contract. 
 

SECTION 2.  TIME OF PERFORMANCE.  The services of the Agency are to begin 
August 6, 2013, and end no later than December 31, 2014 and shall be undertaken to accomplish 
the purposes of this contract.  

 

643



 
 Page 3 

SECTION 3.  RECORDS, REPORTS AND INSPECTION. 
 

A.  Establishment and Maintenance of Records.  The Agency shall establish and 
maintain records as prescribed by the Department, and/or the City, with respect to all matters 
covered by this contract. Except as otherwise authorized by the Department and/or the City, the 
Agency shall (Per 24 CFR 92.508) retain such records for a period of five years following the 
date final payment is received under this contract. 
 
  B.  Documentation of Costs.  All costs shall be supported by properly executed 
payrolls, time records, invoices, contracts or vouchers, or other official documentation 
evidencing in proper detail the nature and propriety of the charges.  All checks, payrolls, 
invoices, contracts, vouchers, orders or other accounting documents pertaining in whole or in 
part to this contract shall be clearly identified and readily accessible.    
 

C. Reports and information.  The Agency, at such times and in such forms as the City 
or its designated and authorized representative(s) may require, shall furnish to the City or its 
designated and authorized representative(s) such statements, records, reports, data and information as 
the City may request pertaining to matters covered by this contract. 
 

D.  Audits and Inspections.  The Agency shall at any time and as often as the Housing and 
Community Services Department, or the City or the Comptroller General, or the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development, (HUD) or the HUD Inspector General of the United States may 
deem necessary, make available all its records and data for the purpose of making audits, reviews, 
examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. 
 
     SECTION 4.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  No owner, Agency or sponsor of a project 
assisted with HOME funds (or officer, employee, agent, elected or appointed official or consultant of 
the owner, Agency or sponsor) whether private, for profit or non-profit (including a Community 
Housing Development Organization (CHDO) when acting as an owner, Agency or sponsor) may 
occupy a HOME-assisted affordable unit in a project. This provision does not apply to an individual 
who receives HOME funds to acquire or rehabilitate his or her principal residence or to an employee 
or agent of the owner or Agency of a rental housing project who occupies a housing unit as the 
project manager or maintenance worker.  (24 CFR 92.356 (f)(1)). 
 
EXCEPTIONS:  An exception may be granted in accordance and in compliance with 24 CFR 92.356 
(f)(2)(I) through (V), and with the City’s prior approval. 
 
     SECTION 5.  DISCRIMINATION. 
 

   A.  Discrimination Prohibited.  No recipient or proposed recipient of any funds, services or 
other assistance under the provisions of this contract or any program related to this contract, shall be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any 
program or activity funded in whole or in part with the funds made available through this contract on 
the grounds of race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, disability, sex or age.  (Reference Title 
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Pub. L. 88-352)).  For purposes of this section, "program or 

644



 
 Page 4 

activity" is defined as any function conducted by an identifiable administrative unit of the Agency 
receiving funds pursuant to this contract. 
 

   B.  The Agency further agrees to implement and comply with the "Revised Non-
Discrimination and Equal Employment Opportunity Statement for contracts or agreements" as 
provided in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

 
C.  The Agency will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, national origin, sex, or religion, in accordance with Executive Order 11246 – 
Equal Employment Opportunity, as amended and its implementing regulations at 41 CFR Part 60.  If 
the Agency has fifteen or more employees, the Agency is prohibited from discriminating against any 
employee or applicant with a disability, in accordance with Title I of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990 (ADA).  Nondiscrimination notices should be included in all job postings and posted in 
a visible place in the Agency’s office. 
 

SECTION 6.  EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR BUSINESSES AND LOWER 
INCOME PERSONS IN CONNECTION WITH ASSISTED PROJECTS. 
 

   A.  GENERAL.  Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, 12 U.S.C. 
1701 u., and Sec. 7 (d), Department of HUD Act, 42 U.S.C. 3535 (d) is applicable to all projects 
assisted by any Department program in which loans, grants, subsidies or other financial assistance, 
including HOME Investment Partnerships Program under the Act are provided in aid of housing, 
urban planning, development, redevelopment or renewal, public or community facilities, and new 
community developments. 
 

   B.  Assurance of Compliance. 
 

1.  The work to be performed under this contract is on a project assisted under a program 
providing direct Federal financial assistance from the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development and is subject to the requirements of Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development 
Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701 u (section 3).  The purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that 
employment and other economic opportunities generated by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted 
projects covered by section 3, shall, to the greatest extent feasible, be directed to low- and very low-
income persons, particularly persons who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 
 

2.  The parties to this contract will comply with the provisions of said Section 3 and the 
regulations issued pursuant thereto by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development set forth in 
24 CFR 135 and all applicable rules and orders of the Department issued thereunder prior to the 
execution of this contract.  The parties to this contract certify and agree that they are under no 
contractual or other disability that would prevent them from complying with these requirements. 
 

3.  The Agency agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with 
which the owner has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a notice 
advising the labor organization or workers’ representative of the contractor’s commitments under 
this section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous places at the work site where 

645



 
 Page 5 

both employees and applicants for training and employment positions can see the notice.  The notice 
shall describe the section 3 preference, shall set forth minimum number and job titles subject to hire, 
availability of apprenticeship and training positions, the qualifications for each; and the name and 
location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions; and the anticipated date the 
work shall begin. 
 

   4.  The Agency agrees to include this section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 
compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as provided 
in an applicable provision of the subcontract or in this section 3 clause, upon finding that the 
subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135.  The contractor will not 
subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or knowledge that the 
subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135.  
 

5. The Agency will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training 
positions, that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected, but before the contract is executed, and 
(2) with persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 135 require employment 
opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor’s obligations under 24 CFR 
part 135. 
 

6. Noncompliance with HUD’s regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, 
termination of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD assisted 
contracts. 
 

7. With respect to work performed in connection with section 3 covered Indian housing 
assistance, section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 U.S.C. 
450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract.  Section 7(b) requires that to the 
greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and employment shall be given to 
Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and subcontracts shall be given to Indian 
organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises.  Parties to this contract that are subject to the 
provisions of section 3 and section 7(b) agree to comply with section 3 to the maximum extent 
feasible, but not in derogation of compliance with section 7(b). 

 
 8.  Every contract or agreement entered into by the Agency that involves funds provided 
under this contract will have incorporated therein subsection B of Section 6 of this contract. 
 

9.  In the event the Agency sells, leases, transfers or otherwise conveys land upon which work 
in connection with this project is to be performed, the City must be notified in writing, thirty (30) 
days prior to such action.  Further, prior to sale or lease of property purchases, funded under this 
agreement, the Agency shall include in each contract or subcontract for work on such land, a clause 
requiring the purchaser, lessee or Agency to assume the same obligations as the Agency for work 
under subsection B of Section 6 of this contract.  Each such purchaser, lessee or Agency shall be 
relieved of such obligations upon satisfactory completion of all work to be performed under the 
terms of the redevelopment contract.    
 

SECTION 7.  FEDERAL LABOR STANDARDS PROVISIONS.  Except with respect to the 
rehabilitation of residential property containing less than twelve units, the Agency and all contractors 

646



 
 Page 6 

and subcontractors engaged under contracts in excess of $2,000 for the construction, prosecution, 
completion or repair of any building or work financed in whole or in part with assistance provided 
under this contract will comply with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 276 a to a-7), as 
supplemented by Department of Labor (DOL) regulations (29 CFR, Part 5), the Copeland "Anti-
Kickback" Act (18 U.S.C. 874), as supplemented in DOL regulations (29 CFR, Part 3), sections 103 
and 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 327-330) as supplemented 
by DOL regulations (29 CFR, Part 5), and the regulations issued pursuant thereto.  The Agency shall 
cause or require to be inserted in full, in all such contracts subject to such regulations, 
provisions consistent with applicable Federal Labor Standards.  No contracts under this section 
shall be awarded to any contractors or subcontractors debarred for violating Federal Labor Standards 
Provisions.  This Project does not include construction, prosecution, completion or repair of 
any building and is exempt from Davis-Bacon Act wage requirements.   
 
The Agency shall take affirmative action to ensure that applicants for employment are employed, 
contractors or subcontractors receive contracts, and all employees are treated, without regard to their 
race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to the 
following: 
 

employment, recruitment or recruitment advertising, 
contracting or subcontracting, promotion, demotion, 

transfer, layoff, termination, rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation, and selection for training, 

including apprenticeship. 
 
The Agency shall incorporate the foregoing requirements of this paragraph in all of its contracts, 
except those exempt by law, and will require all of its contractors to incorporate such requirements in 
all subcontracts. 
 

SECTION 503 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION FOR QUALIFIED INDIVIDUALS WITH 
DISABILITIES: 

 
The Agency and any subcontractors will comply with the provisions of Section 503 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, if the funding award of their Agreement is $2,500 or more, including, but 
not limited, to the following: 
 

a) The Agency will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of physical or mental disability in regard to any position for which the employee or applicant 
for employment is qualified. 
 

b) The Agency agrees to take affirmative action to employ, advance in employment and 
otherwise treat qualified individuals with disabilities without discrimination based upon their 
physical or mental disability in all employment practices, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

647



 
 Page 7 

Employment, recruitment or recruitment advertising, contracting or subcontracting, 
promotion, demotion, transfer, layoff, termination, rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

 
c) The Agency agrees to post in conspicuous places, within administrative office and 

warehouse facilities available to employees and applicants for employment, notices, which 
make reference to the Agency’s compliance with The Rehabilitation Act. Such notices shall state 
the Agency’s obligation under the law not to discriminate on the basis of physical or mental 
disability and to take affirmative action to employ and advance in employment qualified individuals 
with disabilities. 
 

SECTION 8.  COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL LAWS.  All parties shall comply with all 
applicable laws, ordinances, codes and regulations of the State of Kansas and local governments. 
 

SECTION 9.  ASSIGNABILITY.  The Agency shall not assign any interest in this contract 
without prior written consent of the City. 
 

SECTION 10. POLITICAL ACTIVITY PROHIBITED.  
  
 A.  None of the funds, materials, property or services provided directly or indirectly under 
this contract shall be used for partisan political activity. 
 
         B.  The funds provided under this contract shall not be engaged in any way in contravention 
of Chapter 15 of Title 5, U.S.C.     
 

SECTION 11. LOBBYING PROHIBITED.  None of the funds provided under this contract 
shall be used for lobbying and/or propaganda purposes designed to support or defeat legislation 
pending before the Congress of the United States of America or the Legislature of the State of 
Kansas. 
 

SECTION 12.  PAYMENTS. 
 
 A.  Compensation and Method of Payment.  Compensation and method of payment to the 
Agency, relative to conducting the operations of the project activities and services as herein 
described, will be carried out as specified in Exhibit B attached hereto, and will be administered 
under the established accounting and fiscal policies of the City of Wichita. 
 
 B.  Total Payments.  Total Payment to the Agency will not exceed $25,000 as referenced in 
Exhibit B. 
 
 C.  Restriction on Disbursements.  No Entitlement Funds shall be disbursed to the 
Agency or contractor except pursuant to a written contract, which incorporates by reference the 
general conditions of this contract. 

 

648



 
 Page 8 

 D.  Unearned Payments.  Under this contract unearned payments may be suspended or 
terminated if the entitlement funds to the City of Wichita under the HOME Investment 
Partnerships Program (24 CFR Part 92) are suspended or terminated. 
 

SECTION 13.  TERMINATION CLAUSE.  Upon breach of the contract by the Agency, 
the City, by giving written notification, may terminate this contract immediately.  A breach shall 
include, but not be limited to, failure to comply with any or all items contained within Section 1 
through Section 26, Exhibits and/or provisions of any subsequent contractual amendments 
executed relative to this contract.  In the event of a breach of contract, the Agency agrees to re-
pay any HOME funds advanced under this agreement. 
 

SECTION 14.  AMENDMENTS.   
    

 A.  To provide necessary flexibility for the most effective execution of this project, 
whenever both the City and the Agency mutually agree, changes to this contract may be effected 
by placing them in written form and incorporating them into this contract. 
 
 B.  Programmatic changes substantially altering the contract's original intent or financial 
changes in contract amount or line items in the approved budget (Exhibit C) that are greater than 
$10,000 shall require a written contract amendment.  The amendment must be approved by the 
City Council and must also be approved and signed by all parties to the original contract. 
 

SECTION 15.  POLLUTION STANDARDS.  In the event the grand total of Exhibit C is 
in excess of $100,000, the Agency agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or 
regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act of 1970 (42 U.S.C. 185, et seq.) and the Federal 
Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C.1251, et seq.), as amended. 
 

SECTION 16.  ARCHITECTURAL BARRIERS.  Every building or facility (other than a 
private residential structure) designed, constructed or altered with funds provided pursuant to this 
contract shall be designed, altered or constructed in accordance with the standards issued under 
the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 (42 USC 4151 et. seq.), as amended, and the minimum 
guidelines and requirements issued by the Architectural and Transportation Compliance Board 
pursuant to Section 502 (b.) (7.) of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 792 (b.) (7.) as 
amended. 

 
The Section 504 implementing regulations (24 CFR Part 8) apply to this project.  Newly 
constructed or rehabilitated housing for purchase or single-family housing developed with 
Federal funds must be made accessible upon the request of the prospective buyer if the nature of 
the prospective occupant’s disability so requires.  Should a prospective buyer request a 
modification to make a unit accessible, the owner/Agency must work with the buyer to provide 
specific features that meet the need(s) of the prospective homebuyer/occupant.  If the design 
features that are needed for the buyer are design features that are covered in the Uniform Federal 
Accessibility Standards (UFAS), those features must comply with the UFAS standard.  The 
Agency shall be permitted to depart from the standard in order to have the buyer/occupant’s 
needs met. 

649



 
 Page 9 

 
Multi-family dwellings must also meet the design and construction requirements at 24 CFR 
100.205, which implement the Fair Housing Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-19), and Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as applicable.  
 

SECTION 17.  ANTI-TRUST LITIGATION.  For good cause, and as consideration for 
executing this contract, the Agency, acting herein by and through its authorized agent, hereby 
conveys, sells, assigns and transfers to the City of Wichita all right, title and interest in and to all 
causes of action it may now or hereafter acquire under the anti-trust laws of the United States and 
the State of Kansas, relating to the particular product, products, or services purchased or acquired 
by the Agency pursuant to this contract. 
 

SECTION 18.  UNIFORM GRANT ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS AND 
COST PRINCIPLES.  During the administration of this contract, the Agency shall comply with 
24 CFR 84.21, Standards for financial management systems, as follows: 
 
(a)   Agency is required to relate financial data to performance data and develop unit cost 
information whenever practical. 

(b)   Agency’s financial management systems shall provide for the following: 

(1)   Accurate, current and complete disclosure of the financial results of each federally-
sponsored project or program in accordance with the reporting requirements set forth in 
§84.52. If a recipient maintains its records on other than an accrual basis, the Agency 
shall not be required to establish an accrual accounting system. The Agency may develop 
such accrual data for reports on the basis of an analysis of the documentation on hand. 

(2)   Records that identify adequately the source and application of funds for federally-
sponsored activities. These records shall contain information pertaining to Federal 
awards, authorizations, obligations, unobligated balances, assets, outlays, income and 
interest. 

(3)   Effective control over and accountability for all funds, property and other assets. The 
Agency shall adequately safeguard all such assets and assure they are used solely for 
authorized purposes. 

(4)   Comparison of outlays with budget amounts for each award. Whenever appropriate, 
financial information should be related to performance and unit cost data. 

(5)   Written procedures to minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds to 
the Agency from the City, and the issuance or redemption of checks, warrants or 
payments by other means for program purposes by the Agency. To the extent that the 
provisions of the Cash Management Improvement Act (CMIA) (Pub. L. 101-453) govern, 
payment methods of State agencies, instrumentalities, and fiscal agents shall be consistent 
with CMIA Treasury-State Agreements or the CMIA default procedures codified at 31 

650



 
 Page 10 

CFR part 205, “Withdrawal of Cash from the Treasury for Advances under Federal Grant 
and Other Programs.” 

(6)   Written procedures for determining the reasonableness, allocability and allowability 
of costs in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Federal cost principles and 
the terms and conditions of the award. 

(7)   Accounting records including cost accounting records that are supported by source 
documentation. 

(c)   Where the City guarantees or insures the repayment of money borrowed by the Agency, The 
City, at its discretion, may require adequate bonding and insurance if the bonding and insurance 
requirements of the recipient are not deemed adequate to protect the interest of the City. 

(d)   The City may require adequate fidelity bond coverage where the Agency lacks sufficient 
coverage to protect the City’s interest. 
(e)   Where bonds are required in the situations described above, the bonds shall be obtained 
from companies holding certificates of authority as acceptable sureties, as prescribed in 31 CFR 
part 223, “Surety Companies Doing Business with the United States.” 
 

SECTION 19.  RENEGOTIATION.  This contract may be renegotiated in the event 
alternate sources of funding become available during the term of the contract. 
 

SECTION 20.  LEAD-BASED PAINT POISONING PREVENTION.  The Agency will 
comply with the lead-based paint provisions at 24 CFR Part 35 and at 24 CFR 570.608, and Title 
X of the Housing and Development Act of 1992.  Compliance will include all activities required 
by these regulations.  The Agency also agrees to document each client file with regard to these 
provisions, and action(s) taken if required.  A copy of the current HUD Lead-Based Paint 
Certification will be retained in the file of each client assisted with HOME funds under this 
contract.  The Agency will comply with the Lead-Based paint Poisoning Prevention Act (42 
U.S.C. 4821 et seq.) and 24 CFR part 35.  The Project will comply with section 92.355 of the 
HOME rule.  The Agency will also comply with the lead-based paint provisions of section 
982.401(j) and the Lead-Based Paint provisions of the Section 8 Housing Quality Standards 
(HQS), irrespective of the applicable property standard under section 92.251.  The Agency will 
comply with sections 1012 and 1013 of the Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard Reduction Act 
of 1992 (P.L. 102-550), and the regulations found at 24 CFR part 35. 
 

SECTION 21.  TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE.  The City may terminate this 
contract at any time by a notice in writing from the City to the Agency.  If the contract is 
terminated by the City as provided herein, the Agency will be paid an amount which bears the 
same ratio to the total compensation as the services actually performed bear to the total services 
of the Agency covered by this contract, less payments of compensation previously made: 
Provided, however, that if less than sixty (60) percent of the services covered by this contract 
have been performed upon the effective date of such termination, the Agency shall be reimbursed 
(in addition to the above payment) for that portion of the actual out-of-pocket expense (not 
otherwise reimbursed under this contract) incurred by the Agency during the contract period 

651



 
 Page 11 

which are directly attributable to the uncompleted portion of the services covered by this 
contract.  If this contract is terminated due to the fault of the Agency, Section 13 herein relative 
to termination shall apply. 
 

SECTION 22.  REFUND OF INCOME.  All income earned by a project as a result of 
entitlement funds shall be accounted for and refunded to the City quarterly or used to offset 
project cost unless otherwise specified in Exhibit B.  Earned income shall be defined as fees 
received, subsidies, sales and any program income. 

 
SECTION 23.  REVERSION OF ASSETS.  In the event this contract is terminated, due 

to breach, convenience, or expiration, the Agency agrees to transfer ownership of any real 
property purchased with HOME funds under this agreement, to the City.  This clause shall not 
apply if the project has been completed as contractually agreed, and the applicable affordability 
period has expired. 

 
SECTION 24.  OTHER FEDERAL REGULATIONS.  Activities funded with HOME 

funds must comply with all of the following federal laws, executive orders and regulations 
pertaining to fair housing and equal opportunity, as follows: 
 
Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act, (42 U.S.C. 3601-3620) As 
Amended, and implementing regulations at 24 CFR 100.  The Fair Housing Act prohibits 
discrimination in the sale, rental and financing of dwellings and in other housing-related 
transactions, based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex, familial status, and disability. 
 
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, As Amended (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.).  This law 
prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, and national origin in all Federally-assisted 
programs. 
 
The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, As Amended (42 U.S.C. 6101), and implementing 
regulations at 24 CFR Part 146.  This law prohibits age discrimination based on disability in all 
programs or activities operated by recipients of Federal financial assistance. 
 
Equal Opportunity in Housing (Executive Order 11063, and Executive Order 12259), and 
implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 107.  These Executive Orders prohibit discrimination 
against individuals on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, and national origin in the sale, rental, 
leasing or other disposition of residential property, or in the use or occupancy of housing assisted 
with Federal funds. 
 
Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  Title II of ADA prohibits discrimination 
against persons with disabilities in all programs, activities, and services of a public entity. (42 
U.S.C. 12131; 47 U.S.C. 155, 201, 218, and 225)  
 

SECTION 25.  DISBURSEMENT OF HOME FUNDS.  The Agency may not request 
disbursement of HOME funds under this agreement until the funds are needed for payment of 
eligible costs.  Unless otherwise approved by the Housing Services Department, payments to the 

652



 
 Page 12 

Agency will be provided on a reimbursement basis.  The amount of each request will be limited 
to the amount needed. 

 
SECTION 26.  APPENDICES.  All exhibits referenced in this contract, all amendments 

mutually agreed upon, and modifications made by both parties are hereby incorporated as though 
fully set forth herein. 
 
Exhibit A:  Revised Non-Discrimination & Equal Employment 

  Opportunity Statement 
 
Exhibit B:  Performance Criteria and Program Description 
       
Exhibit C:  Budget          

653



 
 Page 13 

 
Power CDC, Inc. 
(the Agency)  
 
_____________________________________ 
Signature 
 
                                           
Title of Officer   
 
___________ 
Date 
 
 
 
CITY OF WICHITA, at the Direction of the City Council 
 
By______________________________ 
       Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
                              
Date   

   
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
___________ 
Date 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
__________________________________ ___________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, City Attorney  Date 
And Director of Law of the  
City of Wichita 
 

654



 
 Page 14 

  Exhibit A 
 

REVISED NON-DISCRIMINATION AND 
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PROGRAM 

REQUIREMENTS STATEMENT FOR CONTRACTS OR AGREEMENTS 
 
 
During the term of this contract, the contractor or subcontractor, vendor or supplier of the City, 
by whatever term identified herein, shall comply with the following Non-Discrimination--Equal 
Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 
 
A. During the performance of this contract, the contractor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier 

of the City, or any of its agencies, shall comply with all the provisions of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, as amended:  The Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972; Presidential 
Executive Orders 11246, 11375, 11131; Part 60 of Title 41 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967; the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 and laws, regulations or amendments as may be promulgated 
thereunder. 

 
B. Requirements of the State of Kansas: 
 

1.   The contractor shall observe the provisions of the Kansas Act against Discrimination 
(Kansas Statutes Annotated 44-1001, et seq.) and shall not discriminate against any 
person in the performance of work under the present contract because of race, 
religion, color, sex, disability, and age except where age is a bona fide occupational 
qualification, national origin or ancestry; 

 
2.   In all solicitations or advertisements for employees, the contractor shall include the 

phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a similar phrase to be approved by the 
"Kansas Human Rights Commission"; 

 
3. If the contractor fails to comply with the manner in which the contractor reports to the 

"Kansas Human Rights Commission" in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 
1976 Supp. 44-1031, as amended, the contractor shall be deemed to have breached 
this contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part by 
the contracting agency; 

 
4. If the contractor is found guilty of a violation of the Kansas Act against 

Discrimination under a decision or order of the "Kansas Human Rights Commission" 
which has become final, the contractor shall be deemed to have breached the present 
contract, and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part by the 
contracting agency; 

 

655



 
 Page 15 

5. The contractor shall include the provisions of Paragraphs 1 through 4 inclusive, of this 
Subsection B, in every subcontract or purchase so that such provisions will be binding 
upon such subcontractor or vendor. 

 
C. Requirements of the City of Wichita, Kansas, relating to Non-Discrimination -- Equal 

Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 
 

1. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall practice Non-Discrimination -- 
Equal Employment Opportunity in all employment relations, including but not limited 
to employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment 
advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and 
selection for training, including apprenticeship.  The vendor, supplier, contractor or 
subcontractor shall submit an Equal Employment Opportunity or Affirmative Action 
Program, when required, to the Department of Finance of the City of Wichita, Kansas, 
in accordance with the guidelines established for review and evaluation; 

 
2. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will, in all solicitations or 

advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the vendor, supplier, con-
tractor or subcontractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration 
for employment without regard to race, religion, color, sex, "disability, and age except 
where age is a bona fide occupational qualification", national origin or ancestry.  In all 
solicitations or advertisements for employees the vendor, supplier, contractor or 
subcontractor shall include the phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a similar 
phrase; 

 
3. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will furnish all information and 

reports required by the Department of Finance of said City for the purpose of in-
vestigation to ascertain compliance with Non-Discrimination -- Equal Employment 
Opportunity Requirements.  If the vendor, supplier, contractor, or subcontractor fails 
to comply with the manner in which he/she or it reports to the City in accordance with 
the provisions hereof, the vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall be 
deemed to have breached the present contract, purchase order or agreement and it may 
be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part by the City or its agency; and 
further Civil Rights complaints, or investigations may be referred to the State; 

  
4. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall include the provisions of 

Subsections 1 through 3 inclusive, of this present section in every subcontract, 
subpurchase order or subagreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor, subvendor or subsupplier. 

 

656



 
 Page 16 

D. Exempted from these requirements are:   
 

1. Those contractors, subcontractors, vendors or suppliers who have less than four (4) 
employees, whose contracts, purchase orders or agreements cumulatively total less 
than five thousand dollars ($5,000) during the fiscal year of said City are exempt from 
any further Equal Employment Opportunity or Affirmative Action Program submittal. 

 
2. Those vendors, suppliers, contractors or subcontractors who have already complied 

with the provisions set forth in this section by reason of holding a contract with the 
Federal government or contract involving Federal funds; provided that such contrac-
tor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier provides written notification of a compliance 
review and determination of an acceptable compliance posture within a preceding 
forty-five (45) day period from the Federal agency involved. 

 

657



 
 Page 17 

Exhibit B 
 

PERFORMANCE CRITERIA  
AND 

CONTRACT OBJECTIVES 
 
It is mutually agreed and understood by the City of Wichita and the Agency, hereinafter referred 
to as the "City" and "Agency," respectively, that execution of this contract obligates the Agency 
to the following performance requirements. 
 
HOME operating funds in the amount of $25,000 shall be used for the operating expenses of the 
Agency.  Eligible costs are outlined in 24 CFR Part 92, dated September 16, 1996 as amended, as 
specifically outlined at 24 CFR 92.208. 
 
I.  Administration 
 
The Agency’s Executive Director will supervise operations and administration on a day-to-day 
basis.  The Agency's Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for program administration. 
 

A. Funding 
 

It is mutually agreed by and between the City and the Agency that the total HOME 
funds available to the Agency will be $25,000, to provide operational support for 
HOME-related, single-family housing development activities in the City’s Local 
Investment Areas.  Specific use of the funding to be set forth in the sections entitled, 
Budget and Method of Payment.  Funding provided under this contract incorporates 
the funding application issued in connection with the funding, and the Agency’s 
response, unless superceded by this contract.  Equipment purchased with funding 
provided under this contract must be returned to the City of Wichita for disposition. 

 
B. Budget 
 

The City shall pay the Agency as hereinafter set out; the maximum of $25,000.00 
for the program described in this contract.  Said funding shall be used as follows: 

 
   Professional Services; Salaries Support  $25,000.00 
 
    TOTAL  $25,000.00 
 

C.  Method of Payment 
 

The Agency agrees that payments under this contract shall be made according to 
established budgeting, purchasing and accounting procedures of the City of Wichita 
and HOME.  The Agency agrees that all payments under this contract will be on a 
reimbursement basis.  The Agency shall submit a request for reimbursement on a 

658



 
 Page 18 

monthly basis, by no later than the 30th of each month.  Upon review of the 
reimbursement request by the Housing Services Department, the City will proceed 
to make payment directly to the Agency for all eligible and adequately documented 
expenses.  

 
   1.   The City and Agency also agree that the categories of expenditures and 

amounts are estimates and may vary during the course of the contract.  Adjustments 
between existing budget categories can be made administratively. However, 
changes greater than $10,000 must be approved by the City Council.   

 
2. The Agency will ensure all costs are eligible according to the approved 
budget. The original documentation supporting any expenditures made under this 
agreement will be retained in the Agency’s files for five (5) years after the final 
audit of expenditures made under this contract and throughout the applicable period 
of affordability.  Documentation of eligible costs will include, but is not limited to:  
vendor invoices, purchase orders, receipts and payroll records. The City shall retain 
all such documentation for audit purposes. 

 
3. A maximum of 1/12 of the budgeted amount for salaries will be paid out per 
month for salaries expenses. 

 
4. The Agency may request a cash advance in the amount of no more than 1/12 
of the total amount of the contract.  Cash advances will be deducted from the total 
amount of funding provided under this contract. 
   

D.  Records and Reports 
 

1.  Records shall be maintained documenting performance to be indicated in an 
annual report.  Records are subject to review by the City. 

 
 2.  The Agency will provide, for the year ending June 30 of each year, 

beginning June 30, 2014, and for each year this contract is in effect, an annual 
report of the HOME funded portion of the program.  The report will consist of a 
narrative or other description of activities undertaken during the year. Said report 
shall be due on July 10 of each year during the contract term. 

 
3.  The Agency will maintain records documenting receipts of program income and 
expenditures of the same. Records shall be maintained valuing in-kind services, and 
donated goods and services, to be reported in the same manner as other annual 
reports, for a period of 5 years, following the expiration of this contract. 

 
II. Other Program Requirements 
 

A.  The Agency shall comply with the applicable provisions of OMB Circular A-110, 
Attachment F, Standards for Financial Management Systems, requiring independent 

659



 
 Page 19 

financial and programmatic audits not less frequently than every two years.  In 
addition to the financial and programmatic audit, the audit shall indicate whether the 
organization has complied with laws and regulations that may have a material effect 
on its financial statements and on each Federal assistance program reviewed.  Other 
federal requirements may apply, as outlined in Section 18 of this contract.  

 
III. Program Evaluation 
 

The City shall evaluate this project based on the objectives stated in Section I.B. of this 
Exhibit.  Failure by the Agency to provide the level of service stated herein may result in 
a determination by the City to modify the level of payment to the Agency on a pro rata 
basis with level of service.  The Agency records are subject to review by the City to 
ensure the accuracy and validity of information reported in monthly progress reports. 

660



 
 Page 20 

 
Exhibit C 

 
 
BUDGET 
 
 
 
Professional Services; Salaries Support  $25,000.00 
 

TOTAL          $25,000.00 
 

661



1 

                                                                                                             Agenda Item No. II-12 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  Child Care Licensing Grant Application (All Districts) 
   
INITIATED BY:  Department of Public Works & Utilities 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:   Approve the Child Care Grant award for State Fiscal Year (SFY) 2014. 
  
Background:  Environmental Health conducts surveys of child care facilities and provides education for 
child care providers within Sedgwick County on behalf of the Kansas Department of Health and 
Environment (KDHE). KDHE provides an annual grant to fund these activities, and has solicited the 
Division of Environmental Health’s application for SFY 2014 (July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014.) On 
February 26, 2013, the City Council approved the grant application. The amount of the grant award 
($401,367) was less than the requested amount ($430,118). A revised budget will be submitted to KDHE.  
 
Analysis:  The City has conducted child care licensing and education services in excess of forty years, 
providing a local point of contact for citizens and providers. Local operation of the program also enhances 
coordination with other agencies involved, such as the Fire Department, the Police Department the 
Metropolitan Area Building and Construction Department. Environmental Health staff members enforce 
City ordinances and state regulations, and utilize state enforcement mechanisms, as appropriate.  
 
Financial Consideration: The actual grant award for state fiscal year 2014 totals $401,367.  The City’s 
General fund will provide support in the amount of $159,519 for the grant term. The General Fund 
contribution is partially offset by inspection fees, which in 2012 totaled $112,459 in collected revenue. 
Grant funding ($401,367) and locally generated fees are projected to offset 91.6% of the total program 
cost of $560,886. Fees for services provided by this program will be adjusted to offset the General Fund 
contribution according to published limits.         
  
Legal Consideration:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the contract as to form. 
  
Recommendation/Actions:  It is recommended the City Council approve the grant award and authorize 
the necessary signatures.  
 
Attachment:   KDHE grant award, KDHE Grant application and required attachments.  
 

662



663



664



665



666



667



668



669



670



671



672



673



674



675



 
         Agenda Item No. II-13 
 

 
City of Wichita 

City Council Meeting 
August 6, 2013 

 
    
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
    
SUBJECT:  Memorandum of Understanding – Public Works & Utilities 
   Sidewalk Improvements  
 
INITIATED BY: Housing and Community Services Department  
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation:   Approve the Memorandum of Understanding between Housing and Community Services 
and Public Works & Utilities for street and sidewalk repair, utilizing the Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funds designated for that purpose. 
 
Background:  On May 1, 2012, the City Council approved the 2012-2013 Fourth Program Year Action Plan for 
submission to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.  The plan allocated $75,000 from 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds for street and sidewalk repairs in eligible areas.  Those 
funds were not expended prior to the close of the program year, June 30, 2013, and the full amount remains 
unallocated at this time. 
 
Analysis:  Necessary sidewalk repairs have now been identified in eligible areas, and Public Works & Utilities 
staff has estimated the improvements can be completed for $75,000.  This is an eligible use of CDBG funds. 
 
Financial Considerations:  All funds for this transaction have been awarded by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development, and approved as part of the 2012-13 Fourth Program Year Action Plan.  No 
General Funds will be involved in this activity. 
   
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the Memorandum of Understanding 
as to form. 
     
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the Memorandum of 
Understanding between Housing and Community Services and Public Works & Utilities for street and sidewalk 
repair, utilizing the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds designated for that purpose. 
 
Attachments:  Memorandum of Understanding 

676



677



678



679



680



681



682



683



684



685





687



688



689



690



691



692



693



694





1 
 

Agenda Item No. II-14 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

 August 6, 2013 
 
TO:     Mayor and City Council    
    
SUBJECT:   Bicycle Enhancement Projects (All Districts) 
  
INITIATED BY:  Department of Public Works & Utilities 
 
AGENDA:   Consent 
 
 
Recommendations: Approve the concept design agreements and adopt the resolutions. 
 
Background:  On February 5, 2013, the City Council endorsed the Wichita Bicycle Master Plan.  A 
Request for Proposals (RFP) was sent out April 24, 2013, soliciting designs for eight bicycle facility 
projects that were identified as the highest priority and/or as catalyst projects from the Master Plan.  On 
June 27, 2013, the Staff Screening and Selection Committee interviewed four of the six consulting firms 
that responded to the RFP, making selections for seven of the projects.    
 

• The only submittal for the Douglas on-street bike lanes from Washington to Seneca was 
insufficient and thus a different approach is being formulated for this project. 

 
• Ruggles & Bohm was selected to design the Green Street, Wichita State University to I-135 path, 

the Armour Bicycle Boulevard, and the Sycamore Shared Lane path.  Ruggles & Bohm was 
selected for these projects for the specific knowledge of existing conditions of the roadways and 
recent design work on the McAdams Park to Dr. Glen Dey Park bike path. 

 
• TranSystems was selected to design the First and Second Street on-street bike lanes based on the 

specific approach to the project and the ability to model traffic conditions if a vehicle travel lane 
is recommended to be removed. 

 
• MKEC Engineering Consultants (MKEC) was selected to design the Mt. Vernon on-street bike 

lanes based on the recent design of the on-street bike lanes on Mt. Vernon from Broadway to the 
Arkansas River.  MKEC is also currently under contract to design improvements to Mt. Vernon 
from Broadway to Southeast Boulevard. 

 
• Alta Planning & Design was selected for Market and Topeka on-street bike lanes and the 

Woodchuck Bicycle Boulevard for the specific approach to the projects and the extensive 
experience designing similar bicycle boulevards.   

 
A summary of the projects, submitted design fee ranges, and available funding is shown below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

696



2 
 

Project Consultant 

Fee Range Total 
Upper 
Range 

Fee 

TIP 
Fee 

Funding 

Concept Design Full Design CTG GO 

1st & 2nd Street On-Street Bike Lanes TranSystems 38,000 - 44,000 78,000 - 84,000 $128,000 $1,265 $114,969 $14,296 

Market & Topeka On-Street Bike Lanes Alta 35,000 - 40,000 44,000 - 50,000 $90,000 None $75,000 $15,000 

Woodchuck Bicycle Blvd Alta 40,000 - 46,000 55,000 - 65,000 $111,000 $4,684 None $115,684 

Armour Bicycle Blvd 
Ruggles & 
Bohm 15,000 - 16,125 30,000 - 32,000 $48,125 $4,934 $42,000 $11,059 

Green St, WSU, I-135 Path Connection 
Ruggles & 
Bohm 16,000 - 17,500 32,000 - 34,000 $51,500 $1,162 $35,000 $17,662 

Sycamore Shared Lane Markings 
Ruggles & 
Bohm 8,000 - 9,525 18,500 - 22,000 $31,525 None None $31,525 

Mt. Vernon On-Street Bike Lanes MKEC 7,000 - 8,500 7,000 - 8,500 $17,000 None $12,500 $4,500 

Redbud: Oliver to Woodlawn City Staff N/A N/A N/A $4,962 0.00 $4,962 

Project Oversight (dispersed evenly among all projects except Redbud: $5,045.57 per project) $35,312 N/A None $35,312 

   Total Design Fees, Administration Fees, and Funding $512,462 $17,007 $279,469 $250,000 

 
The General Obligation (GO) bond funding estimate is based upon the upper range of the concept and 
design fees, less the available Community Transportation Grants (CTG) funding awarded by the Greater 
Wichita YMCA Health & Wellness Coalition. 
 
Analysis:  Seven of the top ten priority on-street bicycle projects recommended in the Wichita Bicycle 
Master Plan will be addressed with the projects above.  These projects will provide for design of 
approximately 40 miles of bicycle facilities.   
 
The proposed initial agreements between the City and the consultants provide for the development of 
design concepts for the bicycle facilities listed above.   
 
Upon approval of each design concept by the appropriate District Advisory Board(s) and the City 
Council, staff will initiate a full design agreement with each consultant, to be approved by the City 
Manager, provided the full design fee is within the submitted design fee range.   
 
Projects receiving over $100,000 of federal funding that are programmed in the Wichita Area 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (WAMPO) Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) will be 
assessed a TIP fee per the WAMPO Fiscal Agreement that the Wichita City Council approved on June 11, 
2013.  The TIP fee is equal to one percent of the amount of federal construction funding. 
 
Financial Considerations:  The 2011-2020 Adopted Capital Improvement Program includes $500,000 in 
GO bond funding in 2013 for Bike Enhancement Projects, of which staff recommends initiating 
$250,000.  An additional $279,469 in CTG funding is available for design of the bicycle facilities, 
bringing the total project budget to $529,469.  The estimated cost for design of the above projects is not 
expected to exceed $477,150.  The estimated TIP fee and associated project oversight for the projects is 
$52,319, bringing the total estimated cost to $529,469. 
 
Legal Considerations: The resolutions and contracts have been reviewed and approved as to form by the 
Law Department. 
 
Recommendation/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the design concept 
agreements, adopt the resolutions, and authorize the necessary signatures.  
 
Attachments:  Maps, resolutions, and agreements. 
 
 

697



698



699



700



701



702



703



704



1 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-138 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG 1ST AND 
2ND STREETS (472-85108). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be One Hundred Thirty-Four Thousand Three Hundred Eleven Dollars ($134,311) exclusive of the 
cost of interest on borrowed money with $114,969 payable from Community Transportation Grant and 
$19,342 payable from General Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas is authorized to issue 
General Obligation bonds to pay such costs under the City of Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a 
maximum of $134,311, exclusive of financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.   \ 
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW

705



2 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-139 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG 
MARKET AND TOPEKA (472-85109). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be Ninety-Five Thousand Forty-Six Dollars ($95,046) exclusive of the cost of interest on borrowed 
money with $75,000 payable from Community Transportation Grant and $20,046 payable from General 
Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas is authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to pay 
such costs under the City of Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of $95,046, exclusive 
of the cost financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.     
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

706



3 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-140 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG 
WOODCHUCK BICYCLE BOULEVARD (472-85110). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be One Hundred Twenty Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty Dollars ($120,730) exclusive of the cost 
of interest on borrowed money with $120,730 payable from General Obligation bonds. The City of 
Wichita, Kansas is authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to pay such costs under the authority of 
the City of Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of $120,730, exclusive of the cost of 
financing. 

  SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.     
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

707



4 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-141 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG 
ARMOUR BICYCLE BOULEVARD (472-85111). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be Fifty-Eight Thousand One Hundred Five Dollars ($58,105) exclusive of the cost of interest on 
borrowed money with $42,000 payable from Community Transportation Grant and $16,105 payable from 
General Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas is authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to 
pay such costs under the authority of the City of Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of 
$58,105, exclusive of financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.     
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

708



5 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-142 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG GREEN 
STREET, FROM WICHITA STATE UNIVERSITY TO I-135 PATH CONNECTION  (472-
85112). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be Fifty-Seven Thousand Seven Hundred Eight Dollars ($57,708) exclusive of the cost of interest on 
borrowed money with $35,000 payable from Community Transportation Grant and $22,708 payable from 
General Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas is authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to 
pay such costs under the authority of the City of Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of 
$57,708, exclusive of financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.     
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
(SEAL) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

709



6 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-143 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG 
SYCAMORE (472-85113). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be Thirty-Six Thousand Five Hundred Seventy-One Dollars ($36,571) exclusive of the cost of interest 
on borrowed money with $36,571 payable from General Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas 
is authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to pay such costs under the authority of the City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of $36,571, exclusive of financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.     
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

710



7 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  13-144 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT ON-STREET BICYCLE FACILITIES ALONG MT. 
VERNON (472-85114). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be Twenty-Two Thousand Forty-Six Dollars ($22,046) exclusive of the cost of interest on borrowed 
money with $12,500 payable from Community Transportation Grant and $9,546 payable from General 
Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas is authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to pay 
such costs under the authority of the City of Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of 
$22,046, exclusive of financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.    
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
(SEAL) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 

711



8 
 

132019 
 

First Published in the Wichita Eagle on August 9, 2013 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-145 
 

 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF BONDS BY THE CITY OF 
WICHITA AT LARGE TO CONSTRUCT THE CONTINUATION OF THE REBUD MULTI-USE 
PATH FROM OLIVER TO WOODLAWN (472-85117). 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS; 
 
 SECTION 1:  That the City of Wichita finds it necessary to make certain related improvements as 
follows: 
 
 The design of on-street bicycle facilities. 

 SECTION 2:  The cost of the construction of the above described improvements is estimated to 
be Four Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-Two Dollars ($4,962) exclusive of the cost of interest on 
borrowed money with $4,962 payable from General Obligation bonds. The City of Wichita, Kansas is 
authorized to issue General Obligation bonds to pay such costs under the authority of the City of Wichita 
Charter Ordinance No. 156 up to a maximum of $4,962, exclusive of financing. 

  
 SECTION 3:  That the advisability of said improvements is established and authorized by City of 
Wichita Charter Ordinance No. 156. 
 
 SECTION 4:  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and 
publication once in the official city paper.     
 
PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 6th day of August, 2013. 

 
 
    ___________________________                                                    

      CARL BREWER, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________                                                             
KAREN SUBLETT, CITY CLERK 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________________ 
GARY REBENSTORF, DIRECTOR OF LAW 
 

712



Agenda Item No. II-15 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013  
 

 
TO:   Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  2014 Drug Enforcement Administration State and Local Task Force Agreements 
 
INITIATED BY: Wichita Police Department 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
             
 
Recommendation:  Adopt the 2014 Drug Enforcement Administration State and Local Task Force 
Agreements.    
 
Background:  Since 1983, the Wichita Police Department (WPD) has assigned two full time detectives 
to the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) to assist in narcotic and dangerous drug trafficking 
investigations in Wichita and the surrounding communities, as a member of the State and Local Task 
Force.  In addition to the WPD, the DEA Task Force includes agents from the Sedgwick County Sheriff’s 
Office, Kansas Bureau of Investigation, Kansas National Guard, Kansas Highway Patrol, Haysville Police 
Department and Immigration and Custom Enforcement.  The current agreement expires September 30, 
2013.   
 
Analysis:  The Wichita DEA Office is focused on large scale drug organizations that operate regionally 
and have a direct connection to Wichita and the surrounding communities, based on Wichita’s geographic 
access to three major drug corridors.  Those corridors, I-35, I-70 and US-54, make Wichita attractive to 
major drug organizations attempting to establish distribution networks.  DEA and its Task Force partners, 
including the WPD, work to identify, dismantle, and prosecute suspects attempting to bring large 
quantities of drugs into Wichita.  Through the Wichita DEA Office, the Task Force participates in large 
scale investigations, many of which ultimately have national impact. During 2012-2013, the local Task 
Force initiated 90 major cases and made 114 felony arrests connected with drug trafficking.  A 
continuation of the agreement between the Drug Enforcement Administration and the Wichita Police 
Department provides the City of Wichita and its residents with additional resources in an effort to identify 
and prosecute individuals and organizations that traffic narcotics and dangerous drugs in this community.   
 
Financial Considerations:  DEA reimburses the Wichita Police Department for overtime up to $17,202 
per Task Force Officer, per year for a total amount of $34,404.  Participation in the Task Force entitles the 
Department to share in a portion of Federal seizures, enhancing the Department’s resources for drug 
crime investigation. The Wichita Police Department is responsible for the base salary and benefits of the 
detectives.   
 
Legal Considerations:  The agreements have been reviewed and approved as to form by the Law 
Department.   
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the 2014 Drug 
Enforcement Administration State and Local Task Force Agreements.   
 
Attachments:  Wichita Resident Office State and Local Task Force Agreements. 
 

713



714



715



716



717



718



719



720



721



722



723



724



1 
 

Agenda Item No. II-16                         
City of Wichita 

City Council Meeting 
August 6, 2013 

 
TO:   Mayor and City Council Members 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance Changes to the Wichita/Sedgwick County Building & Trade Code 
 
INITIATED BY: Metropolitan Area Building & Construction Department 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendation: Approve ordinance changes to the Wichita/Sedgwick County Building & Trade Code. 
 
Background:  The National Electrical Code (NEC), published by the National Fire Protection Association, is 
revised and updated every three years in order to keep current with changing industry standards, technology 
changes and practices. The 2011 edition of the NEC is the latest and most current edition. 
 
The Board of Electrical Appeals (Board) along with Metropolitan Area Building & Construction Department 
(MABCD) staff has reviewed the following changes.  At the May 14, 2013 Board meeting, the Board voted 
unanimously to recommend to the City Council that the attached revisions be adopted as the electrical wiring 
installation standard for the City of Wichita.  The Board of County Commissioners approved the changes on 
June 5, 2013. 
 
Analysis: The amendments recommended by the Board and staff are summarized below and include the 
reason/s for each recommendation. 
 

a.  The 2011 NEC requires that nothing is allowed in front of the electrical service panel from the 
floor to 6 ft 6 inches high.  The construction industry asked the Board of Electrical Appeals to 
review that requirement as it  felt that building new walls to move the panel out flush with the 
footing concrete in garages or basements, which are the most common locations of electrical 
panels, was adding undue cost and other construction problems without increasing safety.  The 
Board and MABCD staff recommends that footings or concrete stem walls below the service panel 
be allowed in front of the face of the service panel up to 12 inches. 
 

b. Unifying the requirements in the City and Sedgwick County for the use of copper only wiring in 
residential buildings, mobile and manufactured homes.  The Board and MABCD staff recommend 
that only copper wire is permitted for residential wiring to appliances, lights and receptacles and 
for mobile and manufactured homes only copper wire is permitted. 
 
 

Financial Considerations: There are no proposed amendments to Wichita/Sedgwick County Building and 
Trade Code permit, license, certification or examination fees. 
 
Legal Considerations: The recommended ordinance revisions have been approved as to form by the Law 
Department. 
 
Recommendations/Actions: It is recommended that the City Council approve the proposed amendments 
to the Wichita/Sedgwick County Building and Trade Code.  
 
Attachment: Clean Ordinance and Delineated Ordinance 

725



First Published in The Wichita Eagle on ______________ 
 
 
DELINEATED         8/6/2013 
 

ORDINANCE NO._________ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS  4.2.070 AND 4.3.030 ; 
CREATING SECTION 4.2.035; AND REPEALING THE ORIGINALS OF 
SECTIONS 4.2.070 AND 4.3.030; OF THE WICHITA/SEDGWICK COUNTY 
UNIFIED BUILDING AND TRADE CODE. 

 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 

KANSAS: 

SECTION 1. 

SECTION 4.2.035. – WORKING SPACE ABOUT ELECTRICAL SERVICE is hereby 

created as follows: 

“Section 110.26(A)(3) of the National Electrical Code shall be amended to read as 

follows: 

Exception #3:  One- and two-family and multifamily dwellings, service panels 

located in garages, basements or accessory structures, a footing or stem wall that 

is located below the electric panel shall be permitted to extend not more than 12 

inches beyond the front of the electric panel.” 

SECTION 2. 

 SECTION 4.2.070 – CONDUCTOR REQUIREMENTS is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

 “A. Commercial and Industrial.  

 (1) Type. All commercial and industrial wiring conductors rated two hundred 

726



- 2 - 

amperes or less, including all service conductors required to be installed by the 

licensed electrical contractor, shall be copper. For parallel conductors, each 

individual conductor of a parallel set shall meet the requirements of this section. 

Parallel conductors are not to be considered a single conductor.  

Exception. Feeder circuit and branch circuit conductors rated one hundred 

amperes or more, may be aluminum or copper-clad aluminum, provided 

panelboards or disconnect switches served by such circuits are marked by the 

manufacturer as being suitable for aluminum or copper-clad aluminum 

termination. (Effective 2/1/82).  

 (2) Minimum Size. The minimum size conductors shall be No. 12 AWG copper, 

except smaller sizes will be acceptable for control wiring.  

 B. Residential. 

   In the jurisdiction of the City of Wichita, all All residential and accessory building 

wiring conductors less than 100 90 amperes shall be copper. In the jurisdiction for 

Sedgwick County all residential and accessory building wiring conductors less 

than 100 amperes can be copper or aluminum.” 

SECTION 3. 

 SECTION 4.3.030. –CONDUCTOR REQUIREMENTS is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

“In the jurisdiction of the City of Wichita, all All mobile or manufactured home and 

accessory building wiring conductors rated two hundred amperes or less, including all 

service conductors that are not owned and maintained by the electrical utility company, 

shall be copper.  In the jurisdiction of Sedgwick County, all mobile or manufactured 

727



- 3 - 

home and accessory building wiring conductors rated two hundred amperes or less, 

including all service conductors that are not owned and maintained by the electrical 

utility company, can be copper or aluminum.” 

SECTION 4. 

The originals of Sections 4.2.070 and 4.3.030 are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 5. 

The Board of County Commissioners has approved the above changes on June 5, 2013. 

SECTION 6. 

This ordinance shall be included in the Wichita/Sedgwick County Unified Building and 

Trade Code, and shall be effective upon its passage and publication once in the official city 

paper.  

PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this ________ day of 

_________________, 2013. 

 
__________________________________________ 

       Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, Director of Law  

728



First Published in The Wichita Eagle on August 16, 2013 
 
 
           8/6/2013 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 49-555     OCA 230100 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS  4.2.070 AND 4.3.030 ; 
CREATING SECTION 4.2.035; AND REPEALING THE ORIGINALS OF 
SECTIONS 4.2.070 AND 4.3.030; OF THE WICHITA/SEDGWICK COUNTY 
UNIFIED BUILDING AND TRADE CODE. 

 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 

KANSAS: 

SECTION 1. 

SECTION 4.2.035. – WORKING SPACE ABOUT ELECTRICAL SERVICE is hereby 

created as follows: 

“Section 110.26(A)(3) of the National Electrical Code shall be amended to read as 

follows: 

Exception #3:  One- and two-family and multifamily dwellings, service panels 

located in garages, basements or accessory structures, a footing or stem wall that 

is located below the electric panel shall be permitted to extend not more than 12 

inches beyond the front of the electric panel.” 

SECTION 2. 

 SECTION 4.2.070 – CONDUCTOR REQUIREMENTS is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

 “A. Commercial and Industrial.  

 (1) Type. All commercial and industrial wiring conductors rated two hundred 

729



- 2 - 

amperes or less, including all service conductors required to be installed by the 

licensed electrical contractor, shall be copper. For parallel conductors, each 

individual conductor of a parallel set shall meet the requirements of this section. 

Parallel conductors are not to be considered a single conductor.  

Exception. Feeder circuit and branch circuit conductors rated one hundred 

amperes or more, may be aluminum or copper-clad aluminum, provided 

panelboards or disconnect switches served by such circuits are marked by the 

manufacturer as being suitable for aluminum or copper-clad aluminum 

termination. (Effective 2/1/82).  

 (2) Minimum Size. The minimum size conductors shall be No. 12 AWG copper, 

except smaller sizes will be acceptable for control wiring.  

 B. Residential. 

   All residential and accessory building wiring conductors less than 90 amperes 

shall be copper.” 

SECTION 3. 

 SECTION 4.3.030. –CONDUCTOR REQUIREMENTS is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

“All mobile or manufactured home and accessory building wiring conductors rated two 

hundred amperes or less, including all service conductors that are not owned and 

maintained by the electrical utility company, shall be copper.” 

SECTION 4. 

The originals of Sections 4.2.070 and 4.3.030 are hereby repealed. 

 

730



- 3 - 

SECTION 5. 

The Board of County Commissioners has approved the above changes on June 5, 2013. 

SECTION 6. 

This ordinance shall be included in the Wichita/Sedgwick County Unified Building and 

Trade Code, and shall be effective upon its passage and publication once in the official city 

paper.  

PASSED by the governing body of the City of Wichita, Kansas, this 13th day of August, 

2013. 

 
__________________________________________ 

       Carl Brewer, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karen Sublett, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Gary E. Rebenstorf, Director of Law  

731



 
  

Agenda Item No. II-17 
 
 City of Wichita 
 City Council Meeting 
 August 6, 2013 
 
TO:      Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:    Wireless Network for Century II 
   (All Districts) 
     
INITIATED BY:  Division of Arts & Cultural Services 
 
AGENDA:   Consent 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - -  
Recommendation:   It is recommended that the City Council approve the contract with Electronic 
Technologies Inc., (ETI) and the City of Wichita for installation of a Ruckus wireless system at Century 
II.   
 
Background: Seven years ago a Zirrus wireless system was installed at Century II Performing Arts and 
Convention Center to provide wireless access throughout the building. The current system served the 
facility well when it was initially installed but over time the demand for wireless service has grown 
beyond the bandwidth capability of the existing system. It has been determined there is a critical need to 
upgrade and replace the current wireless equipment with a system that is compliant with the newest 
industry wireless standards to prevent widespread connectivity failures. 
 
Analysis: In August 2012 a Request for Proposals was sent out and six companies responded. After 
interviewing the applicant companies, Electronic Technologies Inc., was selected to provide the 
equipment and installation for a new wireless system at Century II.  ETI was selected by the committee 
based upon the firm’s experience designing and implementing wireless projects of similar scope; their 
ability to meet the requirements of the Request for Proposals; and the proven capabilities of the proposed 
system with its overall performance, coverage and support. The proposed system to be installed is called a 
Ruckus System. This new system will bring the facility up to industry standards for wireless connectivity 
and services. The Ruckus system will allow for coverage of approximately 90% of the facility. It’s 
estimated the current system only covers 60% of the facility.  Features of the new system:  
 

• Allows for vendor credit card processing at the booth for point of sale transactions.  
• Allows the vendor access to product demonstrations, You Tube and streaming media. 
• Allows meeting sponsors using VPN technology to connect to corporate resources.  
• Allows for and supports densely packed group meetings with attendees participating in interactive 

online conferences via smart phones, laptops, tablet devices and IPADS. 
• Allows for facility staff’s internal use of wireless ticket scanners and wireless laptops for point of 

sale and event access.  
• Allows public, event attendee and personal use of smart phones to access email and social 

networking sites.   
• Allows Century II to generate revenue by being able to selectively turn up bandwidth needs in 

various areas of the building and charge for those services.  
• Allows staff to solicit new business which had been lost previously due to lack of adequate 

bandwidth.  
• Allows staff to display a guaranteed bandwidth service.  

 
The Ruckus system will meet current demands for bandwidth and provide scalability for three (3) to five 
(5) years. The estimated completion date for the installation of the new system is January 2014.  
 

732



 
 
Financial Consideration:. Cost for the new system equipment and installation is $196,000. The funding 
for this equipment was identified in bonding resolution 13-052 on March 26, 2013.  
 
Legal Consideration: The contract has been approved by the Law Department as to form.  
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council approve the contract and 
expenditure of $196,000 for the equipment and installation of a Ruckus wireless system at Century II.  
 
Attachments:  Signed contract  
  Attachment A – Non-discrimination 
  Attachment B – Scope of Services 
  Attachment C – CEII wireless network items 
  
 
 

733



AGREEMENT FOR DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION 
OF CENTURY II WIRELESS NETWORK 

THIS AGREEMENT is made between the City of Wichita, Kansas, a Kansas municipal 
corporation (hereinafter referred to as the City) and Electronic Technology, Inc., a Kansas for 
profit corporation (hereinafter referred to as the Consultant) on the ().?-ft..day of June, 2013. 

WHEREAS, the City desires to employ the services of the Consultant to design, purchase, and 
install a robust, and versatile, 802. I I wireless network to meet the needs of the Century II 
Performing Arts & Convention Center (Century II), and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant is desirous and capable of providing the services required, and has 
been competitively selected to perform the required work. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

I. Term. The work under this Agreement shall commence upon issuance of a notice to 
proceed from the City, and shall be completed within I20 available working days 
thereafter. Available working days will be jointly determined by Century II and 
Consultant's staff, as they are contingent upon Century II's Event Schedule, Consultant' s 
schedule, and project work area availability. Contract extensions of this completion date 
shall be only upon written agreement, and for good cause. 

II. Performance. The Consultant shall perform the services described in the attached Scope 
of Services, Exhibit B, except as hereafter amended by the agreement of the parties. 
Exhibit B is made a part of this Agreement by reference. When the City has provided 
prompt notice to Consultant of a development that will affect the delivery of services in 
either Scope or Scheduling, or any defect or non-conformance in the delivery of services 
by Consultant, Consultant shall then, in an appropriate amount of time, take measures to 
minimize the consequences of such notice which shall affect their delivery of services. 
Services performed by Consultant under this Contract will be conducted in a manner 
consistent with the level of care, diligence and skill ordinarily possessed and exercised by 
members ofthe profession currently practicing under similar conditions. 

III. Billing and Payment. The services rendered by the Consultant pursuant to this 
Agreement for design and installation of a robust operating network as specified shall be 
compensated in a total amount not to exceed $194,240.00. Network hardware and 
software items will be invoiced upon delivery to Century II, with payment terms of Net 
30. Other associated costs for configuration and installation related items and labor will 
be invoiced on the City's final acceptance of the work set out in the Scope of Services. 
Payment for annual maintenance costs after successful installation shall be at additional 
charges as scheduled on Exhibit C. 

IV. Nondiscrimination in Employment. During the performance of this Agreement, the 
Consultant agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or in its provision of 
services because of race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, ancestry or national origin. 
The City's anti-discrimination requirements, provided as Exhibit A, are made a part of 
this Agreement by reference. 

734



V. Termination by the City. If, for any cause, the Consultant shall fail to fulfill its 
obligations under this Agreement in a timely and proper manner as required by this 
Agreement, or if the Consultant shall violate any of the covenants, agreements, or 
stipulations of this Agreement, the City shall thereupon have the right to terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice to the Consultant of such termination, effective thirty 
(30) days following receipt of same, provided the Consultant shall be provided a 
reasonable time within which to remedy such deficiencies. The Consultant shall be 
entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for any satisfactory work completed 
prior to the effective date of such termination. 

VI. Termination by the Consultant. The Consultant may terminate this Agreement at any 
time for failure of the City to comply with any material terms or conditions of this 
Agreement, effective thirty (30) days following receipt, provided, however, that the City 
shall be provided a reasonable time within which to remedy such deficiencies. 

VII. Governing Law. The laws of the State of Kansas shall govern the validity, construction, 
interpretation, and effect of this Agreement. 

VIII. Waivers. The failure of the parties to enforce, at any time, the provisions of this 
Agreement or to exercise any option which may be provided herein shall not be construed 
as a waiver of such provisions nor to affect the validity of this Agreement nor any part 
thereof, nor the right of the parties to enforce thereafter each and every provision and to 
exercise any such option. No waiver of any breach of this Agreement shall be held to be 
a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. All remedies available under this Agreement 
shall be taken and construed as cumulative, that is, as being in addition to every other 
remedy provided by operation of law. 

IX. Representatives of Contracting Parties. The following designated parties shall represent 
the parties to this Agreement for notification and communication as may be required: 

(a) Representing the City: 

Technical Contact: 
Mark Dawson, Network Analyst 
IT Department 
316-303-8126 
mdawson{a{wich ita. gov 

(b) Representing the Consultant: 

Dan Carr, Project Manager 
913-962-8083 
dcarr@etikc.com 

- 2-

Facility Contact: 
John D'Angelo, Manager 
Div. of Cultural Arts and Services 
316-264-9121 
jdangelo@wichita.gov 

Barbara Carr, ETI Administration 
913-962-8083 
bcarr@eti kc.com 

735



X. Indemnification and Insurance. Consultant shall defend, save and hold the City 
harmless against all suits, claims, damages and losses for injuries to persons or property 
arising from or caused by errors, omissions, intentional or negligent acts of Consultant, 
its officers, agents, servants, or employees, occurring in the performance of its services 
under this Agreement. 
a. Consultant will carry insurance coverage during the term of this Contract and any 

extensions thereof in the amounts and manner provided as follows: 
(1). Comprehensive General Liability covering premises - operations, 

Product/Completed operations, Broad Form Property Damage, and Contractual 
Liability with minimum limits as follows: 
Bodily Injury Liability $500,000 each occurrence 

$500,000 each aggregate 
Property Damage Liability $500,000 each occurrence 

$500,000 each aggregate 
Or 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
Liability (Combined Single Limit) 

$500,000 each occurrence 
$500,000 each aggregate 

(2). Automobile Liability- Comprehensive Form including all owned, 
hired and non-owned vehicles with minimum limits for: 
Bodily Injury Liability $500,000 each accident 
Property Damage Liability $500,000 each accident 
Or 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
Liability (Combined Single Limit) $500,000 each accident 

XI. Prohibition against Assignment and Delegation. Notwithstanding any other provision 
of this Agreement, the Consultant warrants that it shall not transfer, pledge, or otherwise 
assign this Agreement, or any interest therein, or any claim arising thereunder, to any 
party or parties, bank, trust, company, or other financing institution. None of the 
Consultant ' s duties under this Agreement may be delegated to or sub-contracted to any 
persons without the express written permission of the City. 

XII. Bond. Consultant shall furnish a Performance Bond and a Labor and Material bond, with 
a one (1) year warranty, in the amount of the total Contract in relation to all work 
performed pursuant to this Agreement. Should it become necessary to renew or either of 
the aforementioned bonds and amounts, under this Contract, Consultant shall be required 
to furnish the CITY with such documentation. The Performance Bond shall include 
Consultant ' s obligations and liabilities under all of the agreements and any amendments 
to this Contract. The bond shall be payable to the CITY under this Contract. The bond 
shall be on a form and with a surety that is satisfactory to the CITY. Consultant shall 
deliver the bond prior to the start of any work performed under this Contract. 

XIII. Installation: Consultant will coordinate its installations so that it takes into account 
Century Il 's Event Schedule and available work areas to eliminate interference with 
scheduled events, and minimize interference with routine work activities . Consultant 
agrees that prior to the installation of any equipment which will interface directly with the 
City ' s network, Consultant shall coordinate activation of that interface through the City's 
IT Department staff. Once radio installations are complete, a Wireless Coverage Map 
will be generated using TamoGraph Wireless Site Survey Software. Consultant shall 

- 3 -

736





 

                                                       Exhibit A 
 

REVISED NON-DISCRIMINATION AND 

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PROGRAM 

REQUIREMENTS STATEMENT FOR CONTRACTS OR AGREEMENTS 

 

 

During the term of this contract, the contractor or subcontractor, vendor or supplier of the City, 
by whatever term identified herein, shall comply with the following Non-Discrimination--Equal 
Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 
 
A. During the performance of this contract, the contractor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier 

of the City, or any of its agencies, shall comply with all the provisions of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, as amended:  The Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972; Presidential 
Executive Orders 11246, 11375, 11131; Part 60 of Title 41 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967; the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 and laws, regulations or amendments as may be promulgated 
thereunder. 

 
B. Requirements of the State of Kansas: 
 

1. The contractor shall observe the provisions of the Kansas Act against 
Discrimination (Kansas Statutes Annotated 44-1001, et seq.) and shall not 
discriminate against any person in the performance of work under the present 
contract because of race, religion, color, sex, disability, and age except where age 
is a bona fide occupational qualification, national origin or ancestry; 

 
2. In all solicitations or advertisements for employees, the contractor shall include 

the phrase, "Equal Opportunity Employer", or a similar phrase to be approved by 
the "Kansas Human Rights Commission"; 

 
3. If the contractor fails to comply with the manner in which the contractor reports 

to the "Kansas Human Rights Commission" in accordance with the provisions of 
K.S.A. 1976 Supp. 44-1031, as amended, the contractor shall be deemed to have 
breached this contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole 
or in part by the contracting agency; 

 
4. If the contractor is found guilty of a violation of the Kansas Act against 

Discrimination under a decision or order of the "Kansas Human Rights 
Commission" which has become final, the contractor shall be deemed to have 
breached the present contract, and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in 
whole or in part by the contracting agency; 

 

738



- 2 -  

5. The contractor shall include the provisions of Paragraphs 1 through 4 inclusive, of 
this Subsection B, in every subcontract or purchase so that such provisions will be 
binding upon such subcontractor or vendor. 

 
C. Requirements of the City of Wichita, Kansas, relating to Non-Discrimination -- Equal 

Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action Program Requirements: 
 

1. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall practice Non-
Discrimination -- Equal Employment Opportunity in all employment relations, 
including but not limited to employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, 
recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship.  The 
vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall submit an Equal Employment 
Opportunity or Affirmative Action Program, when required, to the Department of 
Finance of the City of Wichita, Kansas, in accordance with the guidelines 
established for review and evaluation; 

 
2. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will, in all solicitations or 

advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the vendor, supplier, con-
tractor or subcontractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive 
consideration for employment without regard to race, religion, color, sex, 
"disability, and age except where age is a bona fide occupational qualification", 
national origin or ancestry.  In all solicitations or advertisements for employees 
the vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall include the phrase, "Equal 
Opportunity Employer", or a similar phrase; 

 
3. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor will furnish all information and 

reports required by the Department of Finance of said City for the purpose of in-
vestigation to ascertain compliance with Non-Discrimination -- Equal 
Employment Opportunity Requirements.  If the vendor, supplier, contractor, or 
subcontractor fails to comply with the manner in which he/she or it reports to the 
City in accordance with the provisions hereof, the vendor, supplier, contractor or 
subcontractor shall be deemed to have breached the present contract, purchase 
order or agreement and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or 
in part by the City or its agency; and further Civil Rights complaints, or 
investigations may be referred to the State; 

  
4. The vendor, supplier, contractor or subcontractor shall include the provisions of 

Subsections 1 through 3 inclusive, of this present section in every subcontract, 
subpurchase order or subagreement so that such provisions will be binding upon 
each subcontractor, subvendor or subsupplier. 

 
5. If the contractor fails to comply with the manner in which the contractor reports to 

the Department of Finance as stated above, the contractor shall be deemed to have 
breached this contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole 
or in part by the contracting agency; 

739



- 3 -  

 
 
D. Exempted from these requirements are:   
 

1. Those contractors, subcontractors, vendors or suppliers who have less than four 
(4) employees, whose contracts, purchase orders or agreements cumulatively total 
less than five thousand dollars ($5,000) during the fiscal year of said City are 
exempt from any further Equal Employment Opportunity or Affirmative Action 
Program submittal. 

 
2. Those vendors, suppliers, contractors or subcontractors who have already 

complied with the provisions set forth in this section by reason of holding a 
contract with the Federal government or contract involving Federal funds; 
provided that such contractor, subcontractor, vendor or supplier provides written 
notification of a compliance review and determination of an acceptable 
compliance posture within a preceding forty-five (45) day  period from the 
Federal agency involved. 

 

740



1 
 

Exhibit B 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

                  A. The City shall issue a written Notice to proceed to authorize Consultant to begin 
work on the project.  Once notification has been received, Consultant agrees to begin working 
to procure and install the wireless network infrastructure to service all agreed upon Century II 
facilities.   

                  B. The deliverables that Consultant is expected to provide in support of the Century 
II Wireless Network implementation are as follows: 

 Provide and install two (2) Ruckus Zone Director 3000s, (each includes a 
license block for 50 APs), configured for failover operation 

 Provide two (2) license blocks for 50 additional APs each 
 Provide, configure and install sixty-five (65) Ruckus 7982 Dual-Band Access 

Points and setup Access Point location groups 
 Provide ten (10) mobile-stand-based Ruckus 7982 Dual-Band Access Points 
 Provide, configure and install all switch infrastructure  
 Create up to 6 ESSID’s  

o Free ESSID  
o Pay ESSID 
o Century II’s Business ESSID 
o 3 Guaranteed Bandwidth/Group Tiers 

 Provide and install all necessary communications cable infrastructure (Fiber & 
Copper) 

 Provide ten (10) client wireless bridge devices (these allow Century II to 
provide a “copper wired connection” via the wireless network) 

 Reconfigure internet backend 
 Provide, configure and install two (2) Cisco routers in failover configuration 
 Provide, configure and install hospitality gateway (Nomadix), including: 

o Design of simple splash page 
o Pay Service option 
o Credit Card Processing (in-house via Authorize.net) 

 Provide, configure and install Procera Packetlogic packet shaping device with 
basic filtering/shaping for each ESSID/Tier 

 Provide, configure and install DHCP/DNS Services (Infoblox)  
 Provide, configure and install Mikrotik Dude network monitor 
 Reconfigure CITY provided Cisco ASA5505 firewall 
 Provide 20 hours training for City IT/Century II Staff 

 

 

 

741



CENTURY II WIRELESS NETWORK ITEMS Exhibit C

Wireless Equipment Part Number Qty Unit Cost Extended Cost

3000 Controller (includes license block for 50 base APs) 901-3050-UN00 2 3,900$                        7,800$                  

Support for 50 base APs for 3000 controller for 5 years 904-0050-2ZD2 1 1,775$                        1,775$                  

License Block for 50 additional APs 909-0050-ZD00 2 2,100$                        4,200$                  

Support for 50 additional APs for 3000 controller for 5 years 904-0050-2ZD2 1 1,875$                        1,875$                  

Software support for 3000 controller 5 years 904-3050-2002 1 3,065$                        3,065$                  

7982 Dual-band Access Point (AP) 901-7982-US-00 75 616$                           46,200$                

Portable Stands w/mount & power supply ETI101 10 85$                              850$                      

Cisco Switches & Routers

WS-C2960S-24PS-L  24 Ports 5 2,555$                        12,775$                

Smart Net 8x5 next business day for 3 years 5 915$                           4,575$                  

WS-C2960S-48LPS-L   48Ports 1 4,155$                        4,155$                  

Smart Net 8x5 next business day for 3 years 1 915$                           915$                      

WS-C3560CG-8PC-S    8 Ports 6 1,225$                        7,350$                  

Smart Net 8x5 next business day for 3 years 6 330$                           1,980$                  

Cisco 2901 Router 2 1,500$                        3,000$                  

Smart Net 8x5 next business day for 3 years 2 1,260$                        2,520$                  

SFP MM 6 75$                              450$                      

Hospitality Gateway

Nomadix AG 5800-1500 User, incl Hi-avail. Module & 3-year Maint. 2 11,165$                      22,330$                

Packet Shaper

Procera PacketLogic PL-7810-100M-COP-AC, incl 3-year 8x5 Maint 1 26,095$                      26,095$                

Cabling 

Cat 5 cabling drops 86 150$                           12,900$                

MM Fiber cabling 1 4,000$                        4,000$                  

Patch Panel 24 port cat 5 patch panel 2 140$                           280$                      

Wall Mount Rack lockable 1 250$                           250$                      

Wall Mount Rack open  19X24 2 250$                           500$                      

APC UPS 1500 3 600$                           1,800$                  

Lift Rental  1 1,500$                        1,500$                  

Page 1 of 2  
742



CENTURY II WIRELESS NETWORK ITEMS Exhibit C

Installation

Network installation and training hours 160 100$                           16,000$                

16 Hours of Event Support (by phone or onsite if needed)  16 100$                           1,600$                  

Other

Asbestos abatement (only if needed) 1 3,500$                        3,500$                  

Total 194,240$              

Annual Maintenance Costs

Nomadix annual maint 2 1,453$                        2,905$                  

Procera PacketLogic PL7810-100M Silver Maint 8x5x1-Year 1 2,584$                        2,584$                  

1-yr SmartNet 8x5 NBD Coverage for WS-C2960S-24PS-L 24-port 5 305$                           1,525$                  

1-yr SmartNet 8x5 NBD Coverage for WS-C2960S-48LPS-L 48-port 1 305$                           305$                      

1-yr SmartNet 8x5 NBD Coverage for WS-C3560CG-8PC-S 8-port 6 110$                           660$                      

1-yr SmartNet 8x5 NBD Coverage for 2901 Router 2 420$                           840$                      

Ongoing Local Support

ETI local ongoing  hourly support per man hour 1 100$                           

Page 2 of 2  
743



              Agenda Item No. II-18 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 

 
TO:     Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT:  Wichita Retirement Systems’ Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 
INITIATED BY: Department of Finance 
 
AGENDA:  Consent 
 
 
Recommendation:  Receive and file the report. 
 
Background:  Since 1998, Pension Management has prepared the Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report (CAFR) of the Wichita Employees’ Retirement and Police and Fire Retirement Systems. The 
CAFR is designed to provide information to interested parties regarding the financial position, results of 
operations, investments and actuarial positions of the Retirement Systems.    
 
Analysis:  The financial statements presented in the CAFR for the year ended December 31, 2012 have 
been audited by the independent certified public accounting firm of Allen, Gibbs & Houlik, L.C. and an 
unmodified opinion has been issued stating that the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Systems and the changes in the Systems’ financial position, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Wichita Retirement Systems for 
the year ended December 31, 2011. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government 
unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR, with content that conforms to 
program standards. The 2011 award represents the thirteenth consecutive year in which the Wichita 
Retirement Systems have earned this award. Staff believes that the 2012 CAFR continues to meet GFOA 
standards for certification and the City applied for this recognition on June 25, 2013. 
 
Financial Considerations:  None 
 
Legal Considerations:  None 
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the City Council receive and file the Wichita 
Retirement Systems’ Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2012. 
 
Attachments:  Wichita Retirement Systems, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2012. 

744



  

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 
Police and Fire Retirement System of Wichita, Kansas  
Wichita Employees' Retirement System  
Wichita Employees' Retirement System Plan 3 

 
Pension Trust Funds of the City of Wichita, Kansas 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT  
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 

745





Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 

 

 

 

Pension Trust Funds of 

The City of Wichita, Kansas 
 

Wichita Retirement Systems 

Police and Fire 
Retirement System of 

Wichita, Kansas 

Wichita Employees’ 
Retirement System 

Wichita Employees’ 
Retirement System 

Plan 3 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 
City of Wichita 

Pension Management Office 
455 N. Main Street, 12th Floor 

Wichita, KS 67202  
316-268-4544 

http://www.wichita.gov/Government/Departments/Finance  
 

  

747



 

Table of Contents 

Introductory Section 

Awards ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Letter of Transmittal ..................................................................................................................... 2 

Boards of Trustees ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Organizational Chart .................................................................................................................... 7 

Professional Consultants ............................................................................................................. 7 

Financial Section 

Independent Auditor’s Report ....................................................................................................... 9 

Management Discussion and Analysis ....................................................................................... 11 

Basic Financial Statements 

Statement of Plan Net Position .................................................................................................. 14 

Statement of Changes in Plan Net Position ................................................................................ 15 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Plan Asset Matters ......................................... 16 

Insurance ................................................................................................................................... 17 

Cash, Investments and Securities Lending ................................................................................ 17 

Capital Assets ............................................................................................................................ 22 

Wichita Employees' Retirement System 

Plan Description ......................................................................................................................... 22 

Eligibility Factors and Benefit Provisions .................................................................................... 23 

Funding Policy ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation ...................................................................... 23 

Wichita Employees' Retirement System Plan 3 

Plan Description ......................................................................................................................... 24 

Eligibility Factors and Benefit Provisions .................................................................................... 25 

Police and Fire Retirement System 

Plan Description ......................................................................................................................... 25 

Eligibility Factors and Benefit Provisions .................................................................................... 26 

Funding Policy ........................................................................................................................... 26 

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation ...................................................................... 26 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedules of Funding Progress ................................................................................................. 28 

Schedules of Employer Contributions ........................................................................................ 28 

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information ..................................................................... 29 

748



Supporting Schedules 

Administrative Expenses ............................................................................................................ 30 

Investment Expenses ................................................................................................................. 30 

Payments to Consultants Other Than Investment Advisors ........................................................ 31 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance  and Other Matters ................................................................................................. 32 

Investment Section 

Investment Consultant’s Report ................................................................................................. 35 

Investment Policy Summary ....................................................................................................... 37 

Investment Performance ............................................................................................................ 38 

Asset Allocation ......................................................................................................................... 41 

Largest Equity and Fixed Income Holdings ................................................................................ 42 

Investment Assets by Manager .................................................................................................. 43 

Investment Fees by Manager ..................................................................................................... 44 

Investment Summary by Type of Investment ............................................................................. 45 

Brokerage Commissions ............................................................................................................ 46 

Actuarial Section 

Actuary’s Certification Letter ...................................................................................................... 47 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Actuarial Information 

Actuarial Cost Method ................................................................................................................ 50 

Actuarial Assumptions Used for Valuations ................................................................................ 50 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Actuarial Tables 

Active Member Valuation Data ................................................................................................... 53 

Retirants and Beneficiaries Added to and Removed from Rolls ................................................. 54 

Solvency Test ............................................................................................................................ 54 

Derivation of System Experience Gain/(Loss) ............................................................................ 54 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Summary of Benefit Provisions 

Defined Benefit Plans 1 and 2 .................................................................................................... 55 

Defined Contribution Plan 3 ....................................................................................................... 57 

Police and Fire Retirement System Actuarial Information 

Actuarial Cost Method ................................................................................................................ 58 

Actuarial Assumptions Used for Valuations ................................................................................ 58 

Police and Fire Retirement System Actuarial Tables 

Active Member Valuation Data ................................................................................................... 61 

Retirants and Beneficiaries Added to and Removed from Rolls ................................................. 61 

Solvency Test ............................................................................................................................ 62 

Derivation of System Experience Gain/(Loss) ............................................................................ 62 

749



 

Police and Fire Retirement System Summary of Benefit Provisions 

Defined Benefit Plans A, B and C-79 ......................................................................................... 62 

Statistical Section 

Changes in Plan Net Position (Last Ten Fiscal Years) 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System ..................................................................................... 68 

Police and Fire Retirement System ............................................................................................ 68 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Plan 3 .......................................................................... 70 

Average Benefit Payments (Last Ten Fiscal Years) 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System ..................................................................................... 72 

Police and Fire Retirement System ............................................................................................ 72 

Retired Members by Type and Benefit Amount 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System ..................................................................................... 74 

Police and Fire Retirement System ............................................................................................ 74 

 

750



 

 

 
 
 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION  

 
  

751



 

 

 
 
 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION  
 

752





 Introductory Section 

2 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

 

June 24, 2013 
 
The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
Police and Fire Retirement System of Wichita Board of Trustees 
Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees 
 
The Department of Finance of the City of Wichita is pleased to present the fifteenth Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report of the Wichita Retirement Systems (“WRS” or “Systems”); a single employer retirement system comprised of 
the Police and Fire Retirement System of Wichita, Kansas (PFRS), the Wichita Employees’ Retirement System and the 
Wichita Employees’ Plan 3 (WERS) for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
 
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this report, 
based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal 
control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance 
that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements. 
 
Operating results and the financial position of the Systems are presented in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). To the best of our knowledge, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and 
is reported in a manner designed to fairly present the financial position and operating results of the Systems.  
 
An annual audit of the Systems’ financial statements and an evaluation of the Systems’ internal controls were 
conducted by the independent accounting firm of Allen, Gibbs & Houlik, L.C. An unqualified (“clean”) opinion on the 
Systems’ financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 has been issued. The independent auditors’ report 
may be found on page 9 of the Financial Section of this report. 
 
Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditors’ report (beginning on 
page 11) and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the financial statements. This transmittal letter 
is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. 
 
Plan History 
The WERS was established in 1948 to provide pension benefits to all civilian employees, their surviving spouses, and 
beneficiaries. The PFRS was established in 1965 to provide pension benefits to commissioned police and fire officers, 
their surviving spouses, and beneficiaries. All full-time employees of the City of Wichita participate in one of these 
two Systems. 
 
In October 1999, the assets of the WRS were combined into a single Fund for investment purposes. Then, in October 
2000, assets of WERS Plan 3 were separated from the combined WERS and PFRS Funds for investment, custodial, 
and participant record keeping purposes. Finally, in January 2004, WERS Plan 3 assets were liquidated and the 
proceeds were reinvested with the other assets of the WRS, which resulted in a combined single Fund for investment 
purposes. 
 
 

Department of Finance 
City Treasurer’s Division • Pension Management 

City Hall • 12th Floor • 455 N. Main • Wichita, Kansas 67202 
T 316.268.4544 • F 316.268.4656 

www.wichita.gov 

754



Introductory Section 

 WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT |3 

How We Are Structured 
A sixteen-member Board of Trustees oversees the PFRS. The members include the City Manager or the City 
Manager’s designee, the Police Chief, the Fire Chief, three fire officers and three police officers elected by PFRS 
members of their respective departments, and seven members appointed by the City Council. A separate sixteen-
member Board of Trustees oversees the WERS. The members include the City Manager or the City Manager’s 
designee, the City Manager’s appointee, seven members elected by WERS members, and seven members appointed by 
the City Council. The City Manager appoints a Pension Manager who manages staff to carry out the daily operations 
of the Retirement Systems. 
 
System Funding and Financial Position 
Funding is the process of setting aside resources for current and future use for the WRS defined benefit plans. The 
objective of the WRS is to meet funding requirements through contributions, expressed as a percent of active member 
payroll, which will remain approximately level from year to year and will not require significant increases in 
contribution rates effecting future generations of citizens in the absence of plan benefit improvements.  
 
The annual actuarial valuations, prepared by our actuary, Cavanaugh Macdonald Consulting, LLC, provide an 
indicator of the funded status of the Systems. As of December 31, 2012, the funded ratio of the PFRS was 90.5 percent 
and the funded ratio of the WERS was 91.0 percent. The funded ratio is the ratio of actuarial assets to actuarial 
liabilities. The actuarial liability is that portion of the present value of future benefits that will not be paid by future 
employer normal costs or member contributions. The difference between this liability and the actuarial value of assets 
at the same date is referred to as the unfunded actuarial liability (UAL), or surplus if the asset value exceeds the 
actuarial liability. The Systems’ unfunded actuarial liability (or surplus) are amortized over a 20-year rolling period. 

Positive investment performance in 2009, 2010 and 2012 helped offset some, but not all, of the deferred losses from 
2008 and 2011. Therefore, the funded ratios for the PFRS and WERS decreased by 0.3 and 1.5 percentage points, 
respectively. Without future investment returns above the actuarially assumed rate of return of 7.75 percent, the funded 
ratios for the Systems could deteriorate and the required employer contributions could increase in future years. In 
2012, employer contributions for the PFRS remained the same as the prior year at 22.0 percent of annual covered 
payroll, while employer contributions for the WERS increased from 10.2 percent to 10.6 percent of annual covered 
payroll. Additional information regarding the financial condition and funding status of the pension trust funds can be 
found in the Financial and Actuarial Sections of this report. 
 
Investments 
The WERS Board of Trustees’ investment authority is found in the City of Wichita’s Municipal Code, Section 
2.28.090. Investment authority for the PFRS Board of Trustees is contained in Section 12 of Charter Ordinance 215. 
 
As of December 31, 2012, the Plan net position was $1.011 billion, an increase of 9.5 percent from the December 31, 
2011 Plan net position of $923.5 million. The investment return for the WRS’ combined investment portfolio was 
13.78 percent for the year ended December 31, 2012, outperforming the WRS’ investment target benchmark return of 
12.56 percent for the same period and the Systems’ long-term actuarial target of 7.75 percent. 
 
The WERS and PFRS Boards of Trustees have established an overall strategic asset allocation policy based upon the 
financial needs of the joint fund and the Boards’ tolerance for volatility, or risk. The Boards utilize external investment 
managers consisting of both passive and active strategies. The portfolio is broadly diversified among equities, debt 
securities, real estate, commodities and timber, with additional diversification achieved in equities through domestic 
and international allocations. With the assistance of the Systems’ financial consultant, Callan Associates Inc., and 
Pension Management staff, the Trustees continue to monitor the investment program and review the policy for future 
changes to the asset allocation, manager allocations and possible additional investment types. For more information on 
investment strategies and policies, safeguards on investments and a comparative analysis of investment results over 
time, please refer to the Investment Section of this report beginning on page 35. 
 
Major Initiatives and Significant Actions 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP): Beginning in 2000 (WERS) and 2001 (PFRS), the Systems began offering 
a DROP option to participants eligible for a retirement benefit. The WERS DROP is a forward DROP where 
participants continue to work for a period of one to sixty months after election. During the DROP period, the employee 

755





Introductory Section 

 WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT |5 

Systems had fully funded the commodities and TIPs allocations, partially funded the timber allocation and the new 
core real estate manager had not been funded.  
 
In 2012, the Joint Investment Committee (JIC) reviewed, and both WRS Boards adopted, additional changes to the 
Strategic Plan and Investment Policies. The changes took effect in April 2012 and apply to Domestic Fixed Income – 
Active Core Plus managers. The first change lowers the required average credit quality rating for the allocation from 
AA- to A, while the second allows the managers to take a position in a foreign currency without purchasing a security 
from that country. 
 
Awards 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Wichita Retirement Systems (WRS) for its comprehensive 
annual financial report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. This was the thirteenth consecutive year that the 
Systems have achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government 
must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report must 
satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current comprehensive annual 
financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's requirements and we are submitting it to 
the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
In addition, the CAFR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 received the Public Pension Coordinating 
Council’s (PPCC) Public Pension Standards Award for the tenth consecutive year. This award is in recognition of 
meeting professional standards for pension plan design and administration, as set forth in the Public Pension Standards.  
 
We believe that our plan design and administration continued to meet the PPCC award criteria during 2012 and plan to 
apply for Public Pension Standards Award. 
 
Acknowledgments 
This report was made possible through the combined efforts of the Pension Management Staff, the Controller’s Office, 
and the City Treasurer. The report is intended to provide complete and reliable information in accordance with the 
Finance Department’s policy of full financial disclosure. The report was prepared using the principles of governmental 
accounting and reporting as developed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Shawn Henning Rob Raine Barbara Davis 
Director of Finance Interim City Treasurer Pension Manager 

757



 Introductory Section 

6 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Boards of Trustees 
 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees 
 Trustee Name1 Type of Membership 

 Maria Bias Elected 
 Steve Coberley Elected 
 Bob Decker Appointed by Council Member 
 Colleen Didier  Appointed by Council Member 
 Brent Dome Appointed by Council Member 
 Mark Hall  Elected 
 Mike Hastings  Appointed by Council Member 
 Shawn Henning (2nd V.P.) Appointed by City Manager 
 Stephanie Mankins  Appointed by Council Member 
 Mark Manning (1st V.P.) Elected 
 Sean Seamster  Elected 
 Melinda Walker 

(President) Elected 
 Anne Warren Elected 
 Vacant Appointed by Council Member 
 Vacant Appointed by Mayor 
 Vacant City Manager Designee 

1Names of Trustees and Officer positions are as of December 31, 2012. 
Figure 1 

Police and Fire Retirement System Board of Trustees 
 Trustee Name1 Type of Membership 

 Hans Asmussen (President) Police Elected 
 Chris Bannister Police Elected 
 Ronald Blackwell Fire Chief 
 Carolyn Conley Appointed by Council Member 
 Michael Crosby (1st V.P.) Fire Elected 
 Marvin Fisher (2nd V.P.) Appointed by Mayor 
 Shawn Henning  City Manager Designee 
 Jason Jones Fire Elected 
 Warren Koehn  Fire Elected 
 Paul O’Mara Appointed by Council Member 
 Chester Pinkston  Police Elected 
 Larry White Appointed by Council Member 
 Norman Williams Police Chief 
 William Wynne Appointed by Council Member 
 Vacant Appointed by Council Member 
 Vacant  Appointed by Council Member 

1Names of Trustees and Officer positions are as of December 31, 2012. 
Figure 2 

  

 

 

758







 

 

 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

  

761



 

 

 
 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 

762



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 9 

  

763



 Financial Section 
 

10 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
  

764



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 11 

Management Discussion and Analysis 
Management is pleased to provide this overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Wichita Retirement 
Systems (WRS) for the year ended December 31, 2012. We encourage readers to consider this information in 
conjunction with the letter of transmittal, which begins on page 2 of this report.  

Overview of the Financial Statements of the Fund 
The two basic financial statements of the Fund are the Statement of Plan Net Position and the Statement of Changes in 
Plan Net Position. Statements are shown for the most recent and previous fiscal years for comparison and analysis in 
individual line items. The statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States. 

The Statement of Plan Net Position (see page 14) is presented for the pension trust funds as of December 31, 2012, 
with combined total comparative information at December 31, 2011. The Statement of Plan Net Position presents 
information on all of the Systems’ assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position 
held in trust for future benefits. The statement is a snapshot of the financial position of the Systems at the close of the 
fiscal year.  

The Statement of Changes in Plan Net Position (see page15) is presented for the pension trust funds for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, with combined total comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2011. The 
statement presents information showing how the Systems’ net position changed during the fiscal year. 

The Notes to the Financial Statements (see page 16) provide additional information, which is not included in the 
statements themselves, but is essential for a full understanding of the financial statements.  

The Required Supplementary Information and Supporting Schedules (see page 28) consist of schedules and 
related notes concerning actuarial information, funded status and required contributions of the defined benefit systems. 
These schedules and notes emphasize the long-term nature of pension plans and show the progress of each system in 
accumulating sufficient assets to pay future benefits. 

The Schedules of Funding Progress (see page 28) show actuarial trend data for the past six years. It includes the ratio 
of the actuarial value of assets to the actuarial liability, otherwise known as the funded ratio. The funded ratio increases 
or decreases over time based upon the relationships between contributions, investment performance, benefit changes, 
and actuarial assumption changes based upon participant information and characteristics. This schedule also shows the 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability as a percentage of member payroll. 

The Schedules of Employer Contributions (see page 28) show the amount of required employer contributions 
determined in accordance with parameters established by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 25 and the percentage actually contributed. 

The Notes to the Required Supplementary Information (see page 29) include the actuarial methods and 
assumptions used to determine the data included in the Schedules of Funding Progress and the Schedules of Employer 
Contributions. 

A schedule of Administrative Expenses (see page 30), a schedule of Investment Expenses (see page 30), and a 
schedule of Payments to Consultants Other Than Investment Advisors (see page 31) are included to show detail of 
the administrative and investment costs to operate the Systems. 

Financial Statement Analysis 
 
Plan Net Position 
The Plan net position increased by $87.3 million during the 2012 fiscal year. This change primarily consisted of a 
$71.1 million increase in cash and investments, mostly due to the appreciation of investment holdings. The investment 
return was 13.78% for the year ended December 31, 2012. Investment returns by asset class were: domestic equity 
17.71%, international equity 16.13%, domestic fixed income 7.58%, real estate 15.68%, timber (0.11)% and 
commodities 0.34%. 

765





Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 13 

a decrease in DROP and Back DROP payments, which totaled $8.8 million in 2011 as compared to $4.6 million in 
2012. The decrease in DROP payments in 2012 was primarily due to the 2011 Wichita Employees Retirement 
Incentive Plan (WERIP), applicable to qualifying WERS employees only, which caused a one-time increase in DROP 
payments in 2011. 

Requests for Information 
Questions regarding any information provided in this report should be addressed to the Pension Management Office, 
City of Wichita, 455 N. Main St., 12th Floor, Wichita, KS 67202. 

 

  

767



 Financial Section 
 

14 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Wichita Retirement Systems 
Statement of Plan Net Position 

December 31, 2012 
(with comparative totals as of December 31, 2011) 

 

Police and 
Fire Employees' Employees' 

 
 

Retirement Retirement Retirement Totals 

 
System System  Plan 3 2012 2011 

 ASSETS  
    

 
   Cash and temporary investments  $462,154 $197,567 $28,464 $688,185 $534,657 
   Receivables:  

    
 

      Investment sales pending  9,953,278 9,339,039 341,569 19,633,886 23,469,227 
      Interest and dividends  1,660,330 1,558,437 55,366 3,274,133 3,066,766 
      Other   121,415 123,319 26,152 270,886 1,081,397 
        Total receivables  11,735,023 11,020,795 423,087 23,178,905 27,617,390 
   Investments, at fair value:  

    
 

      Government short-term investment fund  19,043,705 17,868,361 653,526 37,565,592 31,195,365 
      Government securities:  long-term  18,480,647 17,339,645 679,401 36,499,693 30,823,657 
      Corporate debt instruments:  long-term  46,221,262 43,367,545 1,699,224 91,288,031 93,784,938 
      Mortgage and asset-backed securities  40,285,325 37,798,097 1,481,002 79,564,424 87,013,880 
      Corporate stocks:  domestic common  174,609,772 163,829,305 6,419,147 344,858,224 318,245,576 
      Corporate stocks:  international common  83,374,531 78,226,958 3,065,083 164,666,572 143,652,699 
      Real estate  17,903,095 16,797,752 658,168 35,359,015 32,542,505 
      Timber  10,618,941 9,963,324 390,382 20,972,647 9,825,366 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  commodities 12,533,250 11,759,442 460,758 24,753,450 12,043,342 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  domestic                                   

fixed income  - - 559,574 559,574 451,921 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  international 

fixed income  3,695,884 3,467,698 135,871 7,299,453 7,263,755 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  high yield 

fixed income  3,404,904 3,194,684 125,173 6,724,761 7,496,134 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  U.S. TIPS  13,672,383 12,828,246 502,635 27,003,264 12,854,067 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  domestic 

equities  42,993,048 40,338,643 1,580,546 84,912,237 112,084,537 
      Value of interest in pooled funds:  international 

equities  23,030,573 21,609,167 1,018,299 45,658,039 37,506,981 
      Securities lending short-term collateral 

investment pool  31,506,901 29,562,351 1,081,230 62,150,482 88,624,514 
        Total investments  541,374,221 507,951,218 20,510,019 1,069,835,458 1,025,409,237 

     
 

   Capital assets:  
    

 
      Pension software  453,543 453,543 388,751 1,295,837 1,284,451 
      Less accumulated depreciation  (287,939) (287,939) (246,805) (822,683) (643,928) 
       Total capital assets (net of depreciation)  165,604 165,604 141,946 473,154 640,523 

     
 

             Total assets  553,737,002 519,335,184 21,103,516 1,094,175,702 1,054,201,807 

     
 

 LIABILITIES  
    

 
   Accounts payable and accrued expenses  512,358 513,572 29,569 1,055,499 4,399,356 
   Investment purchases pending  10,225,304 9,594,217 350,904 20,170,425 37,683,272 
   Securities lending obligations  31,506,901 29,562,351 1,081,230 62,150,482 88,624,514 
      
             Total liabilities  42,244,563 39,670,140 1,461,703 83,376,406 130,707,142 

     
 

 NET POSITION 
    

 
   Held in trust for pension benefits  $511,492,439 $479,665,044 $19,641,813 $1,010,799,296 $923,494,665 
Figure 7 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 

  

768



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 15 

Wichita Retirement Systems 
Statement of Changes in Plan Net Position 

For the year ended December 31, 2012 
(with comparative totals for the year ended December 31, 2011) 

     
 

 

 Police and 
Fire   Employees'   Employees'  

 

 

 
 Retirement   Retirement   Retirement  Totals 

 
 System   System   Plan 3  2012 2011 

 ADDITIONS  
    

 
   Contributions:  

    
 

     Employer  $14,113,014 $6,471,423 $1,189,456 $21,773,893 $21,647,154 
     Employee  4,543,523 2,343,641 1,189,456 8,076,620 8,185,015 
      Total contributions  18,656,537 8,815,064 2,378,912 29,850,513 29,832,169 

     
 

   Investment income:  
    

 
    From investment activities  

    
 

       Net appreciation (depreciation) in   
    

 
         fair value of investments  50,616,279 48,438,421 1,971,200 101,025,900 (17,649,784) 
       Interest and dividends  12,353,419 11,762,769 430,367 24,546,555 26,658,361 
       Commission recapture  19,678 18,686 688 39,052 55,897 
           Total investing activity income  62,989,376 60,219,876 2,402,255 125,611,507 9,064,474 
      Less investment expense  2,585,782 2,459,772 94,713 5,140,267 4,320,402 
           Net income from investing activities  60,403,594 57,760,104 2,307,542 120,471,240 4,744,072 

     
 

   From securities lending activities  
    

 
     Securities lending income  211,445 199,629 7,435 418,509 437,766 
    Less securities lending activities expenses:  

    
 

       Borrower rebates  (93,340) (91,060) (3,262) (187,662) (119,708) 
       Management fees  88,965 84,847 3,122 176,934 156,493 
         Total securities lending activities expenses  (4,375) (6,213) (140) (10,728) 36,785 

     
 

            Net income from securities lending 
activities  215,820 205,842 7,575 429,237 400,981 

 Total net investment income 60,619,414 57,965,946 2,315,117 120,900,477 5,145,053 

     
 

   Transfers from other funds  - 2,025,607 - 2,025,607 2,680,431 

     
 

       Total additions  79,275,951 68,806,617 4,694,029 152,776,597 37,657,653 

     
 

 DEDUCTIONS  
    

 
   Pension benefits  27,808,079 32,935,621 - 60,743,700 60,299,420 
   Pension administration 396,424 396,167 72,742 865,333 966,745 
   Depreciation 62,562 62,562 53,625 178,749 180,049 
   Employee contributions refunded 357,192 341,634 959,751 1,658,577 1,795,125 
   Transfers to other funds  - - 2,025,607 2,025,607 2,680,431 
       Total deductions 28,624,257 33,735,984 3,111,725 65,471,966 65,921,770 

     
 

             Change in net position 50,651,694 35,070,633 1,582,304 87,304,631 (28,264,117) 
Net position - beginning 460,840,745 444,594,411 18,059,509 923,494,665 951,758,782 

     
 

Net position - ending $511,492,439 $479,665,044 $19,641,813 $1,010,799,296 $923,494,665 
Figure 8 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 

  

769



 Financial Section 
 

16 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012 
The Wichita Employees' Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement System of Wichita, and the Wichita 
Employees' Retirement System Plan 3 are reported as pension trust funds of the City of Wichita and its component 
units (the reporting entity). The plans consist of two single-employer defined benefit pension plans and a single-
employer defined contribution plan, covering all full-time employees. 

The defined benefit plans include the Wichita Employees' Retirement System (WERS) and the Police and Fire 
Retirement System (PFRS). A separate Board of Trustees administers each System. The defined contribution plan 
consists of the Wichita Employees' Retirement System Plan 3, which is also administered by the Wichita Employees' 
Retirement System Board of Trustees. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Plan Asset Matters 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting: The Wichita Employees' Retirement System, Police and Fire 
Retirement System, and the Wichita Employees' Retirement System Plan 3 are reported as pension trust funds of the 
City of Wichita, Kansas in the City's financial statements using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. Employee and employer contributions are recognized as revenues in the period in which 
employee services are performed. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of each plan. 

Method Used to Value Investments: Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported 
at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates market or fair value. Securities traded on national or international 
exchanges are valued at the last trade price of the day. If no close price exists, then a bid price is used. Mortgages are 
valued on the basis of future principal and interest payments, and are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar 
investments. Investments that do not have an established market value are reported at their estimated fair value. The 
Systems invest in treasury strips and various asset-backed securities, such as collateralized mortgage obligations and 
credit card trusts. 

Capital Assets: Capital assets include hardware and software. Capital assets are defined as assets with an initial 
individual minimum cost of $5,000 or more. Capital assets are valued at historical cost. Major outlays for capital assets 
and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over useful lives of one to thirty three years for office equipment and seven to twenty years for data processing 
software. 

Management of Plan Assets: The Boards of Trustees of the Systems have contractual arrangements with 
independent money managers for investment of the assets of the Systems. The firms have been granted discretionary 
authority concerning purchases and sales of investments within guidelines established by City Ordinances and the 
Strategic Plan and Investment Policies adopted by the Boards of Trustees. The Boards of Trustees of the Systems also 
have contractual arrangements with independent firms which monitor the investment decisions of the Systems’ 
investment managers. 

Estimates: Preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) requires making estimates and assumptions that affect: 1) the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities; 2) disclosures, such as contingencies; and 3) the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
included in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Some of the more significant 
estimates include the valuation of certain investments described in the Notes and the actuarial data included in the 
Required Supplementary Information. 

Prior Year Comparative Information: The basic financial statements include certain prior year comparative 
information that is summarized in total, but not at the level of detail required for a presentation in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the 
Systems' financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, from which the summarized information has been 
derived. 

Reserves and Concentrations of Credit Risks:  There are no assets legally reserved for purposes other than the 
payment of plan member benefits. The plans held no individual investments (other than U.S. Government and U.S. 
Government guaranteed obligations) where the market value exceeded 5% or more of net assets available for benefits. 
There are no long-term contracts for contributions. 

770



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 17 

Pending Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements: GASB Statement No. 67, 
Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, was issued in 2012. GASB Statement 67 revises existing guidance for the 
financial reports of most pension plans. The Statement enhances reporting requiring additional note disclosures and 
required supplementary information (RSI) for both defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. Statement 
67 also requires presentation of new information about annual money-weighted rates of return in the notes to the 
financial statements and in ten-year RSI schedules. The provisions of Statement 67 are effective for financial 
statements for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2014. 

GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, revises and establishes new financial reporting 
requirements for most governments that provide their employees with pension benefits. Implementation of GASB 
Statement 68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their long-term obligation for 
pension benefits as a liability, and to more comprehensively measure the annual costs of pension benefits. The 
Statement enhances disclosure requirements in the notes and in required supplementary information by including the 
amount expected to be the equivalent of the unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities for the Retirement Systems. The 
provisions of GASB Statement 68 are effective for financial statements for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 
2015. 

Insurance 
The WRS participate in the City of Wichita's self-insurance fund programs of workers' compensation, group life 
insurance, employee liability, property damage, auto liability and general liability. Settled claims for the City of 
Wichita have not exceeded commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. Additional information, 
including a general description of each program, can be found in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report issued 
by the City of Wichita.  

Cash, Investments and Securities Lending 
Investments of the Pension Trust Funds: City Ordinance (49-036; section 2.28.090) authorizes the Wichita 
Employees' Retirement System and City Ordinance (Charter Ordinance 215; section 12) authorizes the Police and Fire 
Retirement System to invest trust fund assets in accordance with the prudent person rule, subject to the following 
limitations: 1) The proportion of funds invested in corporate preferred and common stock shall not exceed 70%; and 
(2) the proportion of funds invested in foreign securities shall not exceed 35%. Additionally, the Systems are not 
permitted to invest directly or indirectly in any: 

1. Real estate, except in certain pooled arrangements with the amount of such investment not to exceed 10% of the 
Fund; 

2. Private equity, except in a commingled fund-of funds vehicle operated by a registered investment advisor or a 
bank with the amount of such investment not to exceed 10% of the Fund; 

3. Timber, except in a commingled fund vehicle operated by a registered investment advisor or a bank.  The amount 
of such investment shall not exceed 10% of the Fund; 

4. Mortgages secured by real estate, except insured mortgages under Titles 203, 207, 220 and 221 of the Federal 
Housing Act; 

5. Oil and gas leases or royalties; or 
6. Commodities (including, but not limited to, wheat, gold, gasoline, options, or financial futures); provided however, 

that the restriction on investments contained in this paragraph shall not apply to funds which are invested in a 
mutual fund, separate account or commingled fund operated by a registered investment advisor or insurance 
company. 

 
All of the deposits and investments of the Wichita Employees’ and Police and Fire Retirement Systems are held in a 
joint investment fund that is invested by outside money managers and are held under a custodial agreement. The 
pension funds follow an overall strategic allocation policy that includes investments in six asset types: domestic 
equities, international equities, domestic fixed income, real estate, timber, and commodities. 

The investments of the WRS on December 31, 2012 are listed in Figure 9 on page 18.  

771



 Financial Section 
 

18 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Wichita Retirement Systems’ Investments 
Type of Investment Fair Value 
Government short-term investment fund $   37,565,592 
Government securities, long-term 36,499,693 
Corporate debt instruments, long-term 91,288,031 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 79,564,424 
Corporate stocks, domestic common  344,858,224 
Corporate stocks, international common  164,666,572 
Real estate 35,359,015 
Timber 20,972,647 
Value of interest in pooled funds, commodities 24,753,450 
Value of interest in pooled funds, domestic fixed income 559,574 
Value of interest in pooled funds, international fixed income 7,299,453 
Value of interest in pooled funds, high yield fixed income 6,724,761 
Value of interest in pooled funds, U.S. TIPS 27,003,264 
Value of interest in pooled funds, domestic equities 84,912,237 
Value of interest in pooled funds, international equities 45,658,039 
Securities lending short-term collateral investment pool 62,150,482 
Total investments $1,069,835,458 
  Figure 9  

The pension funds invest in various asset-backed securities such as collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO's) and 
credit card trusts to maximize yields and reduce the impact of interest rate changes. These securities are based on cash 
flows from principal and interest payments on the underlying assets. For example, CMO's break up the cash flows 
from mortgages into categories with defined risk and return characteristics called tranches. The tranches are 
differentiated by when the principal payments are received from the mortgage pool. Changes in interest and mortgage 
prepayment rates may affect the amount and timing of cash flows, which would also affect the reported estimated fair 
values. The pension funds utilize a combination of asset-backed securities, which vary in their degree of volatility. 
Although considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, management believes the estimated fair values are 
reasonable estimates. 

The pension funds also invest in real estate through real estate investment trusts (REITS).  The fair values of these 
investments are estimated using the net asset value of the Systems’ shares owned in each trust.  Market conditions have 
had an impact on the estimated fair value of real estate investments. Restrictions on the availability of real estate 
financing, as well as economic uncertainties, have affected the volume of purchase and sale transactions. As a result, 
the estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair values of the real estate investments are inherently subject 
to uncertainty. 

Custodial Credit Risk: The custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the WRS’ 
deposits may not be recovered. On December 31, 2012, the WRS’ cash deposits in the amount of $688,185 were 
included in the City’s pooled cash and temporary investments. The WRS’ debt securities investments were registered 
in the name of WRS and were held in the possession of the WRS’ custodial bank, State Street. 

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Interest rate risk is managed using the modified duration methodology. Duration is a measure of a fixed 
income’s cash flow using present values, weighted for cash flows as a percentage of the investment’s full price. The 
modified duration methodology estimates the sensitivity of a bond’s price to interest rate changes.  

The WRS manage their exposure to fair value loss arising from increasing interest rates by complying with the 
following policy: 

1. Fixed income managers have full discretion over the issuers selected and may hold any mix of fixed income 
securities and cash equivalents. 

2. Portfolio duration for nominal fixed income managers must not be less than 80% nor more than 120% of the 
duration of the Barclays Capital Aggregate Bond Index, unless the Joint Investment Committee prospectively 
grants a written exception. As of December 31, 2012, the duration of the Index was 5.06 years, which equated to a 
minimum and maximum range for each fixed income portfolio of 4.05 years and 6.07 years, respectively. 

772



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 19 

Portfolio duration for Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) fixed income managers must not be less than 80% 
nor more than 120% of the duration of the Barclays Capital US TIPS Index. As of December 31, 2012, the duration of 
the Index was 8.09 years, which equated to a minimum and maximum range for each TIPS portfolio of 6.47 years and 
9.71 years, respectively. 

The modified duration of investments, expressed in years, on December 31, 2012 is shown as follows (see Figure 10): 

Modified Duration of Investments 
 

Investment Type 
Fair 

Value 
Percent of all Fixed 

Income Assets 

Weighted Average 
Modified Duration 

(years) 
Corporate debt instruments, long-term $91,288,031 32.0% 5.4 
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 79,564,424 27.8 2.7 
Government securities long-term 36,499,693 12.7 7.6 
   Actively managed investments 207,352,148 72.5 4.8 
Government short-term investment fund 37,565,592 13.1 0.1 
Pooled U.S. TIPS 27,003,264 9.4 8.1 
Pooled high yield fixed income securities 7,299,453 2.5 5.1 
Pooled international fixed income securities 6,724,761 2.3 2.7 
Pooled domestic fixed income securities 559,574 0.2 5.0 
Total $286,504,792 100%  

    

Figure 10    
 

Credit Risk of Debt Securities: Credit risk is the risk 
that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. The WRS manage exposure to investment 
credit risk by adhering to the following policies: (1) For 
active core domestic fixed income investments, at the time 
of purchase, bonds and preferred stocks must be rated at 
least “A2/A/A” or higher using the middle rating of 
Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s, and Fitch after dropping the 
highest and lowest available ratings. When a rating from 
only two agencies is available, the lower (“more 
conservative”) rating is used. When a rating from only one 
agency is available, that rating is used to determine credit 
quality; and (2) For core-plus domestic fixed income 
investments, the weighted average credit quality of the 
portfolio will not fall below “A2/A/A” or equivalent; when 
determining credit quality, the middle rating of Moody’s, 
Standard and Poor’s, and Fitch is used after dropping the 
highest and lowest available ratings. When a rating from 
only two agencies is available, the lower (“more 
conservative”) rating is used. When a rating from only one 
agency is available, that rating is used to determine credit 
quality. Throughout 2012, no securities were purchased that 
were below the established credit quality minimum in the 
active core portfolio and the weighted average credit quality 
of the active core plus portfolio did not fall below the 
established credit quality rating. 

Figure 11 shows the debt investments held by the WRS on 
December 31, 2012, as rated by Standard and Poor’s or an 
equivalent nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. 

  

Standard and Poor’s Investment Ratings 
Quality Rating Debt Securities 
AAA $   11,043,403 
AA+ 101,535,656 
AA 3,014,791 
AA- 2,539,679 
A+ 8,780,200 
A 26,024,435 
A- 29,703,964 
BBB+ 12,916,081 
BBB 6,679,776 
BBB- 4,649,507 
BB+ 987,555 
BB 265,314 
BB- 3,158,231 
B+ 4,016,245 
B 687,927 
B- 27,900 
CCC 2,180,109 
CC 210,916 
C 946,875 
D 1,432,761 
NR 575,037 
Total credit risk debt securities 221,376,362 
Pooled domestic fixed income securities1 559,574 
Pooled U.S. TIPS fund2 27,003,264 
Government short-term investment fund3 37,565,592 
Total investment in debt securities $286,504,792 
  

1 Pooled domestic fixed income securities funds report average quality ratings 
of AA2. 

2 The average quality of the holdings of the U.S. TIPS Fund on December 31, 
2012 was AAA. 

3 The average quality of the holdings of the Government short-term 
investment fund on December 31, 2012 was A1+P1. 

Figure 11 

 773



 Financial Section 
 

20 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Credit risk for investment derivative instruments results from counterparty risk assumed by the WRS. This is 
essentially the risk that the counterparty to a WRS’ transaction will be unable to meet its obligation. See Figure 13 on 
page 21 for information regarding the WRS’ credit risk related to derivatives. 

Concentration Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss that may be attributed to the magnitude 
of an entity’s investment with a single issuer. The WRS’ investment in debt securities had no single issuer of 
investments that represented 5% or more of the plan assets, with exception of investments issued or implicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds. 

Foreign Currency Risk: Currency risk arises due to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. The WRS manage the 
exposure to foreign currency risk by allowing the international securities investment managers to enter into forward 
exchange or future contracts on foreign currency provided such contracts have a maturity of less than one year.  
Currency contracts are only to be utilized for the settlement of securities transactions and defensive hedging of 
currency positions.   

All forward foreign currency contracts are carried at fair value by the WRS.  As of December 31, 2012, the Systems 
held forward currency contracts with an unrealized loss of $239,043. If held, sales of forward currency contracts are 
receivables and are reported as investment sales pending in the financial statements. 

The WRS’ exposure to foreign currency risk on December 31, 2012 is as follows (see Figure 12): 

Exposure to Foreign Currency Risk 

Currency 
Cash and Cash 

Equivalents 
Debt 

Securities 
 

Equities Total 
Australian dollar $   6,814 $            - $ 10,257,846 $  10,264,660 
Canadian dollar 17,270 - 1,314,537 1,331,807 
Danish krone - - 1,244,412 1,244,412 
Euro 36,566 - 56,290,777 56,327,343 
Hong Kong dollar 4,305 - 3,251,059 3,255,364 
Japanese yen - - 35,425,762 35,425,762 
New Zealand dollar - - 113,297 113,297 
Norwegian krone 10,663 - 1,098,766 1,109,429 
Pound sterling 116,730 - 35,447,700 35,564,430 
Singapore dollar 78,053 - 3,995,224 4,073,277 
Swedish krona - - 874,618 874,618 
Swiss franc 25,185 - 14,052,946 14,078,131 
International mutual funds (various 
currencies) - 7,299,453 45,658,039 52,957,492 
Total exposure to foreign currency risk $295,586 $7,299,453 $209,024,983 $216,620,022 

    

 Figure 12 

Other Risk Information: Recent market conditions have resulted in an unusually high degree of volatility and 
increased risks associated with certain investments held by the City, the Wichita Employees’ Retirement System, and 
the Police and Fire Retirement System. As a result, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the fair values of 
investment securities will occur in the near term and such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements.  In addition, for the pensions systems, declines in the fair values of Plan assets could ultimately 
affect the funded status of the Plans.  The ultimate impact on the funded status will be determined based upon market 
conditions in effect when the annual valuation is performed.  While it is unknown at this time, the future net pension 
obligations and pension costs recorded by the Systems could be negatively impacted by the current market conditions.  

Derivatives: Investment derivative instruments are financial contracts for which the value of the contract is 
dependent on the values of one or more underlying asset, reference rate, or financial index. They include futures 
contracts, swap contracts, options contracts, rights, and forward foreign currency exchanges. While the WRS has no 
formal policy specific to investment derivatives, the WRS, through its external investment managers, held a variety of 
these instruments as of December 31, 2012. The WRS enter into these investment derivative instruments primarily to 
enhance the performance, reduce the volatility of its investment portfolio, and to manage interest rate risk.  The 
investment derivative instruments held by the WRS on December 31, 2012 are shown in Figure 13.  The notional 
values associated with these derivative instruments are generally not recorded in the financial statements; however, the 
exposure amounts on these instruments are included in the fair value of investments in the Statement of Plan Net 

774



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 21 

Position and the total changes in fair value for the year are included as investment income in the Statement of Changes 
in Plan Net Position. 

The fair value of derivative investments is based on the exchanges when available. When an exchange is not available, 
estimated fair values are determined in good faith by using information from J.P. Morgan traders and other market 
participants, including methods and assumptions considering market conditions and risks existing at the date of the 
Statement of Plan Net Position. Such methods and assumptions incorporate standard valuation conventions and 
techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. All methods utilized to estimate fair 
values result only in general approximations of value. 

Investment Derivative Instruments 

Type Classification 

Change 
in Fair 
Value 

Notional 
Value 

Exposure/ 
Fair 

Market 
Value Counterparty 

Counterparty 
Rating 

Credit Default 
Swap Bought 

Investment 
Loss $(22,734) $1,071,955 $6,191 

 Goldman 
Sachs & Co  A 

Credit Default 
Swap Written 

Investment 
Revenue 35,399 588,000 (10,660) 

  Fixed Income 
Futures Long 

Investment 
Revenue 312,505 7,850,000 

   Fixed Income 
Futures Short 

Investment 
Loss (277,109) 15,550,000 

   Fixed Income 
Options Bought 

Investment 
Loss (45,151) 

    Fixed Income 
Options Written 

Investment 
Revenue 77,845 

    Futures Options 
Bought 

Investment  
Loss (85,641) 33,000 8,172 

  Futures Options 
Written 

Investment 
Revenue 106,156 

    
FX Forwards 

Investment 
Loss (239,043) 3,174,526 (24,759) 

State Street 
Bank London A+ 

Pay Fixed Interest 
Rate Swaps 

Investment 
Loss (104,870) 3,740,000 

   
Rights 

Investment 
Revenue 9 

    Total Return Bond 
Swap 

Investment 
Loss (50,704) 649,975 

   
 

Totals $(293,338) $32,657,456 $(21,056) 
  

       

Figure 13 

Securities Lending Transactions:  Policies of the Board of Trustees for the Wichita Employees’ Retirement and 
Police and Fire Retirement Systems permit the lending of securities to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) 
with a simultaneous agreement to return the collateral for the same securities in the future. The WRS’ custodial bank, 
State Street, is the lending agent for the Systems’ domestic securities for initial collateral of 102% of the market value 
of the loaned securities, international equity securities for initial collateral of 105% of the market value of such 
securities, and the initial collateral received for loans of United Kingdom (UK) gilts shall have a value of at least 
102.5% of the market value of such UK gilts. Collateral may consist of cash (U.S. and foreign currency), securities 
issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies or instrumentalities, irrevocable bank letters of credit 
issued by a person other than the securities borrower or affiliate, if determined appropriate by the agent under the 
securities lending programs it administers and such other collateral as the parties may agree to in writing. 

The collateral securities cannot be pledged or sold by the WRS unless the borrower defaults. The lending agent shall 
require additional collateral from the borrower whenever the value of loaned securities exceeds the value of the 
collateral in the agent’s possession, so that collateral always equals or exceeds 100% of the market value of the loaned 
securities. Contracts with the lending agent require them to indemnify the WRS, if the borrowers fail to return the 
securities (and if the collateral is inadequate to replace the securities lent) or fail to pay the WRS for income 
distributions by the securities’ issuers while the securities are on loan. 

775



 Financial Section 
 

22 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

At year-end, the WRS had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts the WRS owe the borrowers 
exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed the Systems. All securities loans, whether domestic or international, are 
open loans and can be terminated on demand by either the system or the borrower.  At year-end, loaned securities were 
secured with cash collateral, securities collateral or letters of credit. Cash collateral is invested in the lending agent’s 
short-term investment pool, which at year-end had a weighted average maturity of 33 days. The relationship between 
the maturities of the investment pool and the WRS’ loans is affected by the maturities of the securities loans made by 
other entities that use the agent’s pool, which the WRS cannot determine.  Also, since securities loans are terminable at 
will, the duration of the securities loans do not generally match the duration of the investments made with the cash 
collateral received from the borrower. 

Custodial Credit Risk Related to Securities Lending:  Custodial credit risk for lent securities is the risk that, 
in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the WRS will not be able to recover the value of its investments or 
collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party. Consistent with the WRS’ securities lending policy, 
$62,150,482 was held by the counterparty acting as the WRS’ agent in securities lending transactions on December 31, 
2012. 

Capital Assets 
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2012 is displayed below (see Figure 14): 

Capital Assets 

 
Beginning 
Balance 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) Ending Balance 

Pension administration hardware and software $1,284,451 $   11,386 $1,295,837 
Less: accumulated depreciation (643,928) (178,755) (822,683) 
Capital assets, net $   640,523 $(167,369) $   473,154 

    Figure 14 
 
Wichita Employees’ Retirement System 
Plan Description: The Wichita Employees' Retirement System (WERS) was established to provide retirement and 
survivor annuities, disability benefits, death benefits, and other benefits for all regular full-time civilian employees of 
the reporting entity and their dependents. Plan 1 was established by City Ordinance on January 1, 1948 and became 
closed to new entrants as of July 19, 1981.  With the initiation of Plan 2, which was established by City Ordinance on 
July 18, 1981, all covered employees of Plan 1 were given the option of converting to the new plan. Plan 2 was closed 
to new entrants with the establishment of Plan 3 by City Ordinance, effective January 1, 1994. However, upon 
completion of seven years of service, employees participating in Plan 3 may convert to participation in Plan 2. 
Establishment of, and amendments to, the benefit provisions for the WERS are authorized by the City Council. 

  

776



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 23 

On December 31, 2012, the WERS defined benefit plan membership (Plan 1 and Plan 2) consisted of (see Figure 15): 

Defined Benefit Plan Membership 
 Plan 1 Plan 2 Total 

Employees vested 26 950 976 
Subtotal 26 950 976 

Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 809 493 1,302 
Terminated employees entitled to benefits, but not 
receiving them 1 141 142 

Subtotal 810 634 1,444 
Total membership 836 1,584 2,420 
    Figure 15 

 
Eligibility Factors and Benefit Provisions 

 Plan 1 Plan 2 
Eligibility for 
benefits 

30 years credited service regardless of age; 
or 7 years credited service and age 60 

7 years credited service and age 62 

Early retirement 
benefits 

Early retirement between age 55 and 60 on a 
reduced basis 

Early retirement between age 55 and 62 
on a reduced basis 

Minimum vesting 7 years of credited service 7 years of credited service 
Maximum benefit 2.5% of final average salary per year of 

service up to a maximum of 75% 
2.25% of final average salary per year of 
service up to a maximum of 75% 

Service-connected 
disability 

60% of final salary 50% of final salary 

Non-service 
connected disability 

Benefit formula based on credited service 
with a maximum of 50% of final average 
salary 

25% of final salary 

Pre-retirement 
survivor benefits 

Benefit formula based on credited service 
and number of survivors with a maximum of 
75% of final average salary 

Benefit formula based on credited service 
and number of survivors with a 
maximum of 75% of final average salary 

Post-retirement 
survivor benefits 

Benefit formula based on credited service 
and number of survivors with a maximum of 
75% of final average salary 

Benefit formula based on credited service 
and number of survivors with a 
maximum of 75% of final average salary 

Annual post-
retirement benefit 
increases 

3% of original benefit after 12 months of 
retirement, not compounded 

2% of original benefit after 12 months of 
retirement, not compounded 

Figure 16 

Funding Policy:  The contribution requirements of plan members and the reporting entity are established by City 
Ordinance and may be amended by the governing body. Members of Plan 1 and 2 are required to contribute 6.4% and 
4.7% of covered salaries, respectively. From its various operating funds, the City is required to contribute at an 
actuarially determined rate; the rate for 2012 was 10.6% of annual covered payroll for both Plans 1 and 2. The City 
may provide for pension expenses by levying ad valorem property taxes each year in the amount necessary to meet its 
obligation as determined by the WERS’ consulting actuary. 

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation:  The net pension obligation (NPO) is defined as the 
cumulative difference between the employer’s annual pension cost and the employer’s annual required contributions to 
the plan. For 2012, the City’s annual pension cost of $6,471,423 was equal to the required and actual contributions. 

The employer’s annual required contribution for the 2012 fiscal year was determined as part of the December 31, 2010 
actuarial valuation using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method.  Significant actuarial assumptions used for this 
evaluation include: 

a) a rate of return on the investment of present and future assets of 7.75% per year compounded annually,  
 

b) projected salary increases of 4.0% per year compounded annually (3.5% attributable to inflation and 0.5% 
attributable to productivity),  

777



 Financial Section 
 

24 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

c) additional projected salary increases ranging from 0.25% to 3.2% per year, depending on age, attributable to 
seniority/merit, and 

d) the assumption that benefits will increase 3.0% per year (non-compounded) after retirement for Plan 1 and 
2.0% per year (non-compounded) for Plan 2. 
 

The market value of assets is not used directly in the calculation of the City’s contribution rate.  An asset valuation 
method is used to smooth the effect of market fluctuations and determine the value of assets used in the valuation, 
called the actuarial value of assets.  The actuarial value of assets is equal to the expected value (calculated using the 
actuarial assumed rate of return of 7.75%), plus 25% of the difference between the market and expected value.  The 
Board first adopted this methodology for the December 31, 2002 valuation. 

With the smoothing method, portions of investment losses are deferred and currently represent about 5% of the market 
value of assets. Unless offset by future investment gains or other favorable experience, the recognition of the $26 
million loss is expected to have an impact on the future funded ratio and actuarial contribution requirements. If the 
deferred losses were recognized immediately in the actuarial value of assets, the funded percentage would decrease 
from 91.0% to 86.5% and the actuarially determined contribution rate would increase from 13.2% to 15.7%. 

The actuarial accrued liability, as determined by the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method, is the portion of the 
actuarial present value of pension plan benefits and expenses not provided for by future normal costs.  The unfunded 
actuarial liability/(surplus) represents the difference between the actuarial accrued liability and the actuarial value of 
assets.  The unfunded actuarial liability/(surplus) is amortized as a level percent of projected payroll on an open basis. 
At December 31, 2012, the amortization period was 20 years. 

The schedule of funding progress (see Figure 25 on page 28), presented as required supplementary information 
following the notes to the financial statements, reflects multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial values 
of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Funded Status 
(as of December 31, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date) 

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date 

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets1 

Actuarial Accrued 
Liability (AAL) 

Entry Age 

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAL) 
Funded 
Ratio 

Active 
Member 
Covered 
Payroll 

UAAL as a 
Percentage of 

Active Member 
Covered Payroll 

 (a) (b) (b)-(a) (a)/(b) (c) ((b-a)/c) 
12/31/12 $520,320 $571,805 $51,485 91.0% $70,783 72.7% 

Rounded dollar amounts are in thousands. 
1 Includes Plan 3 members who are not vested. 
Figure 17 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 
(Three Year Trend Information) 

Fiscal Year Ending 

Employees' Retirement 
System Annual Required 

Contribution 

Employees' Retirement 
Plan 3 Annual 

Required Contribution Percentage Contributed 
12/31/10 $4,529,765 $2,298,753 100% 
12/31/11 6,596,124 1,244,150 100 
12/31/12 6,471,423 1,189,456 100 

Figure 18 

 

 

  
 
Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Plan 3 
Plan Description: The reporting entity provides pension benefits for all of its full-time civilian employees hired or 
rehired on or after January 1, 1994. This is a defined contribution plan; therefore, benefits depend solely on amounts 
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings. At December 31, 2012, membership totaled 604.  Plan 3, established 
by City Ordinance on April 9, 1993 and amended on February 8, 2000, requires that both the employee and the 
reporting entity contribute an amount equal to 4.7% of covered salaries. The reporting entity's contributions and 
earnings for each employee are 25% vested after three years of service, 50% vested after five years and are fully vested 
after seven years of service. 

778



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 25 

Upon completion of seven years of service, employees participating in the Plan will be converted to the WERS Plan 2, 
a defined benefit plan, unless they make an irrevocable election to remain in Plan 3 within 90 days thereafter. If an 
employee converts to Plan 2, the employee's Plan 3 account becomes part of Plan 2. Fully vested employees who elect 
to continue participation in Plan 3 may contribute additional amounts into the plan as permitted by the rules of the 
Internal Revenue Code in effect at the time of the contribution. Contributions of the reporting entity and earnings 
forfeited by employees who leave employment before seven years of service are used to reduce the reporting entity's 
contribution requirements.  

For the year ending December 31, 2012, employee and employer contributions to Plan 3 totaled $1,189,456 and 
$1,189,456, respectively. On December 31, 2012, the WERS defined contribution Plan 3 membership consisted of (see 
Figure 19): 

Defined Contribution Plan Membership 
Years of Service Employer Contribution Vesting Schedule Number of Employees 
7 years or more 100% 77 
5 to 7 years 50 239 
3 to 5 years 25 128 
0 to 3 years 0 160 
Total Membership 

 
604 

   Figure 19 

Eligibility Factors and Benefit Provisions 

 
Less than 7 years of service 7 or more years of service 

Service-connected disability 50% of final salary; or refund of 
vested Plan 3 account balance 

50% of final salary; or refund of 
vested Plan 3 account balance 

Non-service connected disability Refund of vested Plan 3 account 
balance 

25% of final salary; or refund of 
vested Plan 3 account balance 

Figure 20 
 
Police and Fire Retirement System 
Plan Description: The Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) consists of three plans - Plan A, Plan B, and 
Plan C-79. The plans were established to provide retirement and survivor annuities, disability benefits, death benefits, 
and other benefits for Police and Fire Officers of the reporting entity and their dependents. All full-time active 
“commissioned” Police and Fire Department personnel are required to participate in the plans.  Plans A and B were 
established by City Ordinance on January 1, 1965 and Plan C-79 was established January 1, 1979 by City Ordinance. 
Plan B was closed to new entrants as of January 1, 1965 and Plan A was closed to new entrants as of December 31, 
1978. Establishment of, and amendments to, the benefit provisions for the PFRS are authorized by the City Council. 
On December 31, 2012, the PFRS membership consisted of (see Figure 21): 

Defined Benefit Plan Membership 
  Plan A Plan B Plan C-79 Total 
Employees 

         Vested 11 - 652 663 
     Non-vested - - 421 421 
Subtotal 11 - 1,073 1,084 
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 454 253 214 921 
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but not 

receiving them - - 38 38 
Subtotal 454 253 252 959 
Total membership 465 253 1,325 2,043 
     Figure 21 

  

779



 Financial Section 
 

26 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Eligibility Factors and Benefit Provisions 

 
Plans A and B Plan C-79 

Eligibility for benefits 20 years credited service regardless 
of age 

30 years credited service regardless 
of age; or 20 years of credited 
service and age 50; or 10 years of 
credited service and age 55 

Minimum vesting 10 years of credited service 10 years of credited service 
Maximum benefit 2.5% of final average salary per 

year of service up to a maximum of 
75% 

2.5% of final average salary per 
year of service up to a maximum of 
75% 

Service-connected disability, injury 75% of final salary 75% of final salary 
Service-connected disability, 
disease 

50% of final salary 50% of final salary 

Non-service connected disability With 7 years of service, benefit 
formula based on credited service 
with a maximum of 50% final 
average salary 

With 7 years of service, benefit 
formula based on credited service 
with a maximum of 50% final 
average salary 

Service-connected death Benefit formula based on number of 
survivors with a maximum of 75% 
final salary 

Benefit formula based on number of 
survivors with a maximum of 75% 
final salary 

Non-service connected death Benefit formula based on credited 
service and number of survivors 
with a maximum of 66 2/3% of 
final average salary (Plan A); 50% 
of final salary (Plan B) 

Benefit formula based on credited 
service and number of survivors 
with a maximum of 66 2/3% of 
final average salary with 3 years of 
service 

Post-retirement survivor benefits Benefit formula based on credited 
service and number of survivors 
with a maximum of 66 2/3% of 
final average salary (Plan A); 50% 
of final salary (Plan B) 

Benefit formula based on credited 
service and number of survivors 
with a maximum of 66 2/3% of 
final average salary  

Annual post-retirement benefit 
increases 

2% of original benefit after 36 
months of retirement, not 
compounded 

2% of original benefit after 36 
months of retirement, not 
compounded 

Figure 22 

Funding Policy:  The contribution requirements of plan members and the reporting entity are established by City 
Ordinance and may be amended by the governing body. PFRS members are required to contribute 6% to 8% of 
covered salaries. From its various operating funds, the City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; 
the rate for 2012 was 22.0% of annual covered payroll. The City may provide for pension expenses by levying ad 
valorem property taxes each year in the amount necessary to meet its obligation as determined by the PFRS’ consulting 
actuary. 

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation:  The net pension obligation (NPO) is defined as the 
cumulative difference between the employer’s annual pension cost and the employer’s annual required contributions to 
the plan. For 2012, the City’s annual pension cost of $14,113,014 was equal to the required and actual contributions. 

The employer’s annual required contribution for the 2012 fiscal year was determined as part of the December 31, 2010 
actuarial valuation using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method. Significant actuarial assumptions used include: 

a) a rate of return on the investment of present and future assets of 7.75% per year compounded annually, 
b) projected salary increases of 4.0% per year compounded annually (3.5% attributable to inflation and 0.5% 

attributable to productivity),  
c) additional projected salary increases ranging from 1.0% to 2.75% per year, depending on years of service, 

attributable to seniority/merit, and  
d) the assumption that benefits will increase 2.0% per year (non-compounded) commencing 36 months after 

retirement. 
 

The market value of assets is not used directly in the calculation of the City’s contribution rate.  An asset valuation 
method is used to smooth the effect of market fluctuations and determine the value of assets used in the valuation, 

780



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 27 

called the actuarial value of assets.  The actuarial value of assets is equal to the expected value (calculated using the 
actuarial assumed rate of return of 7.75%), plus 25% of the difference between the market and expected value.  The 
Board first adopted this methodology for the December 31, 2002 valuation. 

With the smoothing method, portions of investment losses are deferred and currently represent about 4% of the market 
value of assets.  Unless offset by future investment gains or other favorable experience, the recognition of the $22 
million loss is expected to have an impact on the future funded ratio and actuarial contribution requirements.  If the 
deferred losses were recognized immediately in the actuarial value of assets, the funded percentage would decrease 
from 90.5% to 86.8% and the actuarially determined contribution rate would increase from 22.4% to 24.7%. 

The actuarial accrued liability, as determined by the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method, is the portion of the 
actuarial present value of pension plan benefits and expenses not provided for by future normal costs. The unfunded 
actuarial liability/(surplus) represents the difference between the actuarial accrued liability and the actuarial value of 
assets. The unfunded actuarial liability/(surplus) is amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open 
basis. At December 31, 2012, the amortization period was 20 years. 

The schedule of funding progress (see Figure 26 on page 28), presented as required supplementary information 
following the notes to the financial statements, reflects multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial values 
of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

Police and Fire Retirement System Funded Status 
(as of December 31, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date) 

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date 

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 

Actuarial 
Accrued 

Liability (AAL) 
Entry Age 

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAL) 
Funded 
Ratio 

Active 
Member 
Covered 
Payroll 

UAAL as a 
Percentage of 

Active Member 
Covered Payroll 

 (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c) 
12/31/12 $533,381   $589,074 $55,693 90.5% $64,150 86.8% 

Rounded dollar amounts are in thousands. 
Figure 23 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 
(Three Year Trend Information) 

Fiscal Year Ending Annual Required Contribution Percentage Contributed 
12/31/10 $13,119,984 100% 
12/31/11 13,806,880 100 
12/31/12 14,113,014 100 

Figure 24 

 

  
 
  

781



 Financial Section 
 

28 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedules of Funding Progress 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System 
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date 

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets1 

Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 

(AAL) Entry 
Age 

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAL) 
Funded 
Ratio 

Active 
Member 
Covered 
Payroll 

UAAL as a 
Percentage of Active 

Member Covered 
Payroll 

(a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c) 
12/31/07 $533,911 $483,387 $(50,524) 110.5% $78,736 (64.2)% 
12/31/08 512,853 512,373 (480) 100.1 81,580 (0.6) 
12/31/09 509,494 529,272 19,778 96.3 82,704 23.9 
12/31/10 516,308 540,436 24,128 95.5 79,636 30.3 
12/31/11 513,298 555,174 41,876 92.5 75,444 55.5 
12/31/12 520,320 571,805 51,485 91.0 70,783 72.7 

1 Includes Plan 3 members who are not vested. 
Figure 25 

Police and Fire Retirement System 
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date 

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 

Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 

(AAL) Entry 
Age 

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAL) 
Funded 
Ratio 

Active 
Member 
Covered 
Payroll 

UAAL as a 
Percentage of Active 

Member Covered 
Payroll 

(a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c) 
12/31/07 $480,820 $468,115 $(12,705) 102.7% $57,310 (22.2)% 
12/31/08 472,345 496,561 24,216 95.1 60,282 40.2 
12/31/09 480,556 519,935 39,379 92.4 63,055 62.5 
12/31/10 497,926 536,908 38,982 92.7 63,077 61.8 
12/31/11 510,946 562,488 51,542 90.8 62,759 82.1 
12/31/12 533,381 589,074 55,693 90.5 64,150 86.8 

Figure 26 

Schedules of Employer Contributions 
Wichita Employees’ Retirement System 

Fiscal Year Ending 

Employees' Retirement 
System Annual Required 

Contribution 

Employees' Retirement 
Plan 3 Annual 

Required Contribution Percentage Contributed 
12/31/07 $2,357,052  $1,428,686  100% 
12/31/08 2,450,162 1,494,079  100 
12/31/09 2,545,331 1,478,256 100 
12/31/10 4,529,765 2,298,753 100 
12/31/11 6,596,124 1,244,150 100 
12/31/12 6,471,423 1,189,456 100 

Figure 27 

 

 

  
Police and Fire Retirement System 

Fiscal Year Ending Annual Required Contribution Percentage Contributed 
12/31/07 $10,029,253  100% 
12/31/08 10,549,401 100 
12/31/09 11,034,552 100 
12/31/10 13,119,984 100 
12/31/11 13,806,880 100 
12/31/12 14,113,014 100 

Figure 28 

 

  
  

782







Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 31 

Payments to Consultants Other Than Investment Advisors 
Year ended December 31, 2012  

(with comparative totals for the year ended December 31, 2011) 

Firm Services 

Police and 
Fire 

Retirement 
System 

Employees' 
Retirement 

System 

Employees' 
Retirement 

Plan 3 

 Totals 

2012 2011 
Ice Miller, LLP Legal 

services   $ 3,198   $ 1,880   $     67   $   5,145   $  17,270  
Milliman, Inc.  Actuarial 

services  
           
16,800          18,159          584       35,543       68,160  

Cavanaugh 
Macdonald 
Consulting, LLC 

Actuarial 
services              

9,332            9,696          304       19,332               -  
Allen, Gibbs & 
Houlik, L.C.  

Auditing 
services  

             
7,421            7,421              -       14,842       14,198  

Northeast Retirement 
Services  

Participant 
accounting  

                    
-                   -      30,850       30,850       31,723  

Total payments 
 

 $36,751   $37,156   $31,805   $105,712   $131,351  
       Figure 33 

 
  

785



 Financial Section 
 

32 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
 

786



Financial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 33 

 
  

787





 

 

 
 
 

INVESTMENT SECTION

 

  

789



 

 

 
 
 

INVESTMENT SECTION 

 

790



Investment Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 35 

 

791



 Investment Section 
 

36 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
  

792



Investment Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 37 

Investment Policy Summary 
 
Strategic Plan 
Assets of the Wichita Employees’ and Police and Fire Retirement Systems (Fund) are invested in a diversified mix of 
domestic and international equities, domestic and international fixed income securities, real estate, timber, 
commodities and cash equivalents. The Fund is overseen by the Joint Investment Committee (JIC), comprised of the 
President of each Board, trustee representatives elected from both Boards and a City Manager’s designee. 

Investment Policies 
The assets of the Fund are managed solely in the interest of each System’s participants and beneficiaries. 

The duties of the Boards include, but are not limited to, approving the asset allocation plan and investment policy 
contained in the Strategic Plan, annual performance review of the investment portfolio, and the hiring of a common 
financial consultant and actuary. 

The duties of the JIC include, but are not limited to, making recommendations to the Boards on an asset allocation 
plan, an investment policy and the hiring of a common financial consultant and actuary; quarterly performance review 
of the investment portfolio; and the retention and termination of the Fund’s investment managers and the custodial 
bank. 

Fund assets are allocated to professional investment managers who are given full investment discretion with respect to 
assets under their management, subject to mandated investment guidelines. 

The following minimum standards are set for investment managers: 

1. The investment firm must have $500 million or more under management; 
2. The investment management firm must have five years of performance history; 
3. The Fund’s portfolio with the investment manager shall not constitute more than 10% of the investment 

manager’s total portfolio. 
 

Investment Objectives 
The goal of the Fund is to ensure sufficient resources to meet or exceed benefit obligations. The related investment 
objectives are, first, to preserve and, second, to increase the capital value of the Fund. In pursuing these objectives, the 
Boards will endeavor to earn the maximum total return on assets consistent with maintaining a prudent level of risk. In 
investing and reinvesting monies in the Fund, there shall be exercised the judgment and care under the circumstances 
then prevailing which people of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercised in the management of their own 
affairs. 

Total Fund returns are compared to a blended target index composed of market indices weighted to the applicable asset 
class median.  

As of December 31, 2012, the blended target consisted of: 

• 32% Russell 1000 Index 
• 8% Russell 2000 Index 
• 22% Morgan Stanley Capital International, All Country World ex-U.S. (MSCI ACWI ex-US) Index 
• 22% Barclays Capital Aggregate Bond Index 
• 3% Barclays Capital US TIPS Index 
• 5% National Council of Real Estate Investment Fiduciaries (NCREIF) Total Property Index 
• 5% National Council of Real Estate Investment Fiduciaries (NCREIF) Timberland Index 
• 3% Dow Jones-UBS (DJ UBS) Commodity Index 

 
The Boards expect the Fund’s overall returns to be less volatile than the relevant market indices. The Fund’s long-term 
objective is to achieve an annualized rate of return that is 4.5% higher than the Consumer Price Index of Urban Wage 
Earners and Clerical Workers (CPI-U). 

793









Investment Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 41 

Asset Allocation 
The Wichita Employees’ and the Police and Fire Retirement Boards believe that a diversified portfolio aids in the 
preservation of investment principal. Growth with limited risk is the Fund’s objective. 

The Boards established the JIC to manage the assets of both Retirement Systems. Asset allocation, in conjunction with 
investment manager selection, has a great impact on investment performance. The Committee is responsible for 
recommending an Asset Allocation Plan developed with the assistance of Callan Associates, Inc., the Boards’ financial 
consultant. 

The Boards review the adopted Asset Allocation Plan at least every three years. An asset allocation/liability study was 
completed in 2010 with changes becoming effective 2011 and partially implemented as of December 31, 2012. These 
changes primarily affected the System’s Investment Policy and included the addition of timber, Treasury Inflation 
Protected Securities (TIPS), and commodities to the asset allocation mix. Additionally, Ordinance changes were 
adopted to limit the exposure to timber at 10% and to increase the allowed exposure to international assets from 25% 
to 35%. The Boards’ commitment to the adopted Asset Allocation Plan, which ensures a diversified portfolio, is 
especially important to minimize the Fund’s exposure to market volatility and to help preserve sufficient funding for 
future generations. As of December 31, 2012, 66.2% of the Fund’s assets were invested in equities, 25.5% in fixed 
income, 3.5% in real estate, 2.1% in timber, and 2.5% in commodities. The table below (Figure 37) displays the Fund’s 
target and actual asset allocation on December 31, 2012. 

Asset Allocation Policy 
Asset Class Min Target Max Actual 
Domestic Equity     

Large/Mid-Cap  18.00%   24.00%   30.00%   25.10%  
Small-Cap  4.00   8.00   12.00  11.71  
Index  6.00   8.00   10.00  8.32  

Total Domestic Equity  28.00   40.00   52.00  45.13  
Domestic Fixed Income      

Active Core  9.00   11.00   13.00  11.49  
Active Core Plus  9.00   11.00   13.00  11.34  
TIPS  2.50   3.00   3.50  2.68  

Total Domestic Fixed Income  21.00   25.00   29.00  25.51  
International Equity      

Active Core  7.00   9.00   11.00  8.60  
Active Core Plus  8.00   10.00   12.00  10.46  
Emerging Markets Index  2.00   3.00   4.00  2.04  

Total International Equity  18.00   22.00   26.00  21.10  
Real Estate      

Core  2.00   4.00   6.00  2.41  
Value Added  0.00    1.00   2.00  1.10  

Total Real Estate  3.00   5.00   7.00  3.51  
Timber  3.00   5.00   7.00  2.08  
Commodities  2.50   3.00   3.50  2.46  
Cash 0.00 0.00  2.00  0.21  
     Figure 37 

  

797



 Investment Section 
 

42 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Largest Equity and Fixed Income Holdings  
 

Ten Largest Equity Holdings by Fair Value 
(as of December 31, 2012) 

Number of Shares Holding Fair Value 
% of Total 

Portfolio 
315,941 Pfizer, Inc. $ 7,923,800 0.79% 
104,750 Honeywell International, Inc. 6,648,483 0.66 
113,300 Capital One Financial Corp. 6,563,469 0.65 

91,750 Johnson & Johnson 6,431,675 0.64 
144,060 Citigroup, Inc. 5,699,014 0.57 
117,800 Time Warner, Inc. 5,634,374 0.56 
164,650 Texas Instruments, Inc. 5,094,271 0.51 
111,350 JP Morgan Chase & Co. 4,896,060 0.49 
180,700 Vodafone Group Plc Sp Adr. 4,551,833 0.45 
210,800 General Electric Co. 4,424,692 0.44 

1,555,101 Total $57,867,671 5.76% 
    Figure 38 

Ten Largest Fixed Income Holdings by Fair Value 
(as of December 31, 2012) 

Number of Shares Holding Fair Value 
% of Total 

Portfolio 
5,900,000 FNMA TBA 3Pct Jan. 30 Single Fa $ 6,182,079 0.61% 
2,500,000 US Treasury N/B 3,845,700 0.38 
3,740,000 0Wp250350 IRS USD R V 03M LIBOR 3,751,125 0.37 
3,130,000 US Treasury N/B 3,121,205 0.31 
2,331,845 Federal Home Loan PC Pool G06501 2,533,830 0.25 
2,094,155 FNMA Pool Al2688 2,292,702 0.23 
2,140,000 US Treasury N/B 2,157,719 0.21 
1,859,011 FNMA Pool 745506 2,082,557 0.21 
1,990,000 US Treasury N/B 1,976,946 0.20 
1,880,000 BP Capital Markets Plc. 1,956,347 0.19 

27,565,011 Total $29,900,210 2.96% 
    Figure 39 

A complete list of portfolio holdings is available upon request from the Pension Management Office. 

  

798



Investment Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 43 

Investment Assets by Manager 
(as of December 31, 2012) 

Asset Category Fair Value 
Domestic fixed income  
    Richmond Capital Management, Inc. $  106,762,319  
    Western Asset Management Co. 107,085,709 
    SSGA1 U.S. TIPS Index Fund 27,003,264 
    SSGA1 Government Short-Term Investment Fund 37,565,592 
    SSGA1 Securities Lending Short-Term Collateral Investment Pool 62,150,482 
      Subtotal 340,567,366 

International fixed income 
  

    Western Asset Management Co. 7,299,453 

Domestic equity   

    Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & Strauss, Inc. 84,022,588 
    Boston Partners Asset Management 46,765,472 
    Fred Alger Management, Inc. 82,695,342 
    ING Investment Management Co. 49,658,311 
    Institutional Capital LLC 81,716,511 
    SSGA1 S&P 500 Flagship Fund 83,864,726 
      Subtotal 428,722,950 

International equity 
  

    Mondrian Investment Partners, Limited 104,291,281 
    Pyramis Global Advisors Trust Company 85,280,541 
    SSGA1 Emerging Markets Index Fund 20,524,836 
      Subtotal 210,096,658 

Real Estate 
  

    RREEF America REIT II 24,273,373 
    RREEF America REIT III 11,085,642 
      Subtotal 35,359,015 

Timber 
  

    Molpus Woodlands Fund III 20,972,647 

Commodities 
  

    GEAM Trust Active Commodities Fund 24,753,450 

Defined Contribution Pooled Funds 
  

    SSGA1 Strategic Balanced Funds 1,835,038 
    SSGA1 Cash Series Prime Fund CL C 228,881 
      Subtotal 2,063,919 
Total Investment Assets $1,069,835,458  

  
  1State Street Global Advisors  

Figure 40 

  

799



 Investment Section 
 

44 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Investment Fees by Manager 
Year ended December 31, 2012 

Investment Management Fees: 
 

Fees 
Domestic Fixed Income Managers  
    Richmond Capital Management, Inc. $   221,081 
    Western Asset Management Co. 300,673 
    SSGA1 U.S. TIPS Index Fund 14,838 

International Fixed Income Manager  
    Western Asset Management Co. 18,860 

Domestic Equity Managers  
    Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney, & Strauss, Inc. 418,404 
    Boston Partners Asset Management 456,619 
    Fred Alger Management, Inc. 356,535 
    ING Investment Management Co. 444,386 
    Institutional Capital LLC 376,356 
    SSGA1 S&P 500 Flagship Fund 33,714 

International Equity Managers  
    Mondrian Investment Partners, Limited 530,930 
    Pryamis Global Advisors Trust Company 456,692 
    SSGA1 Emerging Markets Index Fund 46,521 

Real Estate Managers  
    RREEF America REIT II 485,037 
    RREEF America REIT III 71,547 

Timber Manager  
    Molpus Woodlands Fund III 165,001 

Commodities Manager  
    GEAM Trust Active Commodities Fund 246,285 
      Subtotal Investment Management Fees 4,643,479 

Other Investment Service Fees:  
Custodian Fees  
    State Street Bank and Trust Company 262,997 

Investment Consultant and Performance Measurement Fees  
    Callan Associates, Inc. 229,941 
    NestEgg Consulting, Inc. 3,850 
      Subtotal Other Investment Service Fees 496,788 
Total Investment Fees $5,140,267 
  1State Street Global Advisors  

Figure 41 

  

800



Investment Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 45 

Investment Summary by Type of Investment 
(as of December 31, 2012) 

Type of Investment Fair Value 
% of Total 
Portfolio 

Domestic equities:   
  Consumer discretionary $      54,305,620 5.08% 
  Consumer staples 16,888,407 1.58 
  Energy 26,989,103 2.52 
  Financial services 63,079,712 5.88 
  Health care 54,460,433 5.09 
  Industrials 53,637,249 5.01 
  Information technology 52,904,031 4.95 
  Materials 13,035,253 1.22 
  Telecommunications services 7,389,930 0.69 
  Utilities 2,168,486 0.20 
    Total domestic equities 344,858,224 32.22 
Domestic equities - commingled funds 84,912,237 7.94 

International equities:   
  Consumer discretionary 18,591,384 1.74 
  Consumer staples 21,806,992 2.04 
  Energy 16,102,586 1.51 
  Financial services 30,687,886 2.87 
  Health care 20,784,537 1.94 
  Industrials 15,691,470 1.47 
  Information technology 10,283,872 0.96 
  Materials 10,024,627 0.94 
  Telecommunications services 13,240,472 1.24 
  Utilities 7,452,746 0.70 
    Total international equities 164,666,572 15.41 
International equities - commingled funds 45,658,039 4.27 

Domestic fixed income:   
  Government securities:  long-term 36,499,693 3.41 
  Corporate debt instruments:  long-term 91,288,031 8.53 
  Mortgage and asset-backed securities 79,564,424 7.44 
    Total domestic fixed income 207,352,148 19.38 
TIPS 27,003,264 2.52 
Timber 20,972,647 1.96 
Commodities 24,753,450 2.31 
Domestic high yield fixed income - commingled funds 6,724,761 0.63 
International fixed income - commingled funds 7,299,453 0.68 
Domestic fixed income - commingled funds 62,710,056 5.86 
Real estate - commingled funds 35,359,015 3.31 
Short-term investments 37,565,592 3.51 
Total Invested Assets1 $1,069,835,458 100.00% 
   1Amounts do not include the City's cash deposits of $688,185.   

Figure 42  

801



 Investment Section 
 

46 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Brokerage Commissions 
Year ended December 31, 2012 

Brokerage Firm 
Total 

Commissions Shares 
Commission 

Per Share 

Percent of 
Total 

Commissions 
BNY Convergex LJR $  66,633 1,700,400 $0.03919 19.36% 
Credit Suisse Securities (USA), LLC 19,716 66,701,635 0.00030 5.73 
Broadcort Capital (Thru Ml) 15,174 503,520 0.03014 4.41 
Goldman Sachs & Company 10,670 48,594,516 0.00022 3.10 
Morgan Stanley Co., Inc. 9,223 77,797,118 0.00012 2.68 
Barclays Capital Le 9,223 378,880 0.02434 2.68 
J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc. 8,867 383,352 0.02313 2.58 
Citigroup Global Markets, Inc. 7,388 13,964,429 0.00053 2.15 
Goldman Sachs International 7,239 494,789 0.01463 2.10 
Merrill Lynch International 6,901 543,077 0.01271 2.00 
UBS Securities Asia Ltd. 5,990 767,783 0.00780 1.74 
Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. 5,783 146,096,323 0.00004 1.68 
State Street Bank and Trust 5,762 702,850,432 0.00001 1.67 
Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner & Smith, Inc. 5,655 644,903 0.00877 1.64 
UBS Ag 5,601 510,942 0.01096 1.63 
Convergex Execution Solutions, LLC 5,284 175,468 0.03011 1.53 
Sanford C. Bernstein Co., LLC 5,214 177,085 0.02944 1.51 
Goldman Sachs & Co. 5,197 79,202,489 0.00007 1.51 
Deutsche Bank Ag London 5,185 507,568 0.01022 1.51 
JP Morgan Securities Plc. 4,667 265,769 0.01756 1.36 
ITG, Inc. 3,903 130,092 0.03000 1.13 
Cowen and Company, LLC 3,899 101,905 0.03826 1.13 
Merrill Lynch Peirce Fenner & Smith, Inc. 3,837 388,959 0.00986 1.11 
Jefferies & Co., Inc. 3,796 972,105 0.00390 1.10 
Macquarie Securities Ltd. 3,730 904,850 0.00412 1.08 
ISI Group, Inc. 3,627 112,400 0.03227 1.05 
Liquidnet Inc. 3,616 192,407 0.01879 1.05 
Nomura Securities International, Inc. 3,463 437,794 0.00791 1.01 
Other firms (Includes 143 brokerage firms, 
each contributing less than 1% of total 
commissions) 99,052 64,675,595 0.00153 28.77 
Total Brokerage Commissions $344,295 1,210,176,585 $0.00028 100.00% 
     Figure 43 

802



 

 

 
 
 

ACTUARIAL SECTION 

  

803



 

 

 
 
 

ACTUARIAL SECTION 
 

804



 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 47 805



 Actuarial Section 
 

48 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

  

806



 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 49 

  

807



 Actuarial Section 
 

50 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Actuarial Information 
Actuarial Cost Method 
The actuarial cost method is a procedure for allocating the actuarial present value of pension plan benefits and 
expenses to time periods. The method used for the valuation is known as the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method, 
and has the following characteristics: 

The annual normal costs for each individual active member are sufficient to accumulate the value of the member’s 
pension at time of retirement; 

Each annual normal cost is a constant percentage of the member’s year-by-year projected covered compensation. 

The Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method allocates the actuarial present value of each member’s projected benefits 
on a level basis over the member’s assumed pensionable compensation rates between the entry age of the member and 
the assumed exit age. 

The portion of the actuarial present value of retirement system benefits allocated to the valuation year is called the 
normal cost. The portion of the actuarial present value not provided for by the actuarial present value of future normal 
costs is called the actuarial liability. Deducting actuarial assets from the actuarial liability determines the unfunded 
actuarial liability or (surplus). The Wichita Employees’ Retirement System (WERS) had an unfunded actuarial liability 
of $51.5 million as of December 31, 2012. 

Actuarial Assumptions Used for Valuations 
Retirement System contribution requirements and actuarial present values are calculated by applying experience 
assumptions to the benefit provisions and participant information of the Retirement System, using the actuarial cost 
method. These assumptions were proposed by the Fund’s actuary following the completion of an experience study 
covering the period December 31, 2003 through December 31, 2008, and adopted by the Board on September 16, 
2009. An experience study is performed every five years. 

The actuarial valuation of assets is based on the “Expected Value plus 25%” method, which smoothes the effect of 
market value fluctuations by recognizing 25% of the difference between the expected actuarial value and the market 
value of assets. The Board first adopted this methodology for the December 31, 2002 valuation. Actuarial gains and 
losses reduce or increase the unfunded actuarial liability or surplus, which is amortized over a rolling 20-year 
amortization period. 

Net Investment Rate of Return 
The investment return rate (net of administrative expenses) used for actuarial valuation calculations is 7.75% a year, 
compounded annually. This rate consists of 3.50% in recognition of long-term price inflation and 4.25% in recognition 
of a real rate of return over price inflation. This assumption, used to equate the value of payments due at different 
points in time, was adopted by the Board and was first used for the December 31, 1981 valuation, although the 
allocation between inflation and real return has changed periodically, most recently in 2009. 

Salary Projections 
These assumptions are used to project current salaries to determine average annual compensation. They consist of the 
same inflation component used for the investment return assumption, a component reflecting productivity and the 
competition from other employers for personnel, and a years of service component to reflect promotion and longevity 
increments (see Figure 44).  

Salary increases are assumed to occur mid-year. The salary increase assumptions are expected to produce 4.00% 
annual increases in active member payroll (the inflation and productivity base rate), given a constant active member 
group size. This is the same payroll growth assumption used to amortize the unfunded actuarial liability. The rate of 
return over assumed wage growth is 3.75% per year. These assumptions were first used for the December 31, 2009 
valuation. 

  

808



 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 51 

Annual Rate of Salary Increases 

Years of Service 
Inflation 

Component 
Productivity 
Component 

Merit and 
Longevity Total 

1 3.50% 0.50% 3.20% 7.20% 
2 3.50 0.50 3.00 7.00 
3 3.50 0.50 2.80 6.80 
4 3.50 0.50 2.60 6.60 
5 3.50 0.50 2.40 6.40 
6 3.50 0.50 2.20 6.20 
7 3.50 0.50 2.00 6.00 
8 3.50 0.50 1.80 5.80 
9 3.50 0.50 1.70 5.70 

10 3.50 0.50 1.60 5.60 
11 3.50 0.50 1.50 5.50 
12 3.50 0.50 1.40 5.40 
13 3.50 0.50 1.30 5.30 
14 3.50 0.50 1.20 5.20 
15 3.50 0.50 1.06 5.06 
16 3.50 0.50 0.92 4.92 
17 3.50 0.50 0.78 4.78 
18 3.50 0.50 0.64 4.64 
19 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 
20 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 
21 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 
22 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 
23 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 
24 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 
25 3.50 0.50 0.50 4.50 

>25 3.50 0.50 0.25 4.25 
Figure 44  

Rates of Retirement and Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Elections 
The rates displayed in Figure 45 are used to measure the probability of eligible members retiring under either the 
regular retirement provisions or the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP). 

In addition, the following assumptions apply to members in this category: 

• Plan 1: 70% of members with 30 or more years of service were assumed to elect the DROP with an average 
DROP period of 48 months. The remaining 30% are assumed to retire immediately. 

• Plan 2: 70% of members with 33.33 or more years of service that are at least age 62 were assumed to elect the 
DROP with an average DROP period of 36 months. 

All members of the Retirement System were assumed to retire on or before age 70.  

This assumption was first used for the December 31, 2009 valuation. 

Marriage 
Seventy percent of non-retired members were assumed to be married for purposes of death benefits. In each case, the 
male was assumed to be three years older than the female. 

Sick Leave 
The calculated normal retirement benefits were increased by 4% to account for the inclusion of unused sick leave in 
the calculation of service credit. This assumption was last revised with the December 31, 2004 valuation. 

 

809



 Actuarial Section 
 

52 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Rates of Retirement 
Retirement Age Plan 1 Plan 2 

55    15% 5% 
56 15 5 
57 15 5 
58 15 5 
59 15 5 
60 40 5 
61 40 5 
62 20 30 
63 20 30 
64 20 40 
65 100 40 
66 N/A  30 
67 N/A  30 
68 N/A  30 
69 N/A  30 
70 N/A  100 

Figure 45 

 Forfeiture of Vested Benefits 
A percentage of the actuarial present value of vested 
termination benefits is assumed to be forfeited by a 
withdrawal of accumulated contributions. This 
percentage is applied individually based on years of 
service. The data in Figure 46 was first used for the 
December 31, 2004 actuarial valuation. 

Forfeiture of Vested Benefits 
Years of Service Percent Forfeiting 

< 15 60% 
15 - 19 40 
20 - 24 20 
>= 25 0 

Figure 46 

Plan 3 Transfer 
Plan 3 (defined contribution plan) members are 
assumed to elect Plan 2 if they acquire seven years of 
service. An actuarial reserve is held for the difference 
between the market and actuarial value of assets. This 
assumption was last revised for the December 31, 2004 
valuation. 

Mortality Table 
The RP-2000 mortality tables (RP-2000 Healthy 
Annuitant Tables, RP-2000 Disabled Table and RP-
2000 Employee Table) were first used for the 
December 31, 2004 valuation  (see Figure 47). The 
Healthy Annuitant and Employee Tables are set 
forward two years for males to fit the observed 
experience of the group. The RP-2000 Tables are used 
with generational mortality. These tables measure the 
probabilities of members dying before retirement and 
the probabilities of each pension payment being made 
after retirement. 

 

Future Life Expectancy (Years) 
Sample Ages1 Men Women 

50 30.4 34.6 
55 25.7 29.7 
60 21.2 25.1 
65 16.9 20.7 
70 13.0 16.7 
75 9.7 13.0 
80 6.9 9.8 
85 4.8 7.1 

1 Ages in 2000   

Figure 47 

Rates of Separation from Active Membership 
This assumption (see Figure 48 below) measures the 
probabilities of a member terminating employment. 
The rates do not apply to members who are eligible to 
retire. This assumption was last revised for the 
December 31, 2009 valuation. 

Rates of Separation 

Sample Ages Years of Service 

Annual 
Termination 
Probability 

Any 0 25.00% 
- 1 19.00 
- 2 14.00 
- 3 11.00 
- 4 9.00 

25 Over 4 9.00 
30 - 7.00 
35 - 5.25 
40 - 4.00 
45 - 3.50 
50 - 2.50 
55 - 1.50 
60 - 1.50 

Figure 48 

810







 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 55 

Wichita Employees’ Retirement System Summary of Benefit Provisions  
Defined Benefit Plans 1 and 2 
Plan 1 is a closed plan, which is applicable to members employed prior to July 18, 1981 who did not elect to be 
covered by Plan 2. Plan 2 is applicable to members employed prior to July 18, 1981 who elected to be covered by Plan 
2, those employed or re-employed on or after July 18, 1981 and before January 1, 1994, and Plan 3 members who, 
upon vesting, elect to become members of Plan 2. 

Normal Retirement 
• Eligibility 

o Plan 1: Age 60 with seven or more years of service, or any age with 30 or more years of service. 
o Plan 2: Age 62 with seven or more years of service. 

• Benefit 
o Plan 1: Years of service times 2.5% of final average salary, to a maximum of 75%. 
o Plan 2: Years of service times 2.25% of final average salary, to a maximum of 75%. 

• Final Average Salary 
o Average for the three consecutive years within the last 10 years of service that produce the highest 

average salary. 

Early Retirement 
• Eligibility 

o Age 55 with seven or more years of service. 
• Benefit 

o An amount computed as for normal retirement, but reduced for each month retirement precedes age 60 
under Plan 1 and age 62 under Plan 2. The amount of reduction per month of early retirement is: 
 Plan 1: A service graduated percentage for each month retirement precedes age 60. The 

percentage is .05 of 1% if service is 29 years but less than 30 years, increasing by .05 of 1% 
for each additional year service is less than 30 years, to a maximum of .50 of 1% if service is 
less than 20 years. 

 Plan 2: An age graduated percentage for each month retirement precedes age 62. The 
percentage is 0.6% for each month that the member’s age precedes age 62, up to a maximum 
of 50.4% at age 55. 

Service-Connected Disability 
• Eligibility 

o No age or service requirement. Disability must be permanent and total, and precludes performance of 
any duties for a City position commensurate with the employee’s training, experience, and education.  

• Benefit 
o Plan 1: 60% of final rate of salary. 
o Plan 2: 50% of final rate of salary. 

Non-Service Connected Disability 
• Eligibility 

o Seven or more years of service and under age 60, Plan 1, or age 62, Plan 2. Disability must be 
permanent and total, and precludes performance of any duties for a City position commensurate with 
the employee’s training, experience, and education. 

• Benefit 
o Plan 1: 30% of final average salary plus 1% of final average salary for each year of service in excess 

of seven years, to a maximum of 50%. 
o Plan 2: 25% of final rate of salary.  

813



 Actuarial Section 
 

56 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) 
• Eligibility 

o Must be eligible for retirement, and elect to participate in the DROP for 1 to 60 months. 
• DROP Benefit 

o Benefit computed based on years of service, final average salary as of DROP election date, which is 
paid into member’s notational DROP account during the deferral period. Member continues to make 
required employee contributions during the deferral period. Interest at an annual rate of 5% is credited 
to the notational DROP account. Voluntary termination of employment during the DROP period 
results in a loss of accrued interest. Balance of DROP account is payable within 90 days of actual 
termination of employment. 

Deferred Retirement 
• Eligibility 

o Termination of service. 
 Plan 1: 7 or more years of service and under age 60.  
 Plan 2: 7 or more years of service and under age 62. 

• Deferred Benefit 
o Deferred pensioner may apply for a reduced retirement benefit upon meeting the applicable age 

requirement for early retirement (55 years) or an unreduced pension upon meeting the applicable age 
requirement for normal retirement (60 years, Plan 1 or 62 years, Plan 2). A refund of employee 
contributions, plus 5% annual interest, may be elected in lieu of a retirement benefit.  

o Retirement benefit is computed as for normal retirement. Deferred pensions are adjusted during the 
deferral period based on changes in the National Average Earnings Index, up to 5.5% annually.  

Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefits 
• Eligibility - Surviving spouse and minor child 

o Death of employee with seven or more years of credited service. 
• Benefit 

o 50% of the benefit earned by the deceased employee at the time of death, plus 10% of the deceased 
employee’s final average salary for each minor child under age 18, to a maximum of 75% of final 
average salary. If no surviving spouse, benefit is 20% of final average salary on account of each child 
to a maximum of 60% of final average salary; terminates when child reaches age 18. 

• Designated Beneficiary 
o When no spouse or minor child is eligible for a survivor’s benefit, the beneficiary designated by the 

retiree. 
• Benefit 

o Accumulated contributions plus 5% annual interest, and one month’s salary for each full year of 
service, not to exceed six months of salary. 

Post-Retirement Survivor Benefits 
• Eligibility 

o Spouse must have been married to retired employee for one year or more, at time of death if retired 
after January 1, 2000. If retired prior to January 1, 2000, must have been married to retired employee 
at retirement. 

o Minor child must be under age 18. 
• Benefit 

o 50% of benefit paid to retiree at time of death, plus 10% of retiree’s final average salary for each 
minor child under age 18, to a maximum of 75% of final average salary. If no surviving spouse, 
benefit is 20% of final average salary on account of each child to a maximum of 60% of final average 
salary; terminates when child reaches age 18. 

o Plan 1: $1,500 funeral benefit. 
• Designated Beneficiary 

o When no spouse or minor child is eligible for a survivor’s benefit, the beneficiary designated by the 
retiree. 
 

814



 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 57 

• Benefit 
o Final partial benefit due retiree through date of death, plus balance, if any, of contributions and 

interest. 
o Plan 1: $1,500 funeral benefit. 

 
Refund of Contributions 

• Eligibility 
o Termination of employment without eligibility for any other benefit. 

• Amount 
o Accumulated contributions at the time of termination, plus 5% annual interest. 

 
Post-Retirement Adjustment of Pension Benefit 

• Eligibility 
o Plan 1: Completion of 12 months of retirement and annually thereafter. 
o Plan 2: Completion of 12 months of retirement and annually thereafter (effective February 19, 2000).  

• Benefit 
o Plan 1: 3% of base pension benefit (not compounded).  
o Plan 2: 2% of base pension benefit (not compounded). 

Employee Contributions 
• Plan 1: 6.4% of base salary, longevity and overtime pay.  
• Plan 2: 4.7% of base salary and longevity pay (effective February 19, 2000). 

Employer Contributions 
• Actuarially determined amounts which, together with employee contributions and investment earnings, will 

fund the obligations of the System in accordance with accepted actuarial principles. 

Unused Sick Leave 
• Accumulated unused sick leave is converted to service credits for the purpose of computing annual benefits. 

 
Defined Contribution Plan 3 
Plan 3 is applicable to members employed on or after January 1, 1994 who have not become covered by Plan 2. Plan 3 
members automatically transfer to Plan 2 at the time they acquire 7 years of service, unless they file an irrevocable 
election to remain in Plan 3. 

Employee Contributions 
• 4.7% of compensation (effective February 19, 2000). 

Employer Contributions 
• 4.7% of compensation (effective February 19, 2000). 

Vesting of Contributions 
• Employee contributions and investment earnings thereon are 100% vested. 
• Employer contributions and investment earnings thereon are 25% vested after three years of service, 50% 

vested after five years of service, and 100% vested after seven years of service. 

Distribution of Vested Accounts 
• Vested accounts are payable upon termination of City employment or death of employee. 

Service-Connected Disability 
• Eligibility 

o No age or service requirement. Disability must be permanent and total, and precludes the performance 
of any duties for a City position commensurate with the employee’s training, experience, and 
education. 
 

815



 Actuarial Section 
 

58 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

• Benefit 
o 50% of final rate of salary; or distribution of vested Plan 3 account. 

Non-Service Connected Disability 
• Eligibility 

o Seven or more years of service and under age 62. Disability must be permanent and total, and 
precludes the performance of any duties for City position commensurate with the employee’s training, 
experience, and education. 

• Benefit 
o 25% of final rate of salary; or distribution of vested Plan 3 account. 

A more detailed description of Plan provisions is available upon request from the Pension Management Office. 

Police and Fire Retirement System Actuarial Information 
Actuarial Cost Method 
The actuarial cost method is a procedure for allocating the actuarial present value of pension plan benefits and 
expenses to time periods. The method used for the valuation is known as the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method, 
and has the following characteristics: 

• The annual normal costs for each individual active member are sufficient to accumulate the value of the 
member’s pension at time of retirement; 

• Each annual normal cost is a constant percentage of the member’s year-by-year projected covered 
compensation; 

• Normal costs for Plans A and B (closed plans) were based on Plan C-79 (open plan) assumptions and benefit 
conditions. 

The Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method allocates the actuarial present value of each member’s projected benefits 
on a level basis over the member’s assumed pensionable compensation rates between the entry age of the member and 
the assumed exit age. By applying the Entry Age Normal cost method as described above, the ultimate normal cost 
will remain level as a percent of active member payroll (if actuarial assumptions are realized) as Plan A and Plan B 
members leave active status and are replaced by members entering Plan C-79. 

The portion of the actuarial present value of retirement system benefits allocated to the valuation year is called the 
normal cost. The portion of the actuarial present value not provided for by the actuarial present value of future normal 
costs is called the actuarial liability. Deducting actuarial assets from the actuarial liability determines the unfunded 
actuarial liability or (surplus). The Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) had an unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability of $55.7 million as of December 31, 2012. 

Actuarial Assumptions Used for Valuations 
Retirement System contribution requirements and actuarial present values are calculated by applying experience 
assumptions to the benefit provisions and participant information of the Retirement System, using the actuarial cost 
method. These assumptions were proposed by the Fund’s actuary following the completion of an experience study 
covering the period December 31, 2003 through December 31, 2008, and adopted by the Board September 23, 2009. 
An experience study is performed every five years. 

The actuarial valuation of assets is based on the “Expected Value plus 25%” method, which smoothes the effect of 
market value fluctuations by recognizing 25% of the difference between the expected actuarial value and the market 
value of assets. The Board first adopted this methodology for the December 31, 2002 valuation. Actuarial gains and 
losses reduce or increase the unfunded actuarial liability or surplus, which is amortized over a rolling 20-year 
amortization period.  

Net Investment Rate of Return 
The investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses) used for actuarial valuation calculations was 7.75% a 
year, compounded annually. This rate consists of 3.50% in recognition of long-term price inflation and 4.25% in 
recognition of a real rate of return over price inflation. This assumption, used to equate the value of payments due at 

816











 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 63 

 

Deferred Retirement 
• Eligibility 

o Ten or more years of service (does not include survivor benefits if service is less than 20 years) and 
under age 55. Deferred pensioner may apply for a normal retirement benefit upon attainment of age 
55. A refund of employee contributions, plus 5% annual interest, may be elected in lieu of a retirement 
benefit. 

• Deferred Benefit 
o Retirement benefit is computed as for normal retirement. Deferred pensions are adjusted during the 

deferral period based on changes in the National Average Earnings Index, up to 5.5% annually. 

Backward Deferred Retirement Option Plan (Back DROP) 
• Eligibility 

o Must be eligible for retirement and, prior to retirement, elect the Back DROP for a period of 1 to 60 
months.  

• Benefit 
o Under the Back DROP, the member may elect a benefit based on a retirement date up to 60 months 

prior to the current date. The monthly benefit is computed based on service, final average salary and 
benefit formula at the selected prior date. The DROP account available to the retiring member is the 
computed benefit multiplied by the number of months of Back DROP plus applicable post-retirement 
adjustments and 5% annual compounded interest. 

Service-Connected Disability 
• Eligibility 

o No age or service requirement. Disability must be permanent and preclude employee from performing 
the duties of their position. 

• Benefit 
o 75% of final salary. 

• Conditions 
o Benefit plus earnings from gainful employment cannot exceed current salary for rank held at time of 

disability. Benefit is recomputed at age 55 using service retirement formula, updated final average 
salary, and service credit for period of disability. 

Non-Service Connected Disability 
• Eligibility 

o Seven or more years of service and under age 55. Disability must be permanent and preclude 
employee from performing the duties of their position. 

• Benefit 
o 30% of final average salary plus 1% of final average salary for each year of service in excess of seven 

years. Maximum is 50% of final average salary. 
• Conditions 

o Benefit plus earnings from gainful employment cannot exceed current salary for rank held at the time 
of disability. 
 

Pre-Retirement Survivor Benefits Service-Connected Death 
• Eligibility 

o When death results from performance of duty as a fire fighter or police officer, there is no minimum 
service requirement. Spouse and minor children of member at the time of death are eligible for a 
survivor’s benefit. 

• Benefit 
o 50% of final salary plus 10% of final salary for each minor child under age 18, to a maximum of 75% 

of final salary. If no surviving spouse, benefit is 20% of final salary for each child to a maximum of 
60% of final salary; terminates when child reaches age 18.  

821



 Actuarial Section 
 

64 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Pre-Retirement Benefits Non-Service Connected Death 
• Eligibility: Spouse and minor children of member at the time of death. 

o Plan A and Plan C-79: Three or more years of service.  
o Plan B: Twenty or more years of service. 

• Benefit 
o Plan A and Plan C-79: 35% of final average salary plus 1% of final average salary for each year of 

service over three years to a maximum of 50% of final average salary, plus 10% of final average salary 
on account of each minor child under age 18 to a maximum of 66 2/3% of final average salary. If no 
surviving spouse, benefit is 15% of final average salary on account of each child to a maximum of 
50% of final average salary; terminates when child reaches age 18. 

o Plan B: 50% of final salary. 
• Designated Beneficiary 

o The beneficiary designated by an unmarried member or by a married member who fails to meet the 
service requirements for the surviving spouse benefit. 

• Benefit  
o Member’s accumulated contributions plus 5% annual interest, beginning January 1, 2000. 

Post-Retirement Survivor Benefits 
• Eligibility 

o Twenty or more years of service. If retired prior to January 1, 2000, surviving spouse must have been 
married to retired member at date of retirement. Effective January 1, 2000, surviving spouse must have 
been married to retired member for a minimum of 12 months at time of death. 

• Benefit 
o Plan A and Plan C-79: 35% of final average salary plus 1% of final average salary for each year of 

service over three years to a maximum of 50% of final average salary, plus 10% of final average salary 
for each minor child under age 18 to a maximum of 66 2/3%. If no surviving spouse, 15% for each 
child to a maximum of 50%. 

o Plan B: 50% of final salary to surviving spouse or children under age 18. 

Refund of Contributions 
• Eligibility 

o Termination of employment without eligibility for any other benefit. 
• Amount 

o Accumulated contributions at the time of termination plus 5% annual interest, beginning January 1, 
2000. 

Funeral Benefit 
• Eligibility 

o Members who retired after November 21, 1973. 
•  Amount 

o $750 

Post-Retirement Adjustment of Pension Benefit 
• Eligibility 

o Annually after completion of 36 months of retirement. 
• Amount 

o 2% of base pension benefit (not compounded). 

Employee Contributions 
• Plan A: 8% of salary  
• Plan B: 6% of salary 
• Plan C-79: 7% of salary 

  

822



 Actuarial Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 65 

Employer Contributions 
• Actuarially determined amounts which, together with employee contributions and investment earnings, will 

fund the obligations of the System in accordance with accepted actuarial principles. 

Unused Sick Leave 
• Accumulated unused sick leave is converted to service credits for the purpose of computing annual benefits.  

A more detailed description of Plan provisions is available upon request from the Pension Management Office. 

  

823





 

 

 
 
 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

  

825



 

 

 
 
 

STATISTICAL SECTION 
 

826



 Statistical Section 
 

WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 67 

 

Statistical Section Overview 

This section includes detailed schedules showing trends regarding changes in the net position, including deductions 
from the net position for benefits and refunds beginning on page 68, average benefit payments beginning on page 72, 
and retired members by type and benefit amount beginning on page 74. These schedules may be considered useful in 
evaluating the condition of the Systems and understanding the information presented in the financial statements, note 
disclosures and required supplementary information. 

The Schedule of Changes in Plan Net Position, including deductions from net assets for benefits and refunds, is 
derived from the Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the relevant fiscal year. All other information is derived 
from internal sources of the Systems, except for information that is derived from the actuarial valuations of the plans. 

  

827















 Statistical Section 
 

74 |WICHITA RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 2012 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

Retired Members by Type and Benefit Amount 
Wichita Employees’ Retirement System 

 (as of December 31, 2012) 

Amount of 
Monthly 
Benefit 

Active in 
DROP 

Non-
Service 

Disability QDRO1 Service 
Service 

Disability Survivor Total 
$       0-500 - 3 1 76 - 84 164 

500-1000 2 10 1 136 1 80 230 
1000-1500 5 5 1 133 - 56 200 
1500-2000 2 1 1 133 2 31 170 
2000-2500 4 1 1 105 1 10 122 
2500-3000 9 - - 108 - 1 118 
3000-3500 13 - - 99 - 1 113 
3500-4000 3 - - 79 - - 82 
4000-4500 6 - - 59 - - 65 
4500-5000 - - - 28 - - 28 

>5000 3 - - 52 - - 55 
Total 47 20 5 1,008 4 263 1,347 

        1 Qualified Domestic Relations Order 
Figure 72 

Retired Members by Type and Benefit Amount 
Police and Fire Retirement System 

 (as of December 31, 2012) 

Amount of 
Monthly 
Benefit 

Non- 
Service 

Disability QDRO1 

Recalc. 
Service 

Disability Service 
Service 

Disability Survivor Total 
$       0-500 - 2 - 5 - 8 15 

500-1000 2 8 - 31 4 47 92 
1000-1500 4 3 1 72 - 36 116 
1500-2000 - - 2 145 - 44 191 
2000-2500 - - 4 137 1 28 170 
2500-3000 - - 7 76 11 5 99 
3000-3500 - - 10 75 14 1 100 
3500-4000 - - 16 53 17 1 87 
4000-4500 - - 3 27 3 - 33 
4500-5000 - - 3 8 - - 11 

>5000 - - 2 6 - - 8 
Total 6 13 48 635 50 170 922 

        1 Qualified Domestic Relations Order 
Figure 73 

 

834







Second Reading Ordinances for August 6, 2013 (first read on July 23, 2013) 

A. ZON2013-00012 Zone change from SF-5 Single Family Residential (SF-5) to Two-Family 
Residential (TF-3); generally located north of 21st Street North and east of Amidon Avenue 
and the Little Arkansas River, on the south side of 23rd Street North, east of Somerset 
Avenue.  

ORDINANCE NO. 49-549 

AN ORDINANCE CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS OR DISTRICTS OF 
CERTAIN LANDS LOCATED IN THE CITY OF WICHITA, KANSAS, UNDER THE 
AUTHORITY GRANTED BY THE WICHITA-SEDGWICK COUNTY UNIFIED ZONING 
CODE, SECTION V-C, AS ADOPTED BY SECTION 28.04.010, AS AMENDED. 

 

B. A-13-05 Annexation of portions of Pawnee Avenue, Webb Road, and 127th Street East per 
notification by Sedgwick County Board of County Commissioners. 

ORDINANCE NO. 49-550 

AN ORDINANCE INCLUDING AND INCORPORATING CERTAIN SEGMENTS OF 
HIGHWAY WITHIN THE LIMITS AND BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF WICHITA, 
KANSAS.  (A13-05) 

837



 

 

Agenda Item No. II-20 
 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 
 

TO:   Wichita Airport Authority 
 
SUBJECT:  Signature Flight Support Corporation   

Wichita Mid-Continent Airport 
 
INITIATED BY: Department of Airports 
 
AGENDA:  Wichita Airport Authority (Consent) 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the Agreement. 
 
Background:  Since July 2008, Signature Flight Support Corporation (Signature) has leased and 
managed the fixed based operations (FBO) facility located at 1980 Airport Road as well as managed the 
aviation bulk fuel farm under contract with the Wichita Airport Authority (WAA).  Both structures are 
located on Mid-Continent Airport.  The term of the agreement for leasing the FBO facility expires on 
April 30, 2019.     
 
Analysis:  Signature is now desirous of leasing 1,418 sq. ft. of land on Mid-Continent Airport to install a 
self-service auto fuel station that will be utilized by Airport tenants for its company ground support 
equipment and vehicles. The self-service auto fuel station will be located adjacent to the bulk fuel farm on 
the secured airfield and will not be available to the general public.  The term of the agreement is for five 
years and nine months, consistent with the current FBO facility agreement.  Signature and Yingling 
Aviation, Inc. will begin collecting the $.02 per gallon fuel flowage fee, which is established in the 
published Schedule of Fees and Charges.  
 
Financial Considerations:  The land rental rate of $.3735 per sq. ft. will result in $530 annually for use 
of the land.  The land rental rate will increase five percent annually, which is consistent with the WAA’s 
published land rental rate schedule. The fuel flowage fee revenue will be based on the amount of activity 
generated by the self-service auto fuel station and is estimated to be $1,100 annually.  Therefore, the new 
combined annual revenue for land rent and self-service auto fuel station to the WAA is approximately 
$1,630. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The agreement has been reviewed and approved as to form by the Law 
Department. 
 
Recommendations/Actions:  It is recommended that the Wichita Airport Authority approve the 
agreement and authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Attachments:  Agreement. 

838



839



840



841



842



843



844



845



846



847



848



849



850



851



852



853



854



855



856



857



858



859



860



861



862



863



864



865



866



867



868



869



870



871



872



873



874



875



876



877



878



879



 

 

Agenda Item No. II-21 
 
 

City of Wichita 
City Council Meeting 

August 6, 2013 
 

 
TO:    Wichita Airport Authority 
 
SUBJECT:   Parking Facilities Program Professional Services 

Wichita Mid-Continent Airport 
 
INITIATED BY:  Department of Airports 
 
AGENDA:   Wichita Airport Authority (Consent) 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approve the professional services supplemental agreement. 
 
Background:  On June 21, 2011, the Wichita Airport Authority (WAA) approved moving forward with 
the Parking Facilities Program and adopted the budget.  On February 7, 2012, a professional services 
agreement with Carl Walker, Inc. was approved for design and related services for $3,524,889.  On April 
2, 2013, a construction contract with Crossland Construction was approved through the Board of Bids in 
the amount of $33,917,971.   
 
Analysis:  Construction is underway and a supplemental agreement with Carl Walker, Inc. for special 
inspection and environmental services has been prepared.  Special inspections were not included in the 
initial contract with Carl Walker, Inc. in order to allow the design to develop so as to more accurately 
price the services with respect to the duration of the construction and the specific requirements tailored to 
the design and materials used.  Special inspections are required by building code and cover items such as 
structural, steel, masonry, concrete, and soils testing.  Ground water under a portion of the garage is 
contaminated, and environmental sampling and testing on the soils to be removed during the construction 
of the deep foundations is required. 
 
Financial Considerations:  The supplemental agreement is for a not-to-exceed amount of $191,884.  
This fee was anticipated and is within the cost parameters of the approved Program budget.  This Program 
is funded with Airport cash or through the issuance of General Obligation bonds repaid with Airport 
revenue. 
 
Legal Considerations:  The Law Department has reviewed and approved the supplemental agreement as 
to form. 
 
Recommendations/Actions: It is recommended that the Wichita Airport Authority approve the 
supplemental agreement and authorize the necessary signatures. 
 
Attachments: Supplemental Agreement. 
 

880



881



882



883



884



885



886



887



888



889


	Agenda
	IV-1. Approval of Economic Development Incentive Agreement, Triumph Aerospace Systems, Inc. (District II)


	Agenda Report No. IV-1
	Forgivable Loan Agreement Triumph Aerospace - City version 031513
	Ordinance No. 49-551

	IV-2. Public Hearing on the Establishment of the K-96 STAR Bond Project Community Improvement District. (District II)
	Agenda Report No. IV-2
	Ordinance No. 49-556

	IV-3. Selection of Preferred Proposal for West Bank Catalyst Site. (District VI)


	Agenda Report No. IV-3
	Ordinance No. 49-557
	The Riv Evaluation Team Report 
	River Vista West Bank UR Conveyance Notice 
	The Riv West Bank UR Lease Notice 
	The RIV (Wichita Apartments) RFQ Book
	River Vista Evaluation Team Report 
	River Vista Submittal Package
	River Vista Submittal Package

	IV-4. Affordable Airfares Funding Agreement with Sedgwick County.
	Agenda Report No. IV-4
	Transportation Services Agreement City-County 2013 - 2014

	IV-5. Public Hearing - Request for Resolution of Support for Application for Housing Tax Credits; Market and Main Apartments.   (District I)
	Agenda Report No. IV-5
	Resolution No. 13-133

	IV-6. 2013 Community Services Block Grant Application - Revision.
	Agenda Report No. IV-6
	Revised CSBG 2013 Budget Summary
	CSBG Review Committee Minutes

	IV-7. United States Bowling Congress, Inc 2019 Tournament.
	Agenda Report No. IV-7
	MOU 

	IV-8. Ordinances Amending Chapter 5.68 Relating to Sex Trafficking, Prostitution and Morals Offenses.
	Agenda Report No. IV-8
	Delineated Ordinance
	Ordinance No. 49-552

	IV-9. 2014 Annual Operating Budget.
	Agenda Report No. IV-9

	V-1. ZON2013-00010 – City request for a zone change from B Multi-family Residential to GC General Commercial, generally located east of N. Park Place and south of 29th Street North, 2914 N. Park Place. (District VI)
	Agenda Report No. V-1
	Ordinance No. 49-553
	ZON2013-00010 DAB VI Memo and Planning Commission Minutes

	V-2. ZON2013-00013 – Zone change request from SF-5 Single-family Residential to TF-3 Two-family Residential subject to Protective Overlay No. 277 on property generally located 300 hundred feet east of Knight Street on the north side of West St. Louis Avenue, south of West Central and east of North West Street, 3514 West St. Louis Avenue. (District VI)
	Agenda Report No. V-2
	Ordinance No. 49-554
	Protest Map and Background Information

	II-1. Board of Bids dated July 29, and August 5, 2013.
	Board of  Bids dated 7-29-2013 and 8-5-2013

	II-3. Preliminary Estimates.
	Agenda Report No. II-3

	II-4a. Petitions for Improvements to Serve Falcon Falls Second Addition. (District I)
	Agenda Report No. II-4a
	Map, Budget Sheets, Petitions
	Resolution Nos.  13-134 to13-137
	Resoltution No. 13-136

	II-5a. Street Closure at Lincoln Street from McLean to Waco. (Districts III and IV)
	Agenda Report No. II-5a
	Map

	II-6a. Grant with the Kansas Department of Transportation.
	Agenda Report No. II-6a

	II-6b. Transit Pass-through Agreement with Butler County.
	Agenda Report No. II-6b
	Agreement (Butler County)

	II-7a. Supplemental Design Agreement No. 5 for Lincoln Street Bridge and Dam Improvements. (Districts III and IV)
	Agenda Report No. II- 7a and SA#5
	LSB SDA #5

	II-8a. Acquisition of part of 11051 East Kellogg for the Improvement of Kellogg Avenue, US Highway 54 from Cypress to Chateau. (District II)
	Agenda Report No. II-8a
	Supporting Documents

	II-8b. Partial Acquisition of 2603 North Amidon for the Amidon, 21st Street North to 29th Street North Improvement Project. (District VI)
	Agenda Report No. II-8b
	Contract for Conveyance, Right of Way Exhibit, Temporary Construction Easement and Aerial Map

	II-8c. Partial Acquisition of 3215 East 9th Street for the Redbud Multi-Use Path, Interstate 135 to Oliver. (District I)
	Agenda Report No. II-8c
	Temporay Construction Easement and Aerial Map 

	II-10. Public Housing Five Year Energy Audit.
	Agenda Report No. II-10
	Energy Audit Contract

	II-11. HOME CHDO Operating Support Funding. (Districts I, III, IV, V, and VI)
	Agenda Report No. II-11
	MHRS Funding Agreement
	Power CDC Funding Agreement

	II-12. Child Care Licensing Grant Application.
	Agenda Report No. II-12
	Child Care Grant

	II-13. Memorandum of Understanding - Public Works & Utilities Sidewalk Improvements.
	Agenda Report No. II-13
	MoU - PWU - Sidewalks
	Proposed CDBG sidewalk

	II-14. Bicycle Enhancement Projects.
	Agenda Report No. II-14
	Maps and Agreements
	Resolution Nos. 13-138 to 13-145

	II-15. 2014 Drug Enforcement Administration State and Local Task Force Agreements.
	Agenda Report No. II-15
	Agreements

	II-16. Ordinance Changes to the Wichita/Sedgwick County Building and Trade Code.
	Agenda Report No. II-16
	Delineated Ordinance
	Ordinance No. 49-555

	II-17. Wireless network for Century II.
	Agenda Report No. II-17
	Century 2 Wireless Contract signed by ETI
	FINAL Exhibit A - Anti-discrimination
	FINAL Exhibit B - Scope of Services
	FINAL Exhibit C - Century II Wireless Network Items

	II-18. Wichita Retirement Systems' Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012.
	Agenda Report No. II-18
	2012 WRS CAFR

	II-19. Second Reading Ordinances.
	II-19 Second Reading Ordinances

	II-20. *Signature Flight Support Corporation - Wichita Mid-Continent Airport.
	Agenda Report No. II-20
	Agreement

	II-21. *Parking Facilities Program Professional Services - Wichita Mid-Continent Airport.
	Agenda Report No. II-21
	Parking Facilities Program - Carl Walker SA No. 1


